EARLY DETECTION OF COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT IN OLDER ADULTS: TECHNOLOGY USE IN FUNCTIONAL ASSESSMENT

A thesis submitted to the University of Manchester for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health.

2020

GEMMA K STRINGER

SCHOOL OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

Division of Neuroscience and Experimental Psychology

Blank page

Contents

Abb	reviations	6
Abst	tract	9
Lay a	abstract	10
Decl	laration	11
Сору	yright statement	11
Ackr	nowledgement	12
The	Author	14
СНА	PTER 1: Introduction	15
1.:	1. Introduction	15
1.2	2. Aim	17
1.3	3. Overview of thesis	17
1.4	4. Framework of the thesis	20
СНА	PTER 2: Literature Review	24
2.:	1. Pathological cognitive decline in older age	24
	2.1.1. Dementia	25
	2.1.2. A biological definition of Alzheimer's disease	29
	2.1.3. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI)	30
	2.1.4. Subjective cognitive decline (SCD)	31
2.2	2. Functional impairment	34
	2.2.1. Functional impairment in dementia	35
	2.2.2. Functional impairment in MCI	36
	2.2.3. Functional impairment in SCD	37
	2.2.4. Difficulties with IADL can be predictive of subsequent cognitive decline	38
2.3	3. Measuring IADL	39
	2.3.1. Self-report measures	40
	2.3.2. Informant-report measures	42
	2.3.3. Performance-based measures	43
	2.3.4. Comparison of IADL assessment methods	45
	2.3.5. Recent developments in virtual reality (VR) assessments of IADL	46
	2.3.6. Distinguishing MCI from cognitively healthy older adults using IADL measures	47
	2.3.7. Using technology to support and assess IADL	48
	2.3.8. The relationship between cognition and IADL	51

2.4. Older adults use of technology and the relationship with early cognitive change
2.4.1. Increasing use of technology amongst older adults53
2.4.2. Use of everyday technology as a marker of subtle cognitive change
2.5. Computer use: an emerging IADL
2.5.1. Assessing computer use and other technologies as part of functional assessment57
2.5.2. Daily computer use is related to functional capacity
2.5.3. Daily computer use provides information about functional independence60
2.5.4. Computer use and cognitive function61
2.6. Ethical considerations when recording data passively via home-based software
2.7. Conclusion
CHAPTER 3 (Study A): Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire67
CHAPTER 4 (Study B): A pilot study to access the feasibility and prospective acceptability of recording computer-use for assessment of cognitive health
4.1. Abstract
4.2. Introduction
4.2.2. Feasibility and acceptability evaluation framework71
4.3. Method
4.3.1 Participants
4.3.2. Procedure
4.3.3. Analysis
4.4. Results77
4.4.1. Objective one: Examine participants' range of experiences when completing the tasks77
4.4.2. Objective two: Examine participants' range of experiences when using the hardware and software
4.4.3. Objective three: Evaluate older adults' prospective acceptability of recording home computer use
4.5. Discussion
CHAPTER 5 (Study C): Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline
CHAPTER 6 (Study D): Passive assessment of computer use behaviours in the home can indicate early cognitive impairment: An exploratory longitudinal study
CHAPTER 7: Discussion
7.1. Aims of the thesis
7.2. Summary of findings87

7.3. Contributions of the thesis	90	
7.3.1. Improved methods for measuring functional capacity	90	
7.3.2. Established proof of concept for continuous and unobtrusive recording of computer use behaviours as a proxy measure of cognitive health	everyday home 92	
7.3.3. Increased understanding of: the relationship between computer use, cogn and functional ability; and the differences in computer use behaviours between a differ in cognitive ability.	itive function, groups who 93	
7.4. Strengths and limitations of the thesis	95	
7.5. Ethical considerations		
7.6. Recommendations for future research		
7.7. Implications for healthcare, policy and practice	107	
7.8. Conclusions		
References	110	
Appendices		
Appendix A - Participant information sheets (study A)		
Appendix B – Recruitment materials (study A)	137	
Appendix C - Applicability questionnaire (study A)	143	
Appendix D – Supplementary table 1 (study A)		
Appendix E – Supplementary table 2 (study A)		
Appendix F – Participant information sheets (study B)		
Appendix G – Recruitment materials (study B)		
Appendix H – Participant instructions sheet for the computer activities (study B)		
Appendix I - Participant information sheets (study C)	206	
Appendix J – Recruitment materials (study C)	216	
Appendix K – Computer activities materials (study C)	220	
Appendix L – Participant information (study D)	231	
Appendix M – Recruitment materials (study D)	245	
Appendix N – SAMS software participant information (study D)	249	
Appendix O – Supplementary Table 1 (study D)	250	
Appendix P – Supplementary Table 2 (study D)	251	
Appendix Q – Supplementary Table 3 (study D)	253	

Word count: 54,358

Abbreviations

AAMI: Age-associated memory impairment ACE III: Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination - Third Edition AD: Alzheimer's disease ADCS-ADL: Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study-Activities of Daily Living Inventory ADCS/MCI/ADL24: Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study/Activities of Daily Living scale adapted for people with MCI ADL: Activities of daily living A-IADL-Q: Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire A-IADL-Q-UK: Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire UK AUC: Area under the curve BADL: Basic activities of daily living C-IADL: Cognitively focused IADL COSMIN: Consensus-based standards for the selection of health measurement instruments **CRN: Clinical Research Network** CRT: Choice reaction time CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid **CWIT: Color-Word Interference Test** DSB: Digit span backwards test ET: Everyday technology ECog: Everyday Cognition scale **EPSRC: Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council** FAQ: Functional Assessment Questionnaire FCRST: Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test FDA: Food and Drug Administration **GDS:** Geriatric Depression Scale IADL: Instrumental activities of daily living IPA: Intelligent personal assistants

IQCODE: Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly

IRT: Item response theory

JDR: Join Dementia Research

MCI: Mild cognitive impairment

aMCI: amnestic MCI

naMCI: non-amnestic MCI

MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment

ML: Machine learning

MLM: Multi-level model

MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging

NIA-AA: National Institute of Aging/Alzheimer's Association

NINCDS-ADRDA: National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (now known as the Alzheimer's Association)

PIS: Participate information sheets

PET: Positron emission tomography

QoL: Quality of life

RCT: Randomised controlled trial

ROC: Receiver operating characteristic

SAMS: Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management

SAS: Starkstein Apathy Scale

SCD: Subjective Cognitive Decline (alternative terminology includes but is not limited to SMI: subjective memory impairment; SCI: subjective cognitive impairment; SMC: subjective memory complaints; SCC: subjective cognitive concerns)

SCD-I: Subjective Cognitive Decline Initiative

SPSS: Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

SRT: Simple reaction time

SV-ADLQ: Spanish version of the Activities of Daily Living Questionnaire

T-ADLQ: Technology - Activities of Daily Living Questionnaire

TMT: Trails making test

VaD: Vascular dementia

VR: Virtual reality (VR)

VRFCAT: Virtual Reality Functional Capacity Assessment Tool

WA: Weighted average

<u>Abstract</u>

Introduction: Effective assessment of functional capacity, such as the ability to use technology, is vital to recognising the earliest signs of cognitive decline in neurodegenerative disorders. Yet, commonly used assessments of functional capacity lack cultural and technological relevance, are not sensitive to early change, and are measured sporadically. In this PhD, I aimed to improve methods of measuring and detecting functional impairment in people with early cognitive decline by i) providing a culturally adapted measure of instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) for use in the UK, and ii) exploring the potential of computer-use behaviours as an objective digital biomarker of functional and cognitive decline.

Methods: Four studies are presented. In study A, the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire (A-IADL-Q) was culturally adapted for use in the UK in three iterative steps involving 190 stakeholders. Study B was a pilot study to assess the feasibility and acceptability of monitoring computer-use behaviours. In study C, semi-directed computer tasks and cognitive and functional assessments were completed by older adults with cognitive impairment (n = 20) and cognitively healthy controls (n = 24). In study D, people with subjective cognitive decline (SCD) or mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (n = 32) took part in a longitudinal study that used bespoke software to monitor in-home computer-use behaviours lasting approximately nine months.

Results: In study A, iterative modifications to the A-IADL-Q resulted in a 55-item adapted version appropriate for UK use (A-IADL-Q-UK). New and revised items performed well; all activities were perceived as more difficult by at least one participant per item and four new items correlated with the total score. An exploratory analysis of convergent validity found correlations with cognitive and functional abilities. Study B showed that monitoring computer-use was feasible and acceptable. In study C, cognitively impaired participants displayed more frequent pauses, slower typing, and a higher proportion of mouse clicks compared to cognitively healthy controls. These behaviours were significantly associated with performance on selected memory and functional assessments. In study D, no change in computer-use behaviour was detected over the study period. Computer use behaviours were associated with recall, recognition, task switching, task inhibition and visual attention. People with MCI had slower keystroke speed and used the computer less than people with SCD.

Conclusion: This PhD has made an important contribution to the literature by taking a step forward in the way technology is incorporated into functional measurement. Firstly, the A-IADL-Q-UK informant report version and new self-report version, incorporates a range of culturally relevant activities including technology use. Secondly, the measurement of computer use behaviours shows promise as a potential novel digital biomarker to measure cognitive and functional ability. Future work will be to expand the cultural relevance of the A-IADL-Q-UK for multicultural groups in the UK and beyond and to further investigate the relationship between computer use and functional ability in a larger and more diverse sample, with the ultimate aim of finding a pragmatic, unobtrusive and continuous digital biomarker for the earliest detection of functional and cognitive change.

Lay abstract

Introduction: Information about how well people can perform everyday activities, such as taking medication and using the computer, can help to detect early problems with cognition (such as memory) which can indicate dementia. The way that ability to perform everyday activities is measured is problematic. For example the questions are not always relevant to the lives of older adults and are not always able to pick up on early problems. In this PhD, I aimed to improve the way that ability to perform everyday activities is measured in two ways: First, by changing a questionnaire to make it more relevant to the lives of older adults in the UK. And second, by seeing if people's computer use, such as their typing speed and mouse clicks, could provide information about their cognition or their ability to perform of everyday activities.

Method and Results: There were four studies in this thesis. In the first study (Study A), a questionnaire that measures ability to perform everyday activities was changed to make it more relevant to the lives of older adults. The final version contained 55 daily activities and included some new activities. The results showed that the questionnaire measured similar things to other tests of memory and performance of everyday activities and that the new activities could pick up on difficultly performing everyday activities.

The second study (Study B) was done to try out some of the activities that we planned to use in studies C and D. In particular, we wanted to see if older adults could complete the computer tasks that we had chosen, and also see how they would feel about having their computer use recorded. On the basis of the results of this study, we made some changes to studies C and D. This included providing participants with a laptop similar to what they use at home, and giving them more information about data privacy and security.

In the third study (Study C), forty-four older adults with and without cognitive problems completed tasks on a computer to see if this was related to their cognitive ability. We found that people with memory problems paused more, had slower typing and clicked the mouse more compared to people without memory problems.

In the fourth study (Study D), thirty two older adults with cognitive problems, or worries about their memory, had their home computer use recorded for nine months. This was done to see if their computer use behaviour, such as typing speed, changed over time, and if it was related to scores on cognitive tests. The study showed that participants' computer use behaviour did not change over time. However, people with cognitive problems had slower typing speed, and used the computer less than people with worries about their memory.

Conclusion: In this PhD I have improved the way that ability to perform everyday activities can be measured in two ways: First, I improved a questionnaire used for measuring performance of everyday activities to make it more relevant to older people. Second, I showed that measuring computer use behaviours, like typing speed, can provide important information about older adults' cognitive ability. This work was important because it could provide ways to spot early signs of cognitive problems which could help with detecting dementia.

Declaration

No portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning.

Copyright statement

The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns certain copyright or related rights in it (the "Copyright") and she has given The University of Manchester certain rights to use such Copyright, including for administrative purposes.

Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts and whether in hard or electronic copy, may be made only in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (as amended) and regulations issued under it or, where appropriate, in accordance with licensing agreements which the University has from time to time. This page must form part of any such copies made.

The ownership of certain Copyright, patents, designs, trademarks and other intellectual property (the "Intellectual Property") and any reproductions of copyright works in the thesis, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions.

Further information on the conditions under which disclosure, publication and commercialisation of this thesis, the Copyright and any Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions described in it may take place is available in the University IP Policy (see http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/DocuInfo.aspx?DocID=2442 0), in any relevant Thesis restriction declarations deposited in the University Library, The University Library's regulations (see http://www.library.manchester.ac.uk/about/regulations/) and in The University's policy on Presentation of Theses.

Acknowledgement

This thesis is dedicated to my beautiful daughter Laika who was born during my PhD and is my biggest achievement, distraction and motivation.

One of my favourite aspects of research is meeting participants, spending time with them and learning about their experiences. I am so grateful to all of the participants who took part in the studies for my PhD, this research would not have been possible without you. I would also like to thank the Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust for kindly sponsoring my PhD studentship.

A special thanks to my supervisory team, Professors Daniela Montaldi and Iracema Leroi, and Dr Laura Brown. Daniela, you have been a source of strength and support through the various highs and lows of my thesis, you give great advice and you always make me feel welcome and prioritised when we meet and for that I am most grateful. Thank you to Ira, who saw potential in me from our first meeting when I was investigating facial expressions in people with dementia at Manchester Metropolitan University. Your ambition, ideas and tenacity have provided continuous inspiration and motivation for completing my PhD. A very special thank you to Laura, your consistency, reliability, intelligence and thoroughness have been completely invaluable. You are a fantastic supervisor and friend and I truly do not know what I would have done without you.

My gratitude is also extended to the Clinical Research Network for your support with recruitment and data collection. I would also like to acknowledge Join Dementia Research (JDR) for providing a route to participants. Huge thanks to my colleagues who have supported me with my PhD: Sabina, thank you for your PhD and viva advice and for being a great friend; Sam (aka the cut down king), you are an awesome colleague and friend, thank you for your hard work and support during the SAMS project and all your help with my (often last minute) requests and questions, I owe you at least 10 pints/coffees; and Hein, your help with Stata and data analysis was invaluable, you and Bekah are amazing friends and have been a huge support through everything – thank you.

Finally I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my family and friends who have been there throughout. To my dad, who I love with all my heart and who has always supported and encouraged me. Dad, one of my best memories is calling you with my

undergraduate degree results, I've never heard you shout so loud, I hope I can continue to make you proud. My mum, who helps me so much when she visits and who despite living in another country and me being nearly 40 still provides a lot of my clothes! My wonderful brother, who never grew tired of asking me when my PhD was going to be finished. And last but by no means least, thank you to my little family Dan and Laika. Laika, you are smart, strong, tenacious and independent and I am so proud of you. When I'm working you run over to hug me, sit on my knee and ask me to Google search for pictures of Jessie from Toy Story! I strive to be the best mum I can and I hope I can inspire and support you to dream big and reach your goals, whatever they may be. Dan, for the endless nights that you worked on the database and program to help me extract my data, for putting up with my stress levels and supporting me every day to complete this goal and in all aspects of my life. I have faced some health challenges during this PhD and you have been there for everything. You are my source of strength and I could not have got through it all without you. You and Laika are the best team I could ever wish for, I love you both so much and I cannot wait for what the future holds for us.

The Author

I have a Bachelor of Science degree in Psychology and Criminology, a Masters in Criminology and Research Methods and a PGCE in Social Science specialising in Psychology. As a teacher I taught Psychology A Level, Sociology A Level and a number of other GCSE subjects. As a researcher I have worked for both the Home Office and the Ministry of Justice, completing a number of projects relating to crime and reduction of reoffending. As a Senior Research Assistant at Manchester Metropolitan University I worked on a project investigating facial expressions and dementia. Following this I worked as a Research Associate on the SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management) project and my PhD was embedded into this project. During my PhD I also worked as a Governance Research Associate for Manchester Mental Health NHS Trust, developing and implementing a monitoring process for non-clinical trials. In my next Research Associate post I will be working on a project investigating the use of locum doctors in the NHS.

During my time at Manchester I have supervised a number of students completing their Masters or clinical research placements. I have volunteered for projects such as the Dementia Matters Project, where I delivered dementia-themed interactive workshops to local schools to improve awareness of dementia. I was involved in the organisation and delivery of a Dementia Event focusing on faith and dementia in an African-Caribbean church community in Greater Manchester. I have presented my research at local community groups for older adults such as Age UK and University of the Third Age and provided educational talks to organisations working with older adults such as the Later Life CMHT in Manchester.

In addition to the papers in my thesis, I have co-authored five other papers during my PhD on a range of topics which extend beyond the scope of the thesis, including requirements elicitation, data mining and software development. I was also commissioned to write a book chapter in the textbook The Preservation of Memory: Theory and Practice for Clinical and Non-Clinical Populations (Bruno, 2016). I have presented my work at local and international conferences including the International Psychogeriatric Association Congress (San Francisco, 2016) and The British Society of Gerontology Annual Conference, (Stirling, 2016 and Swansea, 2017). I was awarded first prize for my presentation at the IBBMH PhD Showcase in Manchester in 2015.

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1. Introduction

Functional independence is of central importance in distinguishing between normal aging and cognitive impairment (Gold, 2012). To be diagnosed with dementia due to AD, an individual has to have experienced cognitive symptoms that interfere with the ability to function in usual daily activities and represent a decline from previous levels of functioning (McKhann et al., 2011). Functional decline is measured by assessing a person's ability to complete basic activities of daily living (BADL), such as eating and dressing, and instrumental activities of daily living (IADL), such as using a telephone and managing finances (Jekel et al., 2015). IADL require a greater complexity of neuropsychological organisation than more basic activities and are therefore more likely to be vulnerable in the early stages of cognitive decline (Jekel et al., 2015). The differentiation of dementia from mild cognitive impairment (MCI) rests on a clinician's judgement of whether or not the functional decline is significant enough to constitute a diagnosis of dementia (Knopman and Petersen, 2014). Measuring IADL is therefore an important component in identifying the early signs of dementia (Sikkes et al., 2009).

Existing measures of functional ability are limited for a number of reasons. First, there is a lack of reliable measures that can detect changes in IADL performance in people with MCI, and even fewer that can detect performance changes in clinically healthy individuals, or in people with subjective cognitive decline (SCD), who may be at risk of AD dementia (Marshall et al., 2019). One reason for this is that most IADL measures have been constructed and validated for people with dementia and therefore may not be sensitive to subtle changes in more complex daily activities (Jekel et al., 2015). Second, many existing IADL measures have not been through a thorough assessment of basic psychometric properties (Weintraub et al., 2018b) such as content validity (Sikkes et al., 2009). Third, the majority of assessment tools do not include questions about the use of computer or other types of technology (Jekel et al., 2015). This is particularly important given that the use of computers is rising in older adults. For instance, in the UK, internet use in retired older adults aged 65 to 74 has increased from 52% in 2011 to 83.2% in 2019 (Office for National Statistics, 2019b). Furthermore, the assessment of everyday technology use has been shown to provide

sensitive measures of early change in functional ability (Hedman et al., 2018; Malinowsky et al., 2010; Rosenberg et al., 2009). Fourth, there are a limited number of self-report options available and people may not have someone who can act as an informant (Jekel et al., 2015). Finally, activities contained in assessment measures are not always considered conceptually relevant to the lives of the people they concern (Hartry et al., 2018). The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) emphasise the need for meaningful outcome measures, measures that have conceptual relevance to the lives of the people they concern. This can be achieved by establishing the content validity of instruments with respect to patient concerns relevant to the concept being addressed (Food and Drug Administration, 2009). One approach to this would be to incorporate the views and suggestions of patients and caregivers in the development of measurement items and to evaluate patient understanding of items through cognitive interviews.

Another problem with the measurement and potential detection of functional decline relates to the current episodic and clinic-based assessment paradigm. Generally an individual is not assessed until they themselves or their relatives have noticed a change in their daily functioning, by which point the decline in cognition or function may be quite significant. Furthermore, the infrequent administration of conventional functional tests does not allow within-person variability over time to be measured (Seelye et al., 2018), which has been shown to be a strong predictor of incident cognitive decline (Dodge et al., 2014; Dodge et al., 2015). There is therefore a need for reliable and valid instruments that are able to measure subtle cognitive changes as they develop in presymptomic and MCI older adults' daily lives with greater individualisation and precision (Jekel et al., 2015).

Increases in the use of technology have created a new higher order activity of daily living (Kaye et al., 2014) and presents opportunities for developing more sensitive and effective methods for detecting underlying cognitive and functional impairment. Indeed, studies have shown that assessing everyday technology use in older adults with dementia and MCI can be a sensitive way to detect subtle differences in everyday activities (Hedman et al., 2018; Malinowsky et al., 2010; Nygard and Kottorp, 2014; Nygard et al., 2012; Rosenberg et al., 2009). Furthermore, specific measurement of computer use behaviours in older adults has the potential to distinguish between those with and without cognitive impairment (Kaye et al., 2014; Seelye et al., 2015; Seelye et al., 2016; Seelye et al., 2018). Continuous assessment

of individuals' day-to-day functioning makes it possible to more accurately track and measure relevant intraindividual changes in daily functioning than may emerge using conventional functional assessment methods periodically. Moreover, unobtrusive monitoring embedded within regularly used computer devices results in information that is representative of actual daily functioning under normal conditions.

In summary, the way that functional capacity is measured can be improved by: 1) addressing the limitations of current methods, such as those that rely on the subjective reporting of function and behaviour or 2) developing new methods that take a different approach to estimating functional ability. Paper-based and electronic subjective assessments of functional ability are recognised methods that have known efficacy and utility, and can be incrementally improved. Therefore improving current methods would be fairly low risk, but also likely to yield relatively small gains. Whereas, investigating potentially new methods of assessment has a higher risk of failure, but the potential to make a more significant, stepchange in utility. Utilising a dual risk approach increases the chance of successfully contributing to an improvement in the field of functional assessment.

1.2. Aim

The aim of this PhD is to explore ways to improve the methods of measuring and detecting functional impairment in people with early cognitive decline. This will be achieved in two ways: first by reporting the cultural adaption of an existing measure of IADL (the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire) in order to improve the current IADL measurements in the UK - in particular those that include questions about technology use; and second by investigating the potential of assessing directed (set tasks with instructions) and non-directed (normal, home computer use) computer use behaviours (e.g. mouse clicks and keystroke speed) unobtrusively and continuously as a marker of cognitive and functional decline.

1.3. Overview of thesis

This PhD thesis describes four inter-related studies focusing on improving the ways in which functional ability is measured in older adults for the detection of cognitive decline: one mixed methods questionnaire cultural adaptation study (study A: chapter 3, and published in the journal International Psychogeriatrics), an observational, qualitative pilot study (study B: chapter 4), a quantitative cross-sectional (study C: chapter 5, and published in the

International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry) and a quantitative longitudinal study (study D: chapter 6, and currently in preparation for submission). Alongside the studies, a literature review (chapter 2) is presented, providing a broad overview of the research to date. The thesis is presented in 'Journal format', which is comprised of a sections that are in a format suitable for submission for publication in a peer-reviewed journal or that have been submitted to or published in academic journals.

The **literature review** in **chapter two** begins with a detailed description of the prevalence and characteristics of dementia, MCI and SCD. It then continues with a discussion of the current assessment tools used to measure functional capacity, and details of the patterns of cognitive and functional impairment in IADL in people with SCD, MCI and early dementia. What follows is an overview of the developments in technology-based assessments of cognition and IADL. Recent research detailing the impact of MCI on functional capacity and the associations between IADL decline and progression to dementia are then discussed. All key findings are highlighted and the more complex activities - those more likely to be affected early in people with SCD and MCI - are explored in more detail.

Study A, described in **chapter three**, is a cultural adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire, and the development of a self-report version. 148 participants took part in the study across three steps. In step one, the relevance and clarity of the items described in the questionnaire were reviewed by professionals (n = 14); people with SCD, MCI and dementia due to AD (n = 8); and relatives or carers of people with MCI and dementia due to AD (n = 6). In step two, the cultural relevance of the refined items was assessed using a 6point Likert scale questionnaire administered to 140 British adults aged over 65 years. In step three, to assess how well the new items performed, the questionnaire was administered to 28 older adults with SCD or MCI, 7 of whom self-reported and 21 had informants. The chapter concludes by highlighting that the newly adapted A-IADL-Q-UK provides a measurement of functional decline for use in the UK that captures culturally relevant activities and that a new self-report version has been developed and is ready for testing.

In **chapter four** a pilot study (**study B**) is described that aimed to maximise the feasibility and acceptability of studies C and D: firstly by assessing feasibility of a series of semi-

directed computer tasks and the hardware and software used in study C, and secondly by evaluating the perceived acceptability of recording daily computer use as a proxy measure of cognitive health for study D. For this, seven participants were observed whilst completing a series of semi-directed computer tasks, in order to identify any problems they had completing the tasks and any issues they had using the hardware or software. Semistructured interviews, with a mixture of close- and open-ended questions, were also completed with participants to evaluate their perceived acceptability of recording daily computer use as a proxy measure of cognitive health. On the basis of this study, the design of studies C and D was refined to increase the feasibility and acceptability.

Chapters five and six contain descriptions of studies C and D. These studies were embedded in a larger project called SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management): a three-year EPSRC funded project investigating the effectiveness of monitoring data from computer-use activity for the detection of subtle signs of cognitive impairment. **Study C**, described in **chapter five**, is a cross-sectional reliability and proof of concept study with the aim to investigate whether multiple computer use behaviours can distinguish between cognitively healthy controls and people with early cognitive impairment, as well as investigate whether these behaviours are associated scores on tests of cognitive and functional ability. A comparison of semi-directed computer tasks and cognitive and functional assessments was completed with a group of older adults with cognitive impairment (n = 20) and cognitive healthy controls (n = 24). The chapter concludes by suggesting that capturing computer use behaviours unobtrusively offers the potential for early detection of cognitive impairment.

Study D (described in **chapter six**) was a 7-9 month exploratory longitudinal study of 32 older adult computer users with MCI and SCD. Participants completed a battery of cognitive tests and functional assessments at three time points (start, middle and end). The SAMS software was installed on participants' home computers, with usage recorded continuously for the duration of the study. In this study, patterns of computer use behaviours obtained from continuously-assessed routine home computer-use were investigated to see whether they: i) could show change over time; ii) were associated with cognitive or functional ability; and iii) could discriminate between people with subjective cognitive decline (SCD) and people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI). In this chapter it is demonstrated that, passive

monitoring of time spent on the computer and keystroke speed can differentiate between groups with SCD and MCI. What is more, keystroke speed was associated with a number of neuropsychological test scores and shows potential as an indicator of a person's cognitive status.

In **chapter seven** the research is drawn together by summarising the findings of the studies, discussing them in the context of previous research and providing a critical analysis. Three main contributions of the thesis are discussed in detail. In addition, an overview of ethical considerations is provided, along with implications for healthcare practices, recommendations for future research and overall conclusions.

1.4. Framework of the thesis

The framework for the thesis follows a modified version of the Centre for eHealth Research and Disease Management (CeHreS) roadmap (van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011). The original roadmap serves as practical guidance for the participatory development process of eHealth technologies. This roadmap is appropriate for the work in this thesis in three ways. Firstly, the CeHReS roadmap focuses on how technology can be used to innovate health. This is relevant because the aim of the work in this thesis is to improve methods of measuring functional ability with an emphasis on the use of technology. Secondly the CeHReS roadmap is an approach for the development of eHealth technologies. This is relevant to the work in this thesis because existing measures and novel measures of functional ability are developed and piloted. Thirdly, the CeHReS roadmap emphasises the central importance of involving users in the development of eHealth technologies. This is applicable because in this thesis a number of different methods are implemented to involve users (i.e. older adults with cognitive impairment) in the development process. Instead of eHealth technologies, for this thesis I have adapted the roadmap to create a framework (Figure 1) that outlines the process for development of two 'measures': 1) a culturally adapted functional ability questionnaire (A-IADL-Q-UK) and; 2) a novel digital biomarker for the assessment of computer use behaviours as a proxy measure of cognitive and functional ability.

The CeHRes roadmap includes five key stages of development – contextual inquiry, value specification, design, operationalization and summative evaluation. 'Contextual inquiry' involves information gathering from intended users and the environment in which the

technology will be implemented. For this thesis, the contextual enquiry stage occurs in study A, through a thorough process of face and content validity that includes consultation with a range of stakeholders, including people with cognitive impairment and their relatives. In study B, contextual inquiry is realised through observations and interviews with older adults to assess the feasibility of the computer activities for study C and the prospective acceptability of recording home computer use in study D.

The second stage of development is 'value specification'. Value specification implies the recognition and quantification of the economic, medical, social, or behavioural values of key stakeholders and elaborates on the outcomes of the contextual inquiry. This is conducted in study A through a questionnaire with older adults, which asks about the relevance of the activities refined in the previous step (contextual inquiry).

The third stage of development is 'design' and refers to the building of prototypes that fit with the values and user requirements. The studies that are part of this thesis have been designed to test the developed measures. In study A the A-IADL-Q-UK was designed based on the results from the 'contextual inquiry' and 'value specification' stages, this process included a discussion with the developer after each stage. The results from Study B were used to improve the design of both studies C and D. This included increasing the number of operating systems for study C, so that participants could use the system they were most familiar with, and also improvements to the participant information sheets for study D to address participants concerns about privacy and data security.

'Operationalisation' is the fourth stage of development and concerns the introduction, adoption and employment of the technology in practice. In study A, the final 55-item version of the questionnaire was piloted in a sample of older adults with SCD and MCI and the internal consistency and construct validity of the questionnaire was evaluated. In studies C and D computer use behaviours were measured in both semi-controlled and uncontrolled environments to explore their potential as an objective digital biomarker of functional and cognitive decline. Further design steps are needed in future work before full operationalisation will be possible. This is considered in the discussion in the section on implications for healthcare, policy and practice. For Study A, the A-IADL-Q-UK can be used by researchers and clinicians to provide information about functional health. With further

development the results of studies C and D can be used as part of home monitoring of cognitive and functional well-being.

The fifth and final stage of development is 'summative evaluation'. This refers to the actual uptake of the technology and the assessment of its impact in regard to clinical, organisational and behavioural outcomes. This is considered in the discussion section in terms of how this might be adopted by clinicians and the clinical utility of the two measurement approaches.



Figure one: Thesis framework adapted from van Gemert-Pijnen et al's (2011) CeHRes roadmap

CHAPTER 2: Literature Review

The aim of this review is to provide a background to the work reported in the thesis across five key areas. This narrative review provides an account of the broad range of key issues that underpin the thesis. Firstly, in section 2.1. I provide a detailed overview of the continuum of pathological cognitive decline, followed in section 2.2. by a description of the functional changes associated with each stage of this spectrum. In section 2.3 I detail the advantages and disadvantages of current methods for measuring functional capacity, and in section 2.4. I provide an overview of technology use in older adults and the role this can play in identifying cognitive and functional impairment. More specifically, in section 2.5. I describe the associations between functional ability and computer use behaviours, and how information about computer use behaviours can be used to provide information about cognitive and functional decline. Finally, in 2.6. I outline the ethical considerations when recording data passively via home-based software. In this literature review I critically appraise existing research in the area, highlight any gaps or areas for improvement, and provide a foundation for the aims and outcomes of the thesis.

2.1. Pathological cognitive decline in older age

Cognitive decline in advanced age has been described as a continuum, with no simple cutoff between normal and pathological changes (Deary et al., 2009; Stott, 2006). Stott (2006) argues that there are a number of stages along the spectrum of cognitive decline in older age, including age-associated memory impairment, mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and dementia (Stott, 2006). A number of terms have been developed for clinical situations where no other cause for memory loss has been found (Burns and Zaudig, 2002). Benign senescent forgetfulness was the first descriptor to characterise older adults who were more forgetful than their age peers, yet had superior memory function to people with dementia (Kral, 1962). This was characterised by an awareness of memory problems, an inability to recall remote rather than recent events, and loss of memory for minor details (Burns and Zaudig, 2002). Age-associated memory impairment includes the presence of subjective memory decline, objective evidence of impairment on a standardized memory test as compared to young adults, evidence of adequate intellectual function, and absence of

dementia or any medical condition that could produce cognitive deterioration (Crook et al., 1986). The criteria for age-associated memory impairment quantified the degree of memory impairment required for the diagnosis (a decline of at least one standard deviation below the scores for young adults) and a more severe form of impairment (late-life forgetfulness) which was defined as between one and two standard deviations below age adjusted scores (Burns and Zaudig, 2002). In summary these conditions are regarded as being variants of normal aging. Whereas MCI is seen as a transitional stage between normal cognitive aging and dementia. MCI refers to an individual who has memory complaints and objective evidence of cognitive decline but does not yet meet criteria for dementia (Burns and Zaudig, 2002). Those with MCI are at an increased risk of continuing cognitive decline and subsequent dementia (Roberts et al., 2014). However, as Stott (2006) explains, the boundaries between these different states are unclear, and vary depending on the particular definitions applied and the pathological overlap between dementia and milder degrees of cognitive decline. This makes it difficult to tease out a distinction between agerelated cognitive impairment, MCI and dementia (Stott, 2006). In addition, cognitive decline in advanced age is not a single continuum, and the majority of people with MCI do not go on to develop dementia (Tarawneh and Holtzman, 2012). This suggests that this continuum is unlikely to represent a single disease process, and the course of cognitive decline varies considerably between individuals.

2.1.1. Dementia

Neuronal dysfunction and loss causes progressive cognitive decline and ultimately dementia (Nasrallah and Wolk, 2014). Dementia is a clinical syndrome resulting from the progressive deterioration of cognitive functions that is sufficiently severe to interfere with social or occupational functioning (American Psychiatric Association, 1987)¹. The cognitive and functional changes of dementia are typically accompanied by changes in behaviour and personality, but these have not become core criteria as they are considered to lack diagnostic specificity (Chertkow et al., 2013). Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common cause of neurodegenerative dementia (Nasrallah and Wolk, 2014). Other common forms of

¹ In more recent versions of the DSM (DSM-IV, DSM-IV-TR and DSM 5), dementia is either encompassed within the specific causes of dementia (i.e. AD) or the term has been replaced with major neurocognitive disorder. However, this is not yet in wide clinical use and therefore for the purposes of this PhD the term 'dementia' will be used.

dementia include dementia with Lewy bodies and vascular cognitive impairment (Masellis et al., 2013). There are also less common syndromes, such as Parkinson's disease dementia (PDD), and atypical Parkinson's-like syndromes, including progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration (Scaravilli et al., 2005).

Clinical phenotypes based on changes in cognition, behaviour, function and physical health are of central importance in the diagnosis of dementia. According to the 2011 National Institute of Aging/Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) revised core clinical criteria, all-cause dementia is diagnosed when there are cognitive or behavioural (neuropsychiatric) symptoms that (McKhann et al., 2011):

- 1. Interfere with the ability to function at work or in other daily activities
- 2. Represent a decline from previous levels of function and performance
- 3. Cannot be explained by delirium or major psychiatric disorder
- Cognitive impairment is detected and diagnosed using both history taking from the patient and informant and an objective cognitive assessment (neuropsychological testing is performed when the latter cannot provide confident diagnosis)
- 5. Cognitive or behavioural impairment involved at least two of the following domains:
 - a. Impaired ability to acquire and remember new information
 - b. Impaired reasoning and handling of complex tasks
 - c. Impaired visuospatial abilities
 - d. Impaired language
 - e. Changes in personality, behaviour or comportment

Changes in behaviour and physical health are not core diagnostic criteria as they are considered to lack diagnostic specificity (Chertkow et al., 2013). Therefore there is a dependence on the measurement of changes in the clinical phenotypes cognition and function. Despite the clinical relevance of functional capacity and the required assessment of function to diagnose dementia, classify patients accurately, and interpret the clinical significance of medications that affect cognition, assessment of function has remained relatively underdeveloped. Few studies have explicitly investigated the association between measures of cognition and functional status and it is unclear, for example, how much variance in functional status can be explicitly attributed to cognition independent of major noncognitive correlates (Royall et al., 2007). These issues are of particular importance in the study of dementia because diagnosis requires that dementia-defining cognitive impairments are associated with functional capacity. In addition, differentiating dementia from MCI requires a clinical judgement as to whether or not there is significant interference in functional ability or daily activities (McKhann et al., 2011).

The behavioural and functional impairment that accompanies dementia constitutes one of the major causes of disability worldwide, and it has a significant impact on the lives of affected individuals (Cotelli et al., 2012). Unfortunately, the diagnosis of dementia is often difficult, particularly in the early stages. The diagnosis is frequently made very late in the course of the condition, and may take a long time (Hakensen, 2012). At present, it is estimated that 34% of people with dementia have yet to receive a diagnosis in the UK (Alzheimer's Research UK, 2018). A diagnosis and earlier intervention might increase the chances of delaying the progression of dementia (Barnett et al., 2014). If the onset can be delayed by five years, by 2050 the AD population would be reduced by 41% compared with the projections without a delayed onset (Zissimopoulos et al., 2014).

The concept of an 'early' diagnosis has been recently brought into question. The reported benefits of an early diagnosis include the implementation of interventions to maintain independence for longer; providing time for decisions about the future (i.e. legal and financial); and providing time to connect with support systems and services (Rasmussen and Langerman, 2019). However, given that there is as yet no cure or treatment that can significantly slow progression of dementia, early diagnosis could be irrelevant or even detrimental to the patient's emotional wellbeing. Consequently there has been a recent shift of focus away from the pursuit of an early diagnosis to the benefits of a 'timely' diagnosis, which reflect a person-centred care movement. A timely diagnosis refers to the disclosure of the diagnosis at the right time for the individual with consideration of their preferences and circumstances. However, despite this shift in thinking, recent studies suggest that the desired time for a diagnosis is still earlier than is currently being achieved. For example, Dubois and colleagues define timely diagnosis as the diagnosis made at a time when a person first becomes worried enough to seek the help of a clinician and can still be free of dementia and functionally independent (Dubois et al., 2016). Other studies indicate that people want early diagnostic testing for AD (Blendon et al., 2012) and want a diagnosis

of dementia to be disclosed as soon as possible (Watson et al., 2018) to both them and their relatives (Riva et al., 2014; Werner et al., 2013). A study of public attitudes to early diagnosis of AD dementia found that over 94% of people would want to be told if they had AD dementia (Harvard School of Public Health/Alzheimer Europe, 2011). Moreover, early detection of dementia was considered the highest priority in a survey of AD patients, their carers and the general public with an interest in dementia (Law et al., 2013). A "timely" diagnosis of dementia can enable patients and their families to make sense of what is happening, make lifestyle changes and plan for the future (Dubois et al., 2016). Burns (2012) argues that a timely diagnosis of dementia can decrease carer burden, improve access to support systems, and enable older adults to live active and independent lives for longer. A timely diagnosis can also give people a definitive answer to complaints that have caused them anxiety and distress. This avoids unnecessary admission and institutionalism which has clear economic benefits (Burns, 2012). It is important to note that if disease modifying drugs are licensed in the future (i.e. aducanumab (Schneider, 2020)), this shift in thinking may change back again to an emphasis on early diagnosis.

Up until very recently, dementia has been a clinical diagnosis, for which laboratory and imaging tests provided only supportive diagnostic evidence (Chertkow et al., 2013). The clinical diagnosis of dementia is conducted through a combination of history-taking from the patient and a knowledgeable informant, and objective cognitive and functional assessment (McKhann et al., 2011). A careful history is often obtained using a semi-structured interview with an informant (for example, the Clinical Dementia Rating scale (Morris, 1993). Cognitive assessments often include brief assessment tools such as the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (Nasreddine et al., 2005). Structured or informal functional assessment is used to establish the presence and severity of functional disability. In recent years, the focus in tool development has been on more sensitive cognitive measures that are able to detect subtle cognitive and functional impairment at the earliest possible stage and to improve methods for monitoring disease progression along the continuum and responses to therapeutic interventions (Aisen et al., 2017). Increasing regulatory approval of positron emission tomography (PET) tracers and improvements in the precision of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) markers are part of an increasing effort to integrate biomarkers into clinical-decision making (Aisen et al., 2017). Despite biomarkers now being a central component in the

recruitment of participants and the analysis of outcomes in AD clinical trials, their use in a clinical environment is restricted by a number of factors: biomarker assessment is expensive and invasive (Humpel, 2011), and many general healthcare providers do not have access to advanced imaging and CSF measures (Croisile et al., 2012). Moreover, the biomarkers currently used have limited ability to predict the clinical disease course (Aisen et al., 2017). However, the widespread use of biomarkers will be facilitated by low-cost and minimally invasive biomarkers (e.g., blood or saliva) that are now emerging (Mattsson et al., 2017; Nakamura et al., 2018; Ovod et al., 2017). A focus on affordable, simple and non-invasive biomarkers are therefore needed to support the existing clinical diagnosis processes.

2.1.2. A biological definition of Alzheimer's disease

An initiative led by the National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) aimed to update the 2011 NIA-AA guidelines for AD and led to the development of a research framework (Jack et al., 2018). The research framework focuses on the diagnosis of AD with biomarkers in living persons and utilises the ATN classification system (Jack et al., 2016). In the ATN system the main Alzheimer disease (AD) biomarkers are grouped into 3 categories: the "A" class corresponds with an amyloid beta (Aβ) biomarker (amyloid PET or CSF Aβ42); the "T" class with a tau biomarker (CSF p-tau or tau PET); and "N" with a neurodegeneration biomarker (CSF t-tau, FDG-PET, or structural MRI). The authors emphasise that the research framework is appropriate for biological biomarker-based research and should not be used to restrict approaches to hypothesis testing that do not use biological biomarkers. The NIA-AA research framework is not implemented in the current thesis because the use of biological biomarkers to diagnose AD was not part of the research goals. However, it is important to highlight how the staging schemes described in the research framework fit with the categories of people with cognitive decline that are described in the thesis, specifically people with subjective cognitive decline (SCD) and MCI. The NIA-AA research framework presents both a syndromal categorical cognitive staging scheme and a numeric clinical staging scheme. The syndromal cognitive staging scheme divides the cognitive continuum into three traditional categories—cognitively unimpaired (CU), MCI, and dementia. In this scheme, they suggest that a subset of CU individuals may report subjective cognitive decline. The numerical clinical staging scheme avoids traditional syndromal labels and is applicable for only those in the Alzheimer's continuum. This staging

scheme which ranges from stage 1 through to stage 6 reflects the sequential evolution of AD from an initial stage characterized by the appearance of abnormal AD biomarkers in asymptomatic individuals (stage 1). As biomarker abnormalities progress, the earliest subtle symptoms become detectable (stages 2 - 3). Further progression of biomarker abnormalities is accompanied by progressive worsening of cognitive symptoms, culminating in dementia (stages 4 to 6). In this scheme, stage 2 which is also referred to as transitional cognitive decline encompasses both SCD and MCI categories. Subjective report of cognitive decline can occur at stage 2 and people with mild cognitive impairment syndrome could come under both stage 2 or stage 3.

2.1.3. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI)

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a syndrome defined by clinical, cognitive and functional criteria (Albert et al., 2011), and has been conceptualized as an intermediate stage between normal aging and dementia (Jak et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2009). People meeting criteria for MCI are at elevated risk of subsequent progression to dementia (Roberts et al., 2014). The Peterson criteria (Petersen et al., 2001) (also known as the Mayo criteria) are the most commonly used criteria for diagnosing MCI (Jekel et al., 2015). These criteria require: 1) subjective cognitive complaint; 2) normal activities of daily living (ADLs); 3) normal general cognitive function; 4) impaired memory function for age and education; and 5) absence of dementia (Petersen et al., 2005). MCI cannot be currently diagnosed using a laboratory test (Albert et al., 2011). However, typically, individuals with MCI score 1 to 1.5 standard deviations below the mean on cognitive tests compared with age and education matched peers (Albert et al., 2011).

MCI has been criticised as a clinical entity for having poorly defined neuropsychological parameters (Portet et al., 2006). However, since the develop of the Peterson criteria, the MCI concept has been expanded to include the clinical phenotypes of amnestic (aMCI) and non-amnestic (naMCI) (Csukly et al., 2016; Jekel et al., 2015). aMCI results predominantly in memory loss and has a high risk of conversion to AD (Petersen et al., 2001). People with naMCI have deficits in other domains than memory and have a higher risk of converting to other forms of dementia, such as diffuse Lewy body dementia (Ferman et al., 2013). A

further categorisation is single-domain or multiple-domain, based on whether impairment exists in only one or multiple cognitive domains (Jekel et al., 2015; Seelye et al., 2013).

Revising the MCI construct into subtypes has improved the characterization of the underlying aetiology and trajectory of MCI (Seelye et al., 2013). However, difficulties with the MCI criteria include the lack of specific methods of measurement for assessing cognitive or functional capacity, and the lack of cut-off points to differentiate MCI from mild dementia (Jekel et al., 2015). For example in a study of 112 people with MCI, assessing which neuropsychological tests best distinguish people with MCI from cognitively healthy controls, people with MCI displayed significant cognitive impairment across all cognitive domains (Nordlund et al., 2005). This highlights the need for more precise guidelines as to what neuropsychological instruments should be used when assessing different MCI subtypes. Furthermore, the underlying physiological process of MCI is not accurately defined. MCI by definition is heterogeneous, a syndrome not a disease process, which limits its utility in a clinical and research context. This emphasises the need for biomarker based diagnosis.

There are a number of widely publicized measures of cognition that are being used in the detection of MCI. One example of this is the LASSI-L developed by Loewenstein and colleagues (2017). The LASSI-L, requires learning of 15 words that belong to one of three semantic categories and measures vulnerability to semantic proactive interference by presenting a competing set of semantically similar words (Crocco et al., 2018). The LASSI-L has been show to differentiate between participants with aMCI and suspected dementia due to AD from cognitively unimpaired older adults (Crocco et al., 2014; Matías-Guiu et al., 2017); and has been associated with volumetric loss and cortical thinning among those with aMCI (Loewenstein et al., 2017b) (Loewenstein et al., 2017b). The LASSI-L is one example of the many measures for detecting cognitive decline at the stage of mild cognitive impairment and preclinical AD. This represents a very large body of literature and a detailed description is beyond the scope of this thesis which focuses on measures of functional ability.

2.1.4. Subjective cognitive decline (SCD)

Research on AD dementia has moved from referring to the MCI stage to the preclinical stage of AD, which has extended the focus from the early signs of cognitive impairment measured with neuropsychological tests to the purely subjective report of cognitive decline (SCD) in

unimpaired individuals (Jessen, 2014). The reported experiences of cognitive decline have also been conceptualized as subjective cognitive impairment (SCI), subjective memory decline (SMD), subjective memory impairment (SMI), and memory complaints, among other terminologies (Abdulrab and Heun, 2008). The Subjective Cognitive Decline Initiative (SCD-I) was started to (amongst other aims) develop a common research concept for SCD (Jessen et al., 2014). The SCD-I working group states that an individual with SCD would have selfexperienced decline in cognition compared to their previous status, and not in relation to an acute event, in addition to normal scores on standardised cognitive tests used to classify MCI or prodromal AD. SCD is sometimes referred to as pre-MCI SCD (Jessen et al., 2014). In line with SCD-I conceptualisation, in this PhD the term SCD will be used to refer to individuals with self-experienced cognitive decline. However, given the varied, widespread and often contradictory terminology used to refer to SCD, any deviations from this term, or the way it is conceptualised, within the cited literature will be highlighted.

There are a variety of different strategies used for the assessment of subjective concerns, ranging from a single question (such as "Do you have difficulties with your memory?" (Ellis et al., 2009), a cut-off score on a number of items (Wang et al., 2004), through to more comprehensive questionnaires that tap multiple cognitive domains, such as the Subjective Cognitive Decline Questionnaire (Rami et al., 2014). For example, one study used a composite score created by combining subscales from subjective questionnaires (Amariglio et al., 2012), whereas another study classified participants if they had recently been referred for the assessment of cognitive complaints but were not impaired according to neuropsychological tests (Visser et al., 2009). There is no single accepted assessment to classify a person with SCD, whether that be a neuropsychological test or a self-/informant rated measure (Molinuevo et al., 2017). The variety of conceptualisations and assessment methods highlight the need for improved understanding of the subjective experience of cognitive decline. A recent opinion article by the SCD-I working group provides recommendations on how to begin operationalizing and implementing SCD criteria, a set of guidelines for detection and assessment, as well as suggestions for what information to report in an SCD study to ensure consistency and learning over time (Molinuevo et al., 2017). However, this is just a starting point and further work is needed to be able to provide a gold standard for detection and outcome measurement.

SCD is increasingly recognised as a risk factor for incident dementia (Molinuevo et al., 2017). For instance, in a study of 1547 participants without dementia, after adjusting for depressive symptoms and objective memory performance, self-reported memory failures were found to be predictive of future dementia or AD (Ronnlund et al., 2015). The same study also found that subjective reports from family and friends were an even stronger predictor of preclinical impairments. A similar study of 2415 participants without cognitive impairment aged over 75 years reported that SCD (which they term SMI) at baseline was associated with greatest risk for conversion to any dementia after one and a half years and three years (Jessen et al., 2010). Further support comes from a study by Reisberg and colleagues (2010) who assessed 213 participants during a seven-year mean follow-up period and found that people with SCD (which they term as SCI) declined more rapidly compared with participants with no subjective cognitive concerns. Similar results, from a two-year follow up study of a community sample of older adults found that people with SCD (they use the term SMI) were at a four-fold increased risk of developing dementia (Tobiansky et al., 1995).

Jessen and colleagues (2010) suggest that the prediction of dementia in AD by SCD (which they term SMI) with subsequent amnestic MCI supports the model of a consecutive 3-stage clinical manifestation of AD from SCD via MCI to dementia. However, Abdulrab and Heun (2008) argue that SCD (they use the term SCI) is predominantly underlined by psychoaffective factors rather than subtle memory impairment, with research indicating associations between SCD and emotional state and personality (Abdulrab and Heun, 2008; Derouesne et al., 1999; Hanninen et al., 1994; Smith et al., 1996). In a response to the conceptual framework proposed by Jessen et al. (2014), Canevelli and colleagues (2014) argue that disentangling the relationship between SCD and potential confounders such as psychiatric disease is likely unfeasible due to the extent of comorbidities in elders with subjective cognitive complaints.

Despite the arguments concerning links between SCD and psycho-affective factors, longitudinal research indicates that SCD is a valuable predictor of increased risk of dementia (Slot et al., 2019). Other research indicates that the risk of dementia increases in SCD, and increases further with white matter lesions and cortical atrophy present (Sacuiu et al., 2018). Consequently, the clinical usefulness of the SCD label may require additional

resources such as CT scans to be most effective. Additionally, careful consideration of confounding factors such as psychiatric disease is required to enable a clear understanding of the predictive potential of SCD.

2.2. Functional impairment

Functional disability is a defining feature of all dementias. The 2011 NIA-AA revised core criteria state that, for a diagnosis of dementia, cognitive deficits must be of sufficient severity to "interfere with the ability to function at work or at usual activities"; and "represent a decline from previous levels of functioning and performing" (McKhann et al., 2011: p.3).

In dementia, functional impairment is associated with two major types of abilities: basic activities of daily living (BADL) and instrumental activities of daily living (IADL). BADL are the fundamental self-maintenance skills typically needed to manage basic physical needs in the following areas: grooming/personal hygiene, dressing, toileting/continence, transferring/ambulating and eating (Desai et al., 2004). These functional skills are typically mastered early in life, and the ability to perform them is relatively preserved in the early stages of dementia compared to higher level tasks (Mlinac and Feng, 2016). The ability to perform BADL deteriorates to a greater extent during the later stages of dementia and physical functioning is often a significant driver of BADL ability (Cahn-Weiner et al., 2007).

IADL are more complex, higher order skills related to independent living in the community, such as managing finances, using the telephone, driving a car, taking medications, planning a meal, shopping and working in an occupation (Jekel et al., 2015). The ability to perform BADL and IADL is dependent upon cognitive (e.g. reasoning and planning), motor and perceptual abilities (Mlinac and Feng, 2016). One study has shown that successful performance in IADL is critically dependent on executive cognitive function, whereas change in IADL functioning over time is predicted by baseline memory functioning (Gross et al., 2011). Compared with BADL, impairment in IADL is considered to require more complex neuropsychological processing capacity, and is therefore strongly correlated with cognitive decline (Royall et al., 2007). IADL impairment can often present in MCI and early dementia (Farias et al., 2013), and problems in performing more complex IADL may be the first indication of the disease to the person or family (Desai et al., 2004).

Rogers and colleagues (1998) proposed an additional category of functional impairment: enhanced activities of daily living (EADLs) to refer to activities that require the ability to adapt to a changing environment (Rogers et al., 1998). EADL activities include hobbies, new learning (often related to technology) and social engagement. They suggest that a willingness to learn new skills and overcome new challenges might be central to maintaining functional independence.

Decline in the ability to perform everyday activities, and the eventual loss of independence, are major concerns for older adults (Rog et al., 2014). Moreover, functional impairments are associated with carer burden (Kang et al., 2014; Razani et al., 2007), patient distress (Thurston-Hicks et al., 1998), increased use of healthcare services (Singh et al., 2005), nursing home placement (Kales et al., 2005) and reduced quality of life (QoL) (Giebel et al., 2014; Rog et al., 2014). Despite the association between dementia and the loss of ability to function independently in major areas of life, and the link between MCI and mild decrements in the ability to carry out higher level functional abilities, much of the variability in everyday function remains unexplained (Gold, 2012; Royall et al., 2007).

2.2.1. Functional impairment in dementia

As previously discussed, the presence of functional impairment is a core diagnostic criterion of dementia (McKhann et al., 2011). Each subtype of dementia has a characteristic cognitive and behavioural profile that will influence the nature of the functional deficits (Poulos et al., 2017). This information can then be used to design the most appropriate care plan for the management of those specific functional disabilities. Despite the importance of functional status in the diagnosis of dementia there is limited information about the differences in functional limitations by dementia subtype. In an attempt to address this gap, Gure and colleagues (2010) examined 856 older adults who were grouped into three subtypes of dementia: vascular (VaD), AD and dementia due to other aetiologies. VaD was associated with significantly greater ADL limitations than AD. This information is important when considering the effective design of community-based programs and institutional services to address the needs of patients with dementia and to lessen the burden on caregivers and the health care system (Gure et al., 2010).

The assessment of functional impairment is also an important factor in understanding the progression of the disease. A strong correlation exists between the stage of dementia and ability to function in daily activities (Liu et al., 2007). People with dementia are likely to change slowly from requiring assistance in more advanced daily tasks in the community to needed support with self-care tasks as the underlying disease progresses (Stavitsky et al., 2006). Liu et al. (2007) found that when dementia severity progresses, basic ADL ability declined. This is supported by the results of a study by Talmelli et al. (2013) who found that functional performance was significantly associated with dementia severity and that as dementia becomes more advanced functional performance worsens (Talmelli et al., 2013). The assessment of functional ability is an essential part of the diagnosis of dementia and as the disease on the person and their family/carers and it provides vital information about their care needs. Deficits in ADL have been found to contribute to increased carer burden (Kang et al., 2014) and reduced QoL in people with dementia (Beerens et al., 2016).

2.2.2. Functional impairment in MCI

Earlier diagnostic criteria for MCI required that performance of IADL, such as medication management, remain normal (Peterson, 1997). However, since the publication of the original criteria, evidence began to accumulate to suggest that subtle changes or preclinical disability in performance of IADL may be apparent in individuals with MCI (Rodakowski, 2014). A number of studies have demonstrated people with MCI do have disabilities in performing complex everyday life activities, and the BADL/IADL criterion has been challenged. For example, Nygard (2003) analysed studies of BADL and IADL in MCI, dementia and healthy controls and found that IADL deficits are demonstrated prior to dementia onset and should therefore be differentiated from BADL in the diagnosis of MCI (Nygard, 2003). Recent revisions of criteria do acknowledge supervening mild problems while performing complex functional tasks (Albert et al., 2011; Hedman et al., 2013) and this is supported by a growing body of literature demonstrating functional limitations in complex everyday tasks in people with MCI compared with people with dementia and healthy controls (Albert et al., 2011; Bombin et al., 2012; Farias et al., 2005; Farias et al., 2006; Gold, 2012; Jefferson et al., 2008; Jekel et al., 2015; Lindbergh et al., 2016; Peres et al., 2008; Perneczky et al., 2006; Puente et al., 2014; Reppermund et al., 2013; Rodakowski et al., 2014; Wadley et al., 2007;
Weston et al., 2011; Zoller et al., 2014). For example, in their meta-analysis of 106 studies, Lindbergh et al (2016) found a large overall summary effect size demonstrating that MCI was associated with significant difficulties in the performance of everyday tasks (Lindbergh et al., 2016).

Cross sectional findings have shown that, based on findings from a performance based measure, older adults with MCI have decreased ability to perform BADL and IADL compared with cognitively healthy controls. However, these functional deficits were not detected by self-report or informant-report questionnaires, suggesting that performance-based testing may be more sensitive to subtle functional disability (Puente et al., 2014). Evidence also suggests that MCI subtype predicts the type of IADL restriction. Kim et al. (2009) examined IADL impairment in four different MCI subtypes (amnestic single and multiple domain and non-amnestic single and multiple domain). They found that individuals with single domain naMCI reported problems using the telephone and household appliances, whereas those with multiple domain aMCI had difficulties using the telephone, using transportation and managing finances. These findings suggest that scores on specific IADL items could help to identify MCI subtypes. However, despite the array of literature detailing the impact of functional decline in MCI, consensus is still lacking regarding what should be considered mild problems in IADL (Hedman et al., 2013). Therefore, further clarification is required so that information about functional impairment can be used appropriately for MCI diagnosis.

2.2.3. Functional impairment in SCD

Identifying functional change in individuals who are, by definition, asymptomatic remains a significant challenge (Atkins et al., 2018). The first consensus concept of SCD developed by the Subjective Cognitive Decline Initiative (SCD-I) includes suggested features of SCD that increase the likelihood of preclinical AD in SCD (Jessen et al., 2014). This list of features does not include functional decline, but the SCD-I acknowledge it is not exhaustive, implying further features could be added. Slight difficulties in performing IADL are acknowledged to be consistent with SCD (Molinuevo et al., 2017). Montejo (2012) found a significant association between subjective memory complaints (SMC) and every item of the Lawton Scale, which measures ability to perform IADL, and the Katz Index, which assesses independence in BADL (Montejo et al., 2012). In another study, people with high amounts of

self-reported subjective cognitive concerns (SCC) had significantly more difficulties with IADL compared to those with low amounts of SCC; difficulties with IADL was also recognised by informants for the high SCC group (McAlister and Schmitter-Edgecombe, 2016). Stogmann et al (2016) found that SCD participants had decreased ability to perform IADL (referred to as ADL) compared to controls (Stogmann et al., 2016).

Similar results have also been found in longitudinal studies. For instance, one study found that participants who reported that their memory problems interfered with their daily activities had an almost 4-fold increase in risk of MCI at follow-up and were at higher risk of cognitive decline (Sargent-Cox et al., 2011). In the same study, a one point increase on a functional health measure was associated with a 3-4% increased risk of mild cognitive disorder, but not MCI, and an increased risk in cognitive decline in cognitively healthy participants. Cognitive healthy older adults recruited from clinics because they had concerns about their memory were at an increased risk of conversion to MCI (Chen et al., 2017). In this same sample greater difficulty in everyday function was associated with increased risk of conversion to MCI. However, there is a lack of research regarding risk of AD dementia in SCD in relation to IADL functioning. In an attempt to address this gap in the literature Roehr and colleagues (2017) analysed data from cognitively unimpaired individuals who reported SCD at baseline and found that although IADL function was largely well preserved in people with SCD, when difficulties with IADL were present risk of conversion to AD dementia increased (Roehr et al., 2019). These findings indicate that there may be subtle functional changes that occur early in the spectrum of cognitive decline and therefore screening for IADL impairment could serve as a useful indicator for assessing risk of conversion to MCI and even AD dementia.

2.2.4. Difficulties with IADL can be predictive of subsequent cognitive decline

Functional impairment in SCD and MCI has also been shown to be predictive of subsequent MCI and dementia. For instance, Sikkes et al (2011) found that participants with IADL disabilities at baseline had a higher conversion rate (24.4%) to dementia than those without (16.7%) and that IADL disability predicted progression to dementia at 1 and 2 year follow up. Furthermore, in an 8 year longitudinal study of 2,386 individuals, Carlo and colleagues (2016) found that incidence of dementia was significantly higher when baseline IADL was

impaired: Incident dementia (per 1,000 person-years) with increasing IADL impairment ranged from 3.02 to 8.71 in cognitively impaired participants without dementia, and from 1.83 to 8.21 in MCI participants (Di Carlo et al., 2016).

Tabert (2002) suggests that obtaining both self and informant report of IADL impairment can help in the prediction of long term outcome. In their study, they found that a discrepancy between informant-reported IADL deficits and self-reported IADL deficits can significantly predict the development of AD (Tabert et al., 2002). This suggests that an individual's overestimation of their own higher-level functional ability predicts a future diagnosis of AD. Performance on specific IADL can be especially sensitive in detecting early functional change in healthy individuals at risk for AD. Marshall et al. (2015) found that information about decline in specific daily activities (paying bills and turning off the stove) predicted greater risk of progression from cognitively healthy to MCI (Marshall et al., 2015b). Furthermore, when functional measures are combined with other markers of AD dementia, this can produce sensitive models for predicting MCI to dementia progression. This is demonstrated in a 3 year longitudinal study of people with MCI, where it was found that the best performing model for predicting MCI to dementia progression, combined cognitive and functional markers with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) measures and had an accuracy of 80% (83% sensitivity, 76% specificity, AUC = 0.87) (Korolev et al., 2016). The results from these studies suggest, that assessment of subtle change in IADL provides vital information at the preclinical and prodromal stage of AD to support an early diagnosis. However, the results are difficult to compare because the selection of items, participants, and IADL measurements differ greatly between studies.

2.3. Measuring IADL

There are three main methods for assessing IADL impairment: self-report, informant-report and performance-based tasks. Self-report is where the individual provides their own information about their subjective cognitive concerns or lived-experiences. An informant report is a report given by anyone who has observed the person in their day-to-day living (e.g., friend or relative). Performance-based measures require the observation of an individual carrying out IADL, such as preparing a meal or using the telephone. This can happen either in the community or in a clinical setting.

Measuring impairment in IADL is controversial for several reasons. First, no objective standard exists as to the practical or theoretical definition of minimal functional impairment in MCI (Jekel et al., 2015). It is therefore unclear whether functional impairment is based on deficits in some or certain IADL or difficulties across a wide range of IADL (Gold, 2012). Furthermore, the assessment of IADL is mostly limited to questionnaires that often rely on informants' reports, which suffer from biases and inaccuracies in informants' perceptions or the lack of informants being available to comment (Konig et al., 2015). Clinician and researchers are therefore left without guidance relating to how to assess impairment in MCI. Different methods of measuring IADL produce varying estimates of IADL independence and each approach has advantages and disadvantages. These are discussed in detail in the following sections.

2.3.1. Self-report measures

The benefit of self-report is the potential to capture aspects of the disease that are uniquely accessible to the individuals themselves (Frank et al., 2011). However, disruptions to communication, attention, memory and judgement that occur as a result of cognitive decline may interfere with the ability to complete a questionnaire accurately (Trigg et al., 2007). Loss of insight that occurs as a result of disease progression could also affect a patient's ability to self-report. Indeed, evidence suggests that MCI can result in impaired insight and even anosognosia (an unawareness of loss of function (Ries et al., 2007)) (Vogel et al., 2004). In a review of sixteen studies evaluating awareness among people diagnosed with MCI, Roberts and colleagues found strong evidence for variability in levels of awareness and a number of studies suggesting that people with MCI have limited awareness (J. L. Roberts, Clare, & Woods, 2009). However, some empirical reports conclude that people with MCI have preserved insight. For example Farias et al (2005) found that selfreport by people with MCI was concordant with reports of others, suggesting people with MCI do not under report functional ability (Farias et al., 2005). The findings from these studies suggest that changes in self-reported everyday function may be useful early in the disease process, but that this becomes increasingly less valid as cognitive impairment becomes more pronounced.

Similar conclusions can be drawn when considering the capabilities of self-report measures for discriminating between people with MCI and healthy controls. In a 2017 study by Farias and colleagues, self-rated scores on the Everyday Cognition scale (ECog: an informant-based measure of cognitively-relevant everyday abilities) were equal or potentially better predictors of progression from healthy cognition to MCI compared with informant report (Farias et al., 2017). However, in a study by Edmonds et al. (2018) cognitively healthy control participants consistently over reported on the ECog, and participants with MCI demonstrated an increasing unawareness of their cognitive decline that was associated with cerebrospinal fluid AD biomarker positivity and progression to AD (Edmonds et al., 2018). These studies suggest that self-report can be useful in discriminating healthy adults from people with MCI, but that caution should be taken when using self-report in the latter stage of MCI.

The quality and appropriateness of content of self-report measures of functional ability has been questioned. In a systematic review of self-reported questionnaires on disability, Yang et al. (2014) concluded that the range of assessments is somewhat lacking. They considered 24 questionnaires in detail, and found that the most frequently used assessments in research with older adults were the Barthel Index, Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale, and Katz Index of Activities of Daily Living. However, only the Lawton and Brody Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale was actually developed specifically for older adult populations. They concluded that the content and format of the questionnaires varied considerably, but none of the questionnaires covered all essential elements of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health framework (Yang et al., 2014). This suggests that more self-report measures need to be developed that cover a broader variety of elements.

Despite, the disadvantages of using self-report measures given the variation in insight in people with MCI, evidence suggest that people with MCI may have knowledge of deficits before these problems are clinically identifiable (Cook and Marsiske, 2006; Reisberg and Gauthier, 2008; Reisberg et al., 2008). In addition self-report is a vital option for understanding a person's personal experiences and subjective concerns, this becomes even more important when an older adult lives alone and does not have someone who can act as an informant.

2.3.2. Informant-report measures

After a certain point in the disease progression, self-report is no longer viable and, at this point, the informant's report (if available) will provide a more reliable overview of the person's functional ability (Weintraub et al., 2018a). The practice of using an informant's perspectives is important as it can provide an overview of the individual's performance in a range of different environments over an extended period of time (Gold, 2012). Empirical evidence suggests that informant report on the ECog is more strongly associated with disease bio-markers than self-report (Rueda et al., 2015). Moreover, informant measures of IADL can discriminate people with MCI from cognitively healthy older adults. However, although they are the most frequently used of the three methods (Sikkes et al., 2009), they are subject to biases and inaccuracies in the informants' perceptions. For instance, informant reports have sometimes been shown to overestimate functional disability, with the extent of over-estimation related to caregiver burden (Puente et al., 2014). In addition, characteristics of the informant, such as anxiety, depression and general health, can influence their perceptions of the person for whom they care (Sikkes et al., 2009). Inaccuracies have also been associated with the amount of time spent with the individual and the type of relationship. In particular, informants living with the individuals and spouses were found to be more accurate than those living separately (Ready et al., 2004). A further limitation of informant reports is that some older adults do not have an individual who can comment on their daily functioning (Gold, 2012).

Current informant methods for IADL assessment are frequently inadequate and psychometric information is lacking. Sikkes (2009) provides an overview of structured informant-based IADL questionnaires, developed or validated for use in AD. This study evaluated the psychometric properties of the questionnaires across eight measurement properties including content validity, internal consistency, criterion validity, construct validity, reproducibility, responsiveness, floor- and ceiling effects and interpretability. They identified twelve informant-based questionnaires for the evaluation of IADL in dementia. Despite over 50% of the information required to evaluate the quality of the instruments being unavailable, they assessed all twelve questionnaires in relation to the eight measurement properties, summarising each property as good, doubtful or poor. A total of 8.1% of the ratings were good and 7.2% were poor. A further 32.4% were indeterminate and

this was often due to inadequate data analyses or sample sizes. Overall the Disability Assessment for Dementia (DAD) and the Bristol Activities of Daily Living Scale (Bristol ADL) received the best ratings. However, they found that it was impossible to give judgement on several important quality criteria such as responsiveness, reproducibility, construct validity and interpretability due to a lack of information. This review highlights the need for further investigations to assess the psychometric properties of current measurements (Sikkes et al., 2009).

Although subjective evaluations are important, they do not directly assess ability or performance competency, and nor do they assess ability to perform composite tasks within a single domain. For example, medication use requires an individual to remember to take the medication, take the correct dose and understand the label instructions. Self-report and informant report scales classify ability into broad categories (e.g. dependent or independent) and typically do not capture subtle differences in functional ability. Therefore subjective evaluations of functional ability may not be accurate enough to capture the complexities of everyday functioning (Allaire et al., 2009).

2.3.3. Performance-based measures

Performance-based assessments, while more complex and costly, can provide a more objective behavioural measure of an individual's symptomology. Evidence suggests that direct functional performance tasks simulating IADL and performed in front of a clinician or examiner is more sensitive to identifying IADL deficits in MCI (Kaye, Mattek et al. 2014). Several studies have shown that performance-based measures may be more sensitive compared to other methods in identifying subtle functional change (Allaire et al., 2009; Goldberg et al., 2010; Pereira et al., 2010). Allaire (2009) compared the performance of participants with and without MCI on objective (performance-based) and subjective (participant-rated) measures of everyday and real world memory. Significant differences between the two groups were found for the subjective evaluations of food preparation and finance but not for medication use or shopping. However, for the objective measures, significant differences were found for all the IADL domains (medication use, financial management, nutrition and food preparation) (Allaire et al., 2009). These findings are compatible with a study published by Pereira (2010) who found that a performance-based

measure, the Direct Assessment of Functional Status (DAFS-BR), had higher accuracy than a subjective measure, the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE), in identifying MCI (Pereira et al., 2010). Similarly, Goldberg and colleagues (2010) found when everyday function was deemed normal on an informant based measure (the Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study–Activities of Daily Living Inventory; ADCS-ADL), significant impairment can still be observed on a performance based measure (Performance-Based Skills Assessment; UPSA). Taken together, these results suggest that objective measures may be more sensitive in detecting subtle IADL impairment.

Whilst performance-based methods may be more objective, they can be affected by the setting in which they are taken, such as clinical versus home. For instance, removing the individual's chosen routines and environmental cues that typically facilitate IADL has been shown to impact on accurate assessment of functional ability (Desai et al., 2004). In addition, although direct observation has clear advantages in terms of validity, the time and resources required to undertake performance-based measures result in them rarely being used for clinical assessment or research trials (Gold, 2012). Furthermore, performance-based assessments only consider a single demonstration of the activity, whereas a questionnaire allows for reflection of behaviour over an extended period of time (Gold, 2012).

Despite these limitations, performance based measures have the sensitivity to discriminate between people healthy controls and people with MCI. A number of performance-based instruments have shown promise in detecting early clinically meaningful changes in preclinical AD (Weintraub et al., 2018a). Studies have shown that The Harvard Automated Phone Task can discriminate between those who are cognitively healthy, young healthy and have MCI (Marshall et al., 2015a) and correlates well with other sensitive measures of everyday functioning (Marshall et al., 2019). Another performance-based measure, The Financial Capacity Instrument, can detect declining financial skills in patients with amnestic MCI in the year before their conversion to AD dementia (Triebel et al., 2009). The studies demonstrate the promise of performance based tools in detecting the earliest functional alterations in preclinical and prodromal AD.

However, the psychometric properties of performance-based measures have been questioned. In their systematic review, Wesson and colleagues (2016) evaluated the psychometric properties of 21 observational assessments using the Consensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement Instruments (COSMIN) checklist. They reported that there was insufficient evidence on the psychometric properties of the instruments particularly in respect to reliability. Information about validity was restricted to hypothesis testing and assessment of content validity was non-existent. The study authors recommend urgent improvement of these instruments and further evaluations to ensure that they meet the needs of the patients being assessed (Wesson et al., 2016).

A further issue with performance-based measures is the need for administration by trained observers. To overcome this issue, Czaja and colleagues (2017) developed the University of Miami Computer-Based Functional Assessment Battery (UMCFAB). The UMCFAB assesses performance on a variety of everyday activities including: using a cash machine, a repeat prescriptions task, and a visiting the doctor task. The UMCFAB can discriminate between aMCI and cognitively healthy older adults, and has been shown to have good test-retest reliabilities and adequate concurrent validity with cognitive measures (Sara J. Czaja et al., 2017). The authors indicate that computerised performance-based tasks have potential importance in the assessment of functional ability, especially in situations where a reliable informant is not available.

2.3.4. Comparison of IADL assessment methods

Jekel (2015) conducted a systematic review summarising research regarding IADL sub domains in people with MCI compared with healthy controls and people with dementia. In addition they investigated the IADL scales used in the studies and evaluated the types of methods used. Their review included thirty-seven studies, within which they identified thirty-one different instruments for assessing IADL in people with MCI. Of the thirty-seven studies, fifteen used informant rated questionnaires, ten used performance based assessments and six used self-report rating instruments. Three studies used both informant and performance-based assessments and in three studies the IADL of people with MCI were rated by informants whereas healthy controls self-rated their IADL functioning. The authors argued that the use of such a wide variety of instruments complicates comparisons amongst

studies. In addition they highlighted the fact that few of these scales have been constructed or validated for the assessment of IADL in people with MCI and therefore may not be sensitive enough to detect subtle differences (Jekel et al., 2015). Similar to the results found by Sikkes (2009) and Wesson (2016), Jekel (2015) found that the data on the psychometric properties of the IADL scales discussed are not sufficient enough to make a judgement on the quality and appropriateness of the range of scales available.

Comparing different types of IADL measurement could be problematic as it has been suggested that different types of instrument measure different skills. Performance–based measures tap into the use and application of everyday problem solving skills whereas questionnaires apply knowledge gained from multiple experiences completing everyday activities (Schmitter-Edgecombe and Parsey, 2014). This suggests that information should be sought from a combination of types of IADL measurements in order to gain the most comprehensive overview of an individual's functional independence.

Each method for assessing functional ability captures information unique to that form of assessment and, in an ideal world, a comprehensive assessment of IADL functioning would incorporate all three methodologies. However, practically and financially this may not be viable. Therefore developing alternative methodologies for assessing IADL that incorporate the benefits of performance based measurements without requiring the time and resources to complete them would improve the current ways we assess functional ability.

2.3.5. Recent developments in virtual reality (VR) assessments of IADL

Virtual reality (VR) technology has been applied to directly measure IADL task performance to investigate whether behavioural results using VR mimic actual IADL performance. Allain et al. (2014) found that virtual and real coffee-making tasks were highly correlated in terms of behavioural results . Other studies have found that VR daily living tasks can also distinguish between diagnostic groups. Seo et al. (2017) found that performance on daily living tasks presented in an immersive virtual reality environment classified patients with MCI (n=22) from healthy controls (n=20) (Seo et al., 2017). In a more recent study, Atkins and colleagues have demonstrated that performance on the Virtual Reality Functional Capacity Assessment Tool (VRFCAT), a virtual environment performance based IADL assessment, can differentiate between participants with SCD (n=61) and age-matched

normative controls (n=247) (Atkins et al., 2018). In the SCD group, VRFCAT performance was also significantly correlated with cognitive performance across nearly all tests. A limitation of this study is that they included six people with MCI in their SCD group which could have increased the probability of objective decline on the functional assessments. Another limitation is the unequal sample sizes which can result in unequal variances between samples which affects statistical power and Type I error rates. Overall, the results from these studies demonstrate that VR tools could provide sensitive methods for the evaluation of IADL functioning in people with early cognitive decline. It also more generally demonstrates the potential of using technological methods for the measurement of ability to complete daily tasks.

2.3.6. Distinguishing MCI from cognitively healthy older adults using IADL measures

A number of studies have found that IADL measures can discriminate MCI from cognitively healthy older adults. In a review of questionnaire-based assessments of IADL, Gold (2012) concluded that MCI can be distinguished statistically from healthy older adults and dementias using information about performance of complex everyday activities (Gold, 2012). Using an informant-report scale, Zoller and colleagues (2014) found that four IADL best discriminated between cognitively healthy older adults and people with MCI: participating in games involving retrieving words; navigating to unfamiliar areas; performing mental tasks involved in a former primary job; and fixing things or finishing projects (Zoller et al., 2014).

Some IADL are more cognitively demanding than others. Studies have shown that impairment in IADL with high cognitive demand (such as doing two things at the same time) in cognitively healthy individuals at baseline can predict MCI and dementia at follow up (Reppermund et al., 2013). Rodakowski and colleagues (2014) use the term cognitively focused (C-IADL) to describe more cognitively demanding IADL, such as medication management, compared with more physically-focused IADL such as home maintenance (Rodakowski et al., 2014). In their study they found that C-IADL can discriminate MCI from cognitively healthy older adults. More specifically, individuals with MCI had significantly more preclinical disability in shopping and cheque book balancing than those with healthy cognitive function (Rodakowski et al., 2014). In a similar study over a 3 year period, Wadley

(2007) found that all MCI groups showed faster rates of decline in everyday function than cognitively healthy participants with no MCI (Wadley et al., 2007).

Research has shown that financial capacity consistently differentiates people with MCI from healthy controls, and reveals large effect sizes (Griffith et al., 2003; Marson et al., 2009; Martin et al., 2019; Triebel et al., 2009). In one study, group differences were found for bill payment and financial concepts (Griffith et al., 2003). This is supported by a longitudinal study where people with MCI performed worse on all financial domains at baseline and, of those that converted to dementia, scores were worse than those who did not convert on financial conceptual knowledge, cash transactions, bank statement management and bill payment (Triebel et al., 2009). Further support comes from a recent six year longitudinal study by Martin et al. (2019), which showed that people with MCI had significant financial skill decline compared with cognitively healthy controls, with particular problems in financial judgement and large interaction effects for areas such as financial conceptual knowledge and bill payments (Martin et al., 2019).

These results demonstrate that all types of IADL measures, including performance-based, self-report and informant-report, as well as measures that focus on financial capacity, can discriminate MCI from healthy controls. However, drawing conclusions from a wide variety of measurements with different properties is problematic because most of the existing IADL measures lack psychometric rigour and the contents of the measures are disparate (Gold, 2012). Therefore it is important that measures of IADL with better psychometric properties are developed.

2.3.7. Using technology to support and assess IADL

As discussed in section 2.3.3, research suggests that subjective assessment may not be sensitive enough to detect the complex and multidimensional changes in IADL associated with MCI, and that objective assessments may be a more sensitive tool. However objective assessments can be time consuming and costly. An alternative approach to the assessment of daily function is to bring assessment into the home through the use of technology, such as remote sensors, to track daily activities in real time. Such technologies have the potential to enable people to continue to carry out IADL by detecting when assistance is needed and delivering reminders or prompts.

Video monitoring is one method that has been used to assess daily activity in people's homes or in testbed environments. One study investigated the use of a video monitoring system for automatic event recognition for the assessment of IADL in people with MCI and healthy controls (Konig et al., 2015). Participants were asked to complete a standardized IADL, such as making a phone call, while being video recorded. Kinematic parameters detecting activities were extracted and the quality of activity and cognitive health were predicted. This prediction was then compared to observation and neuropsychological assessment scores. They found that the video monitoring software was 85% sensitive and 76% accurate² in correctly detecting activities automatically. They also found that the frequency levels of activities such as preparing a pill box and making tea differed significantly between people with MCI and healthy controls. However no significant difference was found between these groups according to the IADL scale. These results suggest that it is possible to assess IADL functioning through video monitoring, and that video monitoring can detect differences between people with MCI and healthy controls that may not be detectable through informant report.

Sacco and colleagues (2012) used a video monitoring system to obtain quantifiable assessment of IADL in AD and MCI. Participants were asked to undertake a set of daily tasks in the setting of a "smart home" equipped with video cameras and everyday objects. A daily activity scenario (DAS) score was calculated that could differentiate AD and MCI (Sacco et al., 2012), indicating the potential of such systems to detect changes in function in the home. However no control group was used so it is unclear whether people with MCI could be differentiated from cognitively healthy older adults.

One method for supporting people in the completion of everyday tasks in their own homes is through the use of prompting technologies. Seelye (2013) tested the effectiveness and user acceptance of an IADL prompting technology. Participants with single and multidomain MCI were asked to complete eight scripted IADL activities in an apartment testbed equipped with web cams and sensors. Seelye (2013) found that a multi-domain MCI group made more errors and required more prompts than a single-domain MCI group and healthy

² Konig el al. (2015) describe how the precision index evaluates the performance of the system at discriminating the various activities. They calculated precision using the following equation: TP/ (TP+FP) where TP is the True Positive rate and FP is the False Positive rate.

controls, suggesting that deficits in multiple cognitive domains could result in increased difficulty in IADL. All groups responded well to the prompting technology and perceived it be very helpful (Seelye et al., 2013), indicating high levels of acceptability. These studies show potential for using technology to detect or monitor functional impairment. However, despite aiming to set up a "home-like" environment, participants in both studies were asked to perform scripted activities in an unfamiliar setting. Therefore the resulting behaviour and performance would differ to a normal home (Jekel et al., 2016). In addition, there were not the normal interruptions or distractions that would occur in a normal home environment (Schmitter-Edgecombe and Parsey, 2014), which means that the scripted tasks might have been less cognitively demanding, especially considering that tasks were completed one at a time as oppose to at a multi-task level. Conversely, knowing you are being monitored and are part of an experiment could increase cognitive load (Seelye et al., 2013). The effect of this would be increased stress on the participants that could lead to more errors being made in the activities. A solution for this would be to create more naturalistic measurement technologies that blend or are part of an individuals' actual home environment.

Using video cameras to record people in their own homes would not be an ideal solution for many. Formal healthcare providers can be reluctant to make use of video surveillance because of ethical concerns in capturing and storing media of people living with dementia (Mulvenna et al., 2017). Niemeijer (2011) explains that views regarding the use of surveillance technology are often divided between the moral conflicts of safety versus freedom (Niemeijer et al., 2011). Mulvenna et al. argues that, in relation to video surveillance, increasing a person's safety does not always lead to a decrease in that person's privacy (Mulvenna et al., 2017). However, these concerns and moral arguments present a need for other technological solutions that do not involve such high potential for overt invasion of privacy. In addition, technically smart homes and testbeds such as those in the outlined studies are expensive and time-consuming and are a potential obstacle to the deployment of such technologies for the monitoring of large numbers of older adults (Lussier et al., 2019). Studies to develop technology that can monitor routine behaviour in the home in an unobtrusive, practical and inexpensive way are therefore required to enable the collection of more valid, naturalistic data providing information about functional capacity.

The use of smart home technologies in research labs compared to actual home environments was considered in a recent systematic review by Lussier and colleagues (2019). They investigated the effectiveness of smart home technologies for the detection of MCI through the monitoring of everyday activities. Of the seventeen studies that they included in the review, thirteen were based on real-life monitoring in the home using sensors and four studies used scenario-based assessments in a research lab. The real-life monitoring studies were divided into three broad categories: (1) mobility, which included walking speed and also movement or activity within the home; (2) computer usage and (3) self-care, which was just based on one study that considered medication intake. They concluded that that smart homes can provide ecological assessments over long periods of time which is particularly relevant for follow-ups of persons with MCI, especially as the time trajectory of MCI is not well understood. However, they suggested that future studies need to provide information on how data such as walking speed and activity in the home relates to standard neuropsychological and functional measures in order to determine what types of information provides the most reliable indicators (Lussier et al., 2019).

2.3.8. The relationship between cognition and IADL

Individuals with MCI demonstrate deficits in a wide range of everyday functioning and some studies suggest that the magnitude of these changes is greatest for those functional abilities that rely heavily on memory. For instance, Weston (2011) found that patients with MCI experience mild functional deficits that vary according to type of MCI. They found that patients with MCI were more likely to have difficulty remembering lists and recalling recent events and less likely to have difficulty eating and with continence compared with those with nonamnestic MCI (Weston et al., 2011). There is a need to determine the specific cognitive processes underlying IADL changes in MCI to improve understanding of the relationship between cognitive impairment and functional restriction in MCI (Okonkwo et al., 2006).

It is relatively unsurprising that studies are finding prominent changes in memory-related functional abilities given that large proportions of their samples have MCI of the amnestic type. Farias (2006) investigated the degree of impairment in an MCI group relative to healthy controls and found that 45% of their sample had MCI of the amnestic type. The

study considered informant ratings of participants' abilities across different functional domains relating to memory, language, visual spatial abilities, planning organization and dividing attention. Farias (2006) found that functional activities presumed to be heavily dependent on memory-related abilities, such as remembering the current date or day of the week or repeating stories, were most consistently and robustly impaired compared with the other functional domains examined. The items on this everyday memory scale mostly required episodic memory for recently acquired information (Farias et al., 2006). Similarly, a study by Perneczky and colleagues (2006) with 90 older adults, examined functional impairment across 18 complex ADL and concluded that, compared with age-matched controls, ADL involving memory such as finding things at home and complex reasoning such as organising travel, were most affected in people with MCI (Perneczky et al., 2006). Executive functioning has been strongly linked to functional impairment (Lopez et al., 2006; Zanetti et al., 2006). Therefore it is important when examining which IADL are memory dependent that executive ability is controlled for. In a study by Seligman and colleagues (2014) of 45 older adults, deficits in episodic memory predicted a range of different types of functional errors, even after controlling for executive functions (Seligman et al., 2014). However, they used a single task to measure executive function, which may not have covered the range of executive functions that apply to functional deficits. Also in order to detect small but meaningful effects it might be necessary to use a larger sample size.

These studies suggest that the largest changes in IADL in people with MCI are seen in those activities that rely heavily on memory. This could be explained in part by the greater proportions of people with amnestic MCI within the study samples. However, studies do not always differentiate their samples by clinical phenotype. Also, a number of studies have found that functional change is related to other cognitive domains, not just memory.

Other studies suggest that functional deficits that best discriminate between MCI and healthy controls draw on multiple cognitive domains as opposed to just memory. The four IADL that most effectively discriminated MCI from healthy controls, have been shown to draw on executive function, language, memory and visual spatial processing (Zoller et al., 2014). This is supported by other studies that have indicated that executive dysfunctions, as well as more global cognitive impairment, are involved in IADL deficit (Reppermund et al., 2013; Rodakowski et al., 2014; Royall et al., 2007).

In a two year longitudinal design, Reppermund (2013) examined functional abilities in people with MCI compared with cognitively healthy older adults. They focused on functional abilities with high cognitive demand associated with cognitive performance in several domains. They found that informant reported IADL with high cognitive demand, such as finding the way in an unfamiliar place or doing two things at the same time, showed impairment predating the diagnosis of MCI (Reppermund et al., 2013). Another study found that eight cognitively focused IADL demonstrated 81% accuracy in discriminating cognitive status between an MCI group and older adults with healthy cognitive function and two tasks (shopping and chequebook balancing) correctly classified the cognitive status of 80% of older adults (Rodakowski et al., 2014). The results from these studies demonstrate that a range of IADL drawing on multiple cognitive domains, not exclusively memory, are effective in discriminating MCI from healthy controls and that those activities that require higher level cognitive resources are more vulnerable to early cognitive changes.

Understanding which IADL become challenging for people with MCI is important because it can support earlier detection of cognitive change and can also enable support to be tailored to specific difficulties. Information about those IADL most likely to decline in the early stages of cognitive decline can be used as a focus in studies aiming to develop technology for the detection of preclinical MCI, for example sensors could be placed in the kitchen to monitor multi-tasking or near to medication to monitor medication management. Using theory and data to specify in advance the variables you are most confident in and selecting those variables for analysis has a number of benefits. Not only is it more time and cost effective, especially when considering the cost of specific types of technology, it also helps to reduce the number of variables you test and thus minimises the risk of Type 1 errors.

2.4. Older adults use of technology and the relationship with early cognitive change

2.4.1. Increasing use of technology amongst older adults

Current research shows that older adults are becoming increasingly involved in the use of technology, as evidenced by ownership of technological devices such as mobile phone, tablets and e-readers (Gitlow, 2014; McCausland and Falk, 2012). For instance, mobile phone ownership/access in people aged 55 to 75 in the UK increased from 40% in 2013 (Deloitte, 2013) to 71% in 2017 (Deloitte, 2017). Older adults also make up the fastest

growing group of internet users (Hart et al., 2008). In the UK, recent internet use in people aged 65 to 74 has increased from 52% in 2011 to 80% in 2018 and internet use in people over the age of 75 has increased from 20% in 2011 to 44% in 2018 (Office for National Statistics, 2018).

In terms of the types of computer activities that are common among older adults, a survey of 127 Finnish adults aged over the age of 55 found that the most popular online services for older adults include e-mail, general information searching, and e-banking (Vuori and Holmlund-Rytkönen, 2005). In depth interviews with 35 UK adults aged over 60 years found that the main purpose for using the computer is word processing, keeping in touch with others, and generally increasing the experience and ability on a computer. It was also found that older adults' computer use mainly takes place at home and, if support is needed, it most often comes from immediate family members and close relations (Selwyn, 2004).

The next generation of older adults will be even more dependent on technology than the present generation. In 2018 almost all adults aged 16 to 44 years (99%), 97% aged 45 to 54 years, and 92% aged 55-64 years were recent internet users (Office for National Statistics, 2018), suggesting that unobtrusive computer based assessments in relation to health and well-being will be relevant to an increasing proportion of people in coming years.

2.4.2. Use of everyday technology as a marker of subtle cognitive change

Jekel suggests that the development of IADL measures focused on IADL domains likely to be sensitive to subtle changes in functional decline, such as financial capacity and the use of everyday technology such as computer skills, are needed (Jekel et al., 2015). Unfortunately, the majority of IADL assessment instruments do not take specific measurements of the use of technology. However, a number of studies have found that use of everyday technology is a sensitive measure of subtle impairment (Jekel et al., 2015). One aspect of IADL where people with MCI have been identified as being significantly more disabled than healthy controls is in activities that require the use of electronic equipment, such as using telephones, managing money and using transportation (Hedman et al., 2013; Nygard and Kottorp, 2014). Other researchers have suggested that early signs of disability in people with MCI may be detected in these activities (Schmitter-Edgecombe et al., 2012).

A number of studies have also found that people with MCI perceive more difficulties, and show impaired performance, in the use of everyday technology in daily life activities in comparison to people without known cognitive impairment (Hedman et al., 2017; Malinowsky et al., 2010; Nygard et al., 2012; Rosenberg et al., 2009). Using the Management of Everyday Technology Assessment (a standardized, observation-based tool) to evaluate ability to manage everyday technology (e.g. remote controls and mobile phones), Malinowsky (2010) found significant differences between people with MCI, mild AD and controls. However, this study did not control for other aspects that may influence older adult's ability to manage ET, such as ability to focus, familiarity with the ET, and the specific ET design. A later study by the same group aimed to identify aspects that influence older adults with and without cognitive impairment ability to manage ET (Malinowsky et al., 2012). They found three aspects had a significant effect upon ability to manage ET: variability in interpersonal capacities, such as the capacity to pay attention and focus; environmental characteristics, such as the impact of the design and diagnostic group; and diagnostic group. In this study a significant difference was only found between healthy controls and people with dementia, compared with all diagnostic groups in the previous study. These findings suggest that differences in the use of everyday technology are influenced by factors other than cognitive level or diagnosis. In addition the regression model explained 51.7% of the ability to manage ET compared with 35.9% in the earlier study, suggesting that adding information regarding intrapersonal capacities and environmental characteristics to a diagnostic evaluation can better predict ability to manage ET.

Empirical evidence suggests that perceptions about the relevance of ET and the ability to use ET are related to cognitive ability and diagnostic grouping. In a 24 month longitudinal study of 37 older adults with MCI, perceived ability to use everyday technology decreased or fluctuated in 50% of the sample, although (unlike cognitive function) these changes were not statistically significant (Hedman et al., 2013). This suggests people with MCI are still able to maintain their use of everyday technology, despite a reduction in confidence and cognitive ability. In contrast, Rosenberg (2009) found significant differences between samples with AD, MCI and controls in the perceived difficulty of using everyday technology, reported using the self-rated Everyday Technology Use Questionnaire, and of the amount of

technologies that were considered relevant to each group, suggesting that measurement of perceived difficulty in everyday technology use could detect changes resulting from MCI and dementia. This study was supported by Nygard (2012) using the same questionnaire. They found that people with MCI, AD and controls differed significantly in their perceptions of the relevance of everyday technology as well as the difficulties in using it. This highlights the importance of taking perceptions of everyday technology into account in assessments and targeted interventions (Nygard et al., 2012).

Amount of use of ET could also be a marker of cognitive decline. A number of studies have found that the use of everyday technology declines over time in older adults with MCI. For instance, in a longitudinal study of everyday technology use in older adults with MCI, Hedman (2015) found a significant decrease in the amount of everyday technology use over time (Hedman et al., 2015). In a study comparing engagement in IADL, social activities and use of everyday technology in older adults with a without cognitive impairment, Nygard (2014) found that the association between activity engagement and difficulty with everyday technology use was stronger in people with MCI and Alzheimer's disease (AD) than in controls. This is supported by findings from a more recent study by the same group, which showed that a decrease in the number of everyday technologies used were associated with a decrease in activity involvement (Hedman et al., 2017). Nygard and colleagues (2014) suggest that the challenges of managing technology outside the home (for example driving, paying for shopping etc.) are restricting people with cognitive impairment more than they restrict controls. This has implications for clinicians to pay increased attention to investigating activity engagement and difficulties with everyday technology in people with MCI to promote the continuation of engagement in activities of everyday life.

2.5. Computer use: an emerging IADL

Computers have become an integral part of daily life in the modern world (Tun and Lachman, 2010). The increasing use and incorporation of computer based devices into daily life has, in effect, created a new higher order or instrumental activity of daily living (Kaye et al., 2014). Medeiros describes computer use as an IADL equal to other IADL ,such as shopping for groceries, using public or private transportation and managing finances (Medeiros Fde et al., 2012). In fact, in today's society, an increasing number of IADL are

conducted using a computer: examples of which include buying food online; online banking to manage finances; online telephony services such as Skype; watching television; and keeping track of appointments using online calendars. In a survey of 505 veterans assessing which IADLs were being completed using Information and Communications technology (ICT), Melrose (2016) found that 70% were regular ICT users, and that, of this 70%: 76% used ICT for finances, 86% for shopping, 72% for health management, 75% for transportation and 97% for communication. They conclude that veterans are using ICT to support IADL and that IADL assessments need to include questions about ICT to assist in detecting subtle change in functional ability (Melrose et al., 2016).

Daily activities increasingly include ICT regardless of whether people have the ability to use the technology or not, and the ability to use ICT will likely become essential for autonomous functioning in society (Munoz-Neira et al., 2012). With an increasing number of older adults needing to use technology in daily life, it is essential to understand how effectively older adults function in such tasks and how cognitive change can impact on ability.

2.5.1. Assessing computer use and other technologies as part of functional assessment

Although technology has permeated all aspects of contemporary life, many existing functional assessment scales for dementia and MCI do not incorporate assessment of computer skills or the handling of "new" technology (Jekel et al., 2015; Munoz-Neira et al., 2012). A number of new scales and subscales are now emerging which assess competence in the use of common technology in older adults. For example, a newer version of the Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study/Activities of Daily Living scale adapted for people with MCI (ADCS/MCI/ADL24) (Galasko et al., 1997) has been developed recently with the addition of a set of questions asking about technology use (D. Galasko, personal communication, 24th June 2015). However, the new version of the scale has not been extensively validated by the authors and therefore future research considering the clinical usefulness of the additional questions is required.

Some newly developed technology subscales have also undergone validation. Munoz-Neira and colleagues (2012) have developed the Technology - Activities of Daily Living Questionnaire (T-ADLQ), a technology based subscale of the Spanish version of the Activities of Daily Living Questionnaire (SV-ADLQ). The SV-ADLQ is a 4-point informant-based scale of

functional abilities composed of 6 subscales including self-care and shopping and money. The T-ADLQ was created with the same structure as existing subscales of the SV-ADLQ and incorporates five common domains of technology use including internet access and email. They found that although the T-ADLQ had adequate validity and reliability for functional assessment of ADL in people with dementia, it did not improve the overall performance of the original scale. They suggest that this reflects the lack of widespread technology use by older adults. The new scale could differentiate the dementia group from the MCI and healthy control groups; however it could not distinguish between the MCI and healthy control group. This could be due to their small MCI sample, suggesting further research with larger samples is needed to be able to determine the differences in functional disability between people with MCI and cognitively healthy controls. Munoz-Neira (2012) also highlights the need for longitudinal research to investigate change over time in the use of technology for both healthy older adults and people with MCI, as their study found deficits in the use of technology for both groups (Munoz-Neira et al., 2012).

A new scale developed by Sikkes (2012) also addresses the need for an IADL assessment that incorporates the use of advanced technology such as mobile phones, computers and household appliances. The Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire (A-IADL-Q) is a Dutch informantbased questionnaire for assessing IADL in the earliest stages of dementia both for clinical and research purposes. The researchers addressed the lack of information about the psychometric qualities of existing IADL measures by assessing the content validity, internal consistency and reliability of the new scale. The scale is computerised for ease of administration and also means that individuals do not have to answer questions that are not relevant to them. Using an algorithm based on the respondent's previous responses, no irrelevant item response options or items are presented. Asking participants only those questions that are relevant has the advantage of reducing the complexity of the questionnaire and avoiding unnecessary burden placed on the person completing the scale. For example, the informant is asked if the individual uses a computer; if their answer is 'no' then no further questions are asked about computer use, and the next question will ask about a different activity (e.g. washing). However, if the answer is 'yes', then further questions about specific aspects of computer use (e.g. printing documents) are presented.

During the piloting process the computerized questionnaire received positive feedback from informants, who found it easy to complete (Sikkes et al., 2012).

Since its development, in a study with 206 informants, the A-IADL-Q has been shown to have good construct validity (Sikkes et al., 2013). Another study of 102 patients and their informants who visited their Alzheimer Center, found that the A-IADL-Q was sensitive to change over time in IADL functioning and can be used in evaluating treatment effects and assessing individual disease progress. People with dementia were found to show a faster rate of decline in A-IADL-Q score over time compared with MCI and people with subjective memory complaints (SMC). They also found that A-IADL-Q scores were related to change in global cognition, memory and executive functioning. Although they did not assess the ability of the A-IADL-Q to differentiate the three groups over time, the inclusion of people with MCI and SMC strengthens the generalizability of the results and suggests that this scale could be applicable as a measure in broader populations (Koster et al., 2015). A short version of the A-IADL-Q has recently been developed (Jutten et al., 2017) and a study considering the cultural diversity of the measure, found no meaningful item bias and similar correlations across countries (Dubbelman, 2019). The versions of the A-IADL-Q used in the Dubbelman et al. (2019) study were cross-culturally adapted translations of the measure, which emphasises the importance of appropriate adaption of an instrument to the country of use in order to ensure minimum item bias. Future studies investigating the responsiveness of the A-IADL-Q in other clinical or cultural populations are needed as part of this on-going questionnaire validation process. A development of a UK version of the questionnaire is also needed.

2.5.2. Daily computer use is related to functional capacity

Older adults' use of computers has the potential to provide information about functional capacity. Using a computer depends on multiple cognitive domains (e.g., attention, working memory, episodic memory & executive function). It is therefore likely that computer use behaviour would be highly sensitive to cognitive change (Kaye et al., 2014). For example, computer-use errors, such as incomplete requests and repetitive or idiosyncratic computer use behaviour patterns, might be early indicators of cognitive pathology, while text mining could identify expressions of memory loss and frustration in user-generated content, or

early deficits in language function (Stringer et al., 2016). Support for this comes from an expert reference group who agreed on 21 computer-use behaviours that offered a 'strong indication' of decline in a specific cognitive function across memory, executive function, language and perception and action domains (Couth et al., 2019). For example repeatedly typing an incorrect password was linked to memory and executive functioning and repeated mouse clicks on programme icons despite the programme not opening was linked to inhibition.

Using a computer is also a highly interactive activity that presents special challenges to older adults linked to age related changes. For example, increased difficulty in psychomotor ability could lead to problems using the mouse, and slowed performance could result in a greater number of errors (Charness and Boot, 2009; Tun and Lachman, 2010). In this manner, computer use can be used as a proxy measure of distinct cognitive functions through the deconstruction of computer actions of varying complexity. This fertile source of information can be used to develop a profile which enables people to become more aware of changes in their cognitive functioning and to seek further clinical assessment as appropriate (Stringer et al., 2016).

2.5.3. Daily computer use provides information about functional independence.

Computer use also presents a way of passively monitoring functional activity. Current methods for assessing IADL are problematic and the use of technology to monitor IADL is costly and intrusive. A number of studies have investigated the impact of daily computer use on functional capacity, showing the important links between technology and functional independence (Mcconatha et al., 1994; Medeiros Fde et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2002). However, to date there is a limited amount of research investigating the potential of monitoring computer use to provide information about functional change over time.

In a recent examination of online survey metadata, Seelye and colleagues (2018) found that earlier survey start time of day was associated with better scores on memory and visuospatial tests and that longer survey completion time was an indicator of progression to MCI. However, they found no relationship between the online survey metadata and functional ability, as measured by the Functional Assessment Questionnaire (FAQ). Also, the FAQ was unable to discriminate between people who went on to develop MCI and people

who remained cognitively intact. Therefore, although this study suggests that computer use behaviour can inform us about change in IADL performance, it is unable to provide information about how functional ability reflected by personal computer use is related to paper-based IADL measures. Moreover, the FAQ may not have been the most appropriate measure for distinguishing between cognitively healthy people and people who go on the develop MCI. Previous research has demonstrated that the total impairment score from the FAQ has significant floor effects for clinically healthy individuals and is therefore not useful when trying to distinguish between people who are clinically healthy and people at risk of cognitive decline (Marshall et al., 2011; Morris, 2012). However, certain questions on the FAQ have been found to be sensitive to earlier functional changes in cognitive healthy older adults at risk for AD (Marshall et al., 2015b). Seelye and colleagues did not investigate the relationship of specific questions on the FAQ with the online survey metadata. This emphasises the importance of developing sensitive subjective scales for assessing IADL that are meaningful to affected individuals and their loved ones that can then be used in studies investigating the potential of computer use behaviours as a marker of early functional decline.

2.5.4. Computer use and cognitive function

Despite a lack of evidence for how monitoring of computer activity can provide information about functional capacity, new methods in unobtrusive monitoring of cognitive function in a home environment are emerging and present the possibility of detecting changes in performance in a natural setting (Austin, Hollingshead, & Kaye, 2017; H. Jimison, Jessey, McKanna, Zitzelberger, & Kaye, 2006; Kaye et al., 2014; A. Seelye et al., 2015; A. Seelye et al., 2016; A. Seelye et al., 2018). Previous studies have demonstrated the feasibility of measuring computer-use behaviours in older adults to distinguish between those with and without cognitive impairment. Jimison and colleagues have conducted a number of studies to develop software for monitoring computer interactions in the homes of elders (Jimison et al., 2006; Jimison et al., 2004; Jimison et al., 2007). In their 2006 study they developed a monitoring program to record data about a user's keyboard, mouse and use of applications in Windows. They found that computer use activity, keyboard typing speed and variability in performance were promising measures for inclusion in algorithms for predicting and monitoring cognitive decline (Jimison et al., 2006). However, not all of the participants

recruited had used a computer before and only a small percentage of the participants at the time of the study had a computer in their home, had used email and been online. Consequently they found training participants in the use of computers quite challenging, especially for those participants with MCI.

Kaye (2014) sought to determine whether long-term changes in remotely monitored computer use differ in persons with MCI in comparison with controls. The computer use of 113 older adults living independently was monitored over a 36 month period. The study measured older adult's days of use, mean daily use, and coefficient of variation of use. Although they found no difference at baseline between MCI and cognitively healthy controls, which likely reflects the initial training period, over time there was a significant decrease in the number of days of use, the mean daily use and an increase in day-to-day use variability. This study demonstrates that computer use can be monitored unobtrusively in older adult's homes over a number of years without disrupting normal routine. In addition, this study shows that compared to people with intact cognitive functioning, people with MCI have reduced frequency and duration of daily computer use. This presents an ecologically valid and efficient approach to track subtle, clinically meaningful change associated with cognitive decline and daily function.

A number of other studies have also demonstrated differences in the computer use behaviours of people with MCI and cognitively healthy controls. In a study by Seelye et al. (2016) people with MCI took longer and needed more assistance completing an online questionnaire (Seelye et al., 2016). Seelye and colleagues (2015) also demonstrated that people with MCI make significantly fewer mouse movements, take longer pauses between movements, and have higher variability in the trajectory of mouse movements, and that these behaviours also correlate with test scores of executive function, attention, visualspatial ability, and global cognition (Seelye et al., 2015). Using a series of semi-structured typing tasks, Vizer and Sears (2015) demonstrated that keystroke speed and linguistic content is associated with cognitive impairment in older adults (Vizer and Sears, 2015). Another computer based study examined internet searches in relation to language and cognitive function in older adults (Austin et al., 2017). Internet searches were continuously tracked using computer monitoring software and the results suggested that the search terms people use on the internet could be an indication of early cognitive decline. However,

as mentioned for the Jimison (2006) study, some of the previous studies included novice or non-computer users in their participant sample (e.g. (Jimison et al., 2004; Kaye et al., 2014; Seelye et al., 2015; Seelye et al., 2016; Seelye et al., 2018)), meaning that the added cognitive burden of training and learning to use new equipment may have impacted on computer-use behaviours. Future research needs to determine the extent to which prior levels of experience or training influences decline in computer use (Kaye et al., 2014) and test and research software on older adults who are regular computer users for results to be reliable and valid.

2.6. Ethical considerations when recording data passively via home-based software

There are a number of ethical concerns when collecting large amounts of data passively via home-based software. Existing ethical and regulatory frameworks for the provision of mental healthcare do not clearly apply to digital phenotyping, meaning that it is critical to understand the possible ethical, legal and social implications (Martinez-Martin et al., 2018). Ethical issues include privacy, data protection, informed consent and ownership of data (Gold et al., 2018). Each of these is discussed below.

The concept of privacy is of particular relevance to any data collected unobtrusively from within a persons' home. At the end of the nineteenth century, Warren and Brandeis (1890) argue that the 'right to be left alone' (p. 193) could be derived from the right to property, protecting the individual from 'invasion either by the too enterprising press, the photographer, or the possession of any other modern device for the recording or reproducing scenes or sound' (Warren and Brandeis, 1890: p.206). Fast forward to today, and technological developments including high velocity data flows are creating risks to the life and liberty of human beings that require stronger privacy protections than had previously existed (Buttarelli, 2017). Our homes are traditionally perceived as one of the most private spaces, and yet are becoming increasing equipped with ambient technology (Kraemer and Flechais, 2018). Ensuring privacy and autonomy is paramount as digital biomarkers are incorporated into healthcare, self-management programs and research. Data use agreements should contain clear statements on conditions for data usage especially for tools that collect near-continuous data, like use of computers and digital devices (Coravos et al., 2019).

Data protection is important in all research but is particularly important when recording people's every day computer use. Research involving the use of personal data is required to fully comply with the provisions of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (Information Commissioner's Office, 2018) and the UK Data Protection Act 2018 (2018). Any organisation or individual processing personal data must ensure that personal data in their possession is managed in accordance with the Act's key rules. GDPR safeguards include the need to anonymise or pseudonymise where possible and to understand the importance of privacy, confidentiality and security. This is relevant when dealing with data from people's computers that could contain or be linked to their personal information.

The process of informed consent warrants special considerations when data are being collected from people with cognitive impairment (Gold et al., 2018). The basic components for informed consent are described by Petrini (2010): the possession of competence; voluntariness, the provision of information and enrolment (Petrini, 2010). A diagnosis of MCI or mild AD does not necessarily mean that the person cannot consent to take part in a study. The Mental Capacity Act (2005) states that researchers should assume that a person has capacity to make a decision, unless there is proof that they do not have capacity to make a specific decision, and that a prospective participant must receive support to try to help them make their own decision (Department of Health, 2005). However, in some longitudinal studies, a participant may lose capacity to consent prior to the conclusion of the project (Palmer et al., 2013). Researchers have an ethical duty to ensure that participants are giving competent voluntary consent throughout study participation (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 2014). Therefore, it is important to carefully check, before and during a research project, participants' capacity to understand information and to consent to continued participation (Shamoo, 1997).

Another ethical consideration when passively recording data in a home environment relates to data ownership i.e. who owns the data; how the data should be shared; and who is ultimately accountable (Kostkova, 2015). Failure to address concerns over ownership of data can lead to a loss of patient and citizen trust, and patients withdrawing their co-operation from data collection and sharing activities. This was demonstrated in the UK in 2016 when the care.data programme (NHS Choices, 2014), intended to enable large NHS individual data

sharing with researchers and, controversially, with businesses, was paused and eventually terminated due to concerns about patient trust, social license, consent, and data security (Goldacre, 2014). Reasons for opting out of sharing data include suspicion that data will be used for commercial purposes, scepticism about the supposed benefits, and lack of confidence in data security (Watts, 2019). Ballantyne (2020) argues that clinical data are co-constructed, and therefore the patient has relevant interests. By virtue of these interests patients are entitled to have their concerns considered and addressed.

2.7. Conclusion

Although the diagnostic criteria for MCI acknowledges there may be some degree of impairment when performing complex daily activities (Albert et al., 2011), tools for assessing IADL in MCI are frequently inadequate. Many IADL measures currently in use have limited information on their psychometric properties, do not include modern activities such as computer use, lack relevance to the lives of those completing them, and may not be sensitive enough to detect early functional changes. The emergence of new technology to monitor and support older people to continue to complete everyday activities in their homes is very promising. However, current methods are obtrusive, expensive, and are typically focused on supporting completion of IADL rather than detection of impairment.

Computer use is increasingly becoming an essential activity of daily life: in itself as an IADL, but also a method for conducting other complex daily activities such as financial transactions, food shopping and communication with friends and family. The numbers of older people who use and depend on computers to complete daily tasks and retain independence will only increase in time. Identification of associations among IADL and specific aspects of computer use has the potential to improve the diagnosis of dementia. This can provide vital information to support clinical decisions about functional disability and cognitive decline and increase current understanding of the cognitive and functional correlates of computer use. The use of computers to monitor functional decline is a very new field of enquiry. It remains to be established whether older adult's normal daily computer use can provide information about functional change over time and differentiate between people with MCI and cognitively healthy older people.

Critical developments are needed to ensure that functional impairment is assessed sensitively, accurately and in a culturally appropriate way. Therefore, first, functional assessment instruments need to include instrumental daily activities that are up-to-date, and culturally relevant to the lives of the people completing them. Secondly, there is a need to develop tools that are more sensitive to early change, offer continuous assessment, and are non-intrusive, such as the passive monitoring of computer use.

To address these needs, the aim of this PhD is to explore ways to improve the methods of measuring and detecting functional impairment in people with early cognitive decline. This will be achieved in two ways: first by reporting the cultural adaption of an existing measure of IADL (the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire) in order to improve the current IADL measurements in the UK - in particular those that include questions about technology use; and second by investigating the potential of assessing directed and non-directed computer use behaviours (e.g. mouse clicks and keystroke speed) unobtrusively and continuously as a marker of cognitive and functional decline.

<u>CHAPTER 3 (Study A): Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments:</u> <u>UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire</u>

Published as:

Stringer, G., Leroi, I., Sikkes, S. A. M., Montaldi, D. & Brown, L. J. E. (2020). 'Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire', International Psychogeriatrics, pp. 1-12.

Author contributions:

Gemma Stringer conceived the original idea for the paper; adapted the original methodological design; wrote the clinical protocol and ethics application; designed the interview schedules and questionnaire; obtained ethical approval; recruited study participants; conducted and transcribed qualitative interviews; collected the questionnaire data; adapted the online questionnaire; collected the online questionnaire data; carried out the qualitative and quantitative analysis; and interpreted the data. Gemma Stringer wrote the first draft of the manuscript and completed all revisions following review by the co-authors. Dr Sietske Sikkes designed the original A-IADL-Q and contributed to all the developer discussions. Dr Laura Brown, Dr Sietske Sikkes and Professor Iracema Leroi provided clinical guidance and methodological guidance. Dr Laura Brown contributed to all developer discussions and provided statistical guidance. Professor Daniela Montaldi, Dr Laura Brown and Professor Iracema Leroi provided supervisory input. All authors critically reviewed and agreed on the submitted manuscript for publication.

In accordance with the self-archiving policy of International Psychogeriatrics, the *accepted version* of the manuscript is presented.

Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire

Gemma Stringer¹, Iracema Leroi², Sietske A. M. Sikkes³, Daniela Montaldi¹ and Laura J.E. Brown⁴

¹Division of Neuroscience and Experimental Psychology, School of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, M13 9PL, UK

²School of Medicine, Global Brain Health Institute, Trinity College Dublin, Lloyd Building, Dublin 2, Ireland

³Alzheimer Center Amsterdam, Department of Neurology, Amsterdam Neuroscience, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, the Netherlands; Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

⁴Division of Psychology and Mental Health, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, Manchester, M13 9PL, UK

Correspondence should be addressed to: Gemma Stringer, Division of Neuroscience and Experimental Psychology, School of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, M13 9PL, UK. Phone: +44 (0)161 306 7493. Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk

Abstract

Objective: Commonly used measures of instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) do not capture activities for a technologically advancing society. This study aimed to adapt the proxy/informant-based Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire (A-IADL-Q) for use in the UK, and develop a self-report version.

Design: An iterative mixed method cross-cultural adaptation of the A-IADL-Q and the development of a self-report version involving a three-step design: (1) interviews and focus groups with lay and professional stakeholders to assess face and content validity; (2) a questionnaire to measure item relevance to older adults in the UK; (3) a pilot of the adapted questionnaire in people with cognitive impairment.

Setting: Community settings in the UK.

Participants: 148 participants took part across the three steps: (1) 14 dementia professionals; 8 people with subjective cognitive decline (SCD), mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or dementia due to Alzheimer's disease; and 6 relatives of people with MCI or dementia; (2) 92 older adults without cognitive impairment; and (3) 28 people with SCD or MCI.

Measurements: The cultural relevance and applicability of the A-IADL-Q scale items were assessed using a 6-point Likert scale. Cognitive and functional performance was measured using a battery of cognitive and functional measures.

Results: Iterative modifications to the scale resulted in a 55-item adapted version appropriate for UK use (A-IADL-Q-UK). Pilot data revealed that the new and revised items performed well. Four new items correlated with the weighted average score (Kendall's Tau - .388, -.445, -.497, -.569). An exploratory analysis of convergent validity found correlations in the expected direction with cognitive and functional measures.

Conclusion: The A-IADL-Q-UK provides a measurement of functional decline for use in the UK that captures culturally relevant activities. A new self-report version has been developed and is ready for testing. Further evaluation of the A-IADL-Q-UK for construct validity is now needed.

Keywords

Instrumental activities of daily living (IADL), mild cognitive impairment (MCI), subjective cognitive decline (SCD), cross-cultural adaptation, Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire (A-IADL-Q)

Running title

UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire

Introduction

Functional ability refers to an individual's capacity to complete the everyday tasks necessary for independent living (Lindbergh et al., 2016). It is typically divided into basic activities of daily living (BADL), which are simple self-care tasks such as feeding and toileting, and instrumental activities of daily living (IADL), which are more complex, higher order skills such as managing finances and taking medication (Jekel et al., 2015; Lawton and Brody, 1969). The most recent criteria for mild cognitive impairment (MCI) due to Alzheimer's disease (AD) recognize the presence of subtle problems performing complex functional tasks, however the preservation of independence in functional abilities is a defining criteria (Albert et al., 2011). Nevertheless, difficulties performing IADL in MCI can be predictive of subsequent dementia (Di Carlo et al., 2016; Korolev et al., 2016; Marshall et al., 2015; Sikkes et al., 2011; Tabert et al., 2002). Assessment of subtle change in IADL could therefore provide vital information at the preclinical and prodromal stage of AD to support timely diagnosis and intervention.

Despite the clinical importance of sensitive IADL measurement, current measures of IADL are problematic for a number of reasons. First, although many of these questionnaires are used to assess IADL in people with MCI, they have most often been constructed and validated for people with dementia, and are therefore less sensitive for MCI populations and less able to detect subtle changes in more complex daily activities (Jekel et al., 2015). Second, existing measures fall short in important basic psychometric properties such as reliability and validity (Weintraub et al., 2018). For instance, in a systematic review of 12 IADL scales, only five were rated 'positive' for how content validity had been assessed (Sikkes et al., 2009). This is important given that the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) draft guidance published in 2018, emphasises the need for 'meaningful' assessments of functional ability when identifying early AD patients (Food and Drug Administration, 2018). A recent study by Hartry et al. (2018) concluded that four commonly used dementia assessment measures do not capture concepts deemed important to patients with mild to moderate AD, suggesting that specific effort is needed to ensure that items are considered conceptually relevant by patients and caregivers. Third, people with cognitive complaints may not have someone to act as an informant, and the majority of questionnaires are

informant-report, with only a small number of self-report options available. Even fewer questionnaires offer both options (Jekel et al., 2015).

Another issue with many IADL questionnaires currently in use is that they are out-dated, and do not include modern activities such as using a computer (Sikkes et al., 2012). This is particularly relevant given the growing use and importance of technology and computers in the lives of older adults. For example, adults aged 65 years and over have shown the largest increase in online shopping compared to all other age groups over the past decade, rising from 16% within the age group in 2008 to 48% within the age group in 2018 (Office for National Statistics, 2018). The assessment of everyday technology use has been shown to provide sensitive measures of early change in functional ability (Hedman et al., 2018; Malinowsky et al., 2010; Rosenberg et al., 2009). So, including modern activities such as the use of computers and mobile phones in IADL assessments could potentially improve sensitivity to subtle change at an early stage in cognitive decline (Jekel et al., 2015).

The Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire (A-IADL-Q) was developed with the aim of providing a more up-to-date overview of the IADL used in a technologically advancing society (Sikkes et al., 2012). The A-IADL-Q was originally developed in the Netherlands, and has since been translated and culturally-adapted for use in twelve languages

(https://www.alzheimercentrum.nl/professionals/amsterdam-iadl-translations/) (Dubbelman et al., 2019; Facal et al., 2018). However, to date, it has not been culturally adapted and validated for use in the UK. Therefore the content of the questionnaire may not reflect the cultural norms and everyday behaviours of the UK population. In addition, the A-IADL-Q does not currently have a self-report version, which limits its use to people with an informant, or comfortable using an informant.

The aim of this study was therefore to complete a cross-cultural adaptation of the informant-based A-IADL-Q for use in the UK (the A-IADL-UK) and to develop a self-report version. The objectives were to: (1) assess the face and content validity of the translated questionnaire with lay and professional stakeholders and generate candidate new items to represent culturally important IADL; (2) further adapt the questionnaire based on the relevance of all candidate items to older adults in the UK; and (3) pilot the A-IADL-UK in a group of older adults with subjective cognitive decline (SCD) and MCI, to assess the relevance of cognition
and function. We hypothesise that higher levels of impairment measured by the A-IADL-UK will be associated with higher levels of cognitive and functional impairment on these existing measures.

Method

Design

This was an iterative mixed method cross-cultural adaptation of the A-IADL-Q undertaken in community settings in England involving a three-step design (Figure 1). In step one, interviews and focus groups were conducted with lay and professional stakeholders to assess the face and content validity of the items. In step two, a questionnaire was administered to older adults to measure the frequency of daily activities. In step three, the questionnaire adapted from the results of steps one and two was piloted.



Figure 1. Flowchart detailing the outputs from the three steps of the A-IADL-Q-UK item adaptation process. See Appendix 1 for full details of the changes made to each item at each step.

Participants

Five groups of participants took part in the study, across three steps (Table 1).

		Step One		Step Two	Step Three
	Dementia professionals (n=14)	SCD/MCI/AD participants (n=8)	Relatives (n=6)	Older adults* (n=92)	SCD/MCI participants (n=28)
Age (years)	N/A	78.30 (5.95)	68.87 (13.13)	73.87 (5.53)	72.46 (4.04)
Gender (% women)	11 (79%)	4 (50%)	4 (67%)	62 (71%)	18 (64%)
white British	N/A	N/A	N/A	87 (95%)	N/A
Years of formal education	N/A	N/A	N/A	Left school before 16 (29%)	13.21 (3.24)
ACE III [†] Total score	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	93.54 (5.49)
ECog [‡] Total score	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	1.60 (.68)
TMT B [§]	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	77.96 (41.31)
DSB [¶]	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	7.79 (2.41)

Table 1. Overview of all participant demographics across three steps

Data are presented as mean (SD), or n (%). *Demographic data was not completed by 5 of these participants. †ACE III = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-III (ACE III); ‡ECog = Measurement of Everyday Cognitive Function; §TMT B = Trails Making Test B; DSB = Digit Span Backwards Task.

Dementia professionals were recruited by email and personal contacts. In order to be included, they had to work with older adults and have experience of diagnosing dementia and/or conducting cognitive or functional assessments with people with dementia. The final group of dementia professionals (n = 14) consisted of five consultant old age psychiatrists, four trainee consultant psychiatrists, three dementia research nurses and two later life occupational therapists from the North West of England.

Older people (over the age of 65) with SCD, MCI and mild dementia due to AD were recruited for steps one and three through memory clinics; the UK dementia research

registry 'Join Dementia Research' (a national web-based service for participation in dementia studies); step three participants were also part of another study called SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management) (Stringer et al., 2018). Participants with dementia and MCI diagnoses were referred with a diagnosis already made by qualified memory specialists. Participants with self-reported worries about their memory were identified as SCD if they indicated on a scale of functional capacity - the Everyday Cognition Scale (ECog) (Farias et al., 2008) that they were "concerned they have a memory or other thinking problem" and their total score on this scale was > 1.436. This cut off score corresponds to the upper 95% confidence interval of the mean total ECog scores from a sample of healthy control participants who indicated that they were *not* "concerned they have a memory or other thinking problem" (Stringer et al., 2018). Participants who did not meet this criterion for SCD were not eligible to take part. The SCD/MCI/AD participants and relatives in step one were recruited using the "sampling to redundancy" criterion, that is, interviewing participants until no new themes emerge (Streiner, 2008).

Older adults (over the age of 65) who were cognitively healthy were recruited for step two through Join Dementia Research and local community groups in the Greater Manchester area.

All participants were included if they had the capacity to consent and were able to communicate verbally in English. Individuals with any severe physical or mental difficulties were not eligible for the study.

Description of the parent instrument

The A-IADL-Q consists of 70 items, plus six additional sociodemographic questions that can be added or adapted per study, and is completed by an informant of the patient. IADL are divided into seven categories; household duties, domestic appliances, household budget, work, computer, devices and leisure time/other. Participants are asked if they have completed the activity in the previous four weeks and, if yes, their difficulty performing the activity is rated on a five point Likert scale, ranging from 'no' difficulty in performing the task to 'no longer able to perform this task'. The A-IADL-Q has been shown to have good content validity and test-retest reliability (Sikkes et al., 2012) and good construct validity (Sikkes et

al., 2013a). A recently developed 30 item A-IADL-Q short version (A-IADL-Q-SV) maintained the psychometric quality of the original A-IADL-Q (Jutten et al., 2017).

Items are adapted based on the respondent's answers. For example, further questions about computer use are only asked if the patient answers that they use a computer. The total score on the questionnaire is calculated using an item response theory (IRT) method of scoring, with lower scores indicating poorer performance (Sikkes et al., 2013b). IRT assumes that ordered-categorical item responses represent an underlying construct or 'latent trait' (Embretson and Reise, 2000). This construct for the A-IADL-Q is IADL functioning ranging from ability to disability.

Procedures

The study was approved by the Health Research Authority - National Research Ethics Service England in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and all participants signed informed consent to participate. A 69-item paper-based draft version of the UK informant questionnaire, was created using a combination of items from existing US and Australian culturally validated versions of the A-IADL-Q. The self-report version was created by rephrasing each item from third person to second person (e.g. '...did <u>they</u> use a computer?' was re-phrased '...did you use a computer?'). The 69-item draft version was then culturally adapted through the following three-step process (Figure 1).

Step 1. Dementia professionals', SCD/MCI/AD and relatives' review

The first step involved reviews by two groups of people: 1) the dementia professionals, and 2) people with SCD, MCI or mild dementia due to AD and relatives of people with MCI and dementia. Participants were presented with the 69 IADL items in the form of a Likert scale questionnaire that asked participants to rate how often they did each activity. The questionnaire included five example questions to illustrate the wording of the final version (e.g. 'In the past four weeks did you use a sat-nav?'). During face-to-face interviews or small focus groups, dementia professionals commented on the clarity and appropriateness of the activity wording and the relevance of the activities to older adults in the UK, they also suggested relevant new activities. Written notes and audio recordings were taken throughout. A summary of the findings were discussed in a developer review with the developer of the original scale (Sietske Sikkes) via video conference, where suggested

changes were considered and decisions were made for each item in preparation for the next stage. This consultation allowed for constructive feedback to ensure the integrity of the scale was maintained. The changes made following the developer review resulted in a 67item version.

SCD/MCI/AD participants and relatives completed the 67-item version individually and were asked to think aloud throughout. SCD/MCI/AD participants completed the self-report version and relatives completed the informant report version. All participants were also asked to suggest any new activities that were not covered in the questionnaire but were relevant to their daily lives. Comments were audio-recorded and written notes were made. To improve the clarity of items, we made minor iterative changes to the layout and wording of questions in response to feedback from individual participants. More substantial changes to the actual activities, and any deletions or additions, were made following a second developer review.

Step 2. Applicability questionnaire

The two stage review process in step one resulted in a 74-item applicability questionnaire comprising 60 original items; 33 modified original items; and 14 new items. In step two, to assess relevance, the frequency of the activities in the 74-item version was measured using a postal questionnaire. Participants were asked to rate how frequently they completed the activities on a 6-point Likert scale from 'most days' to 'never'. Participants were also able to suggest new activities and provide additional comments. Two follow-up questions ('Did they buy the correct amounts?' and 'Did they buy the correct items?') were excluded from the applicability questionnaire because they were not compatible with a frequency rating. Decisions about changes to the excluded items were based on the developer discussion. Paper copies of the 72-item questionnaire were distributed to 140 older adults over the age of 65, who did not have a diagnosis of dementia. Completed questionnaires were returned by post.

Analysis of the responses to the step two applicability questionnaire considered the mean and median responses for each activity. Activities with a median score of >4 (corresponding to activities not undertaken in the past year or ever) were considered candidates for removal. New activities with a median score <2 (corresponding to activities done every day

or one to three times per week) were considered candidates for inclusion. Items with >6 missing answers, or that were difficult for participants to complete based on observations in the completed versions or notes made by the participants, were also considered candidates for exclusion. In addition, information about item performance from the development of the A-IADL-Q-SV was used to help guide decisions about the inclusion or exclusion of some items. A discussion of the median analysis and decisions about changes were completed in a third developer review, which led to a final 55-item version being created.

Step 3. Pilot of the A-IADL-Q-UK

In step three a 55-item electronic version of the questionnaire was piloted to assess the relevance and perceived difficulty of the new items and to measure overall functional impairment. The UK version (A-IADL-Q-UK) comprising the items developed in steps one and two was administered electronically using Qualtrics software Version New QTrial 2015¹ to 31 older adults with either SCD or a diagnosis of MCI. Participants were sent a link to the questionnaire via email. A reminder telephone call was made if the questionnaire had not been completed after five days. The 55-item version included 9 'new items', 4 items that were completely new and 5 items for which the language or meaning had been adjusted significantly and meant that existing item characteristics could no longer be used e.g. 'using a coffee maker' became 'making a cup of tea or coffee'. As no item characteristics were yet available for the new items and due to sample size it was not possible to use IRT analysis on the step three pilot data, therefore scores for this were calculated using the weighted average. This alternative scoring approach was previously tested for the Amsterdam IADL, and is currently used in clinical practice due to a high concordance with the IRT scoring. Weighted average (WA) was calculated by dividing total IADL score by the number of items endorsed. The following scoring method was then applied 100-(WA*25). Higher scores indicate greater functional impairment.

Step 3: Instruments

Descriptive measures of global cognitive status were obtained using the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Evaluation (ACE) III (Hsieh et al., 2013): a concise neuropsychological assessment

¹ Copyright © [2017] Qualtrics. Qualtrics and all other Qualtrics product or service names are registered trademarks or trademarks of Qualtrics, Provo, UT, USA. <u>https://www.qualtrics.com</u>

of cognitive functions commonly used in the UK with validated cut-off scores for MCI and dementia. The battery includes five cognitive subdomains: attention, memory, verbal fluency, language and visuospatial abilities, which provide a cognitive score out of a maximum of 100 (a higher score indicates more intact cognition). The ACE III was selected to investigate the relationship between the A-IADL-UK and global cognitive status.

In order to focus on critical areas of executive functioning we selected the digit span backwards (DSB) test and Trails Making Test (TMT) B (Lezak et al., 2012). TMT B is a measure of executive abilities including set-shifting and mental flexibility, a longer time on this test represents a higher level of impairment. DSB is an executive task particularly dependent on working memory where a higher score represents less impairment. TMT B and DSB are known to be sensitive to age (Lara et al., 2013). Participants' scores on the DSB and TMT B were compared with a larger set of tests administered. Participants' scores on TMT B and DSB appeared to have no ceiling effects and examination of longitudinal data from the SAMS study indicated that participants were not improving on these tests over time.

Subjective ratings of cognitive and functional capacity were obtained using the self-report and informant version of the ECog (Farias et al., 2008). This assessment requires the individual or their informant to rate current functional ability compared to ability 10 years previously. The 39-item questionnaire assesses cognitively-based functional items, across six neurological domains: memory, language, visuospatial abilities, planning, organisation and divided attention. Scores range from 1 ("Better or no change") to 4 ("Consistently much worse"). The A-IADL-UK was compared with the ECog to test whether the two scales were measuring the same construct.

Participants who self-reported (n=7) did so on the A-IADL-UK and the ECog. Participants selfreported if they did not have someone who could act as an informant. For all other participants (n=21) their informant provided responses to these scales. Informants were defined as people who lived with, cared for (if required), or had at least weekly contact with the participant.

Step 3: Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22. Since most datasets were not normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnoff goodness of fit test p<0.05), non-parametric

tests were used. Correlations were investigated using Kendall's tau-b correlation coefficient because the approximations are better for small sample sizes (Arndt et al., 1999). The significance level was set at p < 0.05, unless indicated otherwise. Due to an administrative error in the questionnaire administered to participants in step 3, answers to the question "Did they use technology?" was not included in the weighted average scores. To investigate construct validity, correlations were considered between the A-IADL-UK and a number of other neurological tests selected from a larger set of tests that were administered.

Results

Details of changes to all items in the questionnaire for each step of the cultural adaptation, including reasons for removing and adding items, adjustments to language, decisions from the developer reviews and the final item wording, can be found in Appendix 1 published as supplementary material online attached to the electronic version of this paper at https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/international-psychogeriatrics. For a summary of the numbers of questions added, removed, and amended, see Figure 1.

Step 1. Dementia professionals', SCD/MCI/AD and relatives' review

Seven items were added and nine items were removed based on suggestions from the dementia professionals and discussion with the developer. Of the seven items added, two were completely new items suggested by the dementia professionals and the other five items were added by the developer based on what was contained in the original Dutch version. Items were removed based on the suggestions from the dementia professionals for a variety of reasons: two were thought to be confusing; four were considered analogous to other activities e.g. 'booking a trip on the internet' was removed as it was considered similar to 'booking holidays' and 'buying on the internet' was already covered in another question; and three were judged as outdated e.g. 'using cheques'. Suggestions of changes in language were undertaken for twenty six items, for example the term 'operating' was changed to 'using' for 10 items as this was thought to be a more common term. Some items that were considered to be confusing or incongruous by dementia professionals were retained to see how the other participants responded to these items.

Following suggestions from the SCD/MCI/AD participants and the relatives, a total of seven new items were added and ten items were adjusted for language. The main reasons for

adjusting the language of items were to add more common terms for example 'electronic banking' was replaced with 'internet banking'; and to clarify the meaning of questions, for example not all participants knew what a smartphone was, so this was changed to 'using a mobile phone to go on the internet'. Items that dementia professionals highlighted as confusing or incongruous were the same ones designated this way by the SCD/MCI/AD participants and relatives. Again, these items were retained at this stage to seek further data on how people engage with them.

Step 2. Applicability questionnaire

Of the 140 questionnaires distributed 92 (65.7%) were returned. Nineteen items were identified as candidates for exclusion and 53 were candidates for inclusion on the basis of the median frequency that each IADL were completed. Following a third developer review six items were added, 24 items were removed and two items were adjusted for language, resulting in a final item count of 55 for use in the pilot.

Step 3. A-IADL-Q-UK pilot

For the pilot, 31 questionnaires were distributed via email link. An email reminder was sent after two weeks. A total of 28 questionnaires (90.3%) were completed. Twenty-one of these participants (75%) had somebody who could act as an informant and seven participants (25%) provided the information themselves in the form of self-report. Although participants with SCD obtained higher mean A-IADL-Q-UK scores² (n=17, mean = 98.64, s.d = 2.05) than MCI participants (n= 11, mean = 90.28, s.d = 15.37), this difference was not significant (u = 76.50, p = .430).

Response characteristics of new items

The number of participants endorsing each response to the nine new items and the correlation analyses for the new items in relation to total score are shown in Table 2. The new and revised items performed well: at least half of the participants had completed each activity in the previous 4 weeks and all activities were perceived as either slightly more, more, or much more, difficult by at least one participant per item. When broken down by sub-group (informant report version and self-report version), because of the small numbers

² Weighted total including new items

(particularly in the self-report sub-group), for some items there was no variation in the responses given to specific items within one of the sub-groups (e.g. with none of the participants in one sub-group finding the activity more difficult: see supplementary Table 1, published as supplementary material online attached to the electronic version of this paper at https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/international-psychogeriatrics). Therefore, the analysis was focused on both groups as a whole. 'Making a cup of tea or coffee' and 'using keys' were the most frequently performed activities. 'Reading' was another activity completed by the majority of participants and over 10% (3) of participants found this more difficult to some degree. Despite low numbers of participants completing the activities, 'recording a television program', 'completing household paperwork' and 'maintaining the garden' were each seen as being slightly, more, or much more difficult by three or more participants. Most participants did not find 'making a cup of tea or coffee', 'using the hob', 'using the grill', 'using keys' or 'looking after family', more difficult.

The items 'using the grill' and 'looking after family' were performed least frequently by participants. Reasons for not using the grill were mixed but most participants reported that they had never used it or had no need to. The majority of participants reported that they did not 'look after family' because they lived too far away, did not have any family to look after, or had never done it.

There was a significant correlation between the weighted average score and four of the new items: 'completing household paperwork', 'recording a television program', 'reading' and 'maintaining the garden'. The remaining five new items were not significantly correlated with the total score.

						Kendall's tau-b c	orrelation
	Releva	nce		Difficulty		coefficients of new	v items and
	Neleva			Difficulty		weighted average so	core (without
						new item	ıs)
Item	Did not do activity in previous 4 weeks or have never done activity	Completed activity in previous 4 weeks	Did not find the activity more difficult	Found activity slightly more difficult	Found activity more/much more difficult	Correlation with weighted average score without new items	p value
Making a cup of tea or coffee*	0 (0.0)	28 (100.0)	27 (96.4)	1 (3.6)	0 (0.0)	25	.12
Using the hob*	2 (7.1)	26 (92.9)	24 (92.3)	2 (7.7)	0 (0.0)	08	.63
Using the grill $^{\scriptscriptstyle \pm}$	11 (39.3)	17 (60.7)	16 (94.1)	1 (5.9)	0 (0.0)	35	.10
Completing household paperwork*	6 (21.4)	22 (78.6)	19 (86.4)	2 (9.1)	1 (4.5)	50	.01
Recording a TV program*	10 (35.7)	18 (64.3)	15 (83.3)	2 (11.1)	1 (5.6)	57	.01
Using keys*	0 (0.0)	28 (100.0)	27 (96.4)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.6)	27	.09
$Reading^{\ddagger}$	1 (3.6)	27 (96.4)	24 (88.9)	2 (7.4)	1 (3.7)	45	.01
Maintaining the garden [‡]	6 (21.4)	22 (78.6)	18 (81.8)	2 (9.1)	2 (9.1)	39	.03
Looking after family [‡]	13 (46.4)	15 (53.6)	14 (93.3)	1 (6.7)	0 (0.0)	37	.10

Table 2. Number (and %) of participants endorsing each response to new items, and correlation coefficients of new items with weighted average score

*classified as new because of significant changes to language and/or meaning

[‡]completely new item

Exploratory validation analysis of the A-IADL-Q-UK and other neuropsychological tests

Table 3 shows the correlations between the weighted average score of the A-IADL-Q-UK (including the new items) with age and clinical measures. The A-IADL-Q-UK total score did not correlate with age. All correlations with cognitive and functional measures were in the expected directions: these were significant for DSB and ECog and non-significant for ACE III and TMT B. When broken down by sub-group (informant version and self-report version) not all of these patterns held (see supplementary Table 2 published as supplementary material online attached to the electronic version of this paper at https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/international-psychogeriatrics).

Measure	N	Mean (SD)	Weighted average score with new items (Kendall's tau-b)	p value
Demographic data				
Age	28^{\dagger}	72.64 (4.40)	13 (45, .19)	.36
Cognitive functioning				
ACE III [‡]	28	93.54 (5.49)	.11 (28, .44)	.46
DSB [§]	28	7.79 (2.41)	.38 (.50, .62)	.01
TMT B [∥]	28	77.96 (41.31)	04 (37, .28)	.77
Everyday functioning				
ECog [¶]	28	1.60 (.68)	46 (67,22)	.00

Table 3. Means and Kendall's tau-b correlation coefficients of weighted average scores (including the new items) of the A-IADL-Q-UK with clinical measures and demographics

[†]Demographic data was not completed by 5 of these participants. [‡]ACE III = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-III (ACE III); §DSB = Digit Span Backwards Task; **||**TMT B = Trails Making Test B; **||**ECog = Measurement of Everyday Cognitive Function.

Discussion

This development of the A-IADL-Q-UK enhanced the conceptual and cultural relevance of the original version of the questionnaire for an older adult UK population. We assessed face and content validity by utilising the views of people with cognitive impairment, their relatives, UK older adults and dementia professionals. This essential step improves the clinical meaningfulness of functional assessments for people with SCD and MCI in the UK. The informant version was adapted and a self-report version of the questionnaire was developed. Modifications to the scale included adding 20 items, removing 34 and adjusting the language of 33 items, resulting in a 55-item adapted version. This version of the scale is ready for a full-scale validation.

This cross-cultural validation is important because mere translation of an instrument does not always account for cultural and ethnoracial disparities (Beaton et al., 2000). Frequently used IADL instruments often include culturally specific activities such as balancing a chequebook (Dubbelman et al., 2019). We found that activities such as using a coffee maker and a dishwasher were not common practice amongst current older adults in the UK, and therefore amending or removing these items enhances the validity of the measure for a UK audience.

Four of the nine new items correlated with the total score of the A-IADL-UK. Interestingly, these items were also the ones that most participants felt were more or much more difficult, suggesting that these items are more sensitive to functional impairment in this sample of participants with SCD and MCI. This is in line with research by Marshall et al. (2015), who found that the item "assembling tax records" discriminated between healthy and MCI participants and that lower scores on a "paying bills/balancing checkbook" item predicted progression from healthy to MCI. However, they also found that "heating water and turning off the stove" was sensitive to functional change, whereas in our sample most participants did not find a similar item "using the hob" more difficult. This discrepancy could be due to the smaller sample size in the current study or because the question in the Marshall et al. study asks specifically about remembering to turn off the stove.

Construct validity of the new A-IADL-UK was explored by considering correlations with age and other clinical measures. The exploratory analysis of the weighted average score including the new items found no correlation with age. This is in line with work by Sikkes et al. (2013), who found small but significant correlations with age in the original questionnaire. This is important as it suggests that the questionnaire can be used without normative data for age. Scores on the A-IADL-Q-UK were significantly correlated with another measure of everyday functioning: the ECog. This demonstrates good convergent

validity. Associations with ACE, DSB and TMT B were all in the expected direction. However, the association with ACE and TMT B was non-significant and very weak. Previous literature in this area is mixed. Some studies have found that informant and self-reported measures typically yield small or no associations with executive processes (Aretouli and Brandt, 2010; Jefferson et al., 2006; Plehn et al., 2004). In a more recent study, a longer time spent on TMT B was associated with a lower score on the A-IADL-Q and a model incorporating DSB indicated a satisfactory fit when testing the relationship between change in IADL and change in memory functioning (Koster et al., 2015). There are limited studies exploring the relationship between the ACE III and IADL measures; research that has been done suggests that the ACE III is sensitive to everyday functioning (Giebel and Challis, 2017; Hsieh et al., 2013; Scally, 2016), but this is based on small sample sizes. In a more recent study, the ACE III was related to functional impairment across a number of dementia syndromes (So et al., 2018). However, none of these studies have looked for a relationship between the ACE III and functional ability in people with subjective or mild cognitive decline. Future studies with larger samples, including those with subjective and mild cognitive decline, will enable further investigation of construct validity. What is most important, however, is the predictive validity of the A-IADL-UK and how well it can predict a person's ability to function in the real world. Moore and colleagues argue that predictive validity is more important than comparison to normative data, because it shows whether an instrument can predict competency in actual daily life (Moore et al., 2007). Future validation of the A-IADL-Q-UK should compare scores with observed behaviour of daily activities inside the individual's home.

Although there was no significant difference between the scores of participants with SCD and MCI, it is notable that scores for the MCI group were numerically higher than the SCD group. This is in-line with findings from the Spanish adaptation of the A-IADL-Q by Facal and colleagues (2018), and provides additional tentative evidence for the validity of the scale as a measure of functional impairment. Future research is now needed to compare scores between these groups in studies with larger sample sizes.

Limitations of the current study include the small sample size and low statistical power for the step 3 pilot. The sample size for step 3 was based on pragmatics such as time and budget constraints and was not intended to be fully powered. In addition, because this

sample were part of an on-going study, the inclusion criteria were set by that study and therefore cognitively healthy participants and individuals with dementia were not included, even though they were included in step one and step two. This pilot study was a first step in assessing the reliability and validity of the A-IADL-UK, the results presented are exploratory and further testing is recommended as a next step. The majority of participants in steps one and three were recruited from the Greater Manchester area of the UK, this means that the study has a low geographical reach. The study also has a limited cultural reach as the majority of participants (95%) in the step two applicability questionnaire were white British, which is not reflective of the full ethnic breakdown of the UK (Office for National Statistics, 2011). A further limitation is that ethnicity was not recorded for participants in steps one and three. However, the dementia professionals in step one would have knowledge of a wider and more diverse client base which may mitigate some of these issues.

The assessment of face and content validity is an important psychometric property often lacking in the development of existing IADL scales (Sikkes et al., 2009). A major strength of the current study was that the process for assessing face and content validity was detailed and thorough, this is reflected in the use of a sampling to redundancy criterion in step one meaning all suggestions from participants were considered until no new information emerged. A further strength is the inclusion of a range of stakeholders, including people with cognitive impairment and relatives of people with MCI and dementia. To date relatively few assessments of content validity utilise the knowledge and expertise of patients and caregivers, which often solely relies on the judgements of clinicians (Connell et al., 2018). In addition we compared the instrument to another IADL measure (ECog) administered to the same participant group, enabling a direct comparison between the two IADL instruments.

In summary, in this first UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire we developed the informant version and produced the first self-report version, demonstrating the face validity and content validity of the measure. A comprehensive review of the measure was undertaken and included people with cognitive impairment and their relatives, as well as dementia professionals and cognitively healthy older adults. A self-report version of the questionnaire will allow people without an informant to provide information about their ability to complete the IADL. The next step is to determine item characteristics for the new items so that final decisions can be made about which ones to include in the A-IADL-Q-UK.

This will require further data analysis from a larger sample. Further quantitative testing of the A-IADL-UK on a larger sample will enable assessment of reliability and validity and a full examination of internal consistency and measurement bias.

Funding

Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) Grant/Award Number: EP/K015796/1

Conflict of interest

None.

Description of author's roles

GS designed the study, collected the data, carried out the statistical analysis, and led the writing of the paper. LJEB and IL contributed to the design of the study and discussions with the developer. LJEB contributed to the plan and interpretation of data analysis. SAMS is the developer of the original A-IADL-Q and contributed to the design of the study and all the developer discussions. All authors also contributed to the writing of the paper and approved the final draft.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to the participants who gave up their time to take part in this study and the Clinical Research Network (CRN) who assisted with recruitment.

References

- Albert, M. S., DeKosky, S. T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H. H., Fox, N. C., et al. (2011).
 'The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers & Dementia*, 7(3), pp. 270-279. 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.008
- Aretouli, E. & Brandt, J. (2010). 'Everyday functioning in mild cognitive impairment and its relationship with executive cognition', *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 25(3), pp. 224-33. 10.1002/gps.2325
- Arndt, S., Turvey, C. & Andreasen, N. C. (1999). 'Correlating and predicting psychiatric symptom ratings: Spearmans r versus Kendalls tau correlation', *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 33(2), pp. 97-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3956(98)90046-2</u>
- Beaton, D. E., Bombardier, C., Guillemin, F. & Ferraz, M. B. (2000). 'Guidelines for the process of cross-cultural adaptation of self-report measures', *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*, 25(24), pp. 3186-91. 10.1097/00007632-200012150-00014
- Connell, J., Carlton, J., Grundy, A., Taylor Buck, E., Keetharuth, A. D., Ricketts, T., et al. (2018). 'The importance of content and face validity in instrument development: lessons learnt from service users when developing the Recovering Quality of Life measure (ReQoL)', *Qual Life Res*, 27(7), pp. 1893-1902. 10.1007/s11136-018-1847-y
- Di Carlo, A., Baldereschi, M., Lamassa, M., Bovis, F., Inzitari, M., Solfrizzi, V., et al. (2016). 'Daily Function as Predictor of Dementia in Cognitive Impairment, No Dementia (CIND) and Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI): An 8-Year Follow-Up in the ILSA Study', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 53(2), pp. 505-15. 10.3233/jad-160087
- Dubbelman, M. A., Verrijp, M., Facal, D., Sánchez-Benavides, G., Brown, L. J. E., van der Flier, W. M., et al. (2019). Cultural diversity and the measurement of functional impairment: A cross-cultural validation of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire. *arXiv e-prints* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2019arXiv190901915D</u> (Accessed: September 01, 2019).
- Embretson, S. E. & Reise, S. P. (2000). *Item response theory for psychologists*. Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Facal, D., Carabias, M. A. R., Pereiro, A. X., Lojo-Seoane, C., Campos-Magdaleno, M., Jutten, R. J., et al. (2018). 'Assessing Everyday Activities Across the Dementia Spectrum with the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire', *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 15(13), pp. 1261-1266. 10.2174/1567205015666180925113411
- Farias, S. T., Mungas, D., Reed, B. R., Cahn-Weiner, D., Jagust, W., Baynes, K., et al. (2008).
 'The measurement of everyday cognition (ECog): scale development and psychometric properties', *Neuropsychology*, 22(4), pp. 531-44. 10.1037/0894-4105.22.4.531
- Food and Drug Administration (2018). Early Alzheimer's Disease: Developing Drugs for Treatment Guidance for Industry [Internet]. Available at: <u>https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation</u> /Guidances/UCM596728.pdf.
- Giebel, C. M. & Challis, D. (2017). 'Sensitivity of the Mini-Mental State Examination, Montreal Cognitive Assessment and the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination III to everyday activity impairments in dementia: an exploratory study', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 32(10), pp. 1085-1093. 10.1002/gps.4570

- Hartry, A., Aldhouse, N. V. J., Al-Zubeidi, T., Sanon, M., Stefanacci, R. G. & Knight, S. L. (2018).
 'The conceptual relevance of assessment measures in patients with mild/mild-moderate Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 10, pp. 498-508. 10.1016/j.dadm.2018.07.006
- Hedman, A., Kottorp, A., Almkvist, O. & Nygard, L. (2018). 'Challenge levels of everyday technologies as perceived over five years by older adults with mild cognitive impairment', *Int Psychogeriatr*, 30(10), pp. 1447-1454. 10.1017/s1041610218000285
- Hsieh, S., Schubert, S., Hoon, C., Mioshi, E. & Hodges, J. R. (2013). 'Validation of the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination III in frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease', *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 36(3-4), pp. 242-50. 10.1159/000351671
- Jefferson, A. L., Paul, R. H., Ozonoff, A. & Cohen, R. A. (2006). 'Evaluating elements of executive functioning as predictors of instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs)', *Archives of clinical neuropsychology : the official journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists*, 21(4), pp. 311-320. 10.1016/j.acn.2006.03.007
- Jekel, K., Damian, M., Wattmo, C., Hausner, L., Bullock, R., Connelly, P. J., et al. (2015). 'Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: a systematic review', *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 7(1), p. 17. 10.1186/s13195-015-0099-0
- Jutten, R. J., Peeters, C. F. W., Leijdesdorff, S. M. J., Visser, P. J., Maier, A. B., Terwee, C. B., et al. (2017). 'Detecting functional decline from normal aging to dementia: Development and validation of a short version of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire', *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 8, pp. 26-35. 10.1016/j.dadm.2017.03.002
- Korolev, I. O., Symonds, L. L. & Bozoki, A. C. (2016). 'Predicting Progression from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Dementia Using Clinical, MRI, and Plasma Biomarkers via Probabilistic Pattern Classification', *PLoS One*, 11(2), p. e0138866. 10.1371/journal.pone.0138866
- Koster, N., Knol, D. L., Uitdehaag, B. M. J., Scheltens, P. & Sikkes, S. A. M. (2015). 'The sensitivity to change over time of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire©', *Alzheimer's* & Dementia, pp. 1-10. 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.10.006
- Lara, J., Godfrey, A., Evans, E., Heaven, B., Brown, L. J., Barron, E., et al. (2013). 'Towards measurement of the Healthy Ageing Phenotype in lifestyle-based intervention studies', *Maturitas*, 76(2), pp. 189-99. 10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.07.007
- Lawton, M. P. & Brody, E. M. (1969). 'Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living', *Gerontologist*, 9(3), pp. 179-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/9.3 Part 1.179</u>
- Lezak, M. D., Howieson, D. B., Bigler, E. D. & Tranel, D. (2012). *Neuropsychological Assessement* (Fifth Edition ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lindbergh, C. A., Dishman, R. K. & Miller, L. S. (2016). 'Functional Disability in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', *Neuropsychol Rev*, 26(2), pp. 129-59. 10.1007/s11065-016-9321-5
- Malinowsky, C., Almkvist, O., Kottorp, A. & Nygard, L. (2010). 'Ability to manage everyday technology: a comparison of persons with dementia or mild cognitive impairment and older adults without cognitive impairment', *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol.*, 5, pp. 462 - 469. 10.3109/17483107.2010.496098
- Marshall, G. A., Zoller, A. S., Lorius, N., Amariglio, R. E., Locascio, J. J., Johnson, K. A., et al. (2015). 'Functional Activities Questionnaire Items that Best Discriminate and Predict Progression from Clinically Normal to Mild Cognitive Impairment', *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 12(5), pp. 493-502. 10.2174/156720501205150526115003

- Moore, D. J., Palmer, B. W., Patterson, T. L. & Jeste, D. V. (2007). 'A review of performancebased measures of functional living skills', *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 41(1), pp. 97-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2005.10.008</u>
- Office for National Statistics (2011). *Census analysis: Ethnicity and religion of the non-UK born population in England and Wales: 2011*, London: Office for National Statistics. Available <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/ethnicity</u> <u>/articles/2011censusanalysisethnicityandreligionofthenonukbornpopulationinenglan</u> dandwales/2015-06-18 (Accessed: 29th August 2019).
- Office for National Statistics (2018). *Internet users, UK: 2018,* London. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/i</u>nternetusers/2018#generation-gap-narrowing-in-recent-internet-use.
- Plehn, K., Marcopulos, B. A. & McLain, C. A. (2004). 'The Relationship Between Neuropsychological Test Performance, Social Functioning, and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living in a Sample of Rural Older Adults', *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 18(1), pp. 101-113. 10.1080/13854040490507190
- Rosenberg, L., Kottorp, A., Winblad, B. & Nygard, L. (2009). 'Perceived difficulty in everyday technology use among older adults with or without cognitive deficits', *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 16(4), pp. 216-226. 10.3109/11038120802684299
- Scally, E. (2016). The Relationship Between Performance On Cognitive Screening Tests And Everyday Functioning In Older Adults With Mild Cognitive Impairment. MSc in Neurology & Gerontology, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Theses and Dissertations at e-publications@RCS [Online] Available at: https://epubs.rcsi.ie/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1122&context=mscttheses.
- Sikkes, S. A., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Pijnenburg, Y. A., Gillissen, F., Romkes, R., Knol, D. L., et al. (2012). 'A new informant-based questionnaire for instrumental activities of daily living in dementia', *Alzheimers Dement*, 8(6), pp. 536-43. 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.08.006
- Sikkes, S. A., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Pijnenburg, Y. A., Scheltens, P. & Uitdehaag, B. M. (2009).
 'A systematic review of Instrumental Activities of Daily Living scales in dementia: room for improvement', *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 80(1), pp. 7-12. 10.1136/jnnp.2008.155838
- Sikkes, S. A., Knol, D. L., Pijnenburg, Y. A., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Uitdehaag, B. M. & Scheltens, P. (2013a). 'Validation of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire(c), a new tool to measure instrumental activities of daily living in dementia', *Neuroepidemiology*, 41(1), pp. 35-41. 10.1159/000346277
- Sikkes, S. A., Pijnenburg, Y. A., Knol, D. L., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Scheltens, P. & Uitdehaag, B. M. (2013b). 'Assessment of instrumental activities of daily living in dementia: diagnostic value of the Amsterdam Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Questionnaire', J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol, 26(4), pp. 244-50. 10.1177/0891988713509139
- Sikkes, S. A., Visser, P. J., Knol, D. L., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Tsolaki, M., Frisoni, G. B., et al. (2011). 'Do instrumental activities of daily living predict dementia at 1- and 2-year follow-up? Findings from the Development of Screening guidelines and diagnostic Criteria for Predementia Alzheimer's disease study', J Am Geriatr Soc, 59(12), pp. 2273-81. 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03732.x
- So, M., Foxe, D., Kumfor, F., Murray, C., Hsieh, S., Savage, G., et al. (2018). 'Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination III: Psychometric Characteristics and Relations to Functional

Ability in Dementia', *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 24(8), pp. 854-863. 10.1017/S1355617718000541

- Streiner, D. L. (2008). *Health Measurement Scales A practical guide to their development and use* (4th ed. ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Stringer, G., Couth, S., Brown, L. J. E., Montaldi, D., Gledson, A., Mellor, J., et al. (2018). 'Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline', *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 33(7), pp. 867-874. 10.1002/gps.4863
- Tabert, M. H., Albert, S. M., Borukhova-Milov, L., Camacho, Y., Pelton, G., Liu, X., et al. (2002).
 'Functional deficits in patients with mild cognitive impairment: prediction of AD', *Neurology*, 58(5), pp. 758-64. 10.1212/wnl.58.5.758
- Weintraub, S., Carrillo, M. C., Farias, S. T., Goldberg, T. E., Hendrix, J. A., Jaeger, J., et al. (2018).
 'Measuring cognition and function in the preclinical stage of Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions*, 4, pp. 64-75.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2018.01.003</u>

CHAPTER 4 (Study B): A pilot study to access the feasibility and prospective acceptability of recording computer-use for assessment of cognitive health

4.1. Abstract

Introduction: In order to assess the potential of remotely-monitored computer use behaviours as proxy measures of cognitive and functional ability, it is important to pilot the procedures of a two-phase study by examining the process and resources of a cross-sectional study and evaluating the prospective acceptability of a longitudinal study.

Method: Two older adults (aged 61 and 69) with cognitive impairment and five cognitively healthy older adults (aged 63 to 87) completed a series of semi-directed computer tasks to assess the feasibility of the tasks, hardware, and software of the cross-sectional study. Participants were observed whilst completing the tasks. Semi-structured interviews with a mixture of close- and open-ended questions were completed with participants to assess their prospective acceptability of a longitudinal study which would record daily computer use as a proxy measure of cognitive health. Particular issues explored were privacy and security.

Results: Participants were able to complete all of the tasks, although found it easier to complete tasks that used familiar applications. Difficulties completing tasks were mainly due to them using an unfamiliar operating systems and software applications, resulting in difficulty finding specific functions. Participants were generally positive about the idea of recording daily computer as a proxy measure of cognitive health, and they all said they would be willing to take part in such research. Some participants expressed concerns about the software recording financial transactions or other people's data on their computer, but felt that such concerns could be alleviated by providing sufficient study information.

Discussion: Results from this pilot were used to improve the design and implementation of the subsequent cross-sectional and longitudinal study. For the cross-sectional study, the pilot informed decisions about what operating systems to use and changes to the laptop training to counteract individual differences in experience levels and use of software. For the longitudinal study, feedback was used to ensure the information provided about the study was comprehensive and covered any points of concern relating to security or privacy.

Changes were also made to the recording software to limit what was recorded for websites that involved financial transactions or the use of passwords.

4.2. Introduction

The assessment of instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) is increasingly being recognised as an essential component in the diagnosis of early cognitive impairment (Albert et al., 2011; Lindbergh et al., 2016; Luck et al., 2012; Molinuevo et al., 2017; Petersen et al., 2014). Computer use is a complex IADL (Kaye et al., 2014). Studies have shown that specific computer use behaviours can distinguish between people with and without cognitive impairment (Kaye et al., 2014; Seelye et al., 2015), and have the potential to provide an alternative approach to the assessment of functional ability (Seelye et al., 2018).

There is limited research investigating how computer use could be used to detect change in IADL. To address this, a two-phase study, which included a proof of principle cross-sectional study and an exploratory longitudinal study, was developed to investigate whether measuring a broad range of daily personal computer-use behaviours over time is a pragmatic and sensitive means of detecting early cognitive and functional decline. The aim of the cross-sectional study, was to determine: (1) whether multiple computer-use behaviours can be used to distinguish between cognitively healthy older adults and those in the early stages of cognitive decline; and (2) whether these computer-use behaviours are associated with levels of cognitive and functional ability (Stringer et al., 2018). The aim of the longitudinal study, was to investigate whether everyday computer use behaviours recorded on participants' home computers were associated with cognitive and functional ability over time.

Understanding the performance of older adults in the context of their daily lives requires the development of research protocols that capture relevant real-word tasks and environments while maintaining scientific rigour (Czaja and Sharit, 2003). A pilot study is conducted to identify potential problems with the research design and protocol prior to the larger study (Hassan et al., 2006). They are considered a crucial element of a good study design, and increase the likelihood of success in the main study (van Teijlingen and Hundley, 2002). There are many reasons for undertaking a pilot study, including developing and testing research instruments; assessing whether a research protocol is realistic and

workable; and determining what resources (e.g. staff, equipment) are needed for a planned study (van Teijlingen and Hundley, 2002).

The two-phase study required a pilot study for a number of reasons. First, a series of computer tasks designed for the cross-sectional study needed to be piloted in order to understand participants' experiences when completing them, and to identify any problems associated with participants' interaction with the laptops hardware and software. The tasks would be completed by the participants whilst computer behaviour patterns such as typing speed and mouse clicks were recorded. The tasks were designed to represent normal everyday computer activities that could be completed without too much difficulty. Second, going through the computer activities in the cross-sectional study would allow for checks of all the participant and researcher materials (i.e. instruction sheets) and would provide the opportunity for research staff to train and practice in the administration of the tasks. Third, for the longitudinal study, because the computer behaviours recorded by the software needed to represent normal home computer use, it was important to ask participants if they would feel comfortable having their daily home computer use would be recorded for the assessment of cognitive health.

The aim of this study was therefore to pilot specific aspects of the two-phase study: firstly to examine the process and resources of the cross-sectional study and secondly to evaluate the prospective acceptability of the longitudinal study. The objectives to achieve these aims are described in detail below and summarised in table one. They follow a modified version of Thabane et al's (2010) general reasons for conducting a pilot . The two-phase study did not include a phase III trial, however Thabane's work is still broadly useful and applicable when considering the objectives of this pilot. Thabane et al. (2010) suggests that the reasons for conducting a pilot study can be grouped under four broad headings – process, resources, management and scientific. 'Process' assesses the feasibility of the steps needed for the larger study including determining recruitment rates and checking the understanding of study materials. For this pilot we aimed to assess process by looking at the ability of participants to complete the computer tasks in phase one unaided (with prompts when required). 'Resources' deals with assessing the time and resources required for the main study for example what equipment is required and does the software work as it should. For this pilot we aimed to assess resources by considering the ability of the participants to use

the hardware (laptop) and software (e.g. Microsoft Outlook) in phase one. 'Management' covers any potential human and data management problems such as challenges at participating centres and problems entering data into the computer. 'Management' was not a relevant rational for this pilot because the study did not take place across different centres and the computer data was recording by the software. Finally, 'scientific' deals with the assessment of treatment safety, determination of dose levels and the estimation of treatment effect. This rationale is quite specific to phase III trials. Therefore, instead of looking at the effect of a treatment, we aimed to evaluate prospective acceptability of the phase two longitudinal study which would record participant's home computer use.

Thabane et al's reasons for	Objectives for the pilot	Study
conducting a pilot		
Process: Assesses the feasibility of	Objective one: Examine participants' range	Phase one:
the steps needed for the larger study	of experiences when completing the tasks.	Cross-
e.g. recruitment and study materials.		sectional
		study
Resources: Assesses the time and	Objective two: Examine participants' range	Phase one:
resources required for the main	of experiences while using the hardware	Cross-
study e.g. required equipment and	(laptop) and software (e.g. Microsoft	sectional
software.	Office).	study
Scientific: Deals with assessment of	Objective three: Evaluate older adults	Phase two:
treatment safety, dose, effect and	prospective acceptability of recording	Longitudinal
variance of effect.	home computer use	study

Table 1. Pilot objectives adapted from Thabane et al's rationale for pilot studies

4.2.2. Feasibility and acceptability evaluation framework

'Feasibility' was operationalised through the question 'can it work?' (Orsmond and Cohn, 2015). For this pilot this was operationalised as establishing whether participants could complete the tasks in phase one with minimal difficulty, assistance and worry. This was

assessed by observing participants completing the tasks, and afterwards asking participants how they felt about the tasks; what they found easy or difficult; and why.

'Prospective acceptability' is defined by Saracutu et al. (2018) as how an individual feels about an intervention prior to participating. In this study prospective acceptability was operationalised as participant willingness to take part in a longitudinal study which would record home computer use. This was assessed by asking participants how they would feel about having their home computer use recorded and what worries or concerns they may have.

4.3. Method

This was a, mixed-methods, cross-sectional pilot study undertaken in community settings in Greater Manchester. The study was approved by The University of Manchester Ethics Committee in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and all participants provided written informed consent prior to participating.

4.3.1 Participants

The demographic, cognitive and functional details for the participants are detailed in table two. All participants were above 60 (range = 61 to 87 years), 57% were female and total scores on the ACE III ranged from 69 to 99.

Participant	Age	Gender	Group (AD, MCI	Total ACE III
			or HD)	score
1	71	m	HC	96
2	86	f	HC	95
3	87	f	HC	98
4	73	f	HC	95
5	63	m	HC	99
6	69	f	AD	69
7	61	m	MCI	90

Table 2. Demographic, cognitive and functional variables

*ACE III = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-III (ACE III)

In order to be included in the study participants had to be: living in their own homes; have the capacity to consent; 60 years of age or older; regular computer users (defined as using a laptop or desktop computer at least once a week); current users of a Microsoft Windows operating system; and able to communicate verbally in English. Individuals with any acute physical or mental difficulties were excluded from the study. For participants in the 'cognitively impaired' group, the diagnosis was made by qualified memory specialists and verified through the patients' clinical records. The final sample comprised two participants with clinically significant cognitive impairment (mean age = 65; female n=1) and five cognitively healthy control participants (mean age = 76 years; female n=3). Clinically significant cognitive impairment was defined as either: 1) MCI, as per Petersen's criteria (Petersen, 2004); or 2) early dementia due to probable AD, as per standard NINCDS-ADRDA criteria (McKhann et al., 2011). Participants were recruited through memory clinics and local community groups in Greater Manchester and Holland.

4.3.2. Procedure

Participants were invited to take part in a single testing session conducted either in their own homes (n=5) or at The University of Manchester (n=2).

4.3.2.1 Tasks of computer performance

All tasks assessing computer-use performance were completed on the same 14.1 inch laptop computer (Dell Latitude E6410) running Windows 7. Participants were provided with a separate keyboard and mouse if they preferred. Participants initially completed a practice session on the laptop, involving shortened versions of the experimental computer tasks (Table 2). The practice session was divided into four sections: desktop (i.e. main user interface), Word, email and Internet Explorer.

Table 2. Details of the	practice of	computer	tasks
-------------------------	-------------	----------	-------

Practice task	Details of practice task
Desktop	This task was completed on the Windows 7 desktop: click on the time/date
	display and scroll to the next month.

Word	This task was completed in Microsoft Word: open a specific Word document on
	the desktop, scroll, highlight, format, minimise, maximise, and close Word.
Email	This task was completed in Microsoft Outlook: start the email program, open
	new email, type and close the email program.
Internet	All of these tasks were completed in Internet Explorer (IE): open IE, specific
Explorer	search in Google, click on a specific link, scroll to a specific section of a website,
	return to previous page, scroll and close IE.

Following the practice session, participants were asked to follow a set of written instructions (Appendix H) in order to complete five experimental computer tasks (Table 3) which lasted approximately 45 minutes: a desktop navigation task; an email account management task; a word processing task; a diary entry task and an internet search task. Participants could follow the instructions verbatim or adopt their own methods to complete the tasks if they preferred.

Table 3. Details of the main computer tasks

Main task	Details of main task
General	This task was completed on the Windows 7 desktop: open a specific Word
computer	document, scroll, minimise, maximise, close Word document, delete a folder,
operations	move a document into a folder, click on the time/date display, click on a
	specific date.
Email	This task was completed in Microsoft Outlook: start the email program, find an email with a specific subject, open the email in a new window, close email, delete email, reply to email, send email, move email to folder, close the email program.
Word	This task was completed in Microsoft Word: open a specific Word document,
processing	cut and paste, edit text, delete text, format text, save and close.

Diary entry	This task was completed in Microsoft Word: open a blank Word document,
	type a title, underline, type a diary entry for 3 minutes, save the document
	with a specific name, close.
Web search	All of these tasks were completed in Internet Explorer (IE): open IE, specific
	search in Google, click on a specific link, scroll to a specific section of a website,
	return to previous page, scroll, and close.

Participants were told that they should try to complete the tasks by themselves and that if they were unsure to try and work it out on their own based on what they thought was right. This was required to ensure the software was, on the whole, recording the participants' own actions and was therefore representative of their computer use behaviour. However, we also wanted participants to be able to move through the tasks and complete them all if possible. Therefore, if participants were having difficulty with a task, and could not work it out on their own, then prompts were provided by the investigator.

A four-level prompt system was utilised with increased levels of support offered at each level (Figure 1). The investigator would only provide an increased level of support included, but were not limited to: getting frustrated; saying they do not know what they are doing; or asking for help. The first level (level one) was no prompts. This included giving the participant time to work things out, make mistakes and try different options. Level two was general encouragement and included prompts such as 'keep going' and 'check the instruction sheet'. Level three was non-specific guidance: a prompt that helps to direct them but does not direct them to the specific action required e.g. 'you're in the right place'. Specific guidance explaining to participants exactly how to complete the task was provided at level four. This included telling participants specifically where to look or what they needed to do e.g. 'you need to double click' or 'I'll point to it on the screen'.

Level 1 No prompts			
Give them time to: Work things out on their	Level 2 General Encouragement	Level 3	
own	'Keep going'	Non-specific guidance	Level 4
Make mistakes	'You're doing fine'	'It is on the screen'	Specific guidance
Try different options	'Go with what you think'	'You did it in the last task'	'It's in the bottom right hand corner'
	'Check the instruction sheet'	>n 'You're in the right place 'You're not quite in the	'I'll point to it on the screen'
	-	somewhere else'	'You need to double click'
			'You only need to click once'
			'You need to right click rather left'

Ν

Figure one. Four-level prompt system for supporting participants when completing the computer tasks

4.3.2.2. Interview

The computer tasks were followed by a short semi-structured interview (lasting approximately 15 minutes) administered face-to-face by the investigator. Participants were asked how they felt about the tasks they had been asked to complete, what they found easiest and most difficult, any general worries or concerns they had when completing the tasks, how they felt about having their computer use recorded, and any concerns they might have about security or privacy. These questions were asked to ascertain their experiences of completing the computer-based tasks and their thoughts regarding the recording of their daily computer use. This was audio recoded and used to make notes of key points arising from each question.

A screening questionnaire covering demographic details, health status and computer usage, and a battery of cognitive and functional tests, were also administered. These were not part of this pilot of the computer tasks, and so are not reported here.

4.3.3. Analysis

Notes from the interview audio recordings were recorded in an Excel spreadsheet and a summary of each answer was produced containing the key points. The research team discussed the outcomes from the pilot, and considered how the results could inform and improve the design of the main study. Pragmatic changes were made to documents (such as the computer activities instruction sheet for participants and the participant information sheet) and a record was made in the form of handwritten notes of these changes.

4.4. Results

The audio from the interview with the MCI participant was damaged therefore audio recordings from six participants, and observations from seven participants were used in the analysis.

4.4.1. Objective one: Examine participants' range of experiences when completing the tasks.

All participants were able to complete all the tasks (with prompts when necessary). Overall, participants said they felt comfortable completing the tasks. When asked how they felt about the tasks, one participant felt they did not do as well as they would have liked because the computer was different to the one they use at home, suggesting that familiarity with the equipment is an important factor in successful completion of computer based tasks.

Participants had different views on which tasks were the easiest. Two participants found it easier to complete the general computer operations, two participants found the word task easiest, and one participant said both the google search and the email tasks were easiest. The reasons for participants having different responses to what they found easiest was based on what the participant was used to using. For example one participant stated that Word was easiest because they had been using Word for many years and used it in their job before they retired. Two participants said they found particular tasks easy because they did them every day, this included general computer operations, email and Google. This suggests that level of experience with specific types of software is a determining factor in how well tasks are completed.

4.4.2. Objective two: Examine participants' range of experiences when using the hardware and software.

A number of issues were identified relating to participants' familiarity with the computer software. Some participants who were used to using Windows 7 found it difficult to use the Windows 8 laptop. Also, some participants were either not regular users of, or were not familiar with, the version of certain programs used in the experimental tasks (e.g. Word). Three participants were concerned about the differences in hardware and software between their own computers and the study computers. For example one participant used Microsoft Works rather than Microsoft Word, and commented that there were more options in Word and therefore it took them longer to search for specific functions. Some participants had specific difficulties with tasks that they either had never done before or because they were used to using a different type of application or software. Three participants said Word was the most difficult task, either because they use a different version, they do not do it very often, or they never use it. The email task was difficult for two participants because they were not used to using outlook and used different email applications e.g. Sky. One participant stated that if they were using their own email they would have been much quicker. Again, this suggests that familiarity with the type of hardware and software is an important factor in participants feeling comfortable with and successfully completing the tasks.

It was observed that participants often used keyboard shortcuts rather than mouse clicks. This highlights that people use the mouse and keyboard in different ways to approach specific computer tasks, which could impact on the recorded patterns of keystroke and mouse behaviour.

4.4.3. Objective three: Evaluate older adults' prospective acceptability of recording home computer use.

All of the participants expressed that they would not mind if their daily computer use were recorded. Three participants said they would feel good about it, and another explained that it could be good because it might pick up on something they are not aware of. This suggests that participants would be willing to take part in the longitudinal study and have their computer use recorded.

There were two main concerns relating to security and privacy expressed by four participants. There were concerns about financial transactions and the recording of other people's data. Two participants explained that they may worry about the computer recording their financial transactions and online banking. They went on to suggest that restrictions would need to be in place to protect their privacy with such matters and a facility to switch off the recording would be required. Concerns were also raised by two participants about the computer recording other people's information that may be on their computer for example in an email or word document. This suggests that security and privacy are of central concern to participants.

To alleviate any potential concerns, three participants stressed that they would require guidance and sufficient information about a future study of their computer use behaviour, when deciding whether to take part. They stated it would be necessary to include information about how the data would be used and how it will be protected to establish trust and put their mind at ease. Therefore, in order for participant to feel comfortable with having their computer use recorded, concerns about security and privacy should be addressed in the study information and study design.

Two participants explained that, despite potential concerns, they would take part in a research study that involved recording their computer behaviour for altruistic reasons. One participant said they would not like to have their computer behaviour recorded, but would participate if it was to help others. Another participate had concerns about the software recording financial transactions and other peoples' information on her computer, her family had also expressed concerns, however she said she was generally not worried and felt it was her duty to contribute to medical research. This raises the concern that some participants might take part even if they did not want to, this emphasises the importance of giving participants the opportunity to voice any worries or concerns and to make sure these are appropriately addressed.

4.5. Discussion

This study had three objectives: 1) To examine participants' range of experiences when completing the tasks; 2) to examine participants' range of experiences when using the hardware and software; 3) to evaluate older adults' prospective acceptability of recording

home computer use. The results of the pilot study suggested that the computer-based tasks could be completed (with prompts when necessary) and that participants felt they would accept and tolerate having their home computer use recorded for an extended period. Specifically, the pilot improved the design of the larger studies in two ways. For the crosssectional study, it informed decisions about resources and changes to the protocol to counteract individual differences in participants' experience levels and their use of hardware, software. For the longitudinal study, we used the feedback from participants to improve the information provided to participants about the study. Moreover, to alleviate concerns about privacy and security, changes were made to what was recorded by the software. These changes are discussed below.

Familiarity with the operating system was found to be an important factor for participants in feeling comfortable with and successfully completing the tasks. A number of participants were not comfortable completing the tasks on a Windows 7 computer because they were used to using a Windows 8 machine. The reason that we had planned to only use one operating system (Windows 7) was because this would mean higher experimental control. One challenge of recording semi-structured computer-use behaviour is the trade-off between higher experimental control (i.e. from having everyone use the same laptop) versus ensuring that everyone was using a system they were familiar with and also versus only recruiting participants who were familiar with the selected operating system and so halving the number of participants who could take part. The findings from this pilot study showed that if participants use an operating system they are not used to, this leads to difficulty searching for specific functions, increasing the time taken to complete the tasks and the chance of making mistakes. In order to eliminate the potentially confounding effect of system familiarity, we decided to use two operating systems Windows 7 and Windows 8 for the cross-sectional study. Six laptops were purchased, three were installed with Windows 7 and three with Windows 8. This meant that users of both types of operating system could be recruited, and participants could complete the tasks on a system they felt more comfortable with.

Participants found it difficult to complete tasks using software they were not familiar with. In order to alleviate difficulty when using unfamiliar software the study design was amended and changed in two ways. Firstly, the participant instructions were amended for

some of the tasks to ensure that the details of each task were as clear as possible. The wording was shortened and simplified and any unnecessary information or instructions were removed. Where it had not already been done the wording was changed to emphasise the action that needed to be done for each step, the action (verb) for each task was put at the start of each sentence and was underlined. For example task 2 step 2 was changed from "Somebody has sent you an e-mail with the subject 'Important-study'. Locate this message in the inbox" to "<u>Find</u> the email somebody has sent you, with the subject 'Important-study'. Secondly, the laptop practice activities would be repeated until the participant felt confident with each of the tasks. Participants who were not used to using Word and Outlook had expressed difficulty with these tasks. By repeating the practice activities participants could use these applications until they felt comfortable to move on to the main tasks. This change is in line with work by Czaja et al. (2001), in their study investigating age differences in the performance of a complex information search they concluded that older adults may require extended practice and training to ensure they are comfortable with computer equipment.

Even though it was observed that people approached tasks in different ways (i.e. used keyboard shortcuts instead of the mouse), no changes were made to the design of the subsequent cross-sectional and longitudinal studies. The reason for this is that it did not make sense to restrict the ways that the mouse and keyboard were used in either study. In the cross-sectional study it could make the tasks harder for some participants, which would bias the results and in the longitudinal study the purpose was to record non-directed behaviours. Whilst these different approaches to using the keyboard and mouse might make it more difficult to detect group differences, this would be less relevant for change over time.

The main concerns expressed by the participants about the longitudinal study emphasised the importance of providing comprehensive information and guidance about the purpose of the research, the use of data, and the protection of data. We addressed these concerns in two ways: by improving the information provided to participants and by refining the software. A number of modifications were made to the participant information sheets, including an explanation of what data would be recorded and how it would be protected. Participant had concerns about the recording of information, for example in an email or
word document, which may contain other people's details. To alleviate these concerns participants were provided with information explaining that the content of word documents and emails would be recorded but all data would be encrypted at a high level. To address participants concerns about information on secure websites (e.g. financial interactions) being recorded, changes were made to the design of the software to limit what was recorded for certain websites. For all secure websites the data capture was reduced to no longer include alpha-numeric content and to just record keystroke count and timestamp. Details about what data was captured on secure websites was fully articulated to participants during the recruitment and consent process. These changes are in line with the work of Innes and colleagues (2018) who found that potential randomised controlled trial (RCT) participants prioritised information about the consequences of taking part, specifically the advantages and disadvantages. They conclude that researchers should work with potential participants to identify what information is considered critical to support informed choices. In this pilot the views of the target audience was utilised to improve the information in participant information sheets and the study design.

4.6. Conclusion

This pilot was important as it informed the design and implementation of two consequent studies of the PhD. For the cross sectional study participants were provided with equipment and software for which they were most familiar, controlling for potential confounders; description of the tasks were made more clear and concise to help participants complete the tasks with greater ease; and the practise task was extended to counteract individual differences. For the longitudinal study changes were made to the participant information, and to what was recorded by the software to address and alleviate participant concerns, minimise risk and ensure valid informed consent.

<u>CHAPTER 5 (Study C): Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof</u> of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional <u>decline</u>

Published as:

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Brown, L. J. E., Montaldi, D., Gledson, A., Mellor, J., Sutcliffe, A., Sawyer, P., Keane, J., Bull, C., Zeng, X., Rayson, P. & Leroi, I. (2018). 'Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 33(7), pp. 867-874.

Author contributions:

Gemma Stringer conceived the original idea for the paper; edited the ethics application; edited the study documents; obtained ethical approval; recruited study participants; collected the data; carried out the statistical analysis; interpreted the data and led the writing of the paper. Professor Iracema Leroi, Professor Peter Sawyer, Professor Alistair Sutcliffe, Professor John Keane, Professor Xiaojun Zeng and Dr Paul Payson designed and obtained funding for the original SAMS study. Gemma Stringer joined the SAMS study as a Research Associate and registered for the PhD after the ethics application for study two had been drafted and submitted for the first internal check at the university. Dr Laura Brown was an informal advisor for the SAMS project in her position as the candidate's supervisor. Professor Iracema Leroi wrote the first draft of the ethics application. The joint author Dr Sam Couth joined the project during the data and writing the paper. Dr Laura Brown, Professor Iracema Leroi and Professor Daniela Montaldi provided methodological guidance, statistical guidance and supervisory input. All authors critically reviewed and agreed on the submitted manuscript for publication.

In accordance with the self-archiving policy of the International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, the *published version* of the manuscript is presented.

DOI: 10.1002/gps.4863

RESEARCH ARTICLE

WILEY Geriatric Psychiatry

Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline

G. Stringer¹ I. S. Couth¹ | L.J.E. Brown¹ | D. Montaldi¹ | A. Gledson² | J. Mellor² | A. Sutcliffe³ | P. Sawyer⁴ | J. Keane² | C. Bull³ | X. Zeng² | P. Rayson³ | I. Leroi¹

¹Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

² School of Computer Science, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

³Computing and Communications, Lancaster University, Lancaster, UK

⁴ Computer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Aston University, Birmingham, UK

Correspondence

Stringer G., The University of Manchester, Room 3.309 Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL, UK. Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk

Funding information

Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), Grant/Award Number: EP/K015796/1 **Objective:** To determine whether multiple computer use behaviours can distinguish between cognitively healthy older adults and those in the early stages of cognitive decline, and to investigate whether these behaviours are associated with cognitive and functional ability.

Methods: Older adults with cognitive impairment (n = 20) and healthy controls (n = 24) completed assessments of cognitive and functional abilities and a series of semi-directed computer tasks. Computer use behaviours were captured passively using bespoke software.

Results: The profile of computer use behaviours was significantly different in cognitively impaired compared with cognitively healthy control participants including more frequent pauses, slower typing, and a higher proportion of mouse clicks. These behaviours were significantly associated with performance on cognitive and functional assessments, in particular, those related to memory.

Conclusion: Unobtrusively capturing computer use behaviours offers the potential for early detection of neurodegeneration in non-clinical settings, which could enable timely interventions to ultimately improve long-term outcomes.

KEYWORDS

Alzheimer's disease, cognitive decline, computer use, dementia, functional ability, mild cognitive impairment

1 | INTRODUCTION

Impairments in cognitive and functional abilities can be detected in the prodromal or "mild cognitive impairment (MCI)" stage of dementia.¹ Identifying the earliest symptoms of MCI is important for predicting progression to dementia and in providing a target for potential therapeutic interventions which act in the earlist stages of neurode-generative diseases such as Alzheimer disease (AD).² Current clinical diagnostic criteria for MCI include problems in performing instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) as a part of the clinical syndrome.¹ IADL

are activities beyond basic self-care that are necessary for living independently, eg, cooking.³ Subtle impairments in IADL may also be evident in the pre-clinical (ie, pre-MCI) stage of dementia^{4,5} and may be predictive of future cognitive decline.⁶ Moreover, higher-level IADL, such as driving, managing finances, and using a computer, require complex cognitive processing and therefore may be more prone to deterioration in the early course of cognitive decline.⁵

To date, IADL assessments have generally been paper-based tools which are intermittently administered in clinic settings, and which rely on the recall of past behaviour, either by the affected person or their

ABBREVIATIONS: ACE, Addenbrooke's cognitive examination; AD, Alzheimer's disease; ECog, Measurement of Everyday Cognition; IADL, Instrumental activities of daily living; MCI, Mild cognitive impairment

G. Stringer and S. Couth contributed equally to this work

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2018 The Authors. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

868

WILEY Geriatric Psychiatry

informant. Such tools are not ideally suited to detecting subtle changes in an individual's functional ability in everyday settings, over a prolonged period of time.^{7,8} The challenge, therefore, is to detect objective and meaningful functional changes in higher-level IADL as early as possible and in ecologically meaningful settings, such as in the person's own home.

Capturing information about daily personal computer use activities may provide an opportunity to assess subtle changes in functional ability in elderly people over time. While personal computer use is an IADL in its own right, it also enables the user to complete a range of other complex IADLs, such as shopping, managing finances, and communicating.⁹ The number of adults aged over 65 years using technology in the UK is increasing. Daily computer use in this age-group rose from 9% in 2006 to 45% in 2015,¹⁰ accessing the internet on a mobile phone grew from 3% in 2011 to 21% in 2016,¹¹ and shopping online increased from 16% in 2008 to 45% in 2016.¹¹ Furthermore, as competent computer use relies on intact cognitive functioning across several domains (eg, attention, working memory, and executive function), changes in patterns of computer use (ie, functional change) may be a particularly sensitive indicator of cognitive decline.¹²

Previous studies have demonstrated the feasibility of measuring computer use behaviours in older adults to distinguish between those with and without cognitive impairment. For example, it has been shown that people with MCI have reduced frequency and duration of daily computer use,¹³ and take longer to complete an online questionnaire.¹⁴ Seelye and colleagues⁷ have also demonstrated that people with MCI make significantly fewer mouse movements, take longer pauses between movements, and have a higher variability in the trajectory of mouse movements. These behaviours were significantly correlated with cognitive test scores. Vizer and Sears¹⁵ also demonstrated that keystroke speed and linguistic content is associated with cognitive impairment in older adults. In spite of these promising findings, it remains uncertain whether these individual computer use behaviours (eg, speed of use, typing abilities, and mouse operations) could be used as a composite marker of cognitive impairment in a single participant group. This is particularly important because a range of different behaviours are required to correctly operate a computer, and any one of these could be affected by cognitive decline. Another uncertainty in the field arises from the inclusion of novice or non-computer users in the participant sample of previous studies (eg, Kaye et al¹³), which may limit the interpretation of findings due to the additional cognitive burden of learning to use a computer for the purposes of the study. Finally, the relationship between functional ability reflected by personal computer use and paper-based IADL measures has yet to be explored.

The study presented here is a cross-sectional proof of principle study designed to determine (1) whether multiple computer use behaviours, displayed by a sample of experienced older computer users on commonly undertaken computer tasks, can be used to distinguish between cognitively healthy older adults and those in the early stages of cognitive decline; and (2) whether these computer use behaviours are associated with cognitive and functional ability.

Key points

- This is one of the first investigations to explore a link between combined computer use behaviours and paper-based instrumental activities of daily living.
- A profile of computer-use behaviours can be used to differentiate between older adults with cognitive impairment and cognitively healthy older adults.
- Unobtrusively capturing data about various personal computer use behaviours could in the future be used to detect subtle, yet significant changes in cognitive and functional abilities.

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Participants

Twenty participants with cognitive impairment (MCI, n = 17; mild dementia due to AD, n = 3) were recruited through the UK dementia research registry "Join Dementia Research", as well as through local memory clinics and community groups. Participants referred from memory clinics had all received a clinical diagnosis from a qualified memory specialist based on Peterson's criteria¹⁶ for MCI or NINCDS-ADRDA criteria¹⁷ for AD. Participants who self-referred to the study all reported a diagnosis of MCI or mild dementia due to AD, given by a specialist memory clinic. Specific clinical subtypes of MCI (ie, amnestic vs non-amnestic; single vs multiple domain) could not be ascertained. All participants had high functional ability, according to Katz criteria (all ≥ 5).¹⁸

Twenty-four healthy control participants who had no prior history of cognitive impairment also participated in the study and were recruited through Join Dementia Research and local community groups (see Table 1 for demographic details).

Additionally, to be included in the study, all participants were required to have the capacity to provide informed consent, were 65 years of age or older, were regular computer users (defined as using a laptop or desktop computer at least once a week), used Microsoft Windows versions 7, 8, or 10, were able to communicate verbally in English, and had no acute physical or mental problems severe enough to interfere with the conduct of the study.

Duration (in years) and current frequency (days per week) of computer use was recorded for each participant as a measure of computer use experience (Table 1).

The study was approved by the Health Research Authority— National Research Ethics Service England in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and all participants provided informed consent to participate.

2.2 | Procedure

Participants were invited to take part in a single testing session lasting approximately 2 hours conducted either in their own homes or at The University of Manchester.

TABLE 1 Demographic, computer use, cognitive, and functional variables

	Cognitively Healthy Control Participants, Mean (SD) <i>n</i> = 24	Cognitively Impaired Participants, Mean (SD) n = 20	Test Statistic	df	P value
Age (years)	71.09 (5.38)	75.60 (5.78)	-2.67	42	.011
Gender (% women)	58	30	3.532	1	.060 ^a
Years of formal education	14.42 (3.88)	12.80 (3.74)	1.40	42	.169
15+ years computer use experience	19 (79.2%)	9 (45%)			.058 ^b
Uses computer everyday	21 (87.5%)	11 (55%)			.015 ^b
Trails B	81.17 (19.95)	145.45 (73.55)	-4.26	28.41 ^d	.000
ACE-III ^c Total score	93.29 (4.05)	85.35 (6.92)	4.74	42	.000
ACE-III ^c Memory	23.96 (2.37)	20.30 (3.64)	3.86	31.51 ^d	.001
ACE-III ^c Attention	17.42 (1.02)	16.6 (2.23)	1.51	25.51 ^d	.116
ACE-III ^c Fluency	11.0 (1.84)	9.40 (2.04)	2.74	42	.009
ACE-III ^c Language	25.58 (.78)	24.50 (1.19)	3.49	31.53	.001
ACE-III ^c Visuospatial	15.33 (.91)	14.55 (1.79)	1.77	27.14	.088
ECog ^e Total score	1.40 (.38)	2.06 (.72)	-3.75	27.72 ^d	.001
ECog ^e Memory	1.74 (.52)	2.71 (.81)	-4.66	31.12 ^d	.000
ECog ^e Language score	1.45 (.46)	2.11 (.90)	-2.97	27.18 ^d	.006
ECog ^e Visual-spatial	1.24 (.37)	1.58 (.644)	-2.20	42	.003
ECog ^e : Planning	1.23 (.46)	1.92 (1.03)	-2.75	25.37 ^d	.011
ECog ^e Organization	1.20 (.37)	1.69 (.80)	-2.48	25.68 ^d	.020
ECog ^e Divided attention	1.38 (.63)	2.29 (.99)	-3.58	31.06	.001

^aChi square test.

^bMann Whitney test.

^cACE-III, Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-III.

^dEqual variances not assumed.

^eECog, Measurement of Everyday Cognitive Function.

Bonferroni corrected P value (α = .003).

2.2.1 | Cognitive and functional measures

Descriptive measures of global cognitive status were obtained using the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination (ACE)-III.¹⁹ This test assesses 5 cognitive subdomains: attention, memory, verbal fluency, language, and visuospatial abilities, which provide a cognitive score out of a maximum of 100. Given that the only performance-based measure of executive function on the ACE-III is verbal fluency, we also incuded Part B of the Trail Making Test in the test battery as a measure of visual attention and task switching abilities.²⁰

Subjective ratings of cognitive and functional capacity were obtained using the Everyday Cognition (ECog) scale.²¹ This assessment requires participants to rate their current functional abilities compared with 10 years previously. The 39-item questionnaire assesses cognitively based functional items, across 6 domains: memory, language, visuospatial abilities, planning (executive functioning), organisation (executive functioning), and divided attention (executive functioning). Scores range from 1 ("Better or no change") to 4 ("Consistently much worse"). To ensure high accuracy and detail of ECog ratings for cognitively impaired individuals, this test was completed by an informant (for 17 of the 20 participants) who knew the participant well, either as co-habitants or seeing the participant in-person at least 3 times per week.

Each group's mean total ACE-III and ECog scores and mean scores for each cognitive domain (including Trail Making Test Part B) can be seen in Table 1.

2.2.2 | Tasks of computer performance

All tasks assessing computer use performance were completed on a laptop (Lenovo Think Pad T540P) running Windows 7, 8, or 10, depending on which operating system the participant was familiar with from their own personal computer. Participants were provided with a separate keyboard and mouse if they preferred.

Participants were asked to follow a set of written instructions in order to complete 4 experimental computer tasks: (1) a basic Desktop navigation task, which included using the date and time function, use of folders, and the recycle bin; (2) a Word processing task that involved editing a Word document and writing a diary entry; (3) an email (Outlook) task that included opening, writing, sending, and deleting emails; and (4) an internet browsing (Internet Explorer) task that included performing a Google search and navigation of a webpage. Participants could follow the instructions verbatim or adopt their own methods to complete the tasks, if they preferred.

Participants initially completed a practice session that involved shorter versions of the experimental computer tasks. The practice activity was repeated until the participant was confident in completing the tasks (approximately 2 repeats).

2.2.3 | Computer use behaviour data capture

Specially developed recording software (for further details, see Gledson et al^{22} and Bull et al^{23}) captured computer use behaviours

WILEY Geriatric Psychiatry

WILEY-Geriatric Psychiatry

as a list of time-stamped events. In-line with previous research, the current study focussed on behaviours relating to mouse operations,⁷ keystrokes,¹⁵ and speed of use.¹³

Pauses were recorded as any period of inactivity greater than 10 seconds. To calculate event frequencies (eg, number of pauses per minute), computer use variables were divided by the total time to complete all 4 computer activities. Keyboard presses, and the key type and duration were recorded. Keystrokes included text-based entries whilst completing the diary entry during the Microsoft Word task (based on Vizer and Sears¹⁵), as well as all other key-presses for general computer operations. To distinguish keyboard presses relating to higher-level linguistic and semantic features from more general operations, we analysed these separately and termed these "Text" and "Operational" keystrokes, respectively. Mouse operations included information such as total mouse clicks and the time, distance, and screen areas crossed.

2.3 | Statistical analysis

Outliers for each computer use variable were removed using the nonrecursive procedure²⁴ for each group of participants. This equated to 3.5% and 4.5% of data removed for the cognitively healthy control and the cognitively impaired groups, respectively. The distribution of the data was assessed using skewness and kurtosis. For non-normally distributed variables, the data were log transformed.

Cross-sectional group comparisons of demographic details, cognitive and functional test scores, and computer use variables were undertaken using independent samples t-tests for continuous variables, Chi-square tests for categorical variables, and Mann-Whitney U tests for ordinal data. Kendall's Tau correlations were used to examine the relationship between selected computer use variables and each of the cognitive domains and total scores from the cognitive and functional paper-based tests. To determine whether age and computer use experience could account for any associations observed between ECog and ACE-III scores and selected computer use variables, separate hierarchical regression analyses were conducted for each of the computer use variables. In step one of each model, years and frequency of computer use were added to the regression. In step two, age was added. In step three, ECog and ACE-III scores were added.

The selected computer use variables and the cognitive and functional test scores were then used to determine their probability distribution with respect to their sensitivity and specificity at classifying cognitive impairment using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analyses. Predictive probability scores were calculated for the combined computer use variables and for the combined ACE-III, ECog, and Trail Making Test B scores, and then also subject to ROC curve analyses. Comparisons between ROC curves were conducted according to the method described by DeLong et al.²⁵

Analyses were performed using SPSS version 22 and MedCalc version 17.8.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Selection of candidate variables: Performance on computer tasks

Participants in the cognitively impaired group differed significantly from those in the control group on several computer use behaviours (Table 2).

3.1.1 | Overall performance time variables

Compared with participants in the control group, cognitively impaired participants took longer to complete the computer tasks, paused more frequently overall and per minute, and had a longer total pause length per minute. By contrast, the mean duration for each pause did not differ significantly between the 2 groups. Therefore, the number of

TABLE 2 Comparison of selected computer use behaviours in cognitively healthy control participants compared with those with cognitive impairment, using independent samples t-tests

		Cognitvely Healthy Control Participants		y Control	Cognitively Impaired Participants					
		N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	t Value	df	P Value
Overall performance time	Total duration (min) Total number of pauses Number of pauses per min ^a Pause length per pause Pause length per min	24 24 24 23 23	18.62 20.00 1.04 17.53 18.81	4.70 8.24 .24 2.95 6.11	19 19 19 19 19	27.02 35.68 1.35 19.17 27.16	7.33 13.55 .25 2.98 6.41	-4.56 -4.69 -4.08 -1.78 -4.32	41 41 40 40	<.001 <.001 <.001 .082 <.001
Keyboard	Total "text" keystrokes "Text" keystrokes per min ^a Total "operational" keystrokes "Operational" keystrokes per min	23 23 23 23	384.48 128.48 122.26 8.30	128.78 35.03 20.98 2.14	19 19 18 18	203.05 63.65 133.11 5.43	122.93 32.64 31.31 1.86	4.64 6.16 -1.33 4.50	40 40 39 39	<.001 <.001 .192 <.001
Mouse	Total mouse clicks ^a Mouse clicks per min Inter-click interval (secs) Total pixel count Pixels per sec per inter-click interval	22 23 23 24 23	103.41 5.95 10.7 21.5 k 20.1	21.56 1.52 2.49 8.77 k 5.78	20 19 20 17 20	174.65 5.89 11.3 22.2 k 15.2	79.34 2.41 4.43 9.32 k 6.39	-3.88 .095 595 253 2.60	21.55 ^b 29.21 ^b 29.0 ^b 39 41	.001 .925 .557 .802 .013

^aVariables selected for further analysis.

^bEqual variances not assumed.

Bonferroni corrected P value (α = .004).

Y - Geriatric Psychiatry

pauses per minute was chosen as the focus of further analysis based on the assumption that the greater total pause length per minute for the cognitively impaired group is due to them taking more pauses (of similar duration to control participants) per minute.

3.1.2 | Keyboard-use variables

Cognitively impaired participants made fewer "Text" keystrokes in total and per minute than the cognitively healthy participants. Because all participants took approximately the same length of time to complete the task involving "Text" keystrokes (approximately 3 minutes per participant), so total Text keystrokes and Text keystrokes per minute are a similar measure. Therefore, we focussed our analysis on Text Keystrokes per minute (ie, speed of typing). The cognitively impaired group did not differ significantly from the control group on total "Operational" keystrokes, but produced significantly fewer "Operational" keystrokes per minute. This difference was due to the different speeds the participants took to complete the tasks overall (see Section 3.1.1), and thus no further analysis was conducted on "Operational" keystrokes.

3.1.3 | Mouse-based variables

The cognitively impaired group executed a significantly greater number of mouse clicks compared with the control group, but there were no group differences on the number of clicks per minute. We selected total mouse clicks for further analysis based on the assumption that this indicated cognitively impaired older adults made more mistakes and then had to perform more clicks to correct these errors and therefore also contributing to the longer total duration to complete the tasks (see Section 3.1.1). The time between clicks (ie, inter-click interval) did not differ between the 2 groups. Mouse movements did not differ between the groups, as ascertained by the total number of pixels (ie, screen area covered) and the screen pixels within inter-click intervals (ie, speed of mouse movements).

3.2 | Correlations between computer use variables

Separate Kendall's Tau correlation analyses were conducted between the computer use variables selected from the group comparisons and each of the cognitive (ACE-III and Trail Making Test Part B; Table 3) and functional (ECog; Table 4) measures. A number of significant

TABLE 3 Correlation matrix for Trails B, ACE-III, and computer use variables

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Trails B	-									
2. ACE Total	425 ^c	-								
3. ACE Attention	257 ^a	.447 ^c	-							
4. ACE Memory	234 ^a	.694 ^c	.319 ^a	-						
5. ACE Fluency	370 ^b	.481 ^c	.118	.258 ^a	-					
6. ACE Language	326 ^b	.559 ^c	.236	.522 ^c	.223	-				
7. ACE Visuospatial	354 ^b	.390 ^b	.416 ^b	.167	.149	.168	-			
8. Number of pauses per min	.331 ^b	376 ^c	110	362 ^b	298 ^b	248 ^a	154	-		
9. "Text" keystrokes per min	474 ^c	.519 ^c	.153	.384 ^c	.428 ^c	.271 ^a	.310 ^a	358 ^c	-	
10. Total mouse clicks	.211	213	088	251 ^a	148	198	024	.070	296 ^b	-

^aP < .05.

^bP < .01.

^cP < .001.

Measure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10			
1. ECog Total	-												
2. ECog Memory	.791 ^c	-											
3. ECog Language	.692 ^c	.517 ^c	-										
4. ECog Visual-spatial	.722 ^c	.624 ^c	.612 ^c	-									
5. ECog Planning	.671 ^c	.586 ^c	.520 ^c	.640 ^c	-								
6. ECog Organization	.582 ^c	.476 ^c	.444 ^c	.512 ^c	.540 ^c	-							
7. ECog Divided attention	.673 ^c	.599°	.499°	.542°	.594 ^c	.522 ^c	-						
8. Number of pauses per min	.175	.269 ^a	.095	.094	.072	.184	.097	-					
9. "Text" keystrokes per min	134	251 ^a	051	121	081	120	128	358 ^e	-				
10. Total mouse clicks	.317 ^b	.360 ^c	.179	.158	.202	.208	.347 ^b	.070	296 ^b	-			

TABLE 4 Correlation matrix for ECog and computer use variables

 $^{a}P < .05.$

^bP < .01.

^cP < .001.

WILEY Geriatric Psychiatry

correlations were found (all P < .05), but only the Memory domain of the ACE-III and the ECog tests were significantly correlated with all 3 of the computer use variables.

Given that only the Memory domains were significantly correlated with all 3 computer use behaviours, we only included this cognitive domain within the regression models (Table 5). For mouse clicks and pauses per minute, neither age nor computer use experience could account for performance on these measures (all P > .05); however, the addition of ACE-III and ECog Memory scores led to a significant increase in the explained variance (R^2 change values both P < .05), and this model showed significant predictions of number of pauses per minute and number of mouse clicks (both P < .05). For "Text" keystrokes per minute, computer use experience was a significant predictor of performance accounting for 36.8% of the variability, which increased significantly with the addition of age (R^2) change = .101, P = .011) and increased significantly again with the addition of ACE-III and ECog Memory scores (R^2 change = .103, P = .020). Therefore, ACE-III and ECog Memory scores are significant predictors of keyboard typing speed ($R^2 = .260, P = .003$), but age and computer use experience may also account for variability in this behaviour.

3.3 | Accounting for within-group differences

To account for the possibility that the between-group differences were driven by those with mild dementia due to AD, all statistical analyses were repeated comparing only MCI participants to control participants. The results were unaffected, with the exception of ACE-III Memory score, which was no longer significantly related to number of mouse clicks.

3.4 | Receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) analysis

The ROC analyses (Table 6) for the computer use variables all showed "good" (AUC = .8–.9) or "excellent" (AUC = .9–1.0) correct classification of cognitive impairment. In comparison, ACE-III and ECog total scores and memory domain scores, as well Trail Making Test B scores, all showed "moderate" (AUC = .7–.8) or "good" correct classification of cognitive impairment. Sensitivity and specificity values for each measure, as determined from the Youden index (*J*), are included in Table 6. When all the selected computer use variables were combined into a single predictive probability and compared with combined ACE-III Memory score, ECog Memory score, and Trail Making Test B predictive probability, correct classification was significantly higher for the combined computer use variables (z = 2.002, P = .045).

4 | DISCUSSION

In this proof of principle study, we examined whether computer use behaviours recorded from semi-structured tasks could discriminate

		R			Change Statistics			
Dependent Variable	Model	Square	F	Р	R Square Change	F Change	Р	
Number of pauses per min	Step 1 Step 2 Step 3	0.045 0.152 0.356	0.948 2.321 4.089	0.396 0.090 0.005*	0.106 0.204	- 4.885 5.870	- 0.033* 0.006*	
"Text" keystrokes per min	Step 1 Step 2 Step 3	0.368 0.469 0.572	11.430 11.179 9.629	<.001* <.001* <.001*	0.101 0.103	- 7.233 4.348	- .011* .020*	
Total mouse clicks	Step 1 Step 2 Step 3	0.124 0.130 0.319	2.767 1.901 3.379	0.075 0.146 0.013*	0.006 0.189	- 0.271 4.997	- 0.605 .012*	

TABLE 5 Hierarchical linear regression analysis to account for age and computer use experience in the variability of computer use performance

Step 1, years and frequency of computer use; Step 2, + age; Step 3, + ACE-III and ECog Memory scores. *P < .05

TABLE 6 ROC curve analyses

	Area under the ROC Curve			Youden Index				
Variable	AUC	SE	Z	Р	J	Cut-off criteria	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)
Number of pauses per min	0.80	0.07	4.47	<.001	0.509	>1.09	84.21	66.67
"Text" keystrokes per min	0.91	0.04	9.98	<.001	0.677	≤104	89.47	78.26
Total mouse clicks	0.80	0.08	3.86	<.001	0.550	>146	55.00	100.00
ACE-III Total	0.85	0.06	5.62	<.001	0.675	≤89	80.00	87.50
ACE-III Memory	0.80	0.07	4.47	<.001	0.558	≤23	85.00	70.83
ECog Total	0.82	0.07	4.74	<.001	0.575	>1.26	95.00	62.50
ECog Memory	0.84	0.06	5.26	<.001	0.600	>2.00	85.00	75.00
Trail making test B (seconds)	0.83	0.06	5.35	<.001	0.525	>82	90.00	62.50
Computer use behaviours combined	0.98	0.02	26.13	<.001	0.889	>.72	88.89	100.00
Memory (ACE-III and ECog) and trails B combined	0.92	0.04	9.89	<.001	0.717	>.41	80.00	91.67

between people with cognitive impairment and cognitively healthy control participants, and whether measures of functional ability and cognition were related to these computer use behaviours. Consistent with previous findings, the 2 groups performed differently on computer activity measures of time,¹³ keystrokes,¹⁵ and mouse operations.⁷ In contrast to previous studies which have focused on individual examples of computer use behaviour, here we have demonstrated that a *combined* profile of behaviours has potential to provide information about cognitive and functional decline in the early stages of neurodegeneration. We have also demonstrated the potential influence that age and computer use experience can have on computer use abilities and therefore need to be accounted for when determining how cognitive ability affects computer use performance.

Decline in performance of computer-based activities is likely to vary among individuals; therefore, capturing a range of behaviours will significantly increase the likelihood of early detection. Nonetheless, when capturing data reflecting multiple behaviours, it is imperative that the measures are highly sensitive and specific to acknowledged thresholds for recognised clinical syndromes such as MCI or dementia, thus guarding against a high false positive rate. In the current study, all of the computer use measures showed "good" or "excellent" correct classification of cognitive impairment with high sensitivity and specificity. Indeed, when these measures were combined into a single predictive probability measure, they showed a significantly greater correct classification of cognitive impairment compared with a combination of paper-based measures typically used in a clinical setting. Additionally, certain participants within the cognitively impaired group scored within the normal range on the ACE-III (>88/ 100), which could explain why the specificity and sensitivity of ACE-III scores were lower than reported previously (ie, a cut-off score of <88 giving 100% sensitivity and 96% specificity¹⁹). This could be due to numerous reasons, including a practice effect from completing the test previously in clinic, the home setting being a less stressful environment compared with a clinic setting, and/or the day-to-day variability in cognitive functioning as a result of changes in mood or fatigue. Therefore, this emphasises the utility of these computer-based monitoring measures to provide a potentially sensitive identification of cognitive impairment in a home-based setting in the first instance, which could then be used to supplement follow-up clinic-based measures to ascertain the degree and type of impairment.

One limitation of this exploratory study is that sub-type of MCI (ie, amnestic vs non-amnsetic) of each participant was unknown. We acknowledge, therefore, that there may have been some variability in cognitive profiles between participants. From the ACE-III and ECog results, there are clear group differences on numerous cognitive domains, but only memory scores were significantly correlated with all 3 of the selected computer use variables. It remains unclear why episodic and semantic memory abilities (which are included in the ACE-III and ECog tests) may be related to such functional tasks as keyboard typing speed. It could be that the majority of participants were of amnestic MCI type, and so memory was the strongest measure of overall cognitive function (as assessed by the ACE-III). Similarly, because the ECog was completed mostly by participants' informants, perhaps memory decline is the most noticeable impairment compared with other cognitive domains and is therefore rated as the most impaired domain. To address this issue, it would be beneficial to use a cognitive test battery which covers a broader range of cognitive domains, such as procedural memory and processing speed. Nevertheless, it remains uncertain which computer use behaviour changes (eg, slower typing speed) are most likely to be associated with declines in particular cognitive functions (eg, divided attention, language production, procedural memory, etc.). We have recently attempted to address this issue by convening a group of experts in clinical and cognitive neuroscience to determine which cognitive domains may be related to a range of different computer use behaviours, and how decline in specific domains might affect performance on different computer use activities (see Couth et al²⁶).

WILEY Geriatric Psychiatry

5 | CONCLUSION

This proof of principle study has demonstrated that a computer-based monitoring system can differentiate between cognitive impairment (ie, MCI and early AD) and healthy cognitive ageing using semi-directed computer tasks and several objective measures of computer use performance. The next phase will be to determine whether we can passively detect early changes over time in these same computer use behaviours, using unobtrusive recording of the behaviours through software embedded in participants' personal computers. The ultimate aim is to ascertain whether behaviour changes associated with cognitive and functional decline could provide a sensitive and efficient way to detect very early signs of dementia.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to the participants who gave up their time to take part in this study, the Clinical Research Network (CRN) who assisted with data collection, and Dommy Asfiandy and Thamer Omer Faraj Ba-Dhfari for their work on the recording software.

This work was funded by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) under Grant EP/K015796/1.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

ORCID

G. Stringer (1) http://orcid.org/0000-0001-9325-3362

REFERENCES

- Albert M, Dekosky S, Dickson D, et al. The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association workgroup. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2011;7:270-279.
- Zoller AS, Gaal IM, Royer CA, et al. SIST-M-IR activities of daily living items that best discriminate clinically normal elderly from those with mild cognitive impairment. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* 2014;11(8):785-791.
- Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Gerontologist*. 1969;9(3): 179-186.
- Marson D, Martin R, Wadley V, Griffith H, Snyder S, Goode P. Clinical interview assessment of financial capacity in older adults with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57: 806-814.

-WILEY- Geriatric Psychiatry

874

- Jekel K, Damian M, Wattmo C, et al. Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: a systematic review. *Alz Res Therapy*. 2015;7(1):17
- 6. Gold DA. An examination of instrumental activities of daily living assessment in older adults and mild cognitive impairment. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*. 2012;34(1):11-34.
- 7. Seelye A, Hagler S, Mattek N, et al. Computer mouse movement patterns: a potential marker of mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimers Dement (Amst).* 2015;1(4):472-480.
- Chaytor N, Schmitter-Edgecombe M. The ecological validity of neuropsychological tests: a review of the literature on everyday cognitive skills. *Neuropsychol Rev.* 2003;13(4):181-197.
- 9. Melrose RJ, Brommelhoff JA, Narvaez T, et al. The use of information and communication technology when completing instrumental activities of daily living. *Comp Human Behav*. 2016;63:471-479.
- Office for National Statistics. Internet access—households and individuals 2015. London 2015.
- Office for National Statistics. Internet access—households and individuals: 2016. London 2016.
- Lyons BE, Austin D, Seelye A, et al. Pervasive computing technologies to continuously assess Alzheimer's disease progression and intervention efficacy. Front Aging Neurosci. 2015;7:102
- Kaye J, Mattek N, Dodge HH, et al. Unobtrusive measurement of daily computer use to detect mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2014;10(1):10-17.
- Seelye A, Mattek N, Howieson DB, et al. Embedded online questionnaire measures are sensitive to identifying mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. 2016;30(2):152-159.
- Vizer LM, Sears A. Classifying text-based computer interactions for health monitoring. *IEEE Pervasive Comput.* 2015;14(4):64-71.
- Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med. 2004;256(3):183-194.
- McKhann G, Knopman D, Chertkow H, et al. The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging and the Alzheimer's Association workgroup. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2011;7:263-269.
- Katz S. Assessing self-maintenance: activities of daily living, mobility, and instrumental activities of daily living. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1983; 31(12):721-727.

- Hsieh S, Schubert S, Hoon C, Mioshi E, Hodges JR. Validation of the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination III in frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2013;36(3–4): 242-250.
- Reitan RM, Wolfson D. The Halstead-Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery: Theory and Interpretattion. Tucson, Arizona: Neuropsychology Press; 1985.
- 21. Farias S, Mungas D, Reed B, et al. The measurement of everyday cognition (ECog): scale development and psychometric properties. *Neuropsychology*. 2008;22(4):531-544.
- Gledson A, Asfiandy D, Mellor J, et al. Combining mouse and keyboard events with higher level desktop actions to detect mild cognitive impairment. Paper presented at: 2016 IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics (ICHI); 4–7 Oct. 2016, 2016.
- 23. Bull C, Asfiandy D, Gledson A, et al. Combining data mining and text mining for detection of early stage dementia: the SAMS framework. Resources and Processing of linguistic and extra-linguistic Data from people with various forms of cognitive/psychiatric impairments (RaPID '16) workshop: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC '16). European Language Resources Association (ELRA); 2016.
- Selst MV, Jolicoeur P. A solution to the effect of sample size on outlier elimination. *Quart J Experiment Psycho Sec A*. 1994;47(3): 631-650.
- DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. *Biometrics*. 1988;44(3):837-845.
- Couth S, Stringer G, Leroi I, et al. Which computer-use behaviours are most indicative of cognitive decline? Insights from an expert reference group. *Health Informatics J.* 2017; 1460458217739342

How to cite this article: Stringer G, Couth S, Brown LJE, et al. Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2018;33:867–874. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4863

CHAPTER 6 (Study D): Passive assessment of computer use behaviours in the home can indicate early cognitive impairment: An exploratory longitudinal study.

Manuscript submitted for publication as:

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Heuvelman, H., Bull, C., Gledson, A., A., Keane, Rayson, P., Sawyer, P., Sutcliffe, J., Zeng, X., Montaldi, D., Brown, L. J. E., & Leroi, I. (2020) 'Passive assessment of computer use behaviours in the home can indicate early cognitive impairment: An exploratory longitudinal study'.

Authors contributions:

Gemma Stringer conceived the original idea for the paper, wrote the clinical protocol and ethics application, created the study documents, obtained ethical approval, recruited study participants, collected the data, carried out the statistical analysis and interpreted the data. Gemma Stringer wrote the first draft of the manuscript and completed all revisions following review by the co-authors. Professor Iracema Leroi, Professor Peter Sawyer, Professor Alistair Sutcliffe, Professor John Keane, Professor Xiaojun Zeng and Dr Paul Payson designed and obtained funding for the original study. Dr Laura Brown was an informal advisor for the original study in her position as the candidate's supervisor. Dr Sam Couth was involved in obtaining ethical approval, recruited study participants and collected data. Dr Laura Brown, Professor Iracema Leroi and Professor Daniela Montaldi provided methodological guidance, statistical guidance and supervisory input. All authors critically reviewed and agreed on the submitted manuscript for publication.

The *submitted version* of the manuscript is presented.

Passive assessment of computer use behaviours in the home can indicate early cognitive impairment: An exploratory longitudinal study.

Gemma Stringer^a, Samuel Couth^b, Hein Heuvelman^c, Christopher Bull^d, Ann Gledson^e, John Keane^f, Paul Rayson^d, Alistair Sutcliffe^d, Pete Sawyer^g, Xiao-Jun Zeng^e, Daniela Montaldi^a, Laura J. E. Brown^{h*} and Iracema Leroi^{i*}

^aDivision of Neuroscience and Experimental Psychology, School of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, M13 9PL, UK

^bDivision of Human Communication, Development & Hearing, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, M13 9PL, UK

^cLeeds Institute of Health Sciences, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK, LS2 9JT

^dComputing and Communications, Lancaster University, Bailrigg, Lancaster, UK, LA1 4YW

^eResearch IT, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK, M13 9PL

^fDepartment of Computer Science, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK, M13 9PL

^gComputer Science, School of Engineering and Applied Science, Aston University, Birmingham, B4 7ET

^hDivision of Psychology and Mental Health, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, Manchester, M13 9PL, UK

ⁱSchool of Medicine, Global Brain Health Institute, Trinity College Dublin, Lloyd Building, Dublin 2, Ireland. ORCID ID: 0000-0003-1822-3643

Short title: Assessment of computer use behaviours to indicate early cognitive impairment

Corresponding author: Gemma Stringer Institute for Health Policy and Organisation Alliance Manchester Business School The University of Manchester Manchester, M15 6PB, UK Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk

¹Laura J. E. Brown and Iracema Leroi should be considered joint senior author

Number of tables: 4 Number of figures: 2 Word count: 6140 (including abstract) Keywords: dementia, mild cognitive impairment, cognitive function, instrumental activities of daily living, computer use.

Abstract

Introduction: Computer use behaviours have the potential to provide useful information about an individual's daily cognitive and functional abilities. However, little research has been based on evaluations of unaided and undirected personal computer use in the home. Here, we explored whether patterns of time spent on the computer, mouse clicks, and keystroke speed obtained from continuously-assessed routine home computer-use i) could discriminate between individuals with subjective cognitive decline (SCD) and individuals with mild cognitive impairment (MCI); ii) were associated cross-sectionally with cognitive or functional ability; and iii) changed over time.

Method: Thirty-two participants with SCD (n=18) or MCI (n=14) (mean age = 72.53 years; female n = 19) participated in a longitudinal study (mean duration = 225 days, SD = 31.22), in which their in-home computer use behaviour was continuously and unobtrusively recorded using custom-made software. Cognitive and functional assessments were completed at three time points: 1) baseline: 2) mid-point (4.5 months); and 3) end point (month 7 to 9).

Results: Individuals with MCI had significantly slower keystroke speed (95% CI .55, 1.22) and spent less time on the computer (95% CI 5.41, 86.20) than individuals with SCD. More time spent on the computer was associated with better task switching abilities (95% CI .008, .076). Faster keystroke speed was associated with better visual attention (95% CI .040, .701), recall (95% CI .298, .788), recognition (95% CI .282, .793), task inhibition (95% CI .009, .425) and task switching (95% CI .096, .592). There was a decline in recall scores (95% CI - .110, -.028) over the study period. No change in computer use behaviour was detected.

Conclusion: Passive monitoring of keystroke speed shows potential as an indicator of a person's cognitive status, and time spent on the computer and keystroke speed can differentiate between groups with SCD and MCI.

Introduction

Subtle changes in instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) may be a marker of the development of a neurodegenerative condition leading to dementia. Difficulty with IADL, such as managing finances and taking medication, may manifest in the prodromal and preclinical stages [1-4] and can discriminate between cognitively healthy individuals and individuals with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) [5, 6], as well as being able to predict whether a healthy person will go on to develop MCI [7]. Furthermore, difficulties in performing IADL may occur many years before the onset of the clinical syndrome of dementia [8], and may emerge in the subjective cognitive decline (SCD) stage [9]. However, clinic-based assessments of IADL can only provide episodic information; are highly subjective; and lack temporal precision, intraindividual specificity and ecological validity [10, 11].

Advances in ubiquitous computer software and "smart home" technologies have made it possible to unobtrusively monitor IADL, providing continuous real-time information about a person's cognitive and functional ability from within their own homes [12, 13]. These technologies range from sensors distributed around the home [14-16]; wearable sensors [17, 18]; and software for monitoring computer activities [11, 19-21]. Being able to monitor daily activity in a home-based setting has the potential to provide information about subtle within-person change over time, even at the pre-symptomatic stage, and may provide valuable information to support clinic-based assessments. One advantage of this new assessment paradigm is that it can be embedded into commonly used devices, and therefore requires minimal or no extra effort or action on the part of the individual outside of their normal routine. It also offers increased opportunity for older adults to self-monitor and self-manage, which has the potential to increase feelings of self-efficacy [22] and foster independence [23].

Personal computer use is increasingly common in older adults. For instance, in the UK, internet use in retired older adults aged 65 to 74 has increased from 52% in 2011 to 83.2% in 2019 [24]. Similarly, in the US, internet use in adults aged 65 and over increased from 46% in 2011 to 73% in 2019 [25]. As such, monitoring older adults' personal computer use is a particularly viable option for continuously and unobtrusively monitoring functional and

cognitive ability. Previous studies have shown that three main aspects of computer use differ between individuals with cognitive impairment and cognitively healthy controls: time spent on the computer [20, 21], frequency, variability and efficiency of mouse movements [19], and keystroke speed [26]. Previous studies have primarily involved participants who were novice computer users, and therefore required a period of computer training prior to the start of the study. As individuals with cognitive impairment may have difficulty retaining new training information over time, this makes it difficult to evaluate whether any observed changes in computer use are due to a decline in existing skills or difficulty in acquiring new ones. To address this potential issue, we have recently tested a cohort of experienced computer users on a series of directed computer tasks [27]. In this study, computer use behaviours were recorded using custom-made software developed by the SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management) technical team (for further details of SAMS software see [28, 29]). We demonstrated that measuring performance on a specific set of computer use behaviours (including pauses, mouse clicks and typing) could discriminate between individuals with cognitive impairment and cognitively healthy controls, and that these behaviours were associated with performance on cognitive and functional assessments, in particular, those related to memory. What remains to be explored is the predictive utility of non-directed computer tasks, as well as longitudinal change in computer use behaviours and whether this corresponds to changes in cognitive and functional ability at both the group and individual level.

In the present study, we evaluated the potential of using continuously recorded home computer-use as a marker of the level of, or change in, cognitive and functional ability. There were three aims: 1) to investigate whether passive computer use behaviour could differentiate between individuals with MCI and individuals with SCD; 2) to examine cross-sectional associations between passive computer use behaviour and cognitive and functional test scores; 3) to determine whether any change over time in passive computer use was associated with change in cognitive and functional test scores.

Materials and Methods

Study design

This was an exploratory longitudinal study of in-home computer use behaviours using custom-made monitoring technologies. Participants were recruited to the study on a rolling basis over a period of 2 months. The length of time participants were in the study ranged from 7 to 9 months (mean = 31.94 weeks, SD = 4.47). Participants completed a battery of cognitive and functional assessments at three testing time points: 1) baseline: 2) mid-point (4.5 months); and 3) end point (month 7 to 9). Cognitive and functional assessments, combined with continuous recording of specific computer activities for the entire study period, was completed in participants' own homes.

Participants

Thirty-two participants with subjective cognitive impairment (n=18) or mild cognitive impairment (n=14) (age range = 65 to 84 years) participated in the study (Table 1).

	All participants (MCI and SCI: N=32)	MCI participants (n=14)	SCD participants (n=18)
Mean (SD) age in years	72.53 (4.29)	74.34 (4.76)	71.13 (3.39)
No. (%) of females	19 (59.38)	6 (42.86)	13 (72.22)
Mean (SD) years of formal education	13.08 (3.35)	12.86 (3.21)	13.44 (3.52)
Modal years of computer use	15 years and over	15 years and over	15 years and over
Mean (SD) Geriatric Depression scale total score	2.09 (1.94)	2.39 (2.09)	1.71 (1.73)
Mean (SD) Starkstein Apathy scale total score	30.94 (4.54)	32.64 (4.43)	29.61 (4.29)

Table 1. Demographic, cognitive and functional variables at baseline

Data are presented as mean (SD), mode or number (%). †ACE III = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-III (ACE III); ‡ECog = Measurement of Everyday Cognitive Function.

Participants were recruited through the UK dementia research registry 'Join Dementia Research' (a national web-based service that allows individuals to register their interest in participating in dementia research and be matched to suitable studies), as well as memory clinics and local community groups in the Greater Manchester area. Participants who had taken part in a previous study on assessing computer use behaviour in controlled settings [27] were also invited to take part. Participants were eligible to take part in the study if they: had the capacity to consent; were 65 years of age or older; were regular computer users (defined as using a laptop or desktop computer at least once a week); owned a personal computer or laptop that used Microsoft Windows versions 7, 8 or 10; had a home internet connection; and were able to communicate verbally in English.

Participants with MCI referred from memory clinics had all received a clinical diagnosis from a qualified memory specialist based on Peterson's criteria for MCI [30]. Participants who self-referred to the study all reported a diagnosis of MCI given by a specialist memory clinic. Specific clinical subtypes of MCI (i.e. amnestic vs non-amnestic; single vs multiple domain) were not ascertained. SCD participants were identified if they indicated on the ECog [31] that they were "concerned they have a memory or other thinking problem" and their total score was greater than 1.43. This cut-off score corresponds to the upper 95% confidence interval of the mean total ECog scores from a sample of healthy control participants [27], who indicated that they were not "concerned they have a memory or other thinking problem".

The study was approved by the Health Research Authority - National Research Ethics Service England in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and all participants provided written informed consent to participate.

Cognitive and functional measures

Where possible, different versions of tests containing visual and verbal memory elements (i.e. Addenbrooke's Cognitive Evaluation (ACE) III, Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test (FCSRT) and the Doors and People Test) were used at each time point to counteract practice effects. Where different versions were not available, the research team produced its own adapted versions i.e. different people and shapes used in the Doors and People Recall test. All cognitive and functional scores were positively coded for ease of interpretation, with a higher score indicating better cognition or function.

Global functional status

Descriptive measures of global cognitive status were obtained using the ACE III [32]: a concise neuropsychological assessment of cognitive functions commonly used in the UK with validated cut-off scores for MCI and dementia. The test includes five cognitive subdomains: attention, memory, verbal fluency, language and visuospatial abilities, which provide a cognitive score out of a maximum of 100 (a higher score indicates better cognitive function).

Functional ability

Subjective ratings of cognitive and functional capacity were obtained using the self and informant versions of the ECog [31]. This assessment requires informants or the participant to rate the current functional abilities of the participant compared to 10 years previously. The 39-item questionnaire assesses cognitively based functional items across six neurological domains: memory, language, visuospatial abilities, planning, organisation and divided attention. Scores range from 1 ("Better or no change") to 4 ("Consistently much worse"). The informant version was used for the 27 of the 31 participants who had an informant (i.e. someone who knew the participant well, either as co-habitants or seeing the participant in-person at least three times per week). The self-report version was used for the other five participants who did not have an informant.

Processing speed

Trails Making Test A (TMT A) [33], simple reaction time (SRT) and four-choice reaction time (CRT) [34] were used to assess cognitive processing speed. Participants completing TMT A are required to draw lines to connect circled numbers in a numerical sequence (i.e., 1-2-3, etc.) as rapidly as possible. Simple reaction time (SRT) and four-choice reaction time (CRT) means and standard deviations were measured for each participant on the Deary-Liewald reaction time task [34]. The SRT involved eight practice trials and twenty test trials. The CRT involved eight practice trials and twenty test trials.

Episodic memory

Episodic memory was measured using the FCSRT [35]. The FCSRT begins with a study phase in which subjects are asked to search a card containing four pictures (e.g., grapes) for an item that goes with a unique category cue (e.g., fruit). After all four items are identified, immediate cued recall of just those four items is tested, providing retrieval practice while the items are still in working memory. The search is performed again for items not retrieved by cued recall. The search procedure is continued for the next group of four items until all 16 items have been identified and retrieved in immediate recall. The study procedure is followed by three trials of recall, each consisting of free recall, followed by cued recall for items not retrieved by free recall, for a maximum score of 48 (a higher score indicates better performance). Items not retrieved by cued recall are presented again. Each separate trial is followed by 20 seconds of interference. The FCRST produces three scores: free recall, total recall and cue efficiency. Free recall (the cumulative sum of free recall from the three trials; range 0-48) was evaluated for the current analysis because it has been shown to be more sensitive to dementia than the other two measures [36].

Recall and recognition

The Doors and People Test was administered to assess verbal and visual recall and recognition [37]. The subtests were administered in the following order: verbal recall (people subtest); visual recall (shapes subtest); verbal recognition (names subtest); visual recognition (doors subtest). Both recognition memory tasks adopt a multiple-alternative forced-choice design. A higher score indicates better performance. New stimuli were produced for the recall tasks at time points two and three: new pictures and names for the people subtest and new shapes for the shapes subtest. Total age-scaled recall score, total age-scaled recognition score and overall forgetting score (verbal age scaled forgetting score) were assessed for the current analysis.

Executive function

Executive function was captured using the Trails Making Test B (TMT B) and Digit Span Backwards (DSB) test [33]. Participants completing TMT B are required to draw lines to connect circled numbers and letters in an alternating numeric and alphabetic sequence (i.e., 1-A-2-B, etc.) as rapidly as possible.

Participants completing DSB are asked to report digit sequences backwards, beginning with a length of two digits up to eight digits, with two trials at each increasing list length. The test is discontinued after a score of 0 on both trials of any item.

Executive function was also captured using the Color-Word Interference Test (CWIT)[38]; a recently developed modification of the Stroop test [39] that includes four conditions (colour naming, word reading, inhibition and task switching). Completion time (seconds) for each condition was used to calculate an interference and task switching score (for details on scoring the Stroop test see [40]).

Depression and apathy

Baseline measures of depression and apathy were captured using the Geriatric Depression Scale [short form] (GDS) [41] and the Starkstein Apathy Scale [42]. A higher score on the GDS indicates a greater level of depression. Participants scoring more than 5 were signposted to their GP but not excluded from the study. A higher score on the SAS indicates a greater level of apathy.

Computer use behaviours

SAMS system architecture

The SAMS recording software captures computer-use activities as a list of time-stamped events using recording software specifically developed by the project's software development team. The SAMS desktop logger records all computer activities including mouse clicks and keystrokes. All alpha numeric keystrokes typed in secure browsers such as banking or email passwords are suppressed, but keystroke count and timestamp are captured. All computer use data captured by SAMS is immediately encrypted. The software and user interface was developed with input from clinical domain experts and potential end-users, including study participants from initial pilot studies.

SAMS installation and setup

All participants had the SAMS software installed on their home computer. If the computer was used by others in the household, either separate user accounts were set up for each user, or an identity checker was installed which asked the user to respond to an on-screen

prompt asking if they were the participant, so that data relating to the participants' behaviour could be distinguished from others. This pop-up would occur following a 10minute period of computer inactivity, with the participant given the option to extend the time between pop-ups to up to 4 hours.

Following the SAMS software set-up, a short training session was undertaken to introduce the participant to the software. It was explained that the SAMS software would always run in the background of the computer unless they paused it and a link to the software was available on the desktop and in the windows notification tray (shown in Fig. 1. a and b). If the participant wished to work privately, they could click on the software icon link and a pop-up window would allow them to pause and resume monitoring (shown in Fig. 1. c).



Fig. 1. Examples of SAMS software visible to participants on their computers. a. Example screen showing the SAMS icon on the desktop and in the Windows notification tray. b. Enlarged notification tray icons, the top image is the icon when SAMS is paused (top) and the bottom image is the icon when SAMS is monitoring. c. The popups that appear when the SAMS icon is pressed, the option to pause (left) when SAMS is monitoring and the option to resume when SAMS is paused (right).

The participants were oriented to the technical helpline procedures, which they could call if there was a problem with their computer related to the SAMS software. All participants received a monthly check-up phone call to discuss any computer issues and to report any days the computer was 'inaccessible' (i.e. planned holiday, no access to computer or computer not working).

Computer use variables

Although the SAMS recording software is capable of capturing a variety of computer-use behaviours, the current study focussed on mouse clicks, keystroke speed, and computer use duration, all of which have been previously shown to be associated with cognitive ability (Kaye, 2014; Seelye, 2015; Vizer and Sears, 2015; Stringer, 2018).

The data collected by the SAMS software on day one were not included in the analysis because this included activity from the SAMS technical team when installing the software.

Computer use duration was recorded across each computer use 'session': defined as a period of activity on the computer (i.e. mouse moves, clicks, and keystrokes) with a pause of no longer than 15 minutes. Daily computer use was calculated as the sum of the duration of all 'sessions' per day. The pattern of daily computer use was analysed in three ways: 1) for every single day in the study, irrespective of whether the computer was accessible or used; 2) only the days that participants reported that the computer was accessible (i.e. not on holiday), irrespective of whether the computer was used or not; and 3) only the days when the computer was accessible and used.

For the longitudinal analysis of change in computer use over time and the cross-sectional analysis of differences between individuals with MCI and SCD, daily computer use was analysed for every day in the study (method 1), and every day in the study when the computer was accessible, irrespective of use (method 2). The pattern of results was broadly similar for both analysis methods (see supplementary tables 1 and 3). As all the effects were in the same direction and all patterns of significance were the same, for simplicity, we present computer use data from all days where the participant was in the study, including days when the computer was not accessible or used (method 1). This measure represents the most feasible, least labour intensive and most natural form of the data as it does not require additional information from the participants about when the computer was inaccessible. Additionally, this measure is not subject to bias as it does not require participants to report information that relies on memory and executive functioning.

The cross-sectional analysis of associations between computer use behaviours and cognitive and functional test scores uses computer use variables measured over temporal bins

corresponding to the dates of the cognitive tests for each participant (see page 15 for details of temporal bins). To account for the inconsistent and varied daily computer use across these shorter temporal bin periods, this analysis focused on daily computer use for every day that the computer was accessible (method 2) and every day that the computer was accessible and used (method 3), within these temporal bins. The pattern of results was broadly similar, with all associations in the same direction (see supplementary table 2). For simplicity, we present computer use data based on days of actual computer use (method 3), since the data is less skewed by days when there were 0 minutes of computer use.

Mouse click frequency was calculated by dividing total mouse clicks (left and right) per day by the total duration of computer use per day.

Keystroke speed was calculated first by identifying distinct bursts of keystroke activity. This was done to isolate sequences of keystroke activity rather than instances of sporadic keypresses (i.e. navigating an application or pressing the keyboard in error). A burst was defined as a series of at least five consecutive keystrokes with a pause between keystrokes (keystroke up to keystroke down) of no longer than 1.957 seconds. The 1.957 second pause duration was the upper limit gap (mean gap + 2*SD) between keystrokes on a Word task used in Stringer et al (2018). Bursts were based on a minimum of 5 consecutive keystrokes to ensure that short bursts with very high keystroke speeds were not included because these typing speeds would not be sustainable for long periods. Any keystroke over the 1.957 second limit signified the end of a burst. A burst was also defined as ended if the mouse was used. Keystroke bursts did not include modifier keys (CTRL, ALT and Shift), because they are used at the same time as other keystrokes and skew the keystroke speed. As the removal of specific keys could only be applied to known keystrokes, and the key code of keys typed in secure browsers was suppressed, all keystrokes occurring in suppressed browsers were removed. Daily keystroke speed was calculated by dividing the total number of keystrokes in bursts per day by the total duration of bursts per day.

To encourage participants to type more, and thus collect more data relating to keystroke speed, participants were asked to complete a weekly diary entry. This involved asking them to write about general feelings during the week (highpoints, low points) and report key life events (positive and negative). Completion of the diary entry was explained during the

training process and participants were sent monthly reminders to encourage them to continue to complete their weekly diary entry.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22 and Stata/SE version 12.1. Outliers were calculated for the cognitive data using the non-recursive procedure described by Van Selst and Jolicouer (1994). Two participants' reaction time data were omitted because at least one of the data points from the three testing sessions were missing due to technical problems with the reaction time recording software. One participant's Stroop data was excluded because they were colour blind.

A conventional *p* value of 0.05 was used because of the small sample size and low power. However, given the exploratory nature of this study we also considered the results in light of a false discovery rate (FDR) correction (q = 0.2), as described by Benjamini and Hochberg (1995), to account for increased risk of false positives [43].

Cross-sectional data analysis

To investigate cross-sectional differences between individuals with MCI and SCD, we used multilevel modelling (MLM) to allow for the statistical dependency between multiple observations for the same individuals. We regressed the computer use and cognitive variables on a variable capturing membership to the SCD vs MCI group. This analysis was based on all available data for the full time period of the study.

In order to examine cross-sectional correlations between computer use data and cognitive and functional test scores, computer use variables were first measured over temporal bins that corresponded to the dates of the cognitive tests for each participant: the first three weeks after the baseline assessment (T1); the week of the midpoint assessment (T2) and the two weeks either side; and the three weeks prior to the end point assessment (T3). We then used MLM to examine cross-sectional associations between computer use behaviours and cognitive and functional test scores across the entire study period, again allowing for the statistical dependency between multiple observations for the same individuals, and statistically adjusted for age, educational attainment and years of computer use.

Change over time analysis

To analyse whether there was any change in computer behaviour and/or cognitive scores over time, we used MLM for repeated measures, treating time from inclusion in the study as a continuous predictor variable and allowing for the statistical dependency between multiple observations per individual. We then adjusted associations for variations in age, educational attainment, and years of computer use. We considered statistical significance of the adjusted regression coefficient of the time variable (p < 0.05) as evidence for a change over time between baseline and follow-up measurements, with a positive or negative coefficient signalling improvement or deterioration, respectively. The computer use behaviour data (total computer use duration, mouse click frequency and keystroke speed) were regressed on the number of days each participant was in the study. The cognitive and functional scores were regressed on the time variables for each participant. The time variable represented the amount of time (in weeks) that passed at each assessment since the baseline assessment. For baseline this was 0 weeks for all participants, for midpoint assessment this ranged between 16 and 21 weeks (mean = 17, SD = 1.54), and for end point this ranged between 20 and 40 weeks (mean = 34, SD = 3.59).

Results

Participants were in the study for between 139 and 274 days (median = 227, IQR = 202.75 - 247). The total number of days of use ranged between 39 and 238 days for the study period (median = 162.5, IQR = 106.75 – 182.25). There was variability in number of days participants did not use the computer, ranging from 5 to 208 days (median = 72, IQR = 48.25 – 113.5). Participants reported between 2 and 101 days (median = 201, IQR = 182.75 – 227.5) where their computer was inaccessible. In total participants did not use the computer for 36% (2590 days) of the total days all participants were in the study (7200 days). Seventy two percent of participants (n=23) used the computer for 50% or more of their days in the study, 31% (n=10) used the computer for 75% or more of the days, and just 12% (n=4) had 90% or more daily use. The lowest percentage days of computer use was 23%. No observations (days) were dropped from the analysis due to the computer not being used.

Average daily computer use based on all days was 68.73 minutes (SD = 97.64) (shown in Fig. 2. a) and 74.21 minutes (SD = 99.44) based on all days minus days where the participant reported the computer was inaccessible. Average daily mouse click frequency was 7.86 clicks per minute (SD = 6.46) (shown in Fig. 2. b). Average daily keystroke speed was 2.59 keystrokes per second (SD = .80) (shown in Fig 2. c).



Fig. 2. Variability in computer use behaviours over time (days). a. Variability in computer use duration in minutes. b. Variability in mouse clicks per minute. c. Variability in keystrokes per second.

Cross-sectional analysis of differences between groups

In line with group categorisation, MCI participants had greater impairment on all of the cognitive and functional assessments compared to the SCD participants, and the majority of these differences were significant (Table 2). Participants with MCI also differed significantly to participants with SCD on two out of three computer behaviours. Participants with MCI spent significantly less time on the computer (p = .026) and had slower keystroke speed (p < .001) compared to individuals with SCD. These effects held significance after applying the false discovery rate.

Table 2. Multi-level models for the com	parison of MCI partici	pants to SCD partici	pants on computer-us	se behaviours and cognition
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			0

Variables		MCI (N=14)	SCD (18)			
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	β	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
Computer use	Daily computer use – every day in the study [§] (mins)	43.95 (66.46)	87.14 (112.01)	45.81	[5.41, 86.20]	.026
behaviours	Mouse click frequency per minute	7.47 (5.94)	8.08 (6.73)	.83	[-1.68, 3.35]	.516
	Keystroke speed (secs)	2.05 (.64)	2.92 (.71)	.89	[.55, 1.22]	.000
Cognitive	ACE III	88.36 (4.73)	96.28 (3.49)	7.92	[5.35, 10.49]	.000
variables	ECog [†]	-1.93 (.75)	-1.46 (.42)	.47	[.07, .87]	.021
	TMT A [†]	-44.81 (23.49)	-33.33 (10.42)	11.48	[86, 23.81]	.068
	тмт в [†]	-108.93 (65.12)	-66.35 (29.73)	42.58	[8.33, 76.83]	.015
	DSB	6.62 (1.89)	8.85 (1.75)	2.23	[1.16, 3.31]	.000
	FCRST	27.33 (8.98)	36.50 (3.84)	9.17	[4.54, 13.80]	.000
	Reaction time [†]	-44.87 (7.52)	-40.09 (9.46)	4.66	[26. 9.58]	.063
	Doors and people (recall)	18.55 (6.16)	26.26 (3.81)	7.71	[4.57, 10.85]	.000
	Doors and people (recognition)	20.05 (4.79)	28.13 (5.11)	8.08	[5.14, 11.03]	.000
	Doors and people (forgetting)	19.67 (3.84)	21.07 (2.76)	1.41	[14, 2.95]	.074
	Stroop inhibition [†]	-65.45 (29.16)	-47.57 (16.90)	17.87	[1.06, 34.68]	.037
	Stroop switching [†]	-86.55 (31.17)	-53.20 (17.27)	33.35	[17.12, 49.57]	.000

Note: [§]Daily computer use was based on every day that the participant was included in the study, irrespective of accessibility and use. [†]Scores were reverse coded for clinical interpretability. All *p* values held significance after false discovery rate (FDR) correction (*Q* = .20).

Cross-sectional analysis of associations between variables

After the application of the FDR, there was a significant effect of more time spent on the computer with scores on the Stroop switching test (p = .016) (Table 3). These scores suggest that those who are least impaired on the Stroop switching test spend longer on the computer. There was also a significant effect for keystroke speed with TMT A (p=.028), recall on the Doors and People Test (p<.000), recognition on the Doors and People Test (p<.000), Stroop inhibition (p = .041) and Stroop switching (p=.006). These scores suggest that individuals who are least impaired on the TMT A, recall on the Doors and People Test, recognition on the Doors and People Test, Stroop inhibition and Stroop switching tasks, have faster keystroke speed. These effects were significant after controlling for age, years of education and computer use experience.

There were no significant effects for mouse click frequency with any of the functional or cognitive test scores after the application of the FDR.

			Crude			Adjusted*	:	
Variables		Ν	β	95% CI	<i>p</i> value	β	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
Daily computer	ACE III	32	000	[039, .039]	.984	014	[066, .039]	.614
use – only days	ECog [†]	32	.016	[018, .050]	.353	.013	[024, .049]	.504
of use [§] (hours)	TMT A [†]	32	.018	[008, .044]	.175	.015	[006, .035]	.170
	TMT B [†]	32	.014	[011, .041]	.269	.010	[009, .030]	.308
	DSB	32	.021	[023, .066]	.350	.012	[032, .056]	.603
	FCRST	32	.016	[005, .037]	.133	.010	[012, .033]	.364
	Reaction time [†]	30	.034	[058, .126]	.469	.019	[073, .112]	.684
	Doors and people (recall)	32	.037	[004, .079]	.077	.032	[011, .075]	.145
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.027	[016, .070]	.212	.019	[025, .063]	.390
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	084	[181, .013]	.089	089	[173,005]	.039
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	.006	[014, .027]	.544	.001	[019, .022]	.901
	Stroop switching [†]	31	.040	[.005, .074]	.027	.042	[.008, .076]	.016 [‡]
Mouse click	ACE III	32	.000	[008, .001]	.984	003	[012, .005]	.452
frequency	ECog [†]	32	.007	[000, .015]	.057	.007	[000, .016]	.063
	TMT A [†]	32	.007	[005, .019]	.233	.007	[004, .018]	.237
	TMT B [†]	32	.006	[004, .017]	.228	.005	[005, .014]	.311
	DSB	32	.002	[010, .015]	.699	001	[011, .009]	.850
	FCRST	32	.000	[008, .008]	.936	001	[007, .005]	.754
	Reaction time [†]	30	002	[025, .021]	.873	006	[027, .016]	.619
	Doors and people (recall)	32	.004	[009, .016]	.581	.001	[008, .010]	.838
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.004	[010, .018]	.541	.002	[009, .013]	.729
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	014	[036, .009]	.226	020	[038,002]	.026
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	.007	[001, .014]	.077	.005	[004, .013]	.256
	Stroop switching [†]	31	.010	[004, .023]	.157	.007	[006, .019]	.292
Keystroke speed	ACE III	32	.541	[.147, .934]	.007	.292	[084, .668]	.129
	ECog [†]	32	.243	[082 <i>,</i> .569]	.143	.275	[033, .583]	.080

Table 3. Multi-level models for the association between cognition and computer use behaviours

TMT A [†]	32	.475	[007, .957]	.053	.370	[.040, .701]	.028 [‡]
TMT B [†]	32	.537	[096, .978]	.017	356	[069, .780]	.101
DSB	32	.552	[.205 <i>,</i> .899]	.002	.359	[121, .839]	.142
FCRST	32	.414	[.089, .738]	.013	.264	[053, .581]	.103
Reaction time [†]	30	.136	[233, .505]	.470	191	[558, .177]	.310
Doors and people (recall)	32	.667	[.407 <i>,</i> .928]	.000	.543	[.298, .788]	.000 [‡]
Doors and people (recognition)	32	.671	[.434, .908]	.000	.537	[.282, .793]	.000 [‡]
Doors and people (forgetting)	32	.225	[016, .467]	.068	.219	[090, .528]	.165
Stroop inhibition [†]	31	.486	[.198, .774]	.001	.217	[.009, .425]	.041 [‡]
Stroop switching [†]	31	.693	[.349, 1.04]	.000	.344	[.096, .592]	.006 [‡]

Note: [§]Daily computer use was based only on the days when the computer was accessible and used. *Estimates adjusted for age, years of education and years of computer use experience; [†]scores were reverse coded for clinical interpretability. Values in bold represent a significant association between the computer use behaviour and cognitive scores (p < .05) for the adjusted estimates. [‡]Value held significance after false discovery rate (FDR) correction (Q = .20).

Longitudinal analysis

No change was detected in any of the computer use behaviours over the course of the study (Table 4). Over the study period, scores on the ACE significantly increased (p = .041); recall on the Doors and People Test significantly decreased (p < .001); recognition on the Doors and People test significantly increased (p = .032); and no change was observed in scores on any of the other cognitive or functional tests. Only the decrease in recall over time on the Doors and People Test remained significant after applying the false discovery rate. As there was no change detected in any of the computer use variables, further analysis of associations between change in computer use behaviour and change in cognitive test scores were not pursued.
Table 4. Multi-level models to assess change in computer use behaviours and cognitive variables over time

Variables			Crude			Adjusted*		
		Ν	β	95% CI	p value	β	95% CI	p value
Computer use	Daily computer use – every day in the study [§] (mins)	32	032	[110, .046]	.417	032	[110, .046]	.417
behaviours	Mouse click frequency per day	32	002	[007, .003]	.440	002	[007, .003]	.437
	Keystroke speed per day (secs)	32	.000	[000, .000]	.104	.000	[000, .000]	.109
Cognitive	ACE III	32	.042	[.004, .081]	.033	.042	[.002, .081]	.041
variables	ECog [†]	32	001	[005, .004]	.829	001	[005, .004]	.829
	TMT A [†]	32	.044	[082, .169]	.496	.042	[086, .170]	.519
	TMT B [†]	32	.046	[255, .346]	.765	.041	[268, .349]	.796
	DSB	32	002	[020, .016]	.836	002	[020, .016]	.816
	FCRST	32	.047	[009, .102]	.098	.046	[011, .103]	.113
	Reaction time [†]	30	015	[107, .077]	.753	012	[107, .082]	.795
	Doors and people (recall)	32	068	[108,028]	.001 [‡]	069	[110,028]	.001 [‡]
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.061	[.007, .115]	.026	.060	[.005, .115]	.032
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	.003	[036, .043]	.867	.002	[039, .043]	.910
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	057	[198, .084]	.430	055	[202, .091]	.457
	Stroop switching [†]	31	193	[419, .034]	.095	191	[424, .043]	.110

Note: [§]Daily computer use was based on every day that the participant was included in the study, irrespective of accessibility and use. *Estimates adjusted for age, years of education and years of computer use experience; [†]scores were reverse coded for clinical interpretability. Adjusted values in bold represent a significant change over time (p < .05). [‡]Value held significance after false discovery rate (FDR) correction (Q = .20).

Discussion

The aims of this study were to i) investigate whether passive computer use behaviour could differentiate between individuals with MCI and individuals with SCD ii) examine cross-sectional associations between passive computer use behaviour and cognitive and functional test scores; and iii) investigate the potential of continuously recorded routine home computer-use for examining change in cognitive and functional ability. Cross-sectionally, computer use duration and keystroke speed were able to discriminate between individuals with MCI and individuals with SCD. Computer use duration and keystroke speed were able to discriminate between use associated with cognitive test scores. No change was detected in any of the computer use behaviours, or with most of the cognitive and functional test scores, over time.

Cross-sectional findings

Keystroke speed

Participants with MCI had slower typing speeds than those with SCD. These findings are consistent with previous work showing a reduction in typing speed with increased cognitive impairment [25, 26]. Crucially, whilst previous studies have shown such effects during semidirected tasks in a controlled environment, this study has demonstrated that the effects of cognitive impairment on computer use behaviours are also observable for self-directed computer tasks in an uncontrolled home-based setting.

Faster typing speed was associated with better visual attention (as measured by TMT A), recall and recognition (as measured by the Doors and People Test), task inhibition and task switching (as measured by the Stroop) in the current study. The Stroop task, the Doors and People Test recall and recognition scores and TMT A are shown to be sensitive to early stage dementia of the Alzheimer type [44-47], and the task switching version of the Stroop is particularly sensitive to cognitive decline in normal-functioning older adults [48]. In our previous work we found that ACE III and ECog Memory scores were significant predictors of keystroke speed [27]. Taken together, these results suggest that typing speed could be a particularly useful proxy measure of cognitive decline. These findings are in line with our previous work, in which an expert reference group linked errors in typing - and thus

potentially slower alphanumeric typing while correcting errors – with executive functioning [49].

Time spent on the computer

Individuals with MCI spent less time on the computer than individuals with SCD. This decreased use time could be an indication of participants with MCI stopping using the computer when they find tasks difficult or make mistakes; or using the computer less frequently because they have less activities that they need or want to do on the computer. This is consistent with Kaye et al. (2014), who found that people with MCI spent less time on the computer compared with healthy controls. This is different to our previous study that required participants to do a set number of computer tasks in a controlled environment and found that people with MCI and mild AD took longer to complete the tasks and paused more frequently [27]. This could be because in a controlled environment, when given a set task, people with MCI and mild AD persevere even if they find tasks difficult, make more errors and/or lose track of what they are doing, leading them to take longer.

Individuals with stronger task switching abilities also spent more time on the computer. This finding appears to be contradictory to the notion that better cognitive function would lead to quicker computer operation, and thus potentially less time spent on the computer. Nevertheless, we can conjecture that an increased ability to switch between computer tasks could reflect conducting multiple computer tasks at once, and so spending more time on the computer to complete these. In support, Tun and colleagues (2010) observed that increased computer use per week was associated with better task-switching performance [49]. The current study extends these findings by showing a similar pattern of results during non-directed computer use, using a more temporally precise measure.

Mouse clicks

Mouseclick frequency did not differ significantly between the two groups. This differs to the results of Seelye et al. (2015) who observed during non-directed tasks, greater cognitive impairment was associated with fewer mouse moves, however, this was based on *total* mouse moves which is likely to be a reflection of the amount of computer use. Taken together this suggests that these two different types of mouse behaviour are tapping into

different aspects of cognitive function and perhaps, total mouse moves as assessed in Seelye et al. (2015) is more sensitive to cognitive impairment than mouse click frequency as assessed in the current study.

Longitudinal findings

Computer use behaviour did not change over time. This finding partially mirrored the patterns of change in cognitive and functional assessments, for which the only changes were a significant increase in scores on the ACE III and recognition scores on the Doors and People Test and a decrease in recall scores on the Doors and People Test. An increase in ACE III scores and recognition scores on the Doors and People Test may be explained, in part, by familiarity with the test structure and therefore increased confidence: effects that are common with repeated testing [50-53]. However, the decline in recall scores, which remained significant after correcting for false discovery rate, may be indicative of cognitive decline. The lack of similar change on the FCRST recall test, and with the computer use behaviours, could therefore reflect lower sensitivity to this decline. Mitchell (2009) found that conversion rates of MCI to AD dementia was 8.1% per year in specialist clinical settings and 6.8% in community settings. Therefore, given our small sample size and a study period of less than a year, the probability of conversion, as well as the likelihood of detecting it, were low. Therefore, in order to detect change in IADL using self-chosen computer activities, future studies should examine data over a longer period of time and in a larger sample.

Limitations

There are some limitations of the study that need to be considered. First, as the work was exploratory in nature, it was not powered to detect all effects. Thus, whilst the study provides proof of concept for passive monitoring, and can inform the direction of future, larger-scale investigations, the conclusions should be considered preliminary. Second, participants varied in how many days they used their computer. It was not always known whether lack of use reflected practical constraints, such as the computer being borrowed by a partner, or their choice not to use the computer. Future studies could address this by asking why the computer is not used on specific days. Variation in use resulted in considerable number of days where there was no data, which could impact the statistical

power, cause bias in the estimation of parameters, and reduce the representativeness of the sample. A way of overcoming this challenge in the future would be to also monitor mobile devices. This would not only provide digital biomarker data outside of the home, but also inside the home when individuals choose to use a mobile device over a static home computer or laptop. The number of older adults using mobile devices outside the home is relatively low but is quickly increasing. For example, the number of adults over the age of 65 who accessed the internet on a mobile phone or smartphone outside the home increased from 9% in 2013 to 40% in 2019 [55]. Therefore, it will become even more relevant to monitor mobile devices in this age group in the coming years.

Conclusion

In summary, this study demonstrated that, passive monitoring of time spent on the computer and keystroke speed can differentiate between groups with SCD and MCI. What is more, keystroke speed was related to a number of neuropsychological test scores and shows potential as an indicator of a person's cognitive status. Importantly, this is true even though participants were engaging in non-directed computer tasks, where the exact nature of the activity was unknown. The next step is to test these relationships in a larger study sample, over a longer period, to gather a better indication of whether computer use behaviours can capture clinically significant cognitive and/or functional change. It will also be important to develop the SAMS software for touch screen devices such as tablets, smart phones and watches as their use becomes more ubiquitous amongst older adults. We do not expect computer behaviour indicators to be considered as stand-alone substitutes for traditional psychometric tests, but rather to be used as a means to provide information about a person's cognitive status in an ecologically relevant way that could be used as an at-risk indicator, while also supplementing formal cognitive testing.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to the participants who gave up their time to take part in this study and the Clinical Research Network (CRN) who assisted with data collection. Thanks to Thamer Badhafari and Joe Mellor for contribution to data capture. Thank you to Dan Wood for assisting with the tools for extraction, transformation and loading of the raw data.

Statement of Ethics

The study was approved by the Health Research Authority - National Research Ethics Service England in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and all participants signed informed consent to participate.

Conflict of Interest Statement

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding Sources

This work was funded by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) under Grant EP/K015796/1.

Author Contributions

All authors contributed to the design of the study. GS and SC planned and supervised data collection and collected data. GS performed the data analysis and drafted the manuscript. HH provided statistical guidance. LB, DM, SC and IL provided methodological and statistical guidance. All authors critically reviewed and agreed on the submitted manuscript for publication.

References

1. Jekel K, Damian M, Wattmo C, Hausner L, Bullock R, Connelly PJ, et al. Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: a systematic review. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2015;7(1):17.

2. Sikkes SA, Visser PJ, Knol DL, de Lange-de Klerk ES, Tsolaki M, Frisoni GB, et al. Do instrumental activities of daily living predict dementia at 1- and 2-year follow-up? Findings from the Development of Screening guidelines and diagnostic Criteria for Predementia Alzheimer's disease study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2011;59(12):2273-81.

3. Farias ST, Chou E, Harvey DJ, Mungas D, Reed B, DeCarli C, et al. Longitudinal trajectories of everyday function by diagnostic status. Psychology and aging. 2013;28(4):1070-5.

4. Marshall GA, Amariglio RE, Sperling RA, Rentz DM. Activities of daily living: where do they fit in the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease? Neurodegenerative disease management. 2012;2(5):483-91.

5. Farias S, Cahn-Weiner D, Harvey D, Reed B, Mungas D, Kramer J, et al. Longitudinal changes in memory and executive functioning are associated with longitudinal change in instrumental activities of daily living in older adults. Clinical Neuropsychologist. 2009;23(3):446-61.

6. Rodakowski J, Skidmore ER, Reynolds CF, 3rd, Dew MA, Butters MA, Holm MB, et al. Can performance on daily activities discriminate between older adults with normal cognitive function and those with mild cognitive impairment? Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2014;62(7):1347-52.

7. Marshall GA, Zoller AS, Lorius N, Amariglio RE, Locascio JJ, Johnson KA, et al. Functional Activities Questionnaire Items that Best Discriminate and Predict Progression from Clinically Normal to Mild Cognitive Impairment. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2015;12(5):493-502.

8. Verlinden VJA, van der Geest JN, de Bruijn RFAG, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Ikram MA. Trajectories of decline in cognition and daily functioning in preclinical dementia. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2016;12(2):144-53.

9. Molinuevo JL, Rabin LA, Amariglio R, Buckley R, Dubois B, Ellis KA, et al. Implementation of subjective cognitive decline criteria in research studies. Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 2017;13(3):296-311.

10. Dorsey ER, Papapetropoulos S, Xiong M, Kieburtz K. The First Frontier: Digital Biomarkers for Neurodegenerative Disorders. Digital Biomarkers. 2017;1(1):6-13.

11. Kaye JA, Maxwell SA, Mattek N, Hayes TL, Dodge H, Pavel M, et al. Intelligent Systems For Assessing Aging Changes: home-based, unobtrusive, and continuous assessment of aging. The journals of gerontology Series B, Psychological sciences and social sciences. 2011;66 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):i180-i90.

12. Piau A, Wild K, Mattek N, Kaye J. Current State of Digital Biomarker Technologies for Real-Life, Home-Based Monitoring of Cognitive Function for Mild Cognitive Impairment to Mild Alzheimer Disease and Implications for Clinical Care: Systematic Review. Journal of medical Internet research. 2019;21(8):e12785.

13. Gold M, Amatniek J, Carrillo MC, Cedarbaum JM, Hendrix JA, Miller BB, et al. Digital technologies as biomarkers, clinical outcomes assessment, and recruitment tools in Alzheimer's disease clinical trials. Alzheimer's & dementia (New York, N Y). 2018;4:234-42.

14. Hayes TL, Abendroth F, Adami A, Pavel M, Zitzelberger TA, Kaye JA. Unobtrusive assessment of activity patterns associated with mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimer's & Dementia. 2008;4(6):395-405.

15. Hagler S, Austin D, Hayes TL, Kaye J, Pavel M. Unobtrusive and Ubiquitous In-Home Monitoring: A Methodology for Continuous Assessment of Gait Velocity in Elders. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering. 2010;57(4):813-20.

16. Dodge HH, Mattek NC, Austin D, Hayes TL, Kaye JA. In-home walking speeds and variability trajectories associated with mild cognitive impairment. Neurology. 2012;78(24):1946-52.

17. Patel S, Park H, Bonato P, Chan L, Rodgers M. A review of wearable sensors and systems with application in rehabilitation. Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation. 2012;9(1):21.

18. Kirste T, Hoffmeyer A, Koldrack P, Bauer A, Schubert S, Schroder S, et al. Detecting the effect of Alzheimer's disease on everyday motion behavior. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2014;38(1):121-32.

19. Seelye A, Hagler S, Mattek N, Howieson DB, Wild K, Dodge HH, et al. Computer mouse movement patterns: A potential marker of mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimer's & dementia (Amsterdam, Netherlands). 2015;1(4):472-80.

20. Kaye J, Mattek N, Dodge HH, Campbell I, Hayes T, Austin D, et al. Unobtrusive measurement of daily computer use to detect mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimers & Dementia. 2014;10(1):10-7.

21. Seelye A, Mattek N, Sharma N, Riley T, Austin J, Wild K, et al. Weekly observations of online survey metadata obtained through home computer use allow for detection of changes in everyday cognition before transition to mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association. 2018;14(2):187-94.

22. Barlow J, Wright C, Sheasby J, Turner A, Hainsworth J. Self-management approaches for people with chronic conditions: a review. Patient education and counseling. 2002;48(2):177-87.

23. Quinn C, Toms G, Jones C, Brand A, Edwards RT, Sanders F, et al. A pilot randomized controlled trial of a self-management group intervention for people with early-stage dementia (The SMART study). International Psychogeriatrics. 2016;28(5):787-800.

24. Office for National Statistics. Internet users, UK: 2019. London; 2019.

25. Pew Research Center. Internet/Broadband Fact Sheet2019 18/08/2020. Available from: https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/internet-broadband/.

26. Vizer LM, Sears A. Classifying Text-Based Computer Interactions for Health Monitoring. leee Pervasive Computing. 2015;14(4):64-71.

27. Stringer G, Couth S, Brown LJE, Montaldi D, Gledson A, Mellor J, et al. Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline. International journal of geriatric psychiatry. 2018;33(7):867-74.

28. Bull C, Asfiandy D, Gledson A, Mellor J, Couth S, Stringer G, et al. Combining data mining and text mining for detection of early stage dementia: the SAMS framework. Resources and Processing of linguistic and extra-linguistic Data from people with various forms of cognitive/psychiatric impairments (RaPID '16) workshop: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC '16) European Language Resources Association (ELRA)2016. p. 35-40.

29. Gledson A, Asfiandy D, Mellor J, Ba-Dhfari TOF, Stringer G, Couth S, et al., editors. Combining Mouse and Keyboard Events with Higher Level Desktop Actions to Detect Mild Cognitive Impairment. 2016 IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics (ICHI); 2016 4-7 Oct. 2016.

30. Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med. 2004;256(3):183-94.

31. Farias ST, Mungas D, Reed BR, Cahn-Weiner D, Jagust W, Baynes K, et al. The measurement of everyday cognition (ECog): scale development and psychometric properties. Neuropsychology. 2008;22(4):531-44.

32. Hsieh S, Schubert S, Hoon C, Mioshi E, Hodges JR. Validation of the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination III in frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2013;36(3-4):242-50.

33. Lezak MD, Howieson DB, Bigler ED, Tranel D. Neuropsychological Assessement. Fifth Edition ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2012.

34. Deary IJ, Liewald D, Nissan J. A free, easy-to-use, computer-based simple and four-choice reaction time programme: the Deary-Liewald reaction time task. Behav Res Methods. 2011;43(1):258-68.

35. Grober E, Ocepek-Welikson K, Teresi J. The Free and Cued Selective Reminding Test: evidence of psychometric adequacy. Psychology Science Quarterly. 2009;51.

36. Grober E, Sanders AE, Hall C, Lipton RB. Free and cued selective reminding identifies very mild dementia in primary care. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2010;24(3):284-90.

37. Baddeley AD, Emslie H, Nimmo-Smith I. The Doors and People Test: A test of visual and verbal recall and recognition. Bury St Edmunds: Thames Valley Test Company; 1994.

38. Delis DC, Kaplan E, Kramer JH. Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (D-KEFS). San Antonio, TX: The Psychology Corporation; 2001.

39. Stroop JR. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. Journal of Experimental Psychology. 1935;18(6):643-62.

40. Scarpina F, Tagini S. The Stroop Color and Word Test. Front Psychol. 2017;8:557-.

41. Yesavage JA. Geriatric Depression Scale. Psychopharmacology bulletin. 1988;24(4):709-11.

42. Starkstein SE, Mayberg HS, Preziosi TJ, Andrezejewski P, Leiguarda R, Robinson RG. Reliability, validity, and clinical correlates of apathy in Parkinson's disease. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 1992;4(2):134-9.

43. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B (Methodological). 1995;57(1):289-300.

44. Balota DA, Tse CS, Hutchison KA, Spieler DH, Duchek JM, Morris JC. Predicting conversion to dementia of the Alzheimer's type in a healthy control sample: the power of errors in Stroop color naming. Psychology and aging. 2010;25(1):208-18.

45. Hutchison KA, Balota DA, Duchek JM. The utility of Stroop task switching as a marker for early-stage Alzheimer's disease. Psychology and aging. 2010;25(3):545-59.

46. Shindo A, Terada S, Sato S, Ikeda C, Nagao S, Oshima E, et al. Trail making test part a and brain perfusion imaging in mild Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra. 2013;3(1):202-11.

47. Greene JD, Baddeley AD, Hodges JR. Analysis of the episodic memory deficit in early Alzheimer's disease: evidence from the doors and people test. Neuropsychologia. 1996;34(6):537-51.

48. Fine EM, Delis DC, Wetter SR, Jacobson MW, Jak AJ, McDonald CR, et al. Cognitive discrepancies versus APOE genotype as predictors of cognitive decline in normal-functioning elderly individuals: a longitudinal study. The American journal of geriatric psychiatry : official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry. 2008;16(5):366-74.

49. Couth S, Stringer G, Leroi I, Sutcliffe AG, Gledson A, Bruno D, et al. Which computer-use behaviours are most indicative of cognitive decline? Insights from an expert reference group. Health Informatics Journal. 2019;25(3):1053-64.

50. Watson FL, Pasteur M-AL, Healy DT, Hughes EA. Nine parallel versions of four memory tests: An assessment of form equivalence and the effects of practice on performance. Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental. 1994;9(1):51-61.

51. Basso MR, Carona FD, Lowery N, Axelrod BN. Practice Effects on the WAIS-III Across 3- and 6-Month Intervals. The Clinical Neuropsychologist. 2002;16(1):57-63.

52. Duff K, Westervelt HJ, McCaffrey RJ, Haase RF. Practice effects, test-retest stability, and dual baseline assessments with the California Verbal Learning Test in an HIV sample. Archives of clinical neuropsychology : the official journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists. 2001;16(5):461-76.

53. Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Wesnes KA, Snyder PJ, Schneider LS. Practice effects due to serial cognitive assessment: Implications for preclinical Alzheimer's disease randomized controlled trials. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring. 2015;1(1):103-11.

54. Mitchell AJ, Shiri-Feshki M. Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia-meta-analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2009;119(4):252-65. 55. Office for National Statistics. Internet access – households and individuals, Great Britain: 2019. UK: Office for National Statistics; 2019.

CHAPTER 7: Discussion

7.1. Aims of the thesis

The overarching aim of this PhD was to improve methods of measuring and detecting functional impairment in people with early cognitive decline. A two-pronged approach was utilised to address the challenge: culturally adapting a subjective measure of functional impairment that covered technology-based IADLs (the A-IADL-Q) for use in the UK; and establishing proof of principle for the use of an objective digital biomarker, computer use behaviour, as an indicator of cognitive and functional impairment and decline. The twopronged approach had two different trade-offs: a low risk approach but with lower potential for big gains and a high risk approach with potential high gains (step change). The cultural adaptation of the A-IADL-Q for the UK was a low risk study. Paper-based and electronic subjective assessment of functional ability are known methods that have the potential to be incrementally improved and this was achieved in this PhD. A novel feasibility study to investigate the potential of assessing computer use behaviours as a proxy measure of cognitive and functional change has a high risk of failure. The longitudinal study of in-home computer use behaviours had a small sample of people with SCD and MCI (n=32), therefore the chance of detecting cognitive decline over a 9 month period was relatively low. In order to mitigate this risk the longitudinal data was analysed in two ways: cross-sectionally and over time. The data was considered cross-sectionally to see if the results from study C (the cross-sectional study where computer use behaviours were semi-directed) could be replicated in study D (the longitudinal study where computer use behaviours were nondirected). This was achieved by exploring associations between computer use behaviours and cognitive and functional test scores, as well as comparing computer use behaviour between people with MCI and people with SCD.

In addressing this aim, the research reported in this thesis contributes to the measurement of functional ability in two different ways. The cultural adaptation provides a subjective measure of functional ability containing items that are technologically and culturally relevant to older adults in the UK. This relevance will be further enhanced by the integration of all new items, once item characteristics are established following additional data collection. Taken together the results from study C and D suggest that assessment of both direct and indirect computer activities can detect cognitive and functional ability and

differentiate between groups. This novel digital biomarker offers the potential for early detection of neurodegeneration in the home-setting.

7.2. Summary of findings

The cultural adaptation of the A-IADL-Q (study A: chapter 3) aimed to provide an improved IADL measurement for the UK and, in particular, to provide a questionnaire that captures activities that are both conceptually relevant to older adults in the UK and appropriate for a technologically advancing society. Items from the original A-IADL-Q were removed, added to, and amended following a review process with dementia professionals, and people with cognitive decline and their relatives, and based on the results from a questionnaire measuring item relevance, completed by older adults. This resulted in a 55-item adapted version appropriate for UK use (A-IADL-Q-UK). Pilot data revealed that the new and revised items performed well: at least half of the participants had completed each activity in the previous four weeks. All activities were perceived as either slightly more, more, or much more, difficult than they have been in the past by at least one participant per item. "Making a cup of tea or coffee" and "using keys" were the most frequently performed activities, suggesting that these are routine activities for older adults in the UK. "Using the grill" and "looking after family" were performed least frequently. Four new items ("completing household paperwork", "recording a television program", "reading", and "maintaining the garden") correlated with the weighted average score, indicating that these items are consistent with the overall construct. An exploratory analysis of convergent validity found correlations in the expected direction with cognitive and functional measures: these were significant for DSB and ECog and nonsignificant for ACE III and TMT B. In sum, the results of this study suggest that the A-IADL-Q-UK shows promise it terms of its levels of face and content validity, convergent validity and the internal consistency reliability of new items.

In the pilot study (study B: chapter 4), the feasibility and acceptability of the procedure and design for studies C (the cross-sectional study of semi-directed computer use, reported in chapter 5) and D (the longitudinal study of non-directed computer use behaviours in participants' own homes, reported in chapter 6) were tested. The results from the pilot study suggested that study C was feasible and study D was acceptable, and also led to some key modifications to the design of both studies. Specifically, participants found the study C computer-based tasks straightforward, as evidenced by all participants completing all of the

tasks. Difficulties completing tasks were mainly due to different operating systems and software applications, resulting in difficulty finding specific functions. In order to eliminate the potentially confounding effect of system familiarity, we decided to use two operating systems Windows 7 and Windows 8 for study C. This meant that users of both types of operating system could be recruited, and participants could complete the tasks on a system they felt more comfortable with. To alleviate difficulty when using unfamiliar software two main changes were made to study C. Firstly, the participant instructions were amended to improve the clarity of the task instructions; and secondly, the practice activities were repeated to allow participants to become more comfortable with unfamiliar applications. Participants' were generally positive about having their daily computer use recorded as a proxy measure of cognitive health and all participants stated they would be willing to take part in such a study. Some participants expressed concerns about the software recording financial transactions or other people's data on their computer. These concerns were addressed in the main study (study D) by providing information to participants about how data would be recorded and protected and by changing the design of the software to limit the data capture on secure websites.

The cross-sectional reliability and proof of concept study (study C: chapter 5), which compared semi-directed computer tasks and cognitive and functional assessments, found that a selection of computer-use behaviours recorded from semi-structured tasks can discriminate between people with MCI and mild AD and cognitively healthy controls. Compared with the control group, cognitively impaired participants paused more frequently per minute, made fewer "Text" keystrokes per minute, and executed a significantly greater number of mouse clicks. A number of significant correlations were found between these computer use behaviours and each of the cognitive and functional measures, but only the memory domain of the ACE III and the ECog were significantly correlated with all three of the computer use variables. The three computer use variables were explored in relation to the memory domain of the ACE III and ECog in more detail, using hierarchical regression analyses. ACE-III and ECog Memory scores were significant predictors of total mouse clicks, pauses per minute and keyboard typing speed, with age and computer-use experience also accounting for variability in keyboard typing speed behaviour. The ROC analyses showed that, when all the selected computer use variables were combined into a single predictive

probability and compared with combined ACE-III Memory score, ECog Memory score, and Trail Making Test B, correct classification was significantly higher for the combined computer use variables. The findings of this study therefore suggest that a combine profile of computer use behaviours has potential to provide information that is sensitive to cognitive and functional decline in the early stages of neurodegeneration.

The longitudinal study (study D: chapter 6) explored the potential of passively recording inhome, non-directed computer use as a proxy measure of cognitive and functional decline. There were three aims: i) to investigate whether passive computer use behaviour could differentiate between individuals with MCI and individuals with SCD; ii) to examine crosssectional associations between passive computer use behaviour and cognitive and functional test scores; and iii) to explore change over time in passive computer use and cognitive and functional test scores. Individuals with MCI had significantly slower keystroke speed and spent less time on the computer than individuals with SCD, even after controlling for age, years of education and computer use experience. Cross-sectionally, more time spent on the computer was associated with greater task switching abilities. Faster keystroke speed was associated with better visual attention, recall, recognition, task inhibition and task switching. Computer use behaviour did not change over time. This finding partially mirrored the patterns of change in cognitive and functional assessments, for which the only changes were a significant increase in scores on the ACE III and recognition scores on the Doors and People Test and a decrease in recall scores on the Doors and People Test. An increase in ACE III scores and recognition scores on the Doors and People Test may be explained, in part, by familiarity with the test structure and therefore increased confidence: effects that are common with repeated testing (Basso et al., 2002; Duff et al., 2001; Goldberg et al., 2015; Watson et al., 1994). However, the decline in recall scores, which remained significant after correcting for false discovery rate, may be indicative of cognitive decline. The lack of similar change on the FCRST recall test, and with the computer use behaviours, could therefore reflect lower sensitivity to this decline. Taken together, the results of this study suggest that passive monitoring of keystroke speed shows potential as an indicator of a person's cognitive status, and time spent on the computer and keystroke speed can differentiate between groups with SCD and MCI.

7.3. Contributions of the thesis

The research reported in this thesis has made a number of key contributions to knowledge that are outlined below.

7.3.1. Improved methods for measuring functional capacity.

A key contribution of the research reported in this thesis is an improvement of methods for measuring functional capacity. This is through 1) the development of the A-IADL-UK using a detailed and thorough process for assessing face and content validity, that includes culturally and conceptually relevant activities, including technology-use, and provides a self-report version and 2) by establishing proof of concept for a novel digital biomarker for the unobtrusive capture of computer use activities that has the potential to indicate cognitive status.

There are three groups of issues associated with current IADL measures that have been addressed in the research reported in this thesis. The first group of issues relate to the limitations of current questionnaires. Many assessments are used to assess IADL in people with MCI, but they have most often been constructed and validated for people with dementia and therefore may not be sensitive to more subtle changes in complex daily activities (Jekel et al., 2015). Some existing methods have not been thoroughly assessed for face and content validity (Sikkes et al., 2009), which is an important psychometric property. Activities contained in assessment measures are not always considered conceptually relevant by patients and carers (Hartry et al., 2018) and relatively few assessments of content validity utilize the knowledge and expertise of patients and caregivers, which often solely relies on the judgement of clinicians (Connell, 2018). Many measures also do not take account of technological advances that have changed the way that many IADLs are done. Also, individuals may not have someone who can act an informant, and there are only a small number of self-report options (Jekel et al., 2015).

The work reported in this thesis addressed this first group of issues by providing the A-IADL-Q-UK, a measurement of functional decline for use in the UK that captures culturally relevant activities, including those that capture technology use, and a new self-report version that is ready for testing. This built on previous literature by conducting a thorough process of establishing content validity, as reflected in the use of a sampling to redundancy

methodology in step one which meant that all suggestions from participants were considered in detail until no new information emerged. The views and opinions of people with mild cognitive impairment and their relatives were utilised to ensure that activities were meaningful to their daily lives. The A-IADL-Q-UK contributes a meaningful outcome measure that can be used in clinic and research settings and a self-report measure that is ready for further testing.

The second group of issues relates to the current episodic and clinic-based paradigm which means that functional assessments are not carried out soon enough, or often enough, and cannot pick up on subtle, insidious change in functional ability over time. This second group of issues was addressed in the research reported in this thesis by establishing a proof of concept for a novel digital biomarker, which unobtrusively captures computer use behaviours for the detection of cognitive and functional decline. This provides a basis from which to develop new methods of functional assessment that can provide ecologically valid, continuous and unobtrusive data. This addresses the current reliance on clinic-based, intermittent assessments, which depend on snapshots of information about a person and are often infrequent and insensitive to subtle change over time.

The third group of issues relates to the methodology used in previous studies to investigate relationships between computer use behaviour and cognitive functioning. Whilst previous studies have shown that computer use behaviours can provide information about cognitive functioning, they have been limited by the inclusion of novice or non-computer users in the participant sample (Kaye et al., 2014; Seelye et al., 2018; Vizer and Sears, 2015), which may limit the interpretation of findings due to the additional cognitive burden of learning to use a computer for the purposes of the study. Previous studies have also focussed on set tasks, such as an online survey via email (Seelye et al., 2018) or a typed text task (Vizer and Sears, 2015), rather than non-directed computer use behaviour, which may limit the ecological validity of the findings. The research reported in this thesis has built on previous literature by addressing these limitations. In studies C and D regular computer users were recruited, this means that when interpreting the results you can be more certain that any limitations are typical behaviour as oppose to difficulties with a new learned skill. In study C participants completed computer tasks using software they were already familiar with and in study D participants used their own computer equipment in their own home environment

and we recorded their everyday 'normal' computer use activities. This highlights a major strength of the work reported in this thesis, particularly from study D, in that these computer use behaviours can predict cognitive functioning despite variability in the types of hardware and software used and the home environment, and with no knowledge of what participants were doing during non-directed tasks.

In sum, the outcomes of the research reported in this thesis begin to address recent recommendations from the FDA, which emphasise the need for meaningful outcome measures and novel assessment measures for the detection of the earliest signs of cognitive and functional decline (Edgar et al., 2019). The findings from all four studies in this thesis have advanced the methods for assessing functional ability. The A-IADL-Q-UK represents a more traditional IADL assessment and the measurement of computer use behaviours is a novel method of assessment. The benefit of advancing both traditional and novel methods is that they can complement each other. Information from continuous assessment in the home can supplement clinic-based assessments such as the A-IADL-Q-UK and likewise an indication of functional decline from the A-IADL-Q-UK could be monitored in the home using software to record computer use behaviour.

7.3.2. Established proof of concept for continuous and unobtrusive recording of everyday home computer use behaviours as a proxy measure of cognitive health.

Previous studies have shown that computer use behaviours can be indicative of cognitive status. Some of these studies have reduced ecological validity because they have been conducted in controlled settings (Vizer and Sears, 2015) and/or have used set tasks (Seelye et al., 2018). Also, there is limited information on how participants feel about having computer monitoring software installed on their personal computers. In the research reported in this thesis, data was collected in an ecologically relevant way: in participants own homes, as part of their normal routine. In the pilot study, the feasibility of completing set tasks on a computer was demonstrated and the acceptability of installing computer recording software installed on people's home equipment was established. Participants felt that any concerns they may have about privacy and security could be addressed by providing sufficient study information. In studies C and D, the information from the pilot was used to ensure that participant information was clear and detailed in regard to privacy and security of data collected, and that participants were given the opportunity to discuss

any concerns and ask questions. Study D demonstrated the feasibility of installing software onto participants' home computers, and recording personal computer use for a period of 7 to 9 months. No participants dropped out of the study, and all home visits were completed, suggesting that the software and the study were acceptable to participants for the duration of the study period.

The results from this PhD have strong ecological validity: everyday computer use was recorded on participants' own equipment, in their own homes, where the exact nature of the activities undertaken were unknown. This has demonstrated that non-directed computer use behaviour can provide information about cognitive status and differentiate between groups of varying cognitive ability. These results are novel in that no other studies have been conducted that compare keystroke speed taken from uncontrolled home computer use with cognitive functioning.

7.3.3. Increased understanding of: the relationship between computer use, cognitive function, and functional ability; and the differences in computer use behaviours between groups who differ in cognitive ability.

Previous studies that have considered the relationship between computer use and cognitive and functional ability have a number of limitations. Firstly, studies looking at time spent on the computer and keystroke behaviours have focused on between subjects designs; looking at differences in computer use behaviours between high and low functioning groups (Kaye et al., 2014; Vizer and Sears, 2015). This is problematic because older adults' computer experience is variable both between and within individuals, so a system for monitoring change in computer use ability needs to adapt to each user (Vizer and Sears, 2015). Secondly, previous research has found differences between healthy controls and people with MCI but has not considered more subtle differences, such as those between people with MCI and SCD. Thirdly, the relationship between computer use behaviours and paperbased IADL measures has not been fully explored. Finally, previous research has focused on individual computer use behaviours such as online survey metadata (Seelye et al., 2018), time spent on the computer (Kaye et al., 2014) and mouse movements (Seelye et al., 2015) rather than considering a range of different behaviours. This is problematic because decline in performance of computer-based activities is likely to vary among individuals; therefore, capturing a range of behaviours will significantly increase the likelihood of early detection.

Vizer and Sears (2015) built a model using both linguistic and keystroke features, however this was limited to the keyboard interaction modality and was conducted in a controlled setting.

In the current research, a between subjects design was used to demonstrate differences in computer use behaviours between groups of people, and a within subjects design was used to investigate relationships between computer use and cognitive and functional ability in a single group. The use of a within group design is particularly important in this type of research because individual differences in computer use ability and experience is vast, and computer performance variability is high both between and within older adults (Fazeli et al., 2013), so information about intra-individual change is advantageous. This will help with the future design of an adaptive system that can screen for changes associated with SCD or MCI for specific individuals, and alert the user to trends that they may wish to discuss with their doctor.

This research also explores the differences in computer use behaviours between SCD and MCI groups who have subtle differences in cognitive ability. In study D, people with MCI spent less time on the computer and had slower keystroke speed compared to people with SCD. This suggests that recording computer use behaviours can enable us to detect subtle differences between cognitively impaired groups. Looking at subtle differences between people with SCD and MCI builds on previous research that has focused on groups with larger cognitive impairment differences such as healthy controls and people with MCI (Kaye et al., 2014; Seelye et al., 2015; Seelye et al., 2018).

Studies C and D also addressed a lack of research investigating the relationships between computer use behaviours and paper-based IADL measures. In study C, number of pauses per minute, keystroke speed and total mouse clicks were related to the memory domain of the ECog. In study D, no relationship was found between computer use data and the ECog. This is congruent with the work of Seelye (2018), which found no association between online survey metrics and an informant-rated IADL questionnaire. One interpretation of these conflicting results is that computer use behaviours recorded in a controlled environment (study C) could be more reflective of scores on functional tests compared to computer behaviours recorded in a home environment (study D and (Seelye et al., 2018). The next step would be to test the relationship between computer use behaviours and functional

ability using the A-IADL-Q-UK to see if a different measure that includes activities about technology, would be more sensitive to computer use behaviours.

The findings from studies C and D provide a clearer understanding of the utility of computer use behaviours for the assessment of cognitive and functional ability. In study C a combined profile of computer-use behaviours distinguished between groups of varying cognitive ability. Consistent with previous findings, in study C and study D participant groups differed on computer activity measures of time (Kaye et al., 2014) and keystrokes (Vizer and Sears, 2015) and in study C they differed on mouse operations (Seelye et al., 2015). Furthermore, the keystroke speed findings from study C using set tasks and controlled equipment were corroborated in study D using participant's home equipment and where the exact nature of the computer use activities were unknown. The results reported in this thesis therefore demonstrate that keystroke speed is indicative of cognitive health status in both a semicontrolled and uncontrolled environment. This is important because it adds reliability and validity to the findings from both studies and important opportunities for future application.

The results for keystroke speed are also in line with assessments finger dexterity, finger tapping and motor speed. In a study of finger dexterity, Suzumura and colleagues (2018) found differences between healthy controls and people with AD and people with AD and people with MCI. Finger tapping research has shown much slower reaction speed in subjects with lower MMSE scores (Rabinowitz and Lavner, 2014). Austin and colleagues (2011) found that interkeystroke interval based on repeated login data collected during regular home computer use has capabilities similar to the finger tapping test for assessing motor speed. These results indicate the potential for high frequency data collection from daily computer keyboard use (Kourtis et al., 2019).

7.4. Strengths and limitations of the thesis

Participants with MCI and AD were included in the thesis studies based on their existing diagnosis, and were not reassessed for dementia or MCI at part of the study. One limitation of this is that the diagnosis may have no longer been accurate or valid. This might also have implications for the other groups as some of the apparently cognitive healthy people may have had MCI or dementia. This could make it harder to find differences between groups, because there might be overlap between the groups in terms of cognitive status.

Consequently, any differences between groups could be underestimates of the actually differences.

As proof of principle studies, the sample sizes were small for studies C and D, as well as in step three of study A. The reason that small sample sizes was acceptable in these studies was because the work for studies C and D was preliminary, and aimed to establish proof of concept. Step 3 of study A was a pilot study for a future large scale validation of the A-IADL-Q-UK. By design, these studies were not intended to have powered samples, as the conclusions drawn from these investigations should not be generalised to larger samples and, instead, are meant to give important insight and direction for how future work should proceed. However, small sample sizes do have a number of implications for these findings. They may have limited the power to detect associations and particularly to detect differences between groups, which means that smaller differences between groups could have been missed and other behaviours might not have been flagged up as being discriminatory. Furthermore, in order to abide by the assumptions of regressions and multilevel models, it was only possible to control for a small number of variables such as age and computer use experience. This means that there could be other confounding factors that could account for the effects. Additionally, although in this work extraneous variables such as age, computer use experience, and education were controlled for, years of computer use experience was based on grouped options and could have been considered in more detail. Computer fluency may be especially important as there could be significant differences in computer use not due to cognitive decline but due to familiarity and exposure to the computer (Austin et al., 2017; van Boekel et al., 2017). To address this, computer use experience should be explored in more detail by considering specific training, employment experience and range of digital devices used.

Despite the potential limitations arising from these small sample sizes, where possible, sample sizes were optimised for the research. For example, the sample size for step one of study A was based on a sampling to redundancy criterion, whereby participants were included until no new themes emerged. This is a strength of the work as it contributed to a detailed and thorough process for assessing face and content validity. This means we are likely to have identified the majority of issues or missing items from that specific sample population. In addition, in step two of study A, of the 140 questionnaires distributed, 92

(65.7%) were returned, representing a high response rate for a postal survey (Link and Mokdad, 2005). This means that of the people recruited there is less likely to be bias and the results are likely to be more representative of the sample who was recruited.

Another issue with the studies reported in this thesis is that the majority of participants were recruited from the Greater Manchester area of the UK. Proximity of participants was an important factor in recruitment as all of the studies involved visits to participant's homes. One limitation of this is that the studies have a low geographical reach. In addition, for all the studies, participants were primarily white, well-educated and relatively healthy older adults, therefore the results may not generalize to other populations. This has specific implications for the study A, given its aims around cultural applicability. The cross-cultural validation was important because mere translation of an instrument does not always account for cultural and ethno racial disparities. Frequently used IADL instruments often include culturally specific activities such as balancing a cheque book: an activity that is only relevant to people who do not use direct bank transfers or mobile banking (Dubbelman, 2019). We found that activities such as using a coffee maker and a dishwasher were not common practice amongst current older adults in the UK, and therefore amending or removing these items enhances the validity of the measure for a UK audience. However, in order for the A-IADL-UK to be fully validated for use in the UK there must be further testing across different geographical locations and cultural groups. Williams et al. (2012) found that in the UK, Indian Asian participants reported significantly greater IADL impairment compared with Europeans, even after controlling for health behaviours and chronic disease.

In this PhD, all four studies included people who were regular computer users. As a consequence, people without access to computers regularly were excluded from sections of this work. One justification of this approach is we can be more certain when interpreting the results, that computer use behaviours represent an existing skill rather than a new skill. However, the exclusion of specific groups of people, who may be disadvantaged in their access to information and communications technology, has implications for this research. There is a digital divide in the UK between those who have access to information and communications technology. Digital divides are likely to exist where people do not have (1) access to appropriate equipment, (2) appropriate skills and

capabilities, and (3) motivation from the 'pull' of compelling functionality and content (Damodaran et al., 2013). The Office for National Statistics report that, in 2019, patterns of internet usage vary by geographical location, gender, age, disability, ethnic group and economic activity (Office for National Statistics, 2019a). A reduction in older adult's use of the computer could also be explained by the digital divide. Olphert and Damodaran (2013) suggest that older adults who were computer users, but have then stopped, could be part of a 'fourth digital divide'. In a review of the literature they find that reasons for non-sustaining use include: disability, complexity of the technology, social isolation, lower income, lower education and irrelevant/inappropriate content. Taken together, this means that socially disadvantaged or marginalised groups could have been excluded from the research. Future studies investigating the relationship between computer use behaviours and cognitive functioning in a larger sample, need to ensure that people from socially disadvantaged groups are given the opportunity to take part in the work and that any analysis controls for these potential confounding variables.

A strength of study A is that it has contributed to the ways in which functional ability can be measured and monitored and more specifically whether people are able to use technology. In doing so this work can assess whether older adults are engaging with the technical world and check if they are maintaining their digital skills. If support can be provided to maintain independence, this will enable older adults to connect with others, access information and services and meet the demands of the workplace and the economy.

Using time spent on the computer as a measure of cognitive and functional ability is limited because it lacks specificity when the nature of the tasks being undertaken is unknown. In study C this was not a problem because all participants were completing the same semi-structured tasks. However, in Study D time spent on the computer was based on participants' own personal computer use and was defined as a period of activity on the computer (i.e. mouse moves, clicks, and keystrokes) with a pause of no longer than fifteen minutes. What the participant was doing during this time will have differed between participants in a variety of ways, including the tasks cognitive difficulty and whether it was one task or numerous tasks. The computer could have been used for a couple of minutes every fifteen minutes or continuously for an hour. The reliability and specificity of this measure is problematic because we do not know whether they are spending longer on

something because it is difficult, because they are making mistakes or because they enjoy it and are proficient at it. We also do not know if the behaviour being captured represents lots of short tasks with breaks or one long continuous task. In future work, consideration could be given to the way time spent on the computer is calculated and measured, for example the amount of time spent on specific tasks.

Using mouse clicks is also limited as a measure of cognitive and functional ability, when the nature of the tasks being undertaken is unknown. The measure of mouse clicks may be more effective in Study C than in Study D because the frequency of mouse clicks is strongly tied to the purpose for which someone is using the mouse. Certain activities like computer games or online shopping would involve a greater number of mouse clicks than others like reading online articles or replying to emails. Also, making mistakes could lead to more mouse clicks, but also being proficient at something like a computer game would also result in a greater number of clicks. Lack of inhibitory control could also be an explanation for increased numbers of mouse clicks (Leontyev and Yamauchi, 2019; Migliaccio et al., 2020). However, without knowing more about the nature of the task and the number of clicks associated with each task it is difficult to specify how this relates to cognition. In Study C all participants completed the same set tasks and therefore the number of mouse clicks needed for each participant would be more consistent. Of course this is not exact as people have different styles in the way they use the computer, for example the use of keyboard shortcuts. In Study D because the activity was unknown the measure of mouse clicks lacks specificity and the comparison between the two groups is more problematic. Taken together, this means that mouse clicks may be a more effective measure of cognitive and functional ability when the nature of the tasks being undertaken is known. This might explain in study D the lack of an association between mouse clicks and cognitive and functional ability, and why there was no significant difference in mouse clicks between the two groups.

Keystrokes was a particularly effective and specific measure in both study C and study D. In study C it was possible to measure keystroke speed on directed tasks. In study D, where the nature of the tasks were unknown, it was still possible to add parameters to the variable in order to focus on 'bursts' of keystroke activity so that keystroke speed could be measured across bursts. This is a strength of this work because it was possible to investigate keystroke

speed in both a semi-controlled and uncontrolled environment, finding significant differences between groups of varying cognitive ability and also associations with specific cognitive test scores.

One issue with keystroke speed as a measure, is that it could be poorer motor skills, rather than cognitive decline, that account for slower keystroke speed in people with MCI compared to those with SCI. Motor skills can decline without neurodegeneration (Carmeli et al., 2003; Seidler et al., 2010) and motor slowing, for example due to arthritis (Liphardt et al., 2020), could explain motor skill changes in someone who is otherwise healthy. To control for motor functioning a measure of 'pure' motor functioning (e.g. finger tapping) could be added to any future test development. The ultimate aim of this work was not to identify what a reduction in keystroke speed means in terms of domains affected by neurodegeneration. Studies C and D were a first step in investigating whether computer use behaviours have meaningful predictive potential for detecting clinical manifestations of neurodegeneration. As this work is extended, research considering subtle differences in motor function, such as dexterity, as a result of neurodegeneration (de Paula et al., 2016; Hesseberg et al., 2020; Mancioppi et al., 2020), should be considered in more detail in relation to computer use behaviours.

7.5. Ethical considerations

There are a number of ethical concerns when collecting large amounts of data passively via home-based software, as in studies C and D. Ethical issues include privacy and data sharing policies, informed consent, and ownership of data (Gold et al., 2018). Ethical concerns were addressed in the studies reported in this thesis in a number of ways.

Given that participant personal computer use was to be recorded by the SAMS software, participants' privacy was a priority in this work. In the pilot study, participants expressed that privacy was one of their main concerns. Participants explained that their concerns about privacy would be alleviated with information about the use and protection of data. This information was used to make changes to the larger studies. First, in order to protect participants' privacy and their personal information, the SAMS system was designed so that passwords would not be recorded and alpha numeric information was not recorded when secure websites were in use. Second, the SAMS system could be turned off when the

participant wished to work privately. Third, participant information sheets were designed to provide clear and detailed information about how data would be used by the researchers and how it would be protected.

A number of measures were put in place to protect participant data. Study participants were assigned unique ID numbers that were used to pseudonymise any written, electronic documents, audio files or data sets. The ID number/user identity key was stored on a secured and encrypted computer with security clearance approved by NHS ethics and only specific members of the research team were able to access these computers. All data collected was automatically encrypted with full-strength encryption software at the point of capture. Periodically, the encrypted data was uploaded to a secure server restricted to the research team. Data derived from all datasets were encrypted for storage, analysis and transit with full strength security algorithms. The intention for the future is that the SAMS system will collect and analyse data automatically. This will mean the data will become more content free and context irrelevant, and will result in increased privacy for participants and users.

Consideration was also given to a range of issues related to informed consent. In the studies undertaken for this thesis, careful but tactful checks were made to establish capacity to consent. This was in line with the basic components for informed consent described by Petrini (2010): 'competence' which refers to the legal and cognitive capacity to make decisions; 'voluntariness' which would mean not having been forced to make a decision; 'information' which means having clear information which covers the risks, benefits and alternatives; and 'enrolment' which refers to the free decision to participate in the study and an understanding that they can withdraw at any time without justification or negative repercussions (Petrini, 2010: p.412) and guidance from the Mental Capacity Act (2005) with regards to research with potential vulnerable adults (Department of Health, 2005). These checks were undertaken by the research staff, who were all fully trained in capacity assessments in people with cognitive impairment, and have significant experience in undertaking research studies with this population. It was also important to consider the possibility of decline or loss of consent capacity. This was particularly important for study D due to its longitudinal nature because, although decline in consent capacity is a relatively slow process in people with MCI (Okonkwo et al., 2008), there is a risk that participants

could lose capacity to consent during the study. To address this, in study D when the researchers visited participants' homes, at the 3 times during the 7 to 9 month duration, they would check participants' capacity to consent to the study. In addition participants received a telephone call every month checking they were happy to continue. However, the issue with on-going assessments of capacity is that they are time and resource intensive, something which the development of digital biomarkers is aiming to reduce. In the future, following further development, the SAMS software could be installed onto older adults' home computers to monitor cognitive and functional ability for longer periods without the need for interaction with a clinician or researcher. A potential concern with this would be if the individual lost the capacity to consent to having their personal computer data recorded. Therefore consideration would need to be given to how capacity to consent could be checked remotely. One potential way to address this would be develop an online tool for assessing capacity to consent.

As described in the previous paragraph, if in the future the SAMS software could assess computer use behaviours over long periods of time, without the need for a clinician or researcher, it could be possible that the participant could forget they are in the study, and that there data is being recorded. This could be addressed by implementing a system of regular reminders to let the user know when the software is recording and how they can turn the system off.

Finally, another ethical consideration of this work relates to data ownership i.e. who owns the data; how the data should be shared; and who is ultimately accountable (Kostkova, 2015). Failure to address concerns over ownership of data can lead to a loss of patient and citizen trust and patients withdrawing their co-operation from data collection and sharing activities. Therefore, in order to overcome potential barriers in regard to ownership of data, and to ensure that people trust the purposes of sharing their data, careful thought and consideration is required when communicating with patients and participants. For the studies reported in this thesis, considerations relating to data ownership were addressed in a number of ways. Firstly, participants' concerns about how data would be used were identified and addressed. In the pilot (study B), participants explained that they would want sufficient information about the how data was to be used when making a decision about taking part. These findings were used to inform the materials provided to, and discussion

with, potential participants for the larger studies to ensure that appropriate information was provided about how data would be used and shared. Secondly, the purpose and potential benefits of the research were clearly explained to potential participants. Support of technologies and the sharing of data are more likely when there is a demonstrable benefit to patients and health and social care (Watts, 2019). Participants in the pilot expressed how they were happy to be part of something that would help others and contribute to medical research. In future work, in order to protect both the researcher and the participants, data use agreements could be produced that contain clear statements regarding the conditions for data usage (Coravos et al., 2019). It may also be important for these agreements to be time-limited, requiring further agreement periodically so that people can reassess their involvement.

7.6. Recommendations for future research

The cultural adaptation of the A-IADL-Q was a first step in validating the scale for use in the UK. To further develop this work I suggest five future directions. First, a further validation of the A-IADL-Q-UK using a larger sample. This will allow for a comprehensive demonstration of construct validity, more data to enable the development of item characteristics for the new items, and the development of a short version of the questionnaire in line with the existing Dutch short version (Jutten et al., 2017). This would also allow for further testing across different geographical locations and cultural groups (as discussed in 7.4). Second, future work should investigate predictive validity of the A-IADL-Q-UK. Comparing scores on the measure with observations of daily activities in the home would assess the extent to which the A-IADL-Q-UK can predict a person's ability to function in the real world. Third, a longitudinal study that included individuals with AD, MCI, SCD and healthy controls could explore the sensitivity to change over time of the A-IADL-Q-UK, alongside its ability to distinguish between cognitively impaired groups. Fourth, a strength of the cultural adaptation was the detailed and thorough process for assessing face and content validity and the use of a range of stakeholders, including people with cognitive impairment. With further development, this methodology could be presented as a guiding framework for the cultural adaptation of other subjective assessment scales. Lastly, the new item 'looking after family' was not significantly related to total score and was performed least frequently by participants. However, participants who had this responsibility expressed the importance

of this activity in their lives, which is why it was retained in the questionnaire. To address this it would useful to complete a principal component analysis of the questionnaire in a larger sample in order to determine whether there are any sub-components within it.

The next step for studies C and D should be a longitudinal study over at least a one year period in a large sample of participants with presymptomatic AD across the UK to definitively characterise change in computer use behaviour as a proxy measure of cognitive and functional ability. This would involve developing the SAMS software so it could be automatically downloaded by participants onto their home computers. The NIA-AA research framework emphasises the need for biomarker based diagnosis to enable a more accurate characterization and understanding of the sequence of events that lead to cognitive impairment that is associated with AD (Jack et al., 2018). Therefore, a future longitudinal study would benefit from the addition of using biological biomarkers to grade disease severity based on the ATN classification system (Jack et al., 2016). This would then allow for an investigation of the relationship between information from digital biomarkers (computer use) and disease severity as measured by biological biomarkers, including whether information about computer use behaviour can be used to differentiate between different biological biomarker profiles.

The addition of machine learning (ML) techniques could improve the way that data collected by the SAMS software could be analysed in the future. Evaluating the feasibility of a computer based assessment for functional impairment was a first step in establishing proof of concept and the type of data collected as part of this PhD, shown to be associated with cognitive test scores, could provide a firm basis for the developmental of digital tools for monitoring cognitive health. However, a general limitation of using continuous, highfrequency behavioural data is that processing, analysing and distilling very large amounts of data into meaningful measures are time and resource intensive. To address this further improvements are needed in the computer software and the analysis of the data so that data from a large sample of participants can be analysed automatically. A potential method for this would be using ML algorithms to mine the data and allow for further analysis. Adding ML expertise to the research team could mean the application of ML to draw automatic classifiers of cognitive and functional change from the data set. Recent developments in ML techniques for the detecting risk of conversion to dementia in cognitive

aging are showing great potential (Facal et al., 2019; Pellegrini et al., 2018; Spasov et al., 2019) but further advancements in the field are necessary in order for ML to become an integrated part of dementia assessment (Pellegrini et al., 2018). Text mining could also be used to analyse text data that was captured by the SAMS software. For example the linguistic features used in emails, word documents and internet searches provided a vast amount of data that could be analysed using text mining techniques. Exploring the linguistics features drawn from everyday uncontrolled typing tasks would be an extension of previous work that has focused on controlled typing tasks (Vizer and Sears, 2015).

Studies C and D should also be developed in different countries and cultures in order to account for the potentially different cultural nuances. There are a number of potential cultural factors that could be considered when assessing computer use behaviours in other countries. Firstly, differences in language, which would impact on linguistic predictors of cognitive and functional ability (Wijaythilake et al., 2019). Secondly, cultural differences in computer use behaviours, computer use habits and attitudes to computer use (Ein-Dor and Segev, 1990; Graff et al., 2004; Igbaria and Zviran, 1991; Li and Kirkup, 2007; Sensales and Greenfield, 1995). Thirdly, researchers must spend time building rapport and trust with participants (Liamputtong, 2008), different cultures may have different levels of trust in relation to the use of technology (Kim, 2008; Lee et al., 2013) and more specifically when it comes to having software installed on their personal computers, and therefore time for trust building must be built into future work.

Enhanced activities of daily living (EADLs) could be considered for future revised versions of the A-IADL-Q-UK and in relation to the assessment of computer use behaviours. EADLs have been defined as activities that involve new learning, hobbies and social engagement (Rogers et al., 1998). It would also be interesting to consider the sensitivity of EADL activities to functional impairment compared with more general IADL activities. A number of questions in the A-IADL-Q-UK could come under the category of EADL such as "Did they use a mobile phone?" and "Did they pay card or board games?" The concept of EADL and new learning might also have been helpful when developing the question "Did they use new technology?" This question was removed due to confusion about what it meant, but perhaps needs to be reconsidered in future revisions. One way of doing this would be to focus on new learning by asking "Did they learn to use new technology?" Furthermore, it would be useful in future

revisions of the questionnaire to consider activities that fall under the category of EADL, this could open up inclusion criteria for new activities that were suggested but discounted in the cultural adaptation because they were either not considered a cognitive task (i.e. "Did they exercise?") or considered to be more of a social task (i.e. "Did they socialise?"). With respect to assessment of computer use behaviours, future work could consider variations in computer use behaviours when engaging with EADL activities, for example mouse clicks when playing an online game or differences in time spent on social media platforms or video communication applications.

An important consideration for a study involving technology is the need for future proofing. We must plan for the next digital generation, but we do not know what that is going to be, although we do have some very clear indictors. The SAMS software was designed to be used on computers and the computer predictors are duration of use, keystrokes and mouse clicks. In recent years however, there has been a move from the use of computers to mobile devices. For example, recent statistics about internet usage show that in 2016 mobile and tablet internet usage (51.3%) exceeded desktop computers (48.7%) for the first time worldwide (StatCounter, 2016). In addition, technology is also changing in relation to keyboard and mouse. Potential replacements for the traditional keyboard and mouse include voice control, iris tracking technology and gesture interface (Chatterjee et al., 2015; Deng et al., 2017; Nonaka, 2003). One example of such replacements that are already being used in people's homes includes intelligent personal assistants (IPAs) such as Amazon's Alexa. IPA's perform personal tasks such as managing calendar events, creating to-do lists and providing weather information (Ford and Palmer, 2019). Not only could these types of devices take over traditional methods for interacting with computers, they are also designed with the management of daily activities in mind and could be very useful technology for supporting older generations with IADL. Therefore, the SAMS software will need to be developed for use on mobile devices and will need to consider voice control as a potential computer predictor. With such technological developments in mind, changes will also need to be made to the A-IADL-UK so that the activities are up to date, for example the inclusion of questions about tablets, smart watches and IPAs.

7.7. Implications for healthcare, policy and practice

The growth of technology for improving health and well-being (mHealth) provides an unprecedented opportunity to transform the healthcare sector and empower citizens in taking charge of their own health (Kostkova, 2015). The outcomes of the research reported in this thesis offer practical and relevant solutions for the assessment of functional capacity for clinicians, researchers and patients now and in the future. The A-IADL-Q-UK provides a subjective assessment of IADL, which includes activities that are meaningful for older adults in the UK and includes modern day activities such as mobile phone and internet use. This will give the clinician, researcher and patients a more relevant and appropriate understanding of changes in their functional ability.

The results from studies C and D emphasise the importance of considering the use of digital biomarkers now and in the future for the assessment of cognitive and functional ability. With further development, these novel digital biomarkers could enable in-home monitoring of cognitive ability that has the potential to detect problems with cognition earlier than conventional testing. Computer behaviour indicators would not be considered stand-alone substitutes for traditional psychometric tests, and, instead, should be used as a means to provide information about a person's cognitive status, in an ecologically relevant way, that would supplement and provide converging data with formal cognitive testing.

There also remain substantial challenges to the use of digital technologies as a method for monitoring cognitive and functional status. To prepare for digital technologies in the future, consideration must be given to both the patient and the clinician. Research in the field must maintain credibility and trust with the patient community through careful and thoughtfully planned procedures and the provision of sufficient information. Findings from the pilot (study B) were used to ensure that participants were provided with detailed information regarding the use of data and how it would be protected. It is necessary to educate clinicians about the meaning of outcomes from devices and when they may signal the need for more comprehensive testing (Gold et al., 2018). There is a general apprehension amongst clinicians as to the reliability and contribution of technological innovations. In his address to the House of Delegates at the American Medical Association (AMA) Annual Meeting (2016), AMA CEO James L Madara, M.D. expressed mixed feelings relating to emerging digital technologies for health:

"From ineffective electronic health records, to an explosion of direct-to-consumer digital health products, to apps of mixed quality – it's the digital snake oil of the early 21st century." (American Medical Association, 2016).

The successful development, integration and implementation of new digital health technologies require a radical shift from the traditional and single-disciplinary academic and clinical approaches (Kostkova, 2015). A joint multidisciplinary collaboration is required between healthcare professionals/medical scientists and computer scientists/engineers so both professions contribute to joint research at equal levels.

The demographic change associated with the aging population presents significant challenge for governments and society. Digital technologies can play a significant role in reducing the so-called 'burden of care' associated with the aging population (Damodaran et al., 2013). Computers and the internet are powerful assistive technologies, helping older adults to maintain their independence, social connectedness and sense of worth in the face of declining health or limited capabilities, as well as offering new opportunities to improve quality of life (Wangberg et al., 2008). It is therefore important to ensure that older adults are able to continue to use such technologies and to intervene if decline in ability to use the computer is identified. Furthermore, access to tools that can be used in the home to selfmonitor functional and cognitive abilities, can empower older adults to independently monitor and self-manage their conditions (Kostkova, 2015). In this PhD, participants who took part in studies B, C and D were interested in using the SAMS software to monitor their cognition as it might provide useful information about their health. Use of the SAMS software in the future can allow older adults to take ownership of their mental and physical well-being, maintain independence for longer and if decline is detected, seek help and start treatment earlier.

7.8. Conclusions

The ways in which we complete our daily activities are changing as technology develops. Therefore, it is essential to continuously update and redefine the ways in which we measure functional capacity for the assessment of cognitive decline in early dementia. It is also important that the instruments we use to measure function and cognition are meaningful to the lives of the people they assess. In this PhD this need has been addressed by culturally

adapting a subjective functional assessment scale for use in the UK. This scale includes activities relevant to the lives of older adults in the UK. After further testing, the self-report version will provide people, who may not have someone who can complete an informant version, with the opportunity to describe their own current abilities.

A novel digital biomarker records computer use behaviours, such as computer use duration and keystroke speed, which can provide an indication of a person's cognitive status and can differentiate between groups of varying cognitive abilities. Importantly, non-directed computer use behaviour, particularly keystroke speed, where the exact nature of the activities are unknown, can provide useful information about a person's cognitive abilities.

In conclusion, this PhD has contributed to the field of functional capacity measurement in two distinct ways: 1) producing a culturally-adapted subjective questionnaire, which provides a direct measure of IADL that has cultural and technological relevance to older adults in the UK, and a new self-report version; 2) establishing proof of principle for the use of computer use behaviour as a digital biomarker of cognitive health, that is passive, continuous and has the potential to be sensitive to early changes in cognition that could indicate subtle change in functional ability. Both of these measures have potential clinical utility: The A-IADL-Q-UK provides a subjective assessment of IADL that will give the clinician, researcher and patient a more relevant and appropriate understanding of changes in their functional ability. With further development, the novel digital biomarker could enable inhome monitoring of cognitive ability, which can provide information about a person's cognitive status, in an ecologically relevant way, which would supplement and provide converging data with formal cognitive testing.

References

NB. These references are for chapters 1, 2, 4 and 7. References for studies A, C and D can be found at the end of each respective chapter (3, 5 and 6).

- Abdulrab, K. & Heun, R. (2008). 'Subjective Memory Impairment. A review of its definitions indicates the need for a comprehensive set of standardised and validated criteria', *Eur Psychiatry*, 23(5), pp. 321-30.
- Aisen, P. S., Cummings, J., Jack, C. R., Morris, J. C., Sperling, R., Frölich, L., Jones, R. W., Dowsett, S. A., Matthews, B. R., Raskin, J., Scheltens, P. & Dubois, B. (2017). 'On the path to 2025: understanding the Alzheimer's disease continuum', *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, 9(1), p. 60.
- Albert, M. S., DeKosky, S. T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H. H., Fox, N. C., Gamst, A., Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W. J., Petersen, R. C., Snyder, P. J., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B. & Phelps, C. H. (2011). 'The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers & Dementia*, 7(3), pp. 270-279.
- Allain, P., Foloppe, D. A., Besnard, J., Yamaguchi, T., Etcharry-Bouyx, F., Le Gall, D., Nolin, P. & Richard, P. (2014). 'Detecting Everyday Action Deficits in Alzheimer's Disease Using a Nonimmersive Virtual Reality Kitchen', *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 20(5), pp. 468-477.
- Allaire, J. C., Gamaldo, A., Ayotte, B. J., Sims, R. & Whitfield, K. (2009). 'Mild cognitive impairment and objective instrumental everyday functioning: the everyday cognition battery memory test', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 57(1), pp. 120-5.
- Alzheimer's Research UK (2018). *Diagnoses in the UK*. Available at: <u>https://www.dementiastatistics.org/statistics/diagnoses-in-the-uk/</u> (Accessed: 18/03/2019).
- Amariglio, R. E., Becker, J. A., Carmasin, J., Wadsworth, L. P., Lorius, N., Sullivan, C., Maye, J. E., Gidicsin, C., Pepin, L. C., Sperling, R. A., Johnson, K. A. & Rentz, D. M. (2012). 'Subjective cognitive complaints and amyloid burden in cognitively normal older individuals', *Neuropsychologia*, 50(12), pp. 2880-6.
- American Psychiatric Association (1987). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Revised Third Edition.* Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Atkins, A. S., Khan, A., Ulshen, D., Vaughan, A., Balentin, D., Dickerson, H., Liharska, L. E., Plassman,
 B., Welsh-Bohmer, K. & Keefe, R. S. E. (2018). 'Assessment of Instrumental Activities of Daily
 Living in Older Adults with Subjective Cognitive Decline Using the Virtual Reality Functional
 Capacity Assessment Tool (VRFCAT)', J Prev Alzheimers Dis, 5(4), pp. 216-234.
- Austin, D., Jimison, H., Hayes, T., Mattek, N., Kaye, J. & Pavel, M. (2011). 'Measuring motor speed through typing: a surrogate for the finger tapping test', *Behavior Research Methods*, 43(4), pp. 903-909.
- Austin, J., Hollingshead, K. & Kaye, J. (2017). 'Internet Searches and Their Relationship to Cognitive Function in Older Adults: Cross-Sectional Analysis', *J Med Internet Res*, 19(9), p. e307.
- Barnett, J. H., Lewis, L., Blackwell, A. D. & Taylor, M. (2014). 'Early intervention in Alzheimer's disease: a health economic study of the effects of diagnostic timing', *BMC neurology*, 14, pp. 101-101.
- Basso, M. R., Carona, F. D., Lowery, N. & Axelrod, B. N. (2002). 'Practice Effects on the WAIS-III Across 3- and 6-Month Intervals', *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 16(1), pp. 57-63.
- Beerens, H. C., de Boer, B., Zwakhalen, S. M., Tan, F. E., Ruwaard, D., Hamers, J. P. & Verbeek, H. (2016). 'The association between aspects of daily life and quality of life of people with dementia living in long-term care facilities: a momentary assessment study', *Int Psychogeriatr*, 28(8), pp. 1323-31.

- Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., Wikler, E. M., Weldon, K. J., Georges, J., Baumgart, M. & Kallmyer, B. A. (2012). 'The Impact of Experience with a Family Member with Alzheimer's Disease on Views about the Disease across Five Countries', *International journal of Alzheimer's disease*, 2012, pp. 903645-903645.
- Bombin, I., Santiago-Ramajo, S., Garolera, M., Vega-Gonzalez, E. M., Cerulla, N., Caracuel, A., Cifuentes, A., Bascaran, M. T. & Bobes, J. (2012). 'Functional impairment as a defining feature of: amnestic MCI cognitive, emotional, and demographic correlates', *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(9), pp. 1494-1504.
- Burns, A. (2012). The benefits of early diagnosis of dementia. BMJ.
- Burns, A. & Zaudig, M. (2002). 'Mild cognitive impairment in older people', *Lancet*, 360(9349), pp. 1963-5.
- Buttarelli, G. (2017). 'Privacy matters: updating human rights for the digital society', *Health and Technology*, 7(4), pp. 325-328.
- Cahn-Weiner, D. A., Farias, S. T., Julian, L., Harvey, D. J., Kramer, J. H., Reed, B. R., Mungas, D., Wetzel, M. & Chui, H. (2007). 'Cognitive and neuroimaging predictors of instrumental activities of daily living', *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 13(5), pp. 747-57.
- Canevelli, M., Blasimme, A., Vanacore, N., Bruno, G. & Cesari, M. (2014). 'Issues about the use of subjective cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease research', *Alzheimers & Dementia*, 10(6), pp. 881-+.
- Carmeli, E., Patish, H. & Coleman, R. (2003). 'The Aging Hand', *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*, 58(2), pp. M146-M152.
- Charness, N. & Boot, W. R. (2009). 'Aging and Information Technology Use:Potential and Barriers', *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(5), pp. 253-258.
- Chatterjee, I., Xiao, R. & Harrison, C. 'Gaze+Gesture: Expressive, Precise and Targeted Free-Space Interactions', *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM on International Conference on Multimodal Interaction*, Seattle, Washington, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, pp. 131–138.
- Chen, Y., Denny, K. G., Harvey, D., Farias, S. T., Mungas, D., DeCarli, C. & Beckett, L. (2017).
 'Progression from normal cognition to mild cognitive impairment in a diverse clinic-based and community-based elderly cohort', *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 13(4), pp. 399-405.
- Chertkow, H., Feldman, H. H., Jacova, C. & Massoud, F. (2013). 'Definitions of dementia and predementia states in Alzheimer's disease and vascular cognitive impairment: consensus from the Canadian conference on diagnosis of dementia', *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 5(Suppl 1), p. S2.
- Cook, S. & Marsiske, M. (2006). 'Subjective memory beliefs and cognitive performance in normal and mildly impaired older adults', *Aging Ment Health*, 10(4), pp. 413-23.
- Coravos, A., Khozin, S. & Mandl, K. D. (2019). 'Developing and adopting safe and effective digital biomarkers to improve patient outcomes', *npj Digital Medicine*, 2(1), p. 14.
- Cotelli, M., Manenti, R. & Zanetti, O. (2012). 'Reminiscence therapy in dementia: a review', *Maturitas*, 72(3), pp. 203-5.
- Couth, S., Stringer, G., Leroi, I., Sutcliffe, A. G., Gledson, A., Bruno, D., McDonald, K. R., Montaldi, D., Poliakoff, E., Rust, J., Thompson, J. C. & Brown, L. J. (2019). 'Which computer-use behaviours are most indicative of cognitive decline? Insights from an expert reference group', *Health Informatics Journal*, 25(3), pp. 1053-1064.
- Crocco, E., Curiel, R. E., Acevedo, A., Czaja, S. J. & Loewenstein, D. A. (2014). 'An Evaluation of Deficits in Semantic Cueing and Proactive and Retroactive Interference as Early Features of Alzheimer's Disease', *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22(9), pp. 889-897.
- Crocco, E. A., Loewenstein, D. A., Curiel, R. E., Alperin, N., Czaja, S. J., Harvey, P. D., Sun, X., Lenchus, J., Raffo, A., Peñate, A., Melo, J., Sang, L., Valdivia, R. & Cardenas, K. (2018). 'A novel cognitive assessment paradigm to detect Pre-mild cognitive impairment (PreMCI) and the relationship to biological markers of Alzheimer's disease', *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 96, pp. 33-38.
- Croisile, B., Auriacombe, S., Etcharry-Bouyx, F., Vercelletto, M., National Institute on, A. & Alzheimer, A. (2012). '[The new 2011 recommendations of the National Institute on Aging and the Alzheimer's Association on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease: Preclinal stages, mild cognitive impairment, and dementia]', *Rev Neurol (Paris)*, 168(6-7), pp. 471-82.
- Crook, T., Bartus, R. T., Ferris, S. H., Whitehouse, P., Cohen, G. D. & Gershon, S. (1986). 'Age-Associated Memory Impairment: Proposed Diagnostic Criteria and Measures of Clinical Change - Report of a National Institute of Mental Health Work Group', *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 2(4), pp. 261-276.
- Csukly, G., Sirály, E., Fodor, Z., Horváth, A., Salacz, P., Hidasi, Z., Csibri, É., Rudas, G. & Szabó, Á. (2016). 'The Differentiation of Amnestic Type MCI from the Non-Amnestic Types by Structural MRI', *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*, 8, pp. 52-52.
- Czaja, S. J., Loewenstein, D. A., Lee, C. C., Fu, S. H. & Harvey, P. D. (2017). 'Assessing functional performance using computer-based simulations of everyday activities', *Schizophr Res*, 183, pp. 130-136.
- Czaja, S. J., Loewenstein, D. A., Sabbag, S. A., Curiel, R. E., Crocco, E. & Harvey, P. D. (2017). 'A Novel Method for Direct Assessment of Everyday Competence Among Older Adults', *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD*, 57(4), pp. 1229-1238.
- Czaja, S. J. & Sharit, J. (2003). 'Practically relevant research: capturing real world tasks, environments, and outcomes', *Gerontologist*, 43 Spec No 1, pp. 9-18.
- Czaja, S. J., Sharit, J., Ownby, R., Roth, D. L. & Nair, S. (2001). 'Examining age differences in performance of a complex information search and retrieval task', *Psychol Aging*, 16(4), pp. 564-579.
- Damodaran, L., Olphert, W. & Damodaran, L. (2013). 'Older People and Digital Disengagement: A Fourth Digital Divide?', *Gerontology*, 59(6), pp. 564-570.
- de Paula, J. J., Albuquerque, M. R., Lage, G. M., Bicalho, M. A., Romano-Silva, M. A. & Malloy-Diniz, L. F. (2016). 'Impairment of fine motor dexterity in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease dementia: association with activities of daily living', *Braz J Psychiatry*, 38(3), pp. 235-8.
- Deary, I. J., Corley, J., Gow, A. J., Harris, S. E., Houlihan, L. M., Marioni, R. E., Penke, L., Rafnsson, S. B. & Starr, J. M. (2009). 'Age-associated cognitive decline', *Br Med Bull*, 92, pp. 135-52.
- Deloitte (2013). *Global Mobile Consumer Survey 2013*. Available at: <u>http://www.deloitte.co.uk/mobileuk2013/</u> (Accessed: 9th August).
- Deloitte (2017). State of the Smart. Consumer and business usage patterns. Global Mobile Consumer Survey 2017: UK Cut, London. Available at: <u>https://www.deloitte.co.uk/mobileuk2017/assets/img/download/global-mobile-consumer-</u> <u>survey-2017_uk-cut.pdf</u> (Accessed: 26th July 2019).
- Deng, S., Jiang, N., Chang, J., Guo, S. & Zhang, J. J. (2017). 'Understanding the impact of multimodal interaction using gaze informed mid-air gesture control in 3D virtual objects manipulation', *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 105, pp. 68-80.
- Department of Health (2005). *Mental Capacity Act.* London: HMSO. Available at: <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents</u>.
- Derouesne, C., Lacomblez, L., Thibault, S. & LePoncin, M. (1999). 'Memory complaints in young and elderly subjects', *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 14(4), pp. 291-301.
- Desai, A. K., Grossberg, G. T. & Sheth, D. N. (2004). 'Activities of daily living in patients with dementia: clinical relevance, methods of assessment and effects of treatment', *CNS Drugs*, 18(13), pp. 853-75.
- Di Carlo, A., Baldereschi, M., Lamassa, M., Bovis, F., Inzitari, M., Solfrizzi, V., Panza, F., Galluzzo, L., Scafato, E. & Inzitari, D. (2016). 'Daily Function as Predictor of Dementia in Cognitive Impairment, No Dementia (CIND) and Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI): An 8-Year Follow-Up in the ILSA Study', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 53(2), pp. 505-15.

- Dodge, H., Kaye, J., Zhu, J., Kornfeld, J. & Mattek, N. (2014). 'USE OF INTRA-INDIVIDUAL DISTRIBUTIONS OF DAILY ACQUIRED HOME-BASED MEASURES INCREASES RCT SENSITIVITY', *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 10(4, Supplement), p. P204.
- Dodge, H. H., Zhu, J., Mattek, N. C., Austin, D., Kornfeld, J. & Kaye, J. A. (2015). 'Use of High-Frequency In-Home Monitoring Data May Reduce Sample Sizes Needed in Clinical Trials', *PLOS ONE*, 10(9), p. e0138095.
- Dubbelman, M. A., Verrijp, M., Facal, D., Sánchez-Benavides, G., Brown, L. J. E., van der Flier, W. M., Jokinen, H., Lee, A., Leroi, I., Lojo-Seoane, C., Milosevic, V., Molinuevo, J. L., Pereiro Rozas, A. X., Ritchie, C. W., Salloway, S., Stringer, G., Zygouris, S., Dubois, B., Epelbaum, S., Scheltens, P., Sikkes, S. A. M. (2019). Cultural diversity and the measurement of functional impairment: A cross-cultural validation of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire. *eprint arXiv:1909.01915* [Online]. (Accessed:
- Dubois, B., Padovani, A., Scheltens, P., Rossi, A. & Dell'Agnello, G. (2016). 'Timely Diagnosis for Alzheimer's Disease: A Literature Review on Benefits and Challenges', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 49(3), pp. 617-31.
- Duff, K., Westervelt, H. J., McCaffrey, R. J. & Haase, R. F. (2001). 'Practice effects, test-retest stability, and dual baseline assessments with the California Verbal Learning Test in an HIV sample', *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 16(5), pp. 461-76.
- Edgar, C. J., Vradenburg, G. & Hassenstab, J. (2019). 'The 2018 Revised FDA Guidance for Early Alzheimer's Disease: Establishing the Meaningfulness of Treatment Effects', *The Journal of Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease*, 6(4), pp. 223-227.
- Edmonds, E. C., Weigand, A. J., Thomas, K. R., Eppig, J., Delano-Wood, L., Galasko, D. R., Salmon, D.
 P. & Bondi, M. W. (2018). 'Increasing Inaccuracy of Self-Reported Subjective Cognitive Complaints Over 24 Months in Empirically Derived Subtypes of Mild Cognitive Impairment', *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 24(8), pp. 842-853.
- Ein-Dor, P. & Segev, E. (1990). End-user computing: a cross-cultural study. *In:* Twenty-Third Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2-5 Jan. 1990 1990. pp. 240-250 vol.4.
- Ellis, K. A., Bush, A. I., Darby, D., De Fazio, D., Foster, J., Hudson, P., Lautenschlager, N. T., Lenzo, N., Martins, R. N., Maruff, P., Masters, C., Milner, A., Pike, K., Rowe, C., Savage, G., Szoeke, C., Taddei, K., Villemagne, V., Woodward, M. & Ames, D. (2009). 'The Australian Imaging, Biomarkers and Lifestyle (AIBL) study of aging: methodology and baseline characteristics of 1112 individuals recruited for a longitudinal study of Alzheimer's disease', *Int Psychogeriatr*, 21(4), pp. 672-87.
- Farias, S. T., Chou, E., Harvey, D. J., Mungas, D., Reed, B., DeCarli, C., Park, L. Q. & Beckett, L. (2013).
 'Longitudinal trajectories of everyday function by diagnostic status', *Psychol Aging*, 28(4), pp. 1070-5.
- Farias, S. T., Lau, K., Harvey, D., Denny, K. G., Barba, C. & Mefford, A. N. (2017). 'Early Functional Limitations in Cognitively Normal Older Adults Predict Diagnostic Conversion to Mild Cognitive Impairment', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 65(6), pp. 1152-1158.
- Farias, S. T., Mungas, D. & Jagust, W. (2005). 'Degree of discrepancy between self and otherreported everyday functioning by cognitive status: dementia, mild cognitive impairment, and healthy elders', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20(9), pp. 827-834.
- Farias, S. T., Mungas, D., Reed, B. R., Harvey, D., Cahn-Weiner, D. & DeCarli, C. (2006). 'MCI is associated with deficits in everyday functioning', *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 20(4), pp. 217-223.
- Fazeli, P. L., Ross, L. A., Vance, D. E. & Ball, K. (2013). 'The relationship between computer experience and computerized cognitive test performance among older adults', J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci, 68(3), pp. 337-46.
- Ferman, T. J., Smith, G. E., Kantarci, K., Boeve, B. F., Pankratz, V. S., Dickson, D. W., Graff-Radford, N. R., Wszolek, Z., Van Gerpen, J., Uitti, R., Pedraza, O., Murray, M. E., Aakre, J., Parisi, J.,

Knopman, D. S. & Petersen, R. C. (2013). 'Nonamnestic mild cognitive impairment progresses to dementia with Lewy bodies', *Neurology*, 81(23), pp. 2032-2038.

- Food and Drug Administration (2009). *Guidance for Industry Patient-Reported Outcome Measures: Use in Medical Product Development to Support Labeling Claims*. Available at: <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/77832/download</u>.
- Ford, M. & Palmer, W. (2019). 'Alexa, are you listening to me? An analysis of Alexa voice service network traffic', *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 23(1), pp. 67-79.
- Frank, L., Lenderking, W. R., Howard, K. & Cantillon, M. (2011). 'Patient self-report for evaluating mild cognitive impairment and prodromal Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 3(6), p. 35.
- Galasko, D., Bennett, D., Sano, M., Ernesto, C., Thomas, R., Grundman, M. & Ferris, S. (1997). 'An inventory to assess activities of daily living for clinical trials in Alzheimer's disease. The Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study', *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*, 11 Suppl 2(2), pp. S33-9.
- Giebel, C. M., Sutcliffe, C., Stolt, M., Karlsson, S., Renom-Guiteras, A., Soto, M., Verbeek, H.,
 Zabalegui, A., Challis, D. & Consortium, R. (2014). 'Deterioration of basic activities of daily
 living and their impact on quality of life across different cognitive stages of dementia: a
 European study', International Psychogeriatrics, 26(8), pp. 1283-1293.
- Gitlow, L. (2014). 'Technology Use by Older Adults and Barriers to Using Technology', *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, 32(3), pp. 271-280.
- Gold, D. A. (2012). 'An examination of instrumental activities of daily living assessment in older adults and mild cognitive impairment', *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 34(1), pp. 11-34.
- Gold, M., Amatniek, J., Carrillo, M. C., Cedarbaum, J. M., Hendrix, J. A., Miller, B. B., Robillard, J. M., Rice, J. J., Soares, H., Tome, M. B., Tarnanas, I., Vargas, G., Bain, L. J. & Czaja, S. J. (2018).
 'Digital technologies as biomarkers, clinical outcomes assessment, and recruitment tools in Alzheimer's disease clinical trials', *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)*, 4, pp. 234-242.
- Goldberg, T. E., Harvey, P. D., Wesnes, K. A., Snyder, P. J. & Schneider, L. S. (2015). 'Practice effects due to serial cognitive assessment: Implications for preclinical Alzheimer's disease randomized controlled trials', *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring*, 1(1), pp. 103-111.
- Goldberg, T. E., Koppel, J., Keehlisen, L., Christen, E., Dreses-Werringloer, U., Conejero-Goldberg, C., Gordon, M. L. & Davies, P. (2010). 'Performance-based measures of everyday function in mild cognitive impairment', *Am J Psychiatry*, 167(7), pp. 845-53.
- GOV.UK (2018). UK Data Protection Act. London. Available at: <u>http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted</u> (Accessed: 20th May 2020).
- Graff, M., Davies, J. & McNorton, M. (2004). 'Cognitive Style and Cross Cultural Differences in Internet Use and Computer Attitudes', *The European Journal of Open, Distance and E-Learning*, 7.
- Griffith, H. R., Belue, K., Sicola, A., Krzywanski, S., Zamrini, E., Harrell, L. & Marson, D. C. (2003).
 'Impaired financial abilities in mild cognitive impairment: a direct assessment approach', *Neurology*, 60(3), pp. 449-57.
- Gross, A. L., Rebok, G. W., Unverzagt, F. W., Willis, S. L. & Brandt, J. (2011). 'Cognitive predictors of everyday functioning in older adults: results from the ACTIVE Cognitive Intervention Trial', *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*, 66(5), pp. 557-66.
- Gure, T. R., Kabeto, M. U., Plassman, B. L., Piette, J. D. & Langa, K. M. (2010). 'Differences in functional impairment across subtypes of dementia', *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences*, 65(4), pp. 434-441.
- Hakensen, S. T. (2012). Early diagnosis will slow dementia. *ScienceNordic* [Online], (25th May 2013). Available at: <u>http://sciencenordic.com/early-diagnosis-will-slow-dementia</u> (Accessed: 2nd October 2015).

- Hanninen, T., Reinikainen, K. J., Helkala, E. L., Koivisto, K., Mykkanen, L., Laakso, M., Pyorala, K. & Riekkinen, P. J. (1994). 'Subjective memory complaints and personality traits in normal elderly subjects', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 42(1), pp. 1-4.
- Hart, T. A., Chaparro, B. S. & Halcomb, C. G. (2008). 'Evaluating websites for older adults: adherence to 'senior-friendly' guidelines and end-user performance', *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 27(3), pp. 191-199.
- Hartry, A., Aldhouse, N. V. J., Al-Zubeidi, T., Sanon, M., Stefanacci, R. G. & Knight, S. L. (2018). 'The conceptual relevance of assessment measures in patients with mild/mild-moderate Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 10, pp. 498-508.
- Harvard School of Public Health/Alzheimer Europe (2011). *Five-Country Alzheimer's Disease Survey*. Available at: <u>https://www.alzheimer-europe.org/Research/Value-of-Knowing/Public-attitudes-about-diagnosis</u> (Accessed: 16th August 2019).
- Hassan, Z. A., Schattner, P. & Mazza, D. (2006). 'Doing A Pilot Study: Why Is It Essential?', *Malaysian family physician : the official journal of the Academy of Family Physicians of Malaysia*, 1(2-3), pp. 70-73.
- Hedman, A., Kottorp, A., Almkvist, O. & Nygard, L. (2018). 'Challenge levels of everyday technologies as perceived over five years by older adults with mild cognitive impairment', *Int Psychogeriatr*, 30(10), pp. 1447-1454.
- Hedman, A., Nygard, L., Almkvist, O. & Kottorp, A. (2013). 'Patterns of functioning in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: a two-year study focusing on everyday technology use', *Aging & Mental Health*, 17(6), pp. 679-688.
- Hedman, A., Nygard, L., Almkvist, O. & Kottorp, A. (2015). 'Amount and type of everyday technology use over time in older adults with cognitive impairment', *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 22(3), pp. 196-206.
- Hedman, A., Nygard, L. & Kottorp, A. (2017). 'Everyday Technology Use Related to Activity Involvement Among People in Cognitive Decline', *Am J Occup Ther*, 71(5), pp. 7105190040p1-7105190040p8.
- Hesseberg, K., Tangen, G. G., Pripp, A. H. & Bergland, A. (2020). 'Associations between Cognition and Hand Function in Older People Diagnosed with Mild Cognitive Impairment or Dementia', *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders Extra*, 10(3), pp. 195-204.
- Humpel, C. (2011). 'Identifying and validating biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease', *Trends Biotechnol*, 29(1), pp. 26-32.
- Igbaria, M. & Zviran, M. (1991). 'End-user effectiveness: A cross-cultural examination', *Omega*, 19(5), pp. 369-379.
- Information Commissioner's Office (2018). *Guide to the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)*. UK: Information Commissioner's Office. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-</u> regulation (Accessed: 20th May 2020).
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Dunn, B., Haeberlein, S. B., Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W., Jessen, F., Karlawish, J., Liu, E., Molinuevo, J. L., Montine, T., Phelps, C., Rankin, K. P., Rowe, C. C., Scheltens, P., Siemers, E., Snyder, H. M., Sperling, R. & Contributors (2018). 'NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 14(4), pp. 535-562.
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Feldman, H. H., Frisoni, G. B., Hampel, H., Jagust, W. J., Johnson, K. A., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Scheltens, P., Sperling, R. A. & Dubois, B. (2016). 'A/T/N: An unbiased descriptive classification scheme for Alzheimer disease biomarkers', *Neurology*, 87(5), pp. 539-547.
- Jak, A. J., Bangen, K. J., Wierenga, C. E., Delano-Wood, L., Corey-Bloom, J. & Bondi, M. W. (2009). 'Contributions of neuropsychology and neuroimaging to understanding clinical subtypes of mild cognitive impairment', *Int Rev Neurobiol*, 84, pp. 81-103.

- Jefferson, A. L., Byerly, L. K., Vanderhill, S., Lambe, S., Wong, S., Ozonoff, A. & Karlawish, J. H. (2008). 'Characterization of activities of daily living in individuals with mild cognitive impairment', *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 16(5), pp. 375-83.
- Jekel, K., Damian, M., Storf, H., Hausner, L. & Frolich, L. (2016). 'Development of a Proxy-Free Objective Assessment Tool of Instrumental Activities of Daily Living in Mild Cognitive Impairment Using Smart Home Technologies', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 52(2), pp. 509-17.
- Jekel, K., Damian, M., Wattmo, C., Hausner, L., Bullock, R., Connelly, P. J., Dubois, B., Eriksdotter, M., Ewers, M., Graessel, E., Kramberger, M. G., Law, E., Mecocci, P., Molinuevo, J. L., Nygard, L., Olde-Rikkert, M. G., Orgogozo, J. M., Pasquier, F., Peres, K., Salmon, E., Sikkes, S. A., Sobow, T., Spiegel, R., Tsolaki, M., Winblad, B. & Frolich, L. (2015). 'Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: a systematic review', *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 7(1), p. 17.
- Jessen, F. (2014). 'Subjective and objective cognitive decline at the pre-dementia stage of Alzheimer's disease', *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 264(1), pp. S3-S7.
- Jessen, F., Amariglio, R. E., van Boxtel, M., Breteler, M., Ceccaldi, M., Chetelat, G., Dubois, B., Dufouil, C., Ellis, K. A., van der Flier, W. M., Glodzik, L., van Harten, A. C., de Leon, M. J., McHugh, P., Mielke, M. M., Molinuevo, J. L., Mosconi, L., Osorio, R. S., Perrotin, A., Petersen, R. C., Rabin, L. A., Rami, L., Reisberg, B., Rentz, D. M., Sachdev, P. S., de la Sayette, V., Saykin, A. J., Scheltens, P., Shulman, M. B., Slavin, M. J., Sperling, R. A., Stewart, R., Uspenskaya, O., Vellas, B., Visser, P. J., Wagner, M. & Subjective Cognitive Decline Initiative Working, G. (2014). 'A conceptual framework for research on subjective cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers Dement*, 10(6), pp. 844-52.
- Jessen, F., Wiese, B., Bachmann, C., Eifflaender-Gorfer, S., Haller, F., Kolsch, H., Luck, T., Mosch, E., van den Bussche, H., Wagner, M., Wollny, A., Zimmermann, T., Pentzek, M., Riedel-Heller, S. G., Romberg, H. P., Weyerer, S., Kaduszkiewicz, H., Maier, W., Bickel, H., German Study on Aging, C. & Dementia in Primary Care Patients Study, G. (2010). 'Prediction of dementia by subjective memory impairment: effects of severity and temporal association with cognitive impairment', *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 67(4), pp. 414-22.
- Jimison, H., Jessey, N., McKanna, J., Zitzelberger, T. & Kaye, J. (2006). Monitoring Computer Interactions to Detect Early Cognitive Impairment in Elders. *In*, 2-4 April 2006 2006. pp. 75-78.Available at: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ielx5/10817/34113/01624801.pdf?tp=&arnumber=1624801&isn

https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ielx5/10817/34113/01624801.pdf?tp=&arnumber=1624801&isn umber=34113.

- Jimison, H., Pavel, M., McKanna, J. & Pavel, J. (2004). 'Unobtrusive monitoring of computer interactions to detect cognitive status in elders', *IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed*, 8(3), pp. 248-52.
- Jimison, H. B., Pavel, M., Bissell, P. & McKanna, J. (2007). 'A Framework for Cognitive Monitoring Using Computer Game Interactions', *Medinfo 2007: Proceedings of the 12th World Congress* on Health (Medical) Informatics, Pts 1 and 2, 129(Pt 2), pp. 1073-+.
- Jutten, R. J., Peeters, C. F. W., Leijdesdorff, S. M. J., Visser, P. J., Maier, A. B., Terwee, C. B., Scheltens, P. & Sikkes, S. A. M. (2017). 'Detecting functional decline from normal aging to dementia: Development and validation of a short version of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire', *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 8, pp. 26-35.
- Kales, H. C., Chen, P., Blow, F. C., Welsh, D. E. & Mellow, A. M. (2005). 'Rates of clinical depression diagnosis, functional impairment, and nursing home placement in coexisting dementia and depression', Am J Geriatr Psychiatry, 13(6), pp. 441-9.
- Kang, H. S., Myung, W., Na, D. L., Kim, S. Y., Lee, J. H., Han, S. H., Choi, S. H., Kim, S., Kim, S. & Kim, D.
 K. (2014). 'Factors associated with caregiver burden in patients with Alzheimer's disease', *Psychiatry Investig*, 11(2), pp. 152-9.

- Kaye, J., Mattek, N., Dodge, H. H., Campbell, I., Hayes, T., Austin, D., Hatt, W., Wild, K., Jimison, H. & Pavel, M. (2014). 'Unobtrusive measurement of daily computer use to detect mild cognitive impairment', *Alzheimers & Dementia*, 10(1), pp. 10-17.
- Kim, D. J. (2008). 'Self-Perception-Based Versus Transference-Based Trust Determinants in Computer-Mediated Transactions: A Cross-Cultural Comparison Study', *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 24(4), pp. 13-45.
- Kim, K. R., Lee, K. S., Cheong, H. K., Eom, J. S., Oh, B. H. & Hong, C. H. (2009). 'Characteristic profiles of instrumental activities of daily living in different subtypes of mild cognitive impairment', *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 27(3), pp. 278-85.
- Knopman, D. S. & Petersen, R. C. (2014). 'Mild cognitive impairment and mild dementia: a clinical perspective', *Mayo Clinic proceedings*, 89(10), pp. 1452-1459.
- Konig, A., Crispim Junior, C. F., Derreumaux, A., Bensadoun, G., Petit, P. D., Bremond, F., David, R., Verhey, F., Aalten, P. & Robert, P. (2015). 'Validation of an automatic video monitoring system for the detection of instrumental activities of daily living in dementia patients', J Alzheimers Dis, 44(2), pp. 675-85.
- Korolev, I. O., Symonds, L. L. & Bozoki, A. C. (2016). 'Predicting Progression from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Dementia Using Clinical, MRI, and Plasma Biomarkers via Probabilistic Pattern Classification', *PLoS One*, 11(2), p. e0138866.
- Koster, N., Knol, D. L., Uitdehaag, B. M. J., Scheltens, P. & Sikkes, S. A. M. (2015). 'The sensitivity to change over time of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire©', *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, pp. 1-10.
- Kostkova, P. (2015). 'Grand challenges in digital health', *Frontiers in public health*, 3, pp. 134-134.
- Kourtis, L. C., Regele, O. B., Wright, J. M. & Jones, G. B. (2019). 'Digital biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: the mobile/wearable devices opportunity', *npj Digital Medicine*, 2(1), p. 9.
- Kraemer, M. J. & Flechais, I. (2018). Researching privacy in smart homes: A roadmap of future directions and research methods. *In:* Living in the Internet of Things: Cybersecurity of the IoT - 2018, 28-29 March 2018 2018. pp. 1-10.
- Kral, V. A. (1962). 'Senescent forgetfulness: benign and malignant', *Can Med Assoc J*, 86, pp. 257-60.
- Law, E., Starr, J. M. & Connelly, P. J. (2013). 'Dementia research--what do different public groups want? A survey by the Scottish Dementia Clinical Research Network', *Dementia (London)*, 12(1), pp. 23-8.
- Lee, S.-G., Trimi, S. & Kim, C. (2013). 'The impact of cultural differences on technology adoption', *Journal of World Business*, 48(1), pp. 20-29.
- Leontyev, A. & Yamauchi, T. (2019). 'Mouse movement measures enhance the stop-signal task in adult ADHD assessment', *PLOS ONE*, 14(11), p. e0225437.
- Li, N. & Kirkup, G. (2007). 'Gender and cultural differences in Internet use: A study of China and the UK', *Computers & Education*, 48(2), pp. 301-317.
- Lindbergh, C. A., Dishman, R. K. & Miller, L. S. (2016). 'Functional Disability in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', *Neuropsychol Rev*, 26(2), pp. 129-59.
- Link, M. W. & Mokdad, A. H. (2005). 'Alternative Modes for Health Surveillance Surveys: An Experiment with Web, Mail, and Telephone', *Epidemiology*, 16(5).
- Liphardt, A. M., Manger, E., Liehr, S., Bieniek, L., Kleyer, A., Simon, D., Tascilar, K., Sticherling, M., Rech, J., Schett, G. & Hueber, A. J. (2020). 'Similar Impact of Psoriatic Arthritis and Rheumatoid Arthritis on Objective and Subjective Parameters of Hand Function', ACR Open Rheumatol, 2(12), pp. 734-740.
- Liu, K. P. Y., Chan, C. C. H., Chu, M. M. L., Ng, T. Y. L., Chu, L. W., Hui, F. S. L., Yuen, H. K. & Fisher, A. G. (2007). 'Activities of daily living performance in dementia', *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 116(2), pp. 91-95.
- Loewenstein, D. A., Curiel, R. E., Duara, R. & Buschke, H. (2017a). 'Novel Cognitive Paradigms for the Detection of Memory Impairment in Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease', *Assessment*, 25(3), pp. 348-359.

- Loewenstein, D. A., Curiel, R. E., Wright, C., Sun, X., Alperin, N., Crocco, E., Czaja, S. J., Raffo, A., Penate, A., Melo, J., Capp, K., Gamez, M. & Duara, R. (2017b). 'Recovery from Proactive Semantic Interference in Mild Cognitive Impairment and Normal Aging: Relationship to Atrophy in Brain Regions Vulnerable to Alzheimer's Disease', *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 56, pp. 1119-1126.
- Lopez, O. L., Becker, J. T., Jagust, W. J., Fitzpatrick, A., Carlson, M. C., DeKosky, S. T., Breitner, J., Lyketsos, C. G., Jones, B., Kawas, C. & Kuller, L. H. (2006). 'Neuropsychological characteristics of mild cognitive impairment subgroups', *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry*, 77(2), pp. 159-165.
- Luck, T., Luppa, M., Wiese, B., Maier, W., van den Bussche, H., Eisele, M., Jessen, F., Weeg, D.,
 Weyerer, S., Pentzek, M., Leicht, H., Koehler, M., Tebarth, F., Olbrich, J., Eifflaender-Gorfer,
 S., Fuchs, A., Koenig, H. H. & Riedel-Heller, S. G. (2012). 'Prediction of incident dementia:
 impact of impairment in instrumental activities of daily living and mild cognitive impairmentresults from the German study on ageing, cognition, and dementia in primary care patients', *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 20(11), pp. 943-54.
- Lussier, M., Lavoie, M., Giroux, S., Consel, C., Guay, M., Macoir, J., Hudon, C., Lorrain, D., Talbot, L., Langlois, F., Pigot, H. & Bier, N. (2019). 'Early Detection of Mild Cognitive Impairment With In-Home Monitoring Sensor Technologies Using Functional Measures: A Systematic Review', *IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics*, 23(2), pp. 838-847.
- Malinowsky, C., Almkvist, O., Kottorp, A. & Nygard, L. (2010). 'Ability to manage everyday technology: a comparison of persons with dementia or mild cognitive impairment and older adults without cognitive impairment', *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol.*, 5, pp. 462 469.
- Malinowsky, C., Almkvist, O., Nygard, L. & Kottorp, A. (2012). 'Individual variability and environmental characteristics influence older adults' abilities to manage everyday technology', *Int Psychogeriatr*, 24(3), pp. 484-95.
- Mancioppi, G., Fiorini, L., Rovini, E., Zeghari, R., Gros, A., Manera, V., Mouton, A., Philippe, R. & Cavallo, F. (2020). 'How dominant hand dexterity could help in characterizing different grades of cognitive decline: A motor and cognitive dual-task study', *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 16(S11), p. e042645.
- Marshall, G. A., Aghjayan, S. L., Dekhtyar, M., Locascio, J. J., Jethwani, K., Amariglio, R. E., Czaja, S. J., Loewenstein, D. A., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A. & Rentz, D. M. (2019). 'Measuring instrumental activities of daily living in non-demented elderly: a comparison of the new performance-based Harvard Automated Phone Task with other functional assessments', *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 11(1), p. 4.
- Marshall, G. A., Dekhtyar, M., Bruno, J. M., Jethwani, K., Amariglio, R. E., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A. & Rentz, D. M. (2015a). 'The Harvard Automated Phone Task: new performance-based activities of daily living tests for early Alzheimer's disease', *J Prev Alzheimers Dis*, 2(4), pp. 242-253.
- Marshall, G. A., Rentz, D. M., Frey, M. T., Locascio, J. J., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A. & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2011). 'Executive function and instrumental activities of daily living in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers Dement*, 7(3), pp. 300-8.
- Marshall, G. A., Zoller, A. S., Lorius, N., Amariglio, R. E., Locascio, J. J., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A. & Rentz, D. M. (2015b). 'Functional Activities Questionnaire Items that Best Discriminate and Predict Progression from Clinically Normal to Mild Cognitive Impairment', *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 12(5), pp. 493-502.
- Marson, D. C., Martin, R. C., Wadley, V., Griffith, H. R., Snyder, S., Goode, P. S., Kinney, F. C., Nicholas, A. P., Steele, T., Anderson, B., Zamrini, E., Raman, R., Bartolucci, A. & Harrell, L. E. (2009). 'Clinical interview assessment of financial capacity in older adults with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 57(5), pp. 806-14.

- Martin, R. C., Gerstenecker, A., Triebel, K. L., Falola, M., McPherson, T., Cutter, G. & Marson, D. C. (2019). 'Declining Financial Capacity in Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Six-Year Longitudinal Study', *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 34(2), pp. 152-161.
- Masellis, M., Sherborn, K., Neto, P., Sadovnick, D. A., Hsiung, G. Y., Black, S. E., Prasad, S., Williams, M. & Gauthier, S. (2013). 'Early-onset dementias: diagnostic and etiological considerations', *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 5(Suppl 1), p. S7.
- Matías-Guiu, J. A., Curiel, R. E., Rognoni, T., Valles-Salgado, M., Fernández-Matarrubia, M., Hariramani, R., Fernández-Castro, A., Moreno-Ramos, T., Loewenstein, D. A. & Matías-Guiu, J. (2017). 'Validation of the Spanish Version of the LASSI-L for Diagnosing Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease', *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 56, pp. 733-742.
- Mattsson, N., Andreasson, U., Zetterberg, H. & Blennow, K. (2017). 'Association of Plasma Neurofilament Light With Neurodegeneration in Patients With Alzheimer Disease', *JAMA Neurol*, 74(5), pp. 557-566.
- McAlister, C. & Schmitter-Edgecombe, M. (2016). 'Everyday functioning and cognitive correlates in healthy older adults with subjective cognitive concerns', *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 30(7), pp. 1087-1103.
- McCausland, L. & Falk, N. L. (2012). 'From dinner table to digital tablet: technology's potential for reducing loneliness in older adults', *J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv*, 50(5), pp. 22-6.
- Mcconatha, D., Mcconatha, J. T. & Dermigny, R. (1994). 'The Use of Interactive Computer Services to Enhance the Quality-of-Life for Long-Term-Care Residents', *Gerontologist*, 34(4), pp. 553-556.
- McKhann, G. M., Knopman, D. S., Chertkow, H., Hyman, B. T., Jack, C. R., Kawas, C. H., Klunk, W. E., Koroshetz, W. J., Manly, J. J., Mayeux, R., Mohs, R. C., Morris, J. C., Rossor, M. N., Scheltens, P., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., Weintraub, S. & Phelps, C. H. (2011). 'The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers & Dementia*, 7(3), pp. 263-269.
- Medeiros Fde, L., Xavier, A. J., Schneider, I. J., Ramos, L. R., Sigulem, D. & d'Orsi, E. (2012). 'Digital inclusion and functional capacity of older adults living in Florianopolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil (EpiFloripa 2009-2010)', *Rev Bras Epidemiol*, 15(1), pp. 106-22.
- Melrose, R. J., Brommelhoff, J. A., Narvaez, T., Natta, L., Riskin-Jones, H. H., Sakhai, S., Wong, L., Curtis, S. & Horning, S. M. (2016). 'The use of Information and Communication technology when completing instrumental activities of daily living', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 63, pp. 471-479.
- Migliaccio, R., Tanguy, D., Bouzigues, A., Sezer, I., Dubois, B., Le Ber, I., Batrancourt, B., Godefroy, V. & Levy, R. (2020). 'Cognitive and behavioural inhibition deficits in neurodegenerative dementias', *Cortex; a journal devoted to the study of the nervous system and behavior,* 131, pp. 265-283.
- Mlinac, M. E. & Feng, M. C. (2016). 'Assessment of Activities of Daily Living, Self-Care, and Independence', Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 31(6), pp. 506-16.
- Molinuevo, J. L., Rabin, L. A., Amariglio, R., Buckley, R., Dubois, B., Ellis, K. A., Ewers, M., Hampel, H., Kloppel, S., Rami, L., Reisberg, B., Saykin, A. J., Sikkes, S., Smart, C. M., Snitz, B. E., Sperling, R., van der Flier, W. M., Wagner, M. & Jessen, F. (2017). 'Implementation of subjective cognitive decline criteria in research studies', *Alzheimers Dement*, 13(3), pp. 296-311.
- Montejo, P., Montenegro, M., Fernández, M. A. & Maestú, F. (2012). 'Memory complaints in the elderly: Quality of life and daily living activities. A population based study', *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 54(2), pp. 298-304.
- Morris, J. C. (1993). 'The Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR): current version and scoring rules', *Neurology*, 43(11), pp. 2412-4.
- Morris, J. C. (2012). 'Revised Criteria for Mild Cognitive Impairment May Compromise the Diagnosis of Alzheimer Disease Dementia', *Archives of Neurology*, 69(6), pp. 700-708.

- Mulvenna, M., Hutton, A., Coates, V., Martin, S., Todd, S., Bond, R. & Moorhead, A. (2017). 'Views of Caregivers on the Ethics of Assistive Technology Used for Home Surveillance of People Living with Dementia', *Neuroethics*, 10(2), pp. 255-266.
- Munoz-Neira, C., Lopez, O. L., Riveros, R., Nunez-Huasaf, J., Flores, P. & Slachevsky, A. (2012). 'The technology activities of daily living questionnaire: a version with a technology-related subscale', *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 33(6), pp. 361-71.
- Nakamura, A., Kaneko, N., Villemagne, V. L., Kato, T., Doecke, J., Doré, V., Fowler, C., Li, Q.-X.,
 Martins, R., Rowe, C., Tomita, T., Matsuzaki, K., Ishii, K., Ishii, K., Arahata, Y., Iwamoto, S., Ito,
 K., Tanaka, K., Masters, C. L. & Yanagisawa, K. (2018). 'High performance plasma amyloid-β
 biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease', *Nature*, 554(7691), pp. 249-254.
- Nasrallah, I. M. & Wolk, D. A. (2014). 'Multimodality imaging of Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative dementias', *J Nucl Med*, 55(12), pp. 2003-11.
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bedirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., Cummings, J.
 L. & Chertkow, H. (2005). 'The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 53(4), pp. 695-9.
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (2014). 'The Belmont Report. Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research', *J Am Coll Dent*, 81(3), pp. 4-13.
- Niemeijer, A. R., Frederiks, B. J. M., Depla, M. F. I. A., Legemaate, J., Eefsting, J. A. & Hertogh, C. M. P.
 M. (2011). 'The ideal application of surveillance technology in residential care for people with dementia', *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 37(5), p. 303.
- Nonaka, H. (2003). 'Communication Interface with Eye-Gaze and Head Gesture Using Successive DP Matching and Fuzzy Inference', *Journal of Intelligent Information Systems*, 21(2), pp. 105-112.
- Nordlund, A., Rolstad, S., Hellstrom, P., Sjogren, M., Hansen, S. & Wallin, A. (2005). 'The Goteborg MCI study: mild cognitive impairment is a heterogeneous condition', *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 76(11), pp. 1485-90.
- Nygard, L. (2003). 'Instrumental activities of daily living: a stepping-stone towards Alzheimer's disease diagnosis in subjects with mild cognitive impairment?', *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl*, 179, pp. 42-6.
- Nygard, L. & Kottorp, A. (2014). 'Engagement in instrumental activities of daily living, social activities, and use of everyday technology in older adults with and without cognitive impairment', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 77(11), pp. 565-573.
- Nygard, L., Pantzar, M., Uppgard, B. & Kottorp, A. (2012). 'Detection of activity limitations in older adults with MCI or Alzheimer's disease through evaluation of perceived difficulty in use of everyday technology: A replication study', *Aging & Mental Health*, 16(3), pp. 361-371.
- Office for National Statistics (2018). *Internet users, UK: 2018*, London. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/internetuse.</u>
- Office for National Statistics (2019a). *Exploring the UK's digital divide.* Office for National Statistics. Available at:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/homein ternetandsocialmediausage/articles/exploringtheuksdigitaldivide/2019-03-04 (Accessed: 30th April 2020).

- Office for National Statistics (2019b). *Internet users, UK: 2019*, London. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/internet</u> <u>users/2019</u> (Accessed: 04/02/2020).
- Okonkwo, O. C., Griffith, H. R., Copeland, J. N., Belue, K., Lanza, S., Zamrini, E. Y., Harrell, L. E., Brockington, J. C., Clark, D., Raman, R. & Marson, D. C. (2008). 'Medical decision-making capacity in mild cognitive impairment: a 3-year longitudinal study', *Neurology*, 71(19), pp. 1474-1480.

- Okonkwo, O. C., Wadley, V. G., Griffith, H. R., Ball, K. & Marson, D. C. (2006). 'Cognitive correlates of financial abilities in mild cognitive impairment', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 54(11), pp. 1745-50.
- Orsmond, G. I. & Cohn, E. S. (2015). 'The Distinctive Features of a Feasibility Study:Objectives and Guiding Questions', *OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health*, 35(3), pp. 169-177.
- Ovod, V., Ramsey, K. N., Mawuenyega, K. G., Bollinger, J. G., Hicks, T., Schneider, T., Sullivan, M., Paumier, K., Holtzman, D. M., Morris, J. C., Benzinger, T., Fagan, A. M., Patterson, B. W. & Bateman, R. J. (2017). 'Amyloid β concentrations and stable isotope labeling kinetics of human plasma specific to central nervous system amyloidosis', *Alzheimers Dement*, 13(8), pp. 841-849.
- Palmer, B. W., Savla, G. N., Roesch, S. C. & Jeste, D. V. (2013). 'Changes in capacity to consent over time in patients involved in psychiatric research', *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science*, 202(6), pp. 454-458.
- Pellegrini, E., Ballerini, L., Hernandez, M., Chappell, F. M., Gonzalez-Castro, V., Anblagan, D., Danso, S., Munoz-Maniega, S., Job, D., Pernet, C., Mair, G., MacGillivray, T. J., Trucco, E. & Wardlaw, J. M. (2018). 'Machine learning of neuroimaging for assisted diagnosis of cognitive impairment and dementia: A systematic review', *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 10, pp. 519-535.
- Pereira, F. S., Yassuda, M. S., Oliveira, A. M., Diniz, B. S., Radanovic, M., Talib, L. L., Gattaz, W. F. & Forlenza, O. V. (2010). 'Profiles of functional deficits in mild cognitive impairment and dementia: benefits from objective measurement', *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 16(2), pp. 297-305.
- Peres, K., Helmer, C., Amieva, H., Orgogozo, J. M., Rouch, I., Dartigues, J. F. & Barberger-Gateau, P. (2008). 'Natural history of decline in instrumental activities of daily living performance over the 10 years preceding the clinical diagnosis of dementia: a prospective population-based study', J Am Geriatr Soc, 56(1), pp. 37-44.
- Perneczky, R., Pohl, C., Sorg, C., Hartmann, J., Komossa, K., Alexopoulos, P., Wagenpfeil, S. & Kurz, A. (2006). 'Complex activities of daily living in mild cognitive impairment: conceptual and diagnostic issues', *Age Ageing*, 35(3), pp. 240-5.
- Petersen, R. C. (2004). 'Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity', *J Intern Med*, 256(3), pp. 183-94.
- Petersen, R. C., Caracciolo, B., Brayne, C., Gauthier, S., Jelic, V. & Fratiglioni, L. (2014). 'Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution', *J Intern Med*, 275(3), pp. 214-28.
- Petersen, R. C., Doody, R., Kurz, A., Mohs, R. C., Morris, J. C., Rabins, P. V., Ritchie, K., Rossor, M., Thal, L. & Winblad, B. (2001). 'Current concepts in mild cognitive impairment', *Arch Neurol*, 58(12), pp. 1985-92.
- Petersen, R. C., Smith, G. E., Waring, S. C., Ivnik, R. J., Kokmen, E. & Tangelos, E. G. (2005). 'Aging, Memory, and Mild Cognitive Impairment', *International Psychogeriatrics*, 9(S1), pp. 65-69.
- Petrini, C. (2010). 'Informed consent in experimentation involving mentally impaired persons: ethical issues', *Ann Ist Super Sanita*, 46(4), pp. 411-21.
- Poulos, C. J., Bayer, A., Beaupre, L., Clare, L., Poulos, R. G., Wang, R. H., Zuidema, S. & McGilton, K. S. (2017). 'A comprehensive approach to reablement in dementia', *Alzheimers Dement (N Y)*, 3(3), pp. 450-458.
- Puente, A. N., Terry, D. P., Faraco, C. C., Brown, C. L. & Miller, L. S. (2014). 'Functional Impairment in Mild Cognitive Impairment Evidenced Using Performance-Based Measurement', *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 27(4), pp. 253-258.
- Rabinowitz, I. & Lavner, Y. (2014). 'Association between finger tapping, attention, memory, and cognitive diagnosis in elderly patients', *Percept Mot Skills*, 119(1), pp. 259-78.
- Rami, L., Mollica, M. A., Garcia-Sanchez, C., Saldana, J., Sanchez, B., Sala, I., Valls-Pedret, C., Castellvi, M., Olives, J. & Molinuevo, J. L. (2014). 'The Subjective Cognitive Decline Questionnaire (SCD-Q): a validation study', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 41(2), pp. 453-66.
- Rasmussen, J. & Langerman, H. (2019). 'Alzheimer's Disease Why We Need Early Diagnosis', Degenerative neurological and neuromuscular disease, 9, pp. 123-130.

- Razani, J., Kakos, B., Orieta-Barbalace, C., Wong, J. T., Casas, R., Lu, P., Alessi, C. & Josephson, K. (2007). 'Predicting caregiver burden from daily functional abilities of patients with mild dementia', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 55(9), pp. 1415-20.
- Ready, R. E., Ott, B. R. & Grace, J. (2004). 'Validity of informant reports about AD and MCI patients' memory', *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*, 18(1), pp. 11-6.
- Reisberg, B. & Gauthier, S. (2008). 'Current evidence for subjective cognitive impairment (SCI) as the pre-mild cognitive impairment (MCI) stage of subsequently manifest Alzheimer's disease', *Int Psychogeriatr*, 20(1), pp. 1-16.
- Reisberg, B., Prichep, L., Mosconi, L., John, E. R., Glodzik-Sobanska, L., Boksay, I., Monteiro, I., Torossian, C., Vedvyas, A., Ashraf, N., Jamil, I. A. & de Leon, M. J. (2008). 'The pre-mild cognitive impairment, subjective cognitive impairment stage of Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers Dement*, 4(1 Suppl 1), pp. S98-s108.
- Reisberg, B., Shulman, M. B., Torossian, C., Leng, L. & Zhu, W. (2010). 'Outcome over seven years of healthy adults with and without subjective cognitive impairment', *Alzheimers & Dementia*, 6(1), pp. 11-24.
- Reppermund, S., Brodaty, H., Crawford, J. D., Kochan, N. A., Draper, B., Slavin, M. J., Trollor, J. N. & Sachdev, P. S. (2013). 'Impairment in instrumental activities of daily living with high cognitive demand is an early marker of mild cognitive impairment: the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study', *Psychological Medicine*, 43(11), pp. 2437-2445.
- Ries, M. L., Jabbar, B. M., Schmitz, T. W., Trivedi, M. A., Gleason, C. E., Carlsson, C. M., Rowley, H. A., Asthana, S. & Johnson, S. C. (2007). 'Anosognosia in mild cognitive impairment: Relationship to activation of cortical midline structures involved in self-appraisal', *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 13(3), pp. 450-61.
- Riva, M., Caratozzolo, S., Cerea, E., Gottardi, F., Zanetti, M., Vicini Chilovi, B., Cristini, C., Padovani, A.
 & Rozzini, L. (2014). 'Diagnosis disclosure and advance care planning in Alzheimer disease: opinions of a sample of Italian citizens', *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 26(4), pp. 427-34.
- Roberts, R. O., Knopman, D. S., Mielke, M. M., Cha, R. H., Pankratz, V. S., Christianson, T. J., Geda, Y. E., Boeve, B. F., Ivnik, R. J., Tangalos, E. G., Rocca, W. A. & Petersen, R. C. (2014). 'Higher risk of progression to dementia in mild cognitive impairment cases who revert to normal', *Neurology*, 82(4), pp. 317-25.
- Rodakowski, J., Skidmore, E. R., Reynolds, C. F., 3rd, Dew, M. A., Butters, M. A., Holm, M. B., Lopez, O. L. & Rogers, J. C. (2014). 'Can performance on daily activities discriminate between older adults with normal cognitive function and those with mild cognitive impairment?', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 62(7), pp. 1347-52.
- Roehr, S., Riedel-Heller, S. G., Kaduszkiewicz, H., Wagner, M., Fuchs, A., van der Leeden, C., Wiese, B., Werle, J., Bickel, H., Konig, H. H., Wolfsgruber, S., Pentzek, M., Weeg, D., Mamone, S., Weyerer, S., Brettschneider, C., Maier, W., Scherer, M., Jessen, F. & Luck, T. (2019). 'Is function in instrumental activities of daily living a useful feature in predicting Alzheimer's disease dementia in subjective cognitive decline?', *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 34(1), pp. 193-203.
- Rog, L. A., Park, L. Q., Harvey, D. J., Huang, C. J., Mackin, S. & Farias, S. T. (2014). 'The independent contributions of cognitive impairment and neuropsychiatric symptoms to everyday function in older adults', *Clin Neuropsychol*, 28(2), pp. 215-36.
- Rogers, W. A., Meyer, B., Walker, N. & Fisk, A. D. (1998). 'Functional limitations to daily living tasks in the aged: a focus group analysis', *Human factors,* 40(1), pp. 111-125.
- Ronnlund, M., Sundstrom, A., Adolfsson, R. & Nilsson, L. G. (2015). 'Self-Reported Memory Failures: Associations with Future Dementia in a Population-Based Study with Long-Term Follow-Up', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 63(9), pp. 1766-73.
- Rosenberg, L., Kottorp, A., Winblad, B. & Nygard, L. (2009). 'Perceived difficulty in everyday technology use among older adults with or without cognitive deficits', *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 16(4), pp. 216-226.

- Royall, D. R., Lauterbach, E. C., Kaufer, D., Malloy, P., Coburn, K. L., Black, K. J. & Committee on Research of the American Neuropsychiatric, A. (2007). 'The cognitive correlates of functional status: a review from the Committee on Research of the American Neuropsychiatric Association', J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 19(3), pp. 249-65.
- Rueda, A. D., Lau, K. M., Saito, N., Harvey, D., Risacher, S. L., Aisen, P. S., Petersen, R. C., Saykin, A. J.
 & Farias, S. T. (2015). 'Self-rated and informant-rated everyday function in comparison to objective markers of Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimers Dement*, 11(9), pp. 1080-9.
- Sacco, G., Joumier, V., Darmon, N., Dechamps, A., Derreumaux, A., Lee, J. H., Piano, J., Bordone, N., Konig, A., Teboul, B., David, R., Guerin, O., Bremond, F. & Robert, P. (2012). 'Detection of activities of daily living impairment in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment using information and communication technology', *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 7, pp. 539-549.
- Sacuiu, S., Eckerstrom, M., Johansson, L., Kern, S., Sigstrom, R., Xinxin, G., Ostling, S. & Skoog, I. (2018). 'Increased Risk of Dementia in Subjective Cognitive Decline if CT Brain Changes are Present', J Alzheimers Dis, 66(2), pp. 483-495.
- Saracutu, M., Edwards, D. J., Davies, H. & Rance, J. (2018). 'Protocol for a feasibility and acceptability study using a brief ACT-based intervention for people from Southwest Wales who live with persistent pain', *BMJ Open*, 8(11), p. e021866.
- Sargent-Cox, K., Cherbuin, N., Sachdev, P. & Anstey, K. J. (2011). 'Subjective Health and Memory Predictors of Mild Cognitive Disorders and Cognitive Decline in Ageing: The Personality and Total Health (PATH) through Life Study', *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 31(1), pp. 45-52.
- Scaravilli, T., Tolosa, E. & Ferrer, I. (2005). 'Progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration: lumping versus splitting', *Mov Disord*, 20 Suppl 12(12), pp. S21-8.
- Schmitter-Edgecombe, M., McAlister, C. & Weakley, A. (2012). 'Naturalistic assessment of everyday functioning in individuals with mild cognitive impairment: the day-out task', *Neuropsychology*, 26(5), pp. 631-41.
- Schmitter-Edgecombe, M. & Parsey, C. M. (2014). 'Cognitive correlates of functional abilities in individuals with mild cognitive impairment: comparison of questionnaire, direct observation, and performance-based measures', *Clin Neuropsychol*, 28(5), pp. 726-46.
- Schneider, L. (2020). 'A resurrection of aducanumab for Alzheimer's disease', *Lancet Neurol*, 19(2), pp. 111-112.
- Seelye, A., Hagler, S., Mattek, N., Howieson, D. B., Wild, K., Dodge, H. H. & Kaye, J. A. (2015).
 'Computer mouse movement patterns: A potential marker of mild cognitive impairment', *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 1(4), pp. 472-480.
- Seelye, A., Mattek, N., Howieson, D. B., Austin, D., Wild, K., Dodge, H. H. & Kaye, J. A. (2016). 'Embedded Online Questionnaire Measures Are Sensitive to Identifying Mild Cognitive Impairment', *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*, 30(2), pp. 152-9.
- Seelye, A., Mattek, N., Sharma, N., Riley, T., Austin, J., Wild, K., Dodge, H. H., Lore, E. & Kaye, J. (2018). 'Weekly observations of online survey metadata obtained through home computer use allow for detection of changes in everyday cognition before transition to mild cognitive impairment', *Alzheimers Dement*, 14(2), pp. 187-194.
- Seelye, A. M., Schmitter-Edgecombe, M., Cook, D. J. & Crandall, A. (2013). 'Naturalistic assessment of everyday activities and prompting technologies in mild cognitive impairment', J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 19(4), pp. 442-52.
- Seidler, R. D., Bernard, J. A., Burutolu, T. B., Fling, B. W., Gordon, M. T., Gwin, J. T., Kwak, Y. & Lipps, D. B. (2010). 'Motor control and aging: links to age-related brain structural, functional, and biochemical effects', *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews*, 34(5), pp. 721-733.
- Seligman, S. C., Giovannetti, T., Sestito, J. & Libon, D. J. (2014). 'A new approach to the characterization of subtle errors in everyday action: implications for mild cognitive impairment', *Clin Neuropsychol*, 28(1), pp. 97-115.

- Selwyn, N. (2004). 'The information aged: A qualitative study of older adults' use of information and communications technology', *Journal of Aging Studies*, 18(4), pp. 369-384.
- Sensales, G. & Greenfield, P. M. (1995). 'Attitudes toward Computers, Science, and Technology:A Cross-Cultural Comparison between Students in Rome and Los Angeles', *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 26(3), pp. 229-242.
- Seo, K., Kim, J. K., Oh, D. H., Ryu, H. & Choi, H. (2017). 'Virtual daily living test to screen for mild cognitive impairment using kinematic movement analysis', *PLoS One*, 12(7), p. e0181883.
- Shamoo, A. E., Johnson, J. R., Honberg, R., Flynn, L. (1997). *NAMI's standards for protection of individuals with severe mental illness who participate as human subjects in research*. The Netherlands: Gordon and Breach.
- Sikkes, S. A., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Pijnenburg, Y. A., Gillissen, F., Romkes, R., Knol, D. L.,
 Uitdehaag, B. M. & Scheltens, P. (2012). 'A new informant-based questionnaire for instrumental activities of daily living in dementia', *Alzheimers Dement*, 8(6), pp. 536-43.
- Sikkes, S. A., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Pijnenburg, Y. A., Scheltens, P. & Uitdehaag, B. M. (2009). 'A systematic review of Instrumental Activities of Daily Living scales in dementia: room for improvement', J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 80(1), pp. 7-12.
- Sikkes, S. A., Knol, D. L., Pijnenburg, Y. A., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Uitdehaag, B. M. & Scheltens, P. (2013). 'Validation of the Amsterdam IADL Questionnaire(c), a new tool to measure instrumental activities of daily living in dementia', *Neuroepidemiology*, 41(1), pp. 35-41.
- Sikkes, S. A., Visser, P. J., Knol, D. L., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., Tsolaki, M., Frisoni, G. B., Nobili, F.,
 Spiru, L., Rigaud, A. S., Frolich, L., Rikkert, M. O., Soininen, H., Touchon, J., Wilcock, G.,
 Boada, M., Hampel, H., Bullock, R., Vellas, B., Pijnenburg, Y. A., Scheltens, P., Verhey, F. R. &
 Uitdehaag, B. M. (2011). 'Do instrumental activities of daily living predict dementia at 1- and
 2-year follow-up? Findings from the Development of Screening guidelines and diagnostic
 Criteria for Predementia Alzheimer's disease study', J Am Geriatr Soc, 59(12), pp. 2273-81.
- Singh, J. A., Borowsky, S. J., Nugent, S., Murdoch, M., Zhao, Y., Nelson, D. B., Petzel, R. & Nichol, K. L. (2005). 'Health-related quality of life, functional impairment, and healthcare utilization by veterans: veterans' quality of life study', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 53(1), pp. 108-13.
- Slot, R. E. R., Sikkes, S. A. M., Berkhof, J., Brodaty, H., Buckley, R., Cavedo, E., Dardiotis, E., Guillo-Benarous, F., Hampel, H., Kochan, N. A., Lista, S., Luck, T., Maruff, P., Molinuevo, J. L., Kornhuber, J., Reisberg, B., Riedel-Heller, S. G., Risacher, S. L., Roehr, S., Sachdev, P. S., Scarmeas, N., Scheltens, P., Shulman, M. B., Saykin, A. J., Verfaillie, S. C. J., Visser, P. J., Vos, S. J. B., Wagner, M., Wolfsgruber, S., Jessen, F., Boada, M., de Deyn, P. P., Jones, R., Frisoni, G., Spiru, L., Nobili, F., Freund-Levi, Y., Soininen, H., Verhey, F., Wallin, Å. K., Touchon, J., Rikkert, M. O., Rigaud, A.-S., Bullock, R., Tsolaki, M., Vellas, B., Wilcock, G., Hampel, H., Froelich, L., Bakardjian, H., Benali, H., Bertin, H., Bonheur, J., Boukadida, L., Boukerrou, N., Cavedo, E., Chiesa, P., Colliot, O., Dubois, B., Dubois, M., Epelbaum, S., Gagliardi, G., Genthon, R., Habert, M.-O., Hampel, H., Houot, M., Kas, A., Lamari, F., Levy, M., Lista, S., Metzinger, C., Mochel, F., Nyasse, F., Poisson, C., Potier, M.-C., Revillon, M., Santos, A., Andrade, K. S., Sole, M., Surtee, M., Thiebaud de Schotten, M., Vergallo, A., Younsi, N. & van der Flier, W. M. (2019). 'Subjective cognitive decline and rates of incident Alzheimer's disease and non–Alzheimer's disease dementia', *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 15(3), pp. 465-476.
- Smith, G. E., Petersen, R. C., Ivnik, R. J., Malec, J. F. & Tangalos, E. G. (1996). 'Subjective memory complaints, psychological distress, and longitudinal change in objective memory performance', *Psychol Aging*, 11(2), pp. 272-9.
- StatCounter (2016). Mobile and tablet internet usage exceeds desktop for first time worldwide. StatCounter GlobalStats.
- Stavitsky, K., Brickman, A. M., Scarmeas, N., Torgan, R. L., Tang, M. X., Albert, M., Brandt, J., Blacker, D. & Stern, Y. (2006). 'The progression of cognition, psychiatric symptoms, and functional

abilities in dementia with Lewy bodies and Alzheimer disease', *Arch Neurol*, 63(10), pp. 1450-6.

- Stogmann, E., Moser, D., Klug, S., Gleiss, A., Auff, E., Dal-Bianco, P., Pusswald, G. & Lehrner, J. (2016).
 'Activities of Daily Living and Depressive Symptoms in Patients with Subjective Cognitive Decline, Mild Cognitive Impairment, and Alzheimer's Disease', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 49(4), pp. 1043-50.
- Stott, D. (2006). 'Cognitive decline in ageing', *Asian Journal of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 1(1), pp. 21-25.
- Stringer, G., Couth, S., Brown, L. J. E., Montaldi, D., Gledson, A., Mellor, J., Sutcliffe, A., Sawyer, P., Keane, J., Bull, C., Zeng, X., Rayson, P. & Leroi, I. (2018). 'Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline', *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 33(7), pp. 867-874.
- Stringer, G., Sawyer, P., Sutcliffe, A. & Leroi, L. (2016). 'From Click to Cognition: Detecting cognitive decline through daily computer use', in Bruno, D. (ed.) *The Preservation of Memory: Theory and Practice for Clinical and Non-Clinical Populations*. Oxon, UK: Psychology Press.
- Suzumura, S., Osawa, A., Maeda, N., Sano, Y., Kandori, A., Mizuguchi, T., Yin, Y. & Kondo, I. (2018).
 'Differences among patients with Alzheimer's disease, older adults with mild cognitive impairment and healthy older adults in finger dexterity', *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 18(6), pp. 907-914.
- Tabert, M. H., Albert, S. M., Borukhova-Milov, L., Camacho, Y., Pelton, G., Liu, X., Stern, Y. & Devanand, D. P. (2002). 'Functional deficits in patients with mild cognitive impairment: prediction of AD', *Neurology*, 58(5), pp. 758-64.
- Talmelli, L. F. d. S., Vale, F. d. A. C. d., Gratão, A. C. M., Kusumota, L. & Rodrigues, R. A. P. (2013).
 'Doença de Alzheimer: declínio funcional e estágio da demência', *Acta Paulista de Enfermagem*, 26, pp. 219-225.
- Tarawneh, R. & Holtzman, D. M. (2012). 'The clinical problem of symptomatic Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment', *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2(5), p. a006148.
- Thabane, L., Ma, J., Chu, R., Cheng, J., Ismaila, A., Rios, L. P., Robson, R., Thabane, M., Giangregorio,
 L. & Goldsmith, C. H. (2010). 'A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how', *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 10(1), p. 1.
- Thurston-Hicks, A., Paine, S. & Hollifield, M. (1998). 'Functional impairment associated with psychological distress and medical severity in rural primary care patients', *Psychiatr Serv*, 49(7), pp. 951-5.
- Tobiansky, R., Blizard, R., Livingston, G. & Mann, A. (1995). 'The Gospel Oak Study stage IV: the clinical relevance of subjective memory impairment in older people', *Psychol Med*, 25(4), pp. 779-86.
- Triebel, K. L., Martin, R., Griffith, H. R., Marceaux, J., Okonkwo, O. C., Harrell, L., Clark, D., Brockington, J., Bartolucci, A. & Marson, D. C. (2009). 'Declining financial capacity in mild cognitive impairment: A 1-year longitudinal study', *Neurology*, 73(12), pp. 928-34.
- Trigg, R., Jones, R. W. & Skevington, S. M. (2007). 'Can people with mild to moderate dementia provide reliable answers about their quality of life?', *Age and Ageing*, 36(6), pp. 663-669.
- Tun, P. A. & Lachman, M. E. (2010). 'The association between computer use and cognition across adulthood: use it so you won't lose it?', *Psychol Aging*, 25(3), pp. 560-8.
- van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. W. C., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H. C., Kelders, S. M., Eysenbach, G. & Seydel, E. R. (2011). 'A Holistic Framework to Improve the Uptake and Impact of eHealth Technologies', *J Med Internet Res*, 13(4), p. e111.
- van Teijlingen, E. & Hundley, V. (2002). 'The importance of pilot studies', *Nurs Stand*, 16(40), pp. 33-6.
- Visser, P. J., Verhey, F., Knol, D. L., Scheltens, P., Wahlund, L. O., Freund-Levi, Y., Tsolaki, M., Minthon, L., Wallin, A. K., Hampel, H., Burger, K., Pirttila, T., Soininen, H., Rikkert, M. O., Verbeek, M. M., Spiru, L. & Blennow, K. (2009). 'Prevalence and prognostic value of CSF

markers of Alzheimer's disease pathology in patients with subjective cognitive impairment or mild cognitive impairment in the DESCRIPA study: a prospective cohort study', *Lancet Neurol*, 8(7), pp. 619-27.

- Vizer, L. M. & Sears, A. (2015). 'Classifying Text-Based Computer Interactions for Health Monitoring', *leee Pervasive Computing*, 14(4), pp. 64-71.
- Vogel, A., Stokholm, J., Gade, A., Andersen, B. B., Hejl, A. M. & Waldemar, G. (2004). 'Awareness of deficits in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: do MCI patients have impaired insight?', *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 17(3), pp. 181-7.
- Vuori, S. & Holmlund-Rytkönen, M. (2005). '55+ people as internet users', *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 23(1), pp. 58-76.
- Wadley, V. G., Crowe, M., Marsiske, M., Cook, S. E., Unverzagt, F. W., Rosenberg, A. L. & Rexroth, D. (2007). 'Changes in everyday function in individuals with psychometrically defined mild cognitive impairment in the Advanced Cognitive Training for Independent and Vital Elderly Study', J Am Geriatr Soc, 55(8), pp. 1192-8.
- Wang, L., van Belle, G., Crane, P. K., Kukull, W. A., Bowen, J. D., McCormick, W. C. & Larson, E. B.
 (2004). 'Subjective memory deterioration and future dementia in people aged 65 and older', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 52(12), pp. 2045-51.
- Wangberg, S. C., Andreassen, H. K., Prokosch, H. U., Santana, S. M., Sorensen, T. & Chronaki, C. E. (2008). 'Relations between Internet use, socio-economic status (SES), social support and subjective health', *Health Promot Int*, 23(1), pp. 70-7.
- Warren, S. D. & Brandeis, L. D. (1890). 'The Right to Privacy', Harvard Law Review, 4(5), pp. 193-220.
- Watson, F. L., Pasteur, M.-A. L., Healy, D. T. & Hughes, E. A. (1994). 'Nine parallel versions of four memory tests: An assessment of form equivalence and the effects of practice on performance', *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental*, 9(1), pp. 51-61.
- Watson, R., Bryant, J., Sanson-Fisher, R., Mansfield, E. & Evans, T.-J. (2018). 'What is a 'timely' diagnosis? Exploring the preferences of Australian health service consumers regarding when a diagnosis of dementia should be disclosed', *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), p. 612.
- Weintraub, S., Carrillo, M. C., Farias, S. T., Goldberg, T. E., Hendrix, J. A., Jaeger, J., Knopman, D. S., Langbaum, J. B., Park, D. C., Ropacki, M. T., Sikkes, S. A. M., Welsh-Bohmer, K. A., Bain, L. J., Brashear, R., Budur, K., Graf, A., Martenyi, F., Storck, M. S. & Randolph, C. (2018a).
 'Measuring cognition and function in the preclinical stage of Alzheimer's disease', Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions, 4, pp. 64-75.
- Weintraub, S., Carrillo, M. C., Farias, S. T., Goldberg, T. E., Hendrix, J. A., Jaeger, J., Knopman, D. S., Langbaum, J. B., Park, D. C., Ropacki, M. T., Sikkes, S. A. M., Welsh-Bohmer, K. A., Bain, L. J., Brashear, R., Budur, K., Graf, A., Martenyi, F., Storck, M. S. & Randolph, C. (2018b).
 'Measuring cognition and function in the preclinical stage of Alzheimer's disease', *Alzheimer's & dementia (New York, N. Y.),* 4, pp. 64-75.
- Werner, P., Karnieli-Miller, O. & Eidelman, S. (2013). 'Current knowledge and future directions about the disclosure of dementia: a systematic review of the first decade of the 21st century', *Alzheimers Dement*, 9(2), pp. e74-88.
- Wesson, J., Clemson, L., Brodaty, H. & Reppermund, S. (2016). 'Estimating functional cognition in older adults using observational assessments of task performance in complex everyday activities: A systematic review and evaluation of measurement properties', *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 68, pp. 335-360.
- Weston, A., Barton, C., Lesselyong, J. & Yaffe, K. (2011). 'Functional deficits among patients with mild cognitive impairment', *Alzheimers & Dementia*, 7(6), pp. 611-614.
- Wijaythilake, M. A. D. K., Parrila, R., Inoue, T. & Nag, S. (2019). 'Cognitive predictors of word reading in Sinhala', *Reading and Writing*, 32(7), pp. 1881-1907.
- Williams, E. D., Tillin, T., Whincup, P., Forouhi, N. G. & Chaturvedi, N. (2012). 'Ethnic Differences in Disability Prevalence and Their Determinants Studied over a 20-Year Period: A Cohort Study', *PLOS ONE*, 7(9), p. e45602.

- Wilson, R. S., Mendes De Leon, C. F., Barnes, L. L., Schneider, J. A., Bienias, J. L., Evans, D. A. & Bennett, D. A. (2002). 'Participation in cognitively stimulating activities and risk of incident Alzheimer disease', *JAMA*, 287(6), pp. 742-8.
- Yang, M., Ding, X. & Dong, B. (2014). 'The measurement of disability in the elderly: a systematic review of self-reported questionnaires', *J Am Med Dir Assoc*, 15(2), pp. 150 e1-9.
- Zanetti, M., Ballabio, C., Abbate, C., Cutaia, C., Vergani, C. & Bergamaschini, L. (2006). 'Mild Cognitive Impairment Subtypes and Vascular Dementia in Community-Dwelling Elderly People: A 3-Year Follow-Up Study', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 54(4), pp. 580-586.
- Zissimopoulos, J., Crimmins, E. & St Clair, P. (2014). 'The Value of Delaying Alzheimer's Disease Onset', *Forum Health Econ Policy*, 18(1), pp. 25-39.
- Zoller, A. S., Gaal, I. M., Royer, C. A., Locascio, J. J., Amariglio, R. E., Blacker, D., Okereke, O. I., Johnson, K. A., Sperling, R. A., Rentz, D. M. & Marshall, G. A. (2014). 'SIST-M-IR Activities of Daily Living Items that Best Discriminate Clinically Normal Elderly from those with Mild Cognitive Impairment', *Current Alzheimer Research*, 11(8), pp. 785-791.

Appendices

Appendix A - Participant information sheets (study A)

Three separate information sheets are included for dementia professionals (clinicians) (Step 1), self-report participants and relatives (Step 1) and the applicability questionnaire participants (Step 2) used in Study A:

Stringer, G., Leroi, I., Sikkes, S. A. M., Montaldi, D. & Brown, L. J. E. (2020). 'Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire', International Psychogeriatrics, pp. 1-12.



Manchester Mental Health Mission And Social Care Trust

Daily Activities Project - Clinician Information Leaflet Clinician review

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study that is developing a measure of people's ability to complete daily activities, such as cooking a meal and using the telephone. This study is part of a PhD project being used for educational purposes.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve.

What is the study all about?

The study is taking a daily activities questionnaire developed in Amsterdam and modifying it to suit people in the UK. Measuring ability to complete daily activities is part of how we diagnose dementia, however current measures are not as good as we need them to be. Therefore we are doing this study so that we can improve the way we measure people's ability to complete daily activities. This will help to improve the way we diagnose and support people with dementia.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you are a clinician with experience of diagnosing dementia in the UK.

What will I be required to do?

We will ask you to read through the UK adapted questionnaire and to provide feedback about the clarity of the questions and the relevance of the activities.

The researchers will collect the feedback using a range of methods. A focus group will be organised where the questionnaire will be discussed and comments will be recorded. If you are unable to attend the focus group, your feedback will be collected either via a face to face or telephone interview or via email. In addition to handwritten notes taken by the researcher, the focus groups and interviews will be audio recorded with your permission. The audio recording can be stopped at any time and words deleted or replaced and a break from the questionnaire can be taken when required.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

Yes. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will ask you to complete a consent form. If you do decide to take part, you will be given this information sheet to keep and will be asked to sign a consent form. You are still free to withdraw at any time in the process of the study without giving a reason. If you decide not to take part, your employment will not be affected.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

Participants can withdraw from the study at any time without having to justify their decision. The data collected from you to the point of withdrawal will still be used.



National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

What will happen if I decide to take part?

If after reading this information sheet, you are happy to take part, then a suitable date and time will be arranged to complete the review. The discussion will take approximately 1 hour and the discussion will be audio recorded to supplement any notes taken by the researchers.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk in taking part in this study. The study may slightly inconvenience for about 1 hour.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to assess functional capacity and cognitive problems. It will increase knowledge in the scientific community and improve our understanding of functional capacity and how we improve our current ways of diagnosing dementia.

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect about you will be kept confidential.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data will be stored at the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

The audio recordings will be used for backup purposes only and will not be transcribed but may be used to check accuracy of the handwritten notes.

Anonymised direct quotes will be used in the final write up with your permission.

All data collected will be safely destroyed after 7 years in line with The University of Manchester policy.

Individuals from the University, regulatory authorities or NHS Trust may need to access the data collected to ensure that the study is being carried out properly. This is to protect you by ensuring that we are doing the research in a safe and ethical way. All individuals will be authorised representatives from each organisation and will have a **duty of confidentiality** to all research participants.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. **All your data will be anonymised** and **you will not be identified personally**.

What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, please ask to speak to the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions.

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing:

Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research you may have grounds for a legal action for compensation against the University of Manchester but you may have to pay your legal costs.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS research is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West - Preston.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact: Gemma Stringer (Research Associate) University of Manchester, Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road, Manchester, M13 9PL

Tel: 0161 306 7493 Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether to take part in the study



NHS National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Netwo Greater Manches

Daily Activities Project - Participant Information Leaflet Self-report/caregiver review

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study that is developing a measure of people's ability to complete daily activities, such as cooking a meal and using the telephone. This study is part of a PhD project being used for educational purposes.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is taking a daily activities questionnaire developed in Amsterdam and amending it to suit people in the UK. Measuring ability to complete daily activities is part of how we diagnose memory or thinking problems, however current measures are not as good as we need them to be. Therefore we are doing this study so that we can improve the way we measure people's ability to complete daily activities. This will help to improve the way we diagnose and support people with memory or thinking problems.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you are either someone who has been experiencing memory concerns or problems or you live with, are related to or care for someone with memory or thinking problems.

What will I be required to do?

We will ask you to complete a questionnaire about daily activities while thinking out loud. During the process the researchers will make notes, this is so that changes can be made to improve the questionnaire. The process will also be audio recorded with your permission to supplement the researcher's notes. The audio recording can be stopped at any time and words deleted or replaced and a break from the questionnaire can be taken when required.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

Yes. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will ask you to complete a consent form. If you do decide to take part, you will be given this information sheet to keep and will be asked to sign a consent form. You are still free to withdraw at any time in the process of the study without giving a reason. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

Participants can withdraw from the study at any time without having to justify their decision. The data collected from you to the point of withdrawal will still be used.

If you withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

If after reading this information sheet, you are happy to take part, a date and time will be arranged with you to complete the review process. You will be asked to attend a session at the University of Manchester or, if this is not possible, at your home address. The review process will take approximately 1 hour. You will be reimbursed for any reasonable travel expenses should you make a special trip to the University.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk in taking part in this study. The study may slightly inconvenience for about 1 hour.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to assess functional capacity and cognitive problems. It will increase knowledge in the scientific community and improve our understanding of functional capacity and how we improve our current ways of diagnosing memory or thinking problems.

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect will be kept confidential.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data will be stored at the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

The audio recordings will be used for backup purposes only and will not be transcribed but may be used to check accuracy of the handwritten notes.

Anonymised direct quotes will be used in the final write up with your permission.

All data collected will be safely destroyed after 7 years in line with The University of Manchester policy.

Individuals from the University, regulatory authorities or NHS Trust may need to access the data collected to ensure that the study is being carried out properly. This is to protect you by ensuring that we are doing the research in a safe and ethical way. All individuals will be authorised representatives from each organisation and will have a **duty of confidentiality** to all research participants.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. **All your data will be anonymised** and **you will not be identified personally**.

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way. If not, your data will be destroyed.

What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, please ask to speak to the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions.

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL, by emailing:

Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research you may have grounds for a legal action for compensation against the University of Manchester but you may have to pay your legal costs.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS research is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West - Preston.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate) University of Manchester, Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road, Manchester, M13 9PL

Tel: 0161 306 7493 Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether to take part in the study.



Daily Activities Project – Activities questionnaire Participant Information Leaflet

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study that is developing a measure of people's ability to complete daily activities, such as cooking a meal and using the telephone. This study is part of a PhD project being used for educational purposes.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is taking a daily activities questionnaire developed in Amsterdam and amending it to suit people in the UK. Measuring ability to complete daily activities is part of how we diagnose dementia, however current measures are not as good as we need them to be. Therefore we are doing this study so that we can improve the way we measure people's ability to complete daily activities. This will help to improve the way we diagnose and support people with dementia.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you are over 65 years old.

What will I be required to do?

We will ask you to complete a questionnaire, asking you about your daily activities. The questionnaire will take approximately 15 minutes. You will be provided with a pre-paid envelope for you to use to return the completed questionnaire. This information sheet is for you to keep.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

Yes. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do wish to take part, we will ask you to complete the questionnaire. If you choose to complete the questionnaire you are consenting for the information you provide to be used in the study. If you do not want to take part, then please dispose of the questionnaire.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to assess functional capacity and cognitive problems. It will increase knowledge in the scientific community and improve our understanding of functional capacity and how we improve our current ways of diagnosing dementia.

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect about you will be kept confidential. All of your questionnaire answers are anonymous and cannot be linked to your personal information.



National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The anonymous research data will be stored at the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

Individuals from the University, regulatory authorities or NHS Trust may need to access the data collected to ensure that the study is being carried out properly. This is to protect you by ensuring that we are doing the research in a safe and ethical way. All individuals will be authorised representatives from each organisation and will have a **duty of confidentiality** to all research participants.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. **All your data will be anonymised** and **you will not be identified personally**.

What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, please ask to speak to the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions.

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL, by emailing:

Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research you may have grounds for a legal action for compensation against the University of Manchester but you may have to pay your legal costs.

Who has reviewed the study?

This research has been looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West - Preston.

Who can I contact for further information? For more information, please contact: Gemma Stringer (Research Associate) University of Manchester, Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road, Manchester, M13 9PL Tel: 0161 306 7493 Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information and considering whether to take part in the study.



Appendix B – Recruitment materials (study A)

Three separate recruitment materials used in study A are included: the advert for self-report participants and relatives (Step 1), the letter of invite for self-report participants and relatives (Step 1) and the letter of invite for the applicability questionnaire participants (Step 2):

Stringer, G., Leroi, I., Sikkes, S. A. M., Montaldi, D. & Brown, L. J. E. (2020). 'Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire', International Psychogeriatrics, pp. 1-12.





Manchester Mental Health

Are you over 65 and want to contribute to memory research?

Have you been diagnosed with a mild memory problem or do you care for someone who has?

We are seeking volunteers to help in a study investigating the ability to complete everyday tasks when you have memory difficulties.



If you are interested in finding out more about this research and the possibility of taking part <u>please contact</u>:

Gemma Stringer

The University of Manchester

Tel: 0161 306 7493



The University of Manchester Institute of Brain Behaviour and Mental Health Room 3.306, 3rd Floor Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road Manchester, M13 9PL Tel: 0161 306 7493 Email: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

[Name and address of participant]

[date]

[Dear [insert participant name]]

RE: Daily Activities Project

Thank you for expressing an interest in hearing more about the Daily Activities Project.

We are seeking volunteers over 65 years old to help in a study that is developing a measure of people's ability to complete daily activities, such as cooking a meal and using the telephone. We will do this by developing a current measure of daily activities to make it more appropriate for use in the UK.

Measuring ability to complete daily activities is part of how we diagnose dementia, however current measures are not as good as we need them to be. Therefore we are doing this study so that we can improve the way we measure people's ability to complete daily activities. This will help to improve the way we diagnose and support people with dementia.

A full information sheet explaining the study in more detail is enclosed. We would appreciate it if you could read the information sheet and let us know by phone or email if you are interested in taking part.

Please contact Gemma Stringer (Research Associate) Tel: 0161 306 7493 or email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk if you have any questions about the study.

Yours sincerely





Dr Iracema Leroi Clinical Senior Lecturer / Honorary Consultant

Enc: Participant Information Sheet



The University of Manchester Institute of Brain Behaviour and Mental Health Room 3.309, 3rd Floor Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road Manchester, M13 9PL Tel: 0161 306 7493 Email: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Dear Sir/Madam

RE: Daily Activities Project

Thank you for expressing an interest in hearing more about the Daily Activities Project.

We are seeking volunteers over 65 years old to help in a study that is developing a measure of people's ability to complete daily activities, such as cooking a meal and using the telephone. We will do this by developing a current measure of daily activities to make it more appropriate for use in the UK.

Measuring ability to complete daily activities is part of how we diagnose dementia, however current measures are not as good as we need them to be. Therefore we are doing this study so that we can improve the way we measure people's ability to complete daily activities. This will help to improve the way we diagnose and support people with dementia.

A full information sheet explaining the study in more detail is enclosed. We would appreciate it if you could read the information sheet. If after reading the information sheet you would like to take part then **please complete the enclosed questionnaire and post it back to us using the pre-paid addressed envelope**.

Please contact Gemma Stringer (Research Associate) by phone: 0161 306 7493 or email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk if you have any questions about the study.

Yours sincerely



Dr Iracema Leroi Clinical Senior Lecturer / Honorary Consultant

Enc: Participant Information Sheet, Daily Activities Questionnaire, pre-paid addressed envelope.

Appendix C - Applicability questionnaire (study A)

Two applicability questionnaires used in study A are included, the informant version and the self-report version:

Stringer, G., Leroi, I., Sikkes, S. A. M., Montaldi, D. & Brown, L. J. E. (2020). 'Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire', International Psychogeriatrics, pp. 1-12.



National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Manchester Mental Health

Daily Activities Project – Daily Activities Questionnaire

Study information

This questionnaire is part of a research study that is developing a measure of people's ability to complete daily activities, such as cooking a meal and using the telephone. As part of this we need to know what activities people do on a regular basis.

Measuring ability to complete daily activities is part of how we diagnose dementia, however current measures are not as good as we need them to be. Therefore we are doing this study so that we can improve the way we measure people's ability to complete daily activities. This will help to improve the way we diagnose and support people with dementia.

Your participation and all the information we collect about you will be kept confidential.

If you are happy with the information that has been provided and you are willing to take part in the study please complete the questionnaire below.

General questions

1. What is your age?

_____Years

2. What is your gender? (please tick)

|--|

Female



3. What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed? (please tick)

	Left school before 16
	Left school at 16
	College
	Bachelor's degree
	Master's degree
	Doctorate
4.	What is your ethnic group?
	White
	British
	Irish
	Any other White background (write in)
	Mixed
	White and Black Caribbean
	White and Black African
	White and Asian
	Any other mixed background (write in)

MANCHESTER 1824 The University of Manchester	N#5 National Institute for Health Research	Manchester Mental Health Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust	Daily Activities Project Questionnaire (informant version) Version 1.2: 20/10/2015
	Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester Asian or Asian	British	
	Indian		
	Pakistani		
	Bangladeshi		
	Any other Asia	n background (write in)
	Black or Black	British	
	Caribbean		
	African		
	Any other Blac	k background (write in)
	Chinese or oth	er ethnic group	
	Chinese		
	Any other (wri	te in)
5.	Are you retired	1?	
	Yes		
	No		
6.	What was/is yo	our occupation?	
			(please state)



7. Do you use a computer?

Yes

No

8. How long have you been using computers?

_____ (please write number of years)

(If less than one year, please write number of months _____)

9. How frequently do you use a computer?

Every day	
5-6 days a week	
3-4 days a week	
1-2 days a week	
Less than once a week	(please state)


Please answer the following about your friend or relative:

10. What is their age?

Years

11. What is their gender? (please tick)

Male

Female

12. What is the highest degree or level of school they have completed? (please tick)

Left school before 16



College



Bachelor's degree



Master's degree

Doctorate



Manchester Mental Health MHS and Social Care Trust

13. What is their ethnic group?

White
British
Irish
Any other White background (write in)
Mixed
White and Black Caribbean
White and Black African
White and Asian
Any other mixed background (write in)
Asian or Asian British
Asian or Asian British Indian
Asian or Asian British Indian Pakistani
Asian or Asian British Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi
Asian or Asian British Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Any other Asian background (write in)
Asian or Asian British Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Any other Asian background (write in) Black or Black British
Asian or Asian British Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Any other Asian background (write in) Black or Black British Caribbean
Asian or Asian British Indian Pakistani Bangladeshi Any other Asian background (write in) Black or Black British Caribbean African



Manchester Mental Health MHS and Social Care Trust

Chinese or other ethnic group
Chinese

___ Any other (write in ______)

14. Are they retired?



| No

- 15. What was/is their occupation?
 - _____ (please state)
- 16. Do they use a computer?

	Yes
\square	No

17. How long have they been using computers?

_____ (please write number of years)

(If less than one year, please write number of months ______)



Manchester Mental Health

18. How frequently do they use a computer?

Every day	
5-6 days a week	
3-4 days a week	
1-2 days a week	
Less than once a week	_ (please state)

- 19. How long have you known the participant in years? (if less than two years please also state months)
- 20. On average how many hours of contact per week do you have with them?
- 21. Do you live together?



22. Do they have a diagnosis of cognitive impairment / dementia?



No

- 23. What is their diagnosis? (i.e. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI), Alzheimer's Disease)
- 24. How long ago in years was their diagnosis? (if less than two years please also state months)



Manchester Mental Health MHS and Social Care Trust

Activity questions

We will now show some lists of activities. Please read each activity carefully and rate how often your friend or relative does that activity in their day-to-day life.

Rate how often they do each activity on the following scale: 1) Never (they never do the activity); 2) Very rarely (they do the activity very rarely); 3) Rarely (they do the activity rarely); 4) Sometimes (they sometimes do the activity); 5) Often (they do the activity often); 6) Very often (they do the activity very often). Put a cross in the box that fits your response. If you have never heard of the activity then put a cross in the box "I have never heard of this".

Choose the answer that best reflects how often they do the activity. Occasionally it may be difficult to choose one answer. In these cases try not to spend too much time thinking about each question. Your first reaction is probably the most accurate.

In tl	In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?							
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
1	Carrying out household duties							
2	Doing the shopping							
3	Cooking							
4	Preparing hot meals							
5	Preparing cold meals							
6	Cooking using a recipe							



In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
7	Operating the coffee maker							
8	Operating the microwave oven							
9	Operating the cooker top							
10	Operating the oven							
11	Operating kitchen appliances							

In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
12	Operating appliances for cleaning							
13	Operating the dishwasher							
14	Operating the washing machine							
15	Making minor repairs to the house							



In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?							
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
16	Thinking about household finances							
17	Paying bills							
18	Managing household budget							
19	Managing household finances							
20	Electronic banking							
21	Logging in to do electronic banking							
22	Using electronic banking to make payments							
23	Using a PIN code							
24	Using a cash machine							
25	Using cash							
26	Using cheques							



In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?							
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
27	Making appointments							
28	Filling in forms							
29	Working							
30	Looking up telephone numbers							
31	Using an instruction manual							



National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Manchester Mental Health MHS and Social Care Trust Daily Activities Project Questionnaire (informant version) Version 1.2; 20/10/2015

In t	he past 4 weeks how often d	lid he/	she do	the fol	lowing	activiti	ies?	
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	I have never heard of this
32	Using a computer							
33	Emailing							
34	Using a computer to write or process words							
35	Printing documents							
36	Viewing photographs on the computer							
37	Editing photographs							
38	Installing software updates							-
39	Installing new programs							
40	Learning to do new things on the computer							
41	Searching the internet for information							
42	Booking a trip on the internet							
43	Buying on the internet							
44	Booking tickets on the internet							



National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Manchester Mental Health MIS

Daily Activities Project Questionnaire (informant version) Version 1.2; 20/10/2015

In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?							
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
45	Operating the television remote control							
46	Operating a video recorder							
47	Programming a video recorder							
48	Operating a DVD player							
49	Operating a DVD recorder							
50	Recording a television show							
51	Using electronic devices							
52	Using new electronic devices							



In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?							
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
53	Operating an answering machine / voicemail							
54	Using a smartphone							
55	Using a mobile phone							
56	Playing card and board games							
57	Booking holidays							
58	Playing computer games							



Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

In tl	In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?							
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
59	Driving a car							
60	Reading a map							
61	Reading a map of an unfamiliar city or area							
62	Using a map to find your way to an unfamiliar place							
63	Using a sat-nav system							
64	Using public transport							

In tl	In the past 4 weeks how often did he/she do the following activities?							
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
65	Looking for important things at home							
66	Using your keys							
67	Experiencing unplanned events							
68	Using medication							
69	Meeting people							



Completing daily activities

The following questions cover problems encountered by your friend/relative in completing various daily activities. The questions relate to the past four weeks. Choose the answer that best describes the actual situation.

1. In 1	the past four weeks did he/she operate domestic appliances? (please
tick)	
	Yes
	Νο
	Don't know
If yes have	, did he/she find it more difficult to operate domestic appliances than they in the past? (please tick one)
	No
	Yes, slightly more difficult
	Yes, more difficult
	Yes, much more difficult
	Yes, he/she is no longer able to perform this task
If no, applie	please tick the main reason why he/she did not operate any domestic ances:
	<i>He/she was unable to do so due to difficulties with his/her thinking and/or memory</i>
	He/she was unable to do so due to his/her physical problems
	He/she has never done that before
	Other, please state



National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Manchester Mental Health MHS and Social Care Trust Daily Activities Project Questionnaire (informant version) Version 1.2; 20/10/2015

2. In	the past four weeks did he/she use a computer? (please tick)
	Yes
	Νο
	Don't know
If yes past?	, did he/she find it more difficult to use a computer than they have in the (please tick one)
	No
	Yes, slightly more difficult
	Yes, more difficult
	Yes, much more difficult
	Yes, he/she is no longer able to perform this task
lf no,	please tick the main reason why he/she did not use a computer:
	<i>He/she was unable to do so due to difficulties with his/her thinking and/or memory</i>
	He/she was unable to do so due to his/her physical problems
	He/she has never done that before
	Other, please state



3. In	the past four weeks did he/she use public transport? (<i>please tick</i>)
	Yes
	Νο
	Don't know
If yes the p	, did he/she find it more difficult to use public transport than they have in ast? (please tick one)
	No
	Yes, slightly more difficult
	Yes, more difficult
	Yes, much more difficult
	Yes, he/she is no longer able to perform this task
lf no,	please tick the main reason why he/she did not use of public transport:
	<i>He/she was unable to do so due to difficulties with his/her thinking and/or memory</i>
	He/she was unable to do so due to his/her physical problems
	He/she has never done that before
	Other, please state



In this questionnaire, you have seen several day-to-day activities. Are there any activities that your friend or relative does in their everyday life that have been missed?

If yes, please list them below and rate how often they do the activity:

	Activities	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often
1						
2						
3						
4						
5						
6						
7						
8						
9						
10						





Do you have any other comments, concerns or suggestions regarding the questionnaire?

Thank you very much for completing this questionnaire!



Daily Activities Project - Daily Activities Questionnaire

Study information

This questionnaire is part of a research study that is developing a measure of people's ability to complete daily activities, such as cooking a meal and using the telephone. As part of this we need to know what activities people do on a regular basis.

Measuring ability to complete daily activities is part of how we diagnose dementia, however current measures are not as good as we need them to be. Therefore we are doing this study so that we can improve the way we measure people's ability to complete daily activities. This will help to improve the way we diagnose and support people with dementia.

Your participation and all the information we collect about you will be kept confidential.

If you are happy with the information that has been provided and you are willing to take part in the study please complete the questionnaire below.

General questions

1. What is your age?

Years

2. What is your gender? (please tick)



Male





What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed? 3. (please tick)

	Left school before 16
	Left school at 16
	College
	Bachelor's degree
	Master's degree
	Doctorate
4.	What is your ethnic group?
	White
	British
	British Irish
	British Irish Any other White background (write in
	British Irish Any other White background (write in Mixed
	British Irish Any other White background (write in Mixed White and Black Caribbean
	British Irish Any other White background (write in Mixed White and Black Caribbean White and Black African
	British Irish Any other White background (write in Mixed White and Black Caribbean White and Black African White and Asian



	Asian or Asian British
	Indian
	Pakistani
	Bangladeshi
	Any other Asian background (write in)
	Black or Black British
	Caribbean
	African
	Any other Black background (write in)
	Chinese or other ethnic group
	Chinese
	Any other (write in)
5.	Are you retired?
	Yes
	No
6.	What was/is your occupation?



7. Do you use a computer?

Yes

No

8. How long have you been using computers?

_____ (please write number of years)

(If less than one year, please write number of months _____)

9. How frequently do you use a computer?

Every day	
5-6 days a week	
3-4 days a week	
1-2 days a week	
Less than once a week	_ (please state)

10. Are you concerned that you have a memory or thinking problem?

Yes
No



11. Have you been to visit your GP to discuss your memory or thinking concerns?

Yes



12. Do you have a diagnosis of cognitive impairment / dementia?

Yes

If yes please answer questions 13-14

No

- 13. What is your diagnosis? (i.e. MCI, Alzheimer's Disease)
- 14. How long ago in years was your diagnosis? (if less than two years please also state months)



Activity questions

We will now show some lists of activities. Please read each activity carefully and rate how often you do that activity in your day-to-day life.

Rate how often you do each activity on the following scale: 1) Never (I never do the activity); 2) Very rarely (I do the activity very rarely); 3) Rarely (I do the activity rarely); 4) Sometimes (I sometimes do the activity); 5) Often (I do the activity often); 6) Very often (I do the activity very often). Put a cross in the box that fits your response. If you have never heard of the activity then put a cross in the box "I have never heard of this".

Choose the answer that best reflects how often you do the activity. Occasionally it may be difficult to choose one answer. In these cases try not to spend too much time thinking about each question. Your first reaction is probably the most accurate.

In ti	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this	
1	Carrying out household duties								
2	Doing the shopping								
3	Cooking								
4	Preparing hot meals								
5	Preparing cold meals								
6	Cooking using a recipe								



In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this	
7	Operating the coffee maker								
8	Operating the microwave oven								
9	Operating the cooker top								
10	Operating the oven								
11	Operating kitchen appliances								

In tl	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this	
12	Operating appliances for cleaning								
13	Operating the dishwasher								
14	Operating the washing machine								
15	Making minor repairs to the house								



In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?									
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this		
16	Thinking about household finances									
17	Paying bills									
18	Managing household budget									
19	Managing household finances									
20	Electronic banking									
21	Logging in to do electronic banking									
22	Using electronic banking to make payments									
23	Using a PIN code									
24	Using a cash machine									
25	Using cash									
26	Using cheques									



Manchester Mental Health

In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this	
27	Making appointments								
28	Filling in forms								
29	Working								
30	Looking up telephone numbers								
31	Using an instruction manual								





In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	I have never heard of this	
32	Using a computer								
33	Emailing								
34	Using a computer to write or process words								
35	Printing documents								
36	Viewing photographs on the computer								
37	Editing photographs								
38	Installing software updates								
39	Installing new programs								
40	Learning to do new things on the computer								
41	Searching the internet for information								
42	Booking a trip on the internet								
43	Buying on the internet								
44	Booking tickets on the internet								



Manchester Mental Health

In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this	
45	Operating the television remote control								
46	Operating a video recorder								
47	Programming a video recorder								
48	Operating a DVD player								
49	Operating a DVD recorder								
50	Recording a television show								
51	Using electronic devices								
52	Using new electronic devices								



Manchester Mental Health MHS and Social Care Trust

In t	In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this	
53	Operating an answering machine / voicemail								
54	Using a smartphone								
55	Using a mobile phone								
56	Playing card and board games								
57	Booking holidays								
58	Playing computer games								



In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
59	Driving a car							
60	Reading a map							
61	Reading a map of an unfamiliar city or area							
62	Using a map to find your way to an unfamiliar place							
63	Using a sat-nav system							
64	Using public transport							

In the past 4 weeks how often did you do the following activities?								
Q#	Activities	Never	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often	l have never heard of this
65	Looking for important things at home							
66	Using your keys							
67	Experiencing unplanned events							
68	Using medication							
69	Meeting people							



Completing daily activities

The following questions ask for some more information about completing various daily activities. The questions relate to the past four weeks. Choose the answer that best describes the actual situation.

1. In	the past four weeks did you operate domestic appliances? (please tick)
	Yes
	Νο
	Don't know
lf yes have	, did you find it more difficult to operate domestic appliances than you in the past? (please tick one)
	No
	Yes, slightly more difficult
	Yes, more difficult
	Yes, much more difficult
	Yes, I am no longer able to perform this task
lf no, appli	please tick the main reason why you did not operate any domestic ances:
	I was unable to do so due to difficulties with my thinking and/or memory
	I was unable to do so due to my physical problems
	I have never done it before
	Other, please state



2. In	the past four weeks did you use a computer? (<i>please tick</i>)
	Yes
	Νο
	Don't know
If yes	, did you find it more difficult to use a computer than you have in the
past:	' (please tick one)
	No
	Yes, slightly more difficult
	Yes, more difficult
	Yes, much more difficult
	Yes, I am no longer able to perform this task
lf no,	please tick the main reason why you did not use a computer:
	I was unable to do so due to difficulties with my thinking and/or memory
	I was unable to do so due to my physical problems
	I have never done it before
	Other, please state



3. In	the past four weeks did you use public transport? (please tick)
	Yes
	Νο
	Don't know
If yes	, did you find it more difficult to use public transport than you have in the
pasti	P (please tick one)
	No
	Yes, slightly more difficult
	Yes, more difficult
	Yes, much more difficult
	Yes, I am no longer able to perform this task
lf no,	please tick the main reason why you did not use public transport:
	I was unable to do so due to difficulties with my thinking and/or memory
	I was unable to do so due to my physical problems
	I have never done it before
	Other, please state



In this questionnaire, you have seen several daily activities. Are there any activities that you do in your everyday life that have been missed?

If yes, please list them below and rate how often you do the activity:

	Activities	Very rarely	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very often
1						
2						
3						
4						
5						
6						
7						
8						
9						
10						





Do you have any other comments, concerns or suggestions regarding the questionnaire?

Thank you very much for completing this questionnaire!
Appendix D – Supplementary table 1 (study A)

Supplementary table 1: Number (and %) of participants endorsing each response to new items, and correlation coefficients of new items with weighted average score split by self-report and informant report.

From Study A:

Stringer, G., Leroi, I., Sikkes, S. A. M., Montaldi, D. & Brown, L. J. E. (2020). 'Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire', International Psychogeriatrics, pp. 1-12.

Supplementary table 1. Number (and %) of participants endorsing each response to new items, and correlation coefficients of new items with weighted average score split by self-report and informant report.

	R	elevance		Difficulty		Kendall's tau-b c coefficients of nev weighted average s new item	correlation v items and core (without is)
Item	Did not do activity in previous 4 weeks or never done activity (informant report / self-report)	Completed activity in previous 4 weeks (informant report / self- report)	Did not find the activity more difficult (informant report / self-report)	Found activity slightly more difficult (informant report / self-report)	Found activity more/much more difficult (informant report / self-report)	Correlation with total score without new items (informant report / self-report)	p value (informant report / self-report)
Making a cup of tea or coffee*	0 (0.0) / 0 (0.0)	21 (100.0) / 7 (100.0)	20 (95.2) / 7 (100.0)	1 (4.8) / 0 (0.0)	0 (0.0) / 0 (0.0)	32 / 1.0	.10 / N/A
Using the hob*	1 (4.8) / 1 (14.3)	20 (95.2) / 6 (85.7)	18 (85.7) / 6 (85.7)	2 (9.5) / 0 (0.0)	0 (0.0) / 0 (0.0)	12 / N/A	.53 / N/A
Using the grill ‡	7 (33.3) / 4 (57.1)	14 (66.7) / 3 (42.9)	13 (61.9) / 3 (42.9)	1 (4.8) / 0 (0.0)	0 (0.0) / 0 (0.0)	38 / N/A	.11 / N/A
Completing household paperwork*	6 (28.6) / 0 (0.0)	15 (71.4) / 7 (100.0)	13 (61.9) / 6 (85.7)	2 (9.5) / 0 (0.0)	0 (0.0) / 1 (14.3)	50 /55	.03 / .13
Recording a TV program*	6 (28.6) / 4 (57.1)	15 (71.4) / 3 (42.9)	12 (57.1) / 3 (42.9)	2 (9.5) / 0 (0.0)	1 (4.8) / 0 (0.0)	61 / N/A	.01 / N/A
Using keys*	0 (0.0) / 0 (0.0)	21 (100.0) / 7 (100.0)	21 (100.0) / 6 (85.7)	0 (0.0) / 0 (0.0)	0 (0.0) / 1 (14.3)	N/A /55	N/A / .13
Reading [±]	1 (4.8) / 0 (0.0)	20 (95.2) / 7 (100.0)	19 (90.5) / 5 (71.4)	0 (0.0) / 2 (28.6)	1 (4.8) / 0 (0.0)	32 /71	.01 / .05
Maintaining the garden [‡]	4 (19.0) / 2 (28.6)	17 (81.0) / 5 (71.4)	15 (71.4) / 3 (42.9)	1 (4.8) / 1 (14.3)	1 (4.8) / 1 (14.3)	14 /84	.50 / .05
Looking after family [‡]	13 (61.9) / 0 (0.0)	14 (66.7) / 1 (14.3)	13 (61.9) / 1 (14.3)	1 (4.8) / 0 (0.0)	0 (0.0) / 0 (0.0)	38 / N/A	.10 / N/A

*classified as new because of significant changes to language and/or meaning

[‡]completely new item

N/A - all participants in the group gave the same response so there is no variation in the data

Appendix E – Supplementary table 2 (study A)

Supplementary table 2: Means and Kendall's tau-b correlation coefficients of weighted average scores (including the new items) of the A-IADL-Q-UK with clinical measures and demographics split by self-report and informant report.

From Study A:

Stringer, G., Leroi, I., Sikkes, S. A. M., Montaldi, D. & Brown, L. J. E. (2020). 'Enhancing 'meaningfulness' of functional assessments: UK adaptation of the Amsterdam IADL questionnaire', International Psychogeriatrics, pp. 1-12.

Supplementary table 2. Means and Kendall's tau-b correlation coefficients of weighted average scores (including the new items) of the A-IADL-Q-UK with clinical measures and demographics split by self-report and informant report.

Measure	N (informant report / self-report)	Mean (SD) (informant report / self-report)	Weighted average score with new items (Kendall's tau-b) (informant report / self-report)	p value (informant report / self-report)	
Demographic data					
Age	21 / 7	72.11 (3.66) / 74.24 (6.20)	129 / .000	.451 / 1.00	
Cognitive functioning					
ACE III [‡]	21 / 7	94.71 (4.60) / 90.00 (6.78)	023 / .264	.895 / .428	
DSB§	21 / 7	8.14 (2.39) / 6.71 (2.29)	.281 / .474	.111 / .154	
TMT B [∥]	21 / 7	80.24 (42.55) / 71.14 (39.63)	011 / .103	.948 / .754	
Everyday functioning					
ECog [¶]	21 / 7	1.66 (.76) / 1.41 (.28)	578 / .000	.001 / 1.00	

‡ACE III = Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-III (ACE III); §DSB = Digit Span Backwards Task; ITMT B = Trails Making Test B; ¶ECog = Measurement of Everyday Cognitive Function.

Appendix F – Participant information sheets (study B)

Three separate information sheets are included for cognitively healthy controls, people with cognitive impairment, and informants used in Study B.





MAND-ESTER Manchester Mental Health 1115

SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management)

Pilot Study Participant Information Leaflet

We would like to invite you to take part in a pilot study, called 'SAMS', investigating the impact of cognitive problems on computer use.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

We are trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect whether people have problems with memory or with thinking, referred to as cognitive problems. We are doing this because older people are using the computer more often which gives us an opportunity to use this type of information. Using computer data to help detect whether people have memory or cognitive problems has not been done before.

In order to do this, though, we need to trial out the software to see how well it works.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you have <u>not</u> been experiencing memory or cognitive problems. We need people who do not have memory or cognitive problems to enable us to compare with those who do have memory or cognitive problems.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. Again, if you decide to withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

Once you have signed the consent form you will be invited to the University where you will be asked to complete a number of basic tasks on a computer, such as writing emails or browsing the internet. The SAMS software will be installed on the computer and will collect information about all the activities you complete and these tasks will take about 45 minutes. We will also ask you to complete some tasks and questionnaires to assess your cognition (i.e. memory), health, mood and day to day functioning, this will take approximately 90 minutes. The process





MANO-6STER. Manchester Mental Health: 12153

will be followed by a short interview (approximately 15 minutes), asking you about your experiences of completing the computer activities and we will ask if you are happy for us to audio record this. This study is a pilot of a larger study and so throughout the process we will ask you for your informal feedback about the activities we ask you to do, this will help us to improve the design of the larger study. Your participation in the study may take several hours (approximately 2 to 3 hours) over a few sessions.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk of taking part in the study. The study may add a slight inconvenience to your day over a few hours.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and cognitive problems. It will add to the scientific community and increase our understanding of memory problems.

As a thank you for taking part and giving up your time you will be offered a small amount of high street store vouchers (£10).

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect about you will be kept confidential. The only exception to this is if we feel that you or others around you may be at risk. If this happens, we have a duty to inform an appropriate professional.

In some cases people are not aware that they are having memory problems that might be considered clinically important. We will ask you if you would like us to inform your GP if we detect any clinically significant problems.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Researchers at the University of Manchester and University of Lancaster will have access to the data you have supplied, but no personal information about you will be provided to them. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the pilot is complete, we will use the results to improve the SAMS software and prepare it for a larger study which will involve comparing healthy volunteers such as yourself with people with mild Alzheimer's disease.

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. All your data will be anonymised and you will not be identified personally. We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the outcome of the study.





MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Health 1255

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). This grant was led by Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster and covers the running costs of the research project which is led by Dr Iracema Leroi, who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All University of Manchester research is looked at by a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the University of Manchester Ethics Committee.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)	<u>OR</u>
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,
Jean McFarlane Building,	University of Manchester,
Oxford Road,	Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road,
Manchester, M13 9PL	Manchester, M13 9PL
Tel: 0161 306 7493	Tel: 0161 306 7944.
Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	E-mail: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether to take part in the study.





MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Health 2025

SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management)

Pilot Study Participant Information Leaflet

We would like to invite you to take part in a pilot study, called 'SAMS', investigating whether your personal computer use can help us detect whether you might have some memory or cognitive problems.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

We are trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect whether people have problems with memory or with thinking, referred to as cognitive problems. We are doing this because older people are using the computer more often which gives us an opportunity to use this type of information. Using computer data to help detect whether people have memory or cognitive problems has not been done before.

In order to do this, though, we need to trial out the software to see how well it works.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you have been experiencing memory or cognitive problems.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. Again, if you decide to withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

Once you have signed the consent form a SAMS' researcher will visit you at home and will ask you to complete a number of basic tasks on a computer, such as writing emails or browsing the internet. The SAMS software will be installed on the computer and will collect information about all the activities you complete and these tasks will take about 45 minutes. We will also ask you to complete some tasks and questionnaires to assess your cognition (i.e. memory), health, mood and day to day functioning, this will take approximately 90 minutes. The process





MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Health 125

will be followed by a short interview (approximately 15 minutes), asking you about your experiences of completing the computer activities and we will ask if you are happy for us to audio record this. This study is a pilot of a larger study and so throughout the process we will ask you for your informal feedback about the activities we ask you to do, this will help us to improve the design of the larger study. Your participation in the study may take several hours (approximately 2 to 3 hours) over a few sessions.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk of taking part in the study. The study may slightly inconvenience you over a few hours.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and cognitive problems. It will add to the scientific community and increase our understanding of memory problems.

As a thank you for taking part and giving up your time you will be offered a small amount of high street store vouchers (£10).

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect about you will be kept confidential. The only exception to this is if we feel that you or others around you may be at risk. If this happens, we have a duty to inform an appropriate professional.

We would like to inform your GP, with your permission, that you have agreed to take part. Your GP will not be informed of any of the results of the tasks or assessments you have carried out, unless you specifically wish us to.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Researchers at the University of Manchester and University of Lancaster will have access to the data you have supplied, but no personal information about you will be provided to them. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the pilot is complete, we will use the results to improve the SAMS software and prepare it for a larger study which will involve comparing people who do not have memory difficulties with people who do.

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. All your data will be anonymised and you will not be identified personally.





MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Health MIES

We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the outcome of the study.

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

If you want further advice and support, you can also contact the patient advice and liaison service (PALS – 0161 882 2084).

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). This grant was led by Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster and covers the running costs of the research project which is led by Dr Iracema Leroi, who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All University of Manchester research is looked at by a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the University of Manchester Ethics Committee.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)	<u>OR</u>
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,
Jean McFarlane Building,	University of Manchester,
Oxford Road,	Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road,
Manchester, M13 9PL	Manchester, M13 9PL
Tel: 0161 306 7493	Tel: 0161 306 7944.
Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	E-mail: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether take part in the study





Manchester Mental Bleaks

SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management)

MANC

Pilot Study Participant Information Leaflet – relatives, friends and carers

We would like to invite you to take part in a pilot study, called 'SAMS', investigating the impact of cognitive problems on computer use.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect whether people have problems with memory or with thinking, referred to as cognitive problems. We are doing this because older people are using the computer more often which gives us an opportunity to use this type of information. Using computer data to help detect whether people have memory or cognitive problems has not been done before.

In order to do this, though, we need to trial out the software to see how well it works.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you are a friend, relative or carer of someone who has been experiencing memory or cognitive problems and who has agreed to take part in the study. We need friends, carers or relatives so they can help us to answer some questions about the participant relating to their memory and general well-being.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected. We will only ask you if you would like to take part if the person you are related to or care for who is experiencing a memory or cognitive problem has agreed to take part.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. Again, if you decide to withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

Following your written consent, the researcher will ask you some questions about the health and daily activities of your friend, relative or person you care for. This will take approximately 30 minutes.





MANCHESTER 1824 The University of Manchester

MANCHESTER. Manchester Mental Health MICS

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk of taking part in the study. The study may add a slight inconvenience to your day.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and cognitive problems. It will add to the scientific community and increase our understanding of memory problems.

As a thank you for taking part and giving up your time you will be offered a small amount of high street store vouchers (£10).

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

All the information we collect about you during the course of the study will be kept confidential. The only exception to this is if we feel that you or others around you may be at risk. If this happens, we have a duty to inform an appropriate professional.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Researchers at the University of Manchester and University of Lancaster will have access to the data you have supplied, but no personal information about you will be provided to them. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the pilot is complete, we will use the results to improve the SAMS software and prepare it for a larger study which will involve comparing healthy volunteers such as yourself with people with mild Alzheimer's disease.

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. All your data will be anonymised and you will not be identified personally. We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the outcome of the study.

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office,





MANCHESTER. Manchester Mental Health 1025

Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). This grant was led by Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster and covers the running costs of the research project which is led by Dr Iracema Leroi, who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All University of Manchester research is looked at by a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the University of Manchester Ethics Committee.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)	OR
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,
Jean McFarlane Building,	University of Manchester,
Oxford Road,	Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road,
Manchester, M13 9PL	Manchester, M13 9PL
Tel: 0161 306 7493	Tel: 0161 306 7944.
Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	E-mail: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether take part in the study.

Appendix G – Recruitment materials (study B)

See appendix X (study C) for recruitment materials used in study B. The recruitment materials for study B and C were the same.

Appendix H – Participant instructions sheet for the computer activities (study B)

For	Participant ID	
FUI	Date	
Facilitator	Start time	
Use Only	End time	

Participant instruction sheet – Computer activities

Log-in Name:

Password:

Task one – General computer operations

In this task, you will do various activities relating to the Windows desktop. For example logging in; opening, viewing and closing documents; or moving and deleting folders.

1	In the log-in screen, enter your username and password, as written above.	
2	Click on the (\rightarrow) arrow button to log in.	
3	Go to the desktop and find the icon for the Word document called 'Participant instruction sheet'.	
4	Open the document.	
5	Scroll down the open document, so that you can see the end of the document in the window 'Participant instruction sheet'.	
6	Minimise the document window.	
7	Maximise the document window.	

8	Close the MS Word application.	
9	Locate the folder on the desktop called '1st draft'.	
10	Delete this folder ('1 st draft') by dragging it to the recycle bin.	
11	Locate the document on the desktop called '2nd draft'.	
12	Move the document ('2 nd draft') into the folder called 'Tests'.	
13	Click on the time / date display on the 'Taskbar' (along bottom of screen, on the right hand side).	
14	Click on January 16 th 2015 on the calendar.	

<u> Task two – Email</u>

In this task you will be asked to perform various activities relating to receiving and sending e-mails, using the Outlook application. A pretend e-mail account has been set up, and you will be asked to view and reply to various pretend e-mails.

1	Start email program (Microsoft Outlook).	
2	Somebody has sent you an e-mail with the subject 'Important-study'. Locate this message in the inbox.	
3	Open and view this message.	
4	Close the message.	
5	Delete all messages with a subject that includes the word 'SPAM', from the inbox.	
6	Open the message in the inbox which has the subject 'Important-your participation'.	
7	Reply to this message, acknowledging that you are willing to take part in the study, followed by your <u>participant ID.</u>	
8	Locate the message in the inbox which has the subject 'Study schedule'.	
9	Move this message to the folder (in Outlook) called 'SAMS'.	
10	Close the email program (Outlook).	

Task three - Word Processing

1	Start Microsoft Word.	
2	Locate the document on the desktop called 'Editme' and open.	
3	Swap the first 2 title lines, i.e. put the 'Eat well over 60' heading below the title 'Nutrition'.	
4	Change the text in line 1 of the second paragraph from 'Whatever your age and health' to 'Whatever your age'.	
5	Delete the first paragraph.	
6	Change the format of the last two lines of the document to italic and bold.	
7	Save the document to the desktop as 'editme-2' adding your <u>Participant ID</u> (see top of first sheet) to the title.	
8	Close Word.	

Task four - Diary entry

In this task you will be asked to perform a set of steps involving the creation of a pretend diary entry, using MS Word.

1	Start Microsoft Word (a blank document will open).	
2	Type the title 'Diary Entry'.	
3	Underline the title.	
4	 Type a diary entry for today. Write as much as you can in 5 minutes. Use the following prompts if required: What have you done today? Who did you spend time with today? What did you do? What was the weather like today? Where did you go today and what did you like about this place? What did you eat for breakfast? How do you feel about your experiences today? What are you thankful for today? What are you looking forward to in the next week? 	
5	Save the document to the desktop, as 'diary entry', also adding your participant ID (see top of first sheet) to this title.	
6	Close Word.	

<u>Task five – Web Search</u>

1	Open Internet Explorer	
2	In the Google search engine, do a search for 'John Wayne'.	
3	From the results list, click on the 'John Wayne – Wikipedia' link.	
4	Scroll down the page until you get to the 'Awards and Nominations'. section	
5	In the 1969 nominations table, click on the link for 'True Grit' (highlighted in yellow).	
6	Return to the Wikipedia web page for John Wayne. (This could be done by using the back arrow button (\leftarrow) at the top of the page.)	
7	Scroll up to the top of the page.	
8	Close Internet Explorer	
9	Log off from the computer.	

Thank-you for participating in this study.

Appendix I - Participant information sheets (study C)

Three separate information sheets are included for cognitively healthy controls, people with cognitive impairment, and informants used in Study C:

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Brown, L. J. E., Montaldi, D., Gledson, A., Mellor, J., Sutcliffe, A., Sawyer, P., Keane, J., Bull, C., Zeng, X., Rayson, P. & Leroi, I. (2018). 'Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline', *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 33(7), pp. 867-874.

MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Health MITTS





SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management)

MANCH

Participant Information Leaflet

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study, called 'SAMS', investigating the impact of cognitive problems on computer use.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect whether people have problems with memory or with thinking, referred to as cognitive problems. We are doing this because older people are using the computer more often which gives us an opportunity to use this type of information. Using computer data to help detect whether people have memory or cognitive problems has not been done before.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you have <u>not</u> been experiencing memory or cognitive problems. We need people who do not have memory or cognitive problems to enable us to compare with those who do have memory or cognitive problems.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. Again, if you decide to withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

You will be invited to the University where the SAMS researcher will answer any questions you may have, if you choose to continue you will sign a consent form. Following your written consent, the researcher will ask you to complete a number of assessments to evaluate your cognitive functioning, your mood, your usual computer use practices and how you manage on a day-to-day basis. This will take approximately 90 minutes. You will then be asked to complete a number of basic computer tasks with the researcher beside you. For example, you may be asked to switch on the computer, log on to the computer and send an email. This will take about 45 minutes. You will also be asked to take part in an audio-recorded conversation



MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Health 1015

asking you about your experience of the tasks and your feelings about having your computer use monitored, this will last about 15 minutes.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk of taking part in the study. The study may add a slight inconvenience to your day as you will be required to complete assessments and computer tasks for approximately 2 hours.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and cognitive problems. It will add to the scientific community and increase our understanding of memory problems.

As a thank you for taking part and giving up your time you will be offered a small amount of high street store vouchers (£10).

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation will be kept confidential, but we would like to inform your GP, with your permission, that you have agreed to take part. In some cases people are not aware that they are having memory problems that might be considered clinically important. We will ask you if you would like us to inform your GP if we detect any clinically significant problems.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Researchers at the University of Manchester and University of Lancaster will have access to the data you have supplied, but no personal information about you will be provided to them. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

Individuals from the University, regulatory authorities or NHS Trust may need to access the data collected to ensure that the study is being carried out properly. All individuals will be authorised representatives from each organisation and will have a duty of confidentiality to all research participants.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. All your data will be anonymised and you will not be identified personally. We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the outcome of the study.



MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Bleakty MIES

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

If you want further advice and support, you can also contact the patient advice and liaison service (PALS – 0161 882 2084).

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster was awarded the grant that covers the running costs of the research project. The research is led by Dr Iracema Leroi, who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS research is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West – GM Central.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)	OR
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,
Jean McFarlane Building,	University of Manchester,
Oxford Road,	Jean McFarlane Building,
Manchester,	Oxford Road,
M13 9PL	Manchester, M13 9PL
Tel: 0161 306 7493	Tel: 0161 306 7944.
Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	E-mail: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether take part in the study.

MANCHESTER Manchester Mental Health MITTS



SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management)

Participant Information Leaflet

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study, called 'SAMS', investigating whether your personal computer use can help us detect whether you might have some memory or cognitive problems.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect whether people have problems with memory or with thinking, referred to as cognitive problems. We are doing this because older people are using the computer more often which gives us an opportunity to use this type of information. Using computer data to help detect whether people have memory or cognitive problems has not been done before.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you have been experiencing memory or cognitive problems and at some point have had a memory assessment.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. Again, if you decide to withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

A SAMS' researcher will visit you at home to answers any questions you may have, if you choose to continue you will sign a consent form. Following your written consent, the researcher will ask you to complete a number of tasks to evaluate your cognitive functioning, your mood, your usual computer use practices and how you manage on a day-to-day basis. This will take approximately 90 minutes. You will then be asked to complete a number of basic computer tasks with the researcher beside you. For example, you may be asked to switch on the computer, log on to the computer and send an email. This will take about 45 minutes. You will





MANCHESTER 1824 The University of Manchester

MANCHESTER. Manchester Mental Bleakty 1225

also be asked to take part in an audio-recorded conversation asking you about your experience of the tasks and your feelings about having your computer use monitored, this will last about 15 minutes.

A friend or family member will also be asked whether they are happy to complete some questionnaires about how you are. This will take approximately 30 minutes.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk of taking part in the study. The study may add a slight inconvenience to your day as you will be required to complete assessments and computer tasks for approximately 2 hours.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and cognitive problems. It will add to the scientific community and increase our understanding of memory problems.

As a thank you for taking part and giving up your time you will be offered a small amount of high street store vouchers (£10).

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation will be kept confidential, but we would like to inform your GP, with your permission, that you have agreed to take part. Your GP will not be informed of any of the results of the tasks or assessments you have carried out, unless you specifically wish us to.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Researchers at the University of Manchester and University of Lancaster will have access to the data you have supplied, but no personal information about you will be provided to them. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study

Individuals from the University, regulatory authorities or NHS Trust may need to access the data collected to ensure that the study is being carried out properly. All individuals will be authorised representatives from each organisation and will have a duty of confidentiality to all research participants.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. All your data will be anonymised and you will not be identified personally. We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the outcome of the study.





MANORSTER Manchester Mental Health 1005

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

If you want further advice and support, you can also contact the patient advice and liaison service (PALS – 0161 882 2084).

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster was awarded the grant that covers the running costs of the research project. The research is led by Dr Iracema Leroi, who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS research is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West – GM Central.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

	<u>OR</u>	
Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)		
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,	
Jean McFarlane Building,	University of Manchester,	
Oxford Road,	Jean McFarlane Building,	
Manchester,	Oxford Road,	
M13 9PL	Manchester, M13 9PL	
Tel: 0161 306 7493	Tel: 0161 306 7944.	
Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	E-mail: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk	



SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management)

Participant Information Leaflet – relatives, friends and carers

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study, called 'SAMS', investigating the impact of cognitive problems on computer use.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect whether people have problems with memory or with thinking, referred to as cognitive problems. We are doing this because older people are using the computer more often which gives us an opportunity to use this type of information. Using computer data to help detect whether people have memory or cognitive problems has not been done before.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you are a friend, relative or carer of someone who has been experiencing memory or cognitive problems and who has agreed to take part in the study. We need friends, carers or relatives so they can help us to answer some questions about the participant relating to their memory and general well-being. The study involves 30 people experiencing memory or cognitive problems and their friends, relatives or carers and as a comparison 30 healthy controls subjects.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected. We will only ask you if you would like to take part if the person you are related to or care for who is experiencing a memory or cognitive problem has agreed to take part.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. Again, if you decide to withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

A SAMS' researcher will visit you at home to answers any questions you may have, if you choose to continue you will sign a consent form, this will be done after gaining consent from the person experiencing memory or cognitive problems. Following your written consent, the



researcher will ask you some questions about the participant (your friend, relative or person you care for). This will take approximately 30 minutes.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk of taking part in the study. The study may add a slight inconvenience to your day as you will be required to complete assessments and computer tasks for approximately 2 hours.

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and cognitive problems. It will add to the scientific community and increase our understanding of memory problems.

As a thank you for taking part and giving up your time you will be offered a small amount of high street store vouchers (£10).

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect will be kept confidential. The only exception to this is if we feel that you or others around you may be at risk. If this happens, we have a duty to inform an appropriate professional.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Researchers at the University of Manchester and University of Lancaster will have access to the data you have supplied, but no personal information about you will be provided to them. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. All your data will be anonymised and you will not be identified personally. We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the outcome of the study.

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by



emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

If you want further advice and support, you can also contact the patient advice and liaison service (PALS – 0161 882 2084).

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster was awarded the grant that covers the running costs of the research project. The research is led by Dr Iracema Leroi, who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS research is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West – GM Central.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)	
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,
Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road,	University of Manchester,
Manchester, M13 9PL	Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road,
	Manchester, M13 9PL
Tel: 0161 306 7493	
Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	Tel: 0161 306 7944.
	E-mail: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether take part in the study.

Appendix J – Recruitment materials (study C)

Three separate recruitment materials are included from study C: the advert for cognitively healthy controls, the advert for people with cognitive impairment and the letter of invite:

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Brown, L. J. E., Montaldi, D., Gledson, A., Mellor, J., Sutcliffe, A., Sawyer, P., Keane, J., Bull, C., Zeng, X., Rayson, P. & Leroi, I. (2018). 'Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline', *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 33(7), pp. 867-874.

Version 1. 18th August 2014



Manchester Mental Health

Do you use a computer?

Are you interested in how your thinking and cognition can affect the way you use a computer?

The **SAMS** (Software Architecture for Mental health Self-management) project is researching computer software which may be able to detect early signs of memory problems by analysing recordings of normal computer use.

We are seeking volunteers over the age of 65 to help in an experiment to test the SAMS computer software.

If you are interested in finding out more about this research and the possibility of taking part <u>please contact</u>:

Gemma Stringer Tel: 0161 306 7493 E: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk <u>OR</u> Dr Iracema Leroi, Tel: 0161 306 7944. E: iracema.leroi@manchester.ac.uk







Do you use a computer?

Are you interested in how your thinking and cognition can affect the way you use a computer?

Have you been experiencing memory or cognitive problems?

The **SAMS** (Software Architecture for Mental health Self-management) project is researching computer software which may be able to detect early signs of memory problems by analysing recordings of normal computer use.

We are seeking volunteers over the age of 65 to help in an experiment to test the SAMS computer software.

If you are interested in finding out more about this research and the possibility of taking part <u>please contact</u>:

Gemma Stringer Tel: 0161 306 7493 E: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk <u>OR</u> Dr Iracema Leroi, Tel: 0161 306 7944. E: iracema.leroi@manchester.ac.uk

[insert date]

Dear Sir/Madam

The SAMS project – Software Architecture for Mental health Self-management.

We are seeking volunteers over 65 years old to help in an experiment researching computer software which could detect early signs of memory problems by analysing recordings of computer use.

Diagnosis of memory related problems normally requires several tests in memory clinics. Computer programs are being developed to recognise these problems from recordings of interaction with home computers and email messages. The programs monitor people's use of the mouse and keyboard when doing routine tasks such as email or word-processing. This data and the content of emails and documents is analysed to detect cognitive functioning, for example, memory and language.

The aim of the experiment is to test whether the SAMS computer programs can reliably detect the difference between cognitively healthy older people and people who have been experiencing memory or cognitive problems.

A full information sheet explaining the study in more detail is enclosed. We would appreciate it if you could read the information sheet and let us know by phone or email if you are interested in taking part. You do not have to take part in the study, and your treatment will not be affected in any way.

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council) and is being co-ordinated by the University of Manchester.

Please contact Gemma Stringer (Research Associate) Tel: 0161 306 7493 or email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk if you have any questions about the study.

Yours sincerely

Dr Iracema Leroi,

University of Manchester, Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road, M13 9PL Tel: 0161 306 7944. E-mail: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk
Appendix K – Computer activities materials (study C)

Four materials from the computer use activities in study C are included: the participant ID and log-in sheet, the computer activities script, the participant instructions for the practice activities and the participant instructions for the main computer activities.

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Brown, L. J. E., Montaldi, D., Gledson, A., Mellor, J., Sutcliffe, A., Sawyer, P., Keane, J., Bull, C., Zeng, X., Rayson, P. & Leroi, I. (2018). 'Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline', *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 33(7), pp. 867-874.

Participant ID and Log-in Sheet

Participant details

Participant ID:

(Type this ID at the end of the document title when instructed to save documents)

Computer log-on details

Username:

Password: B!llythek!d1

Computer activities script

Practice Laptop Activities

Set up the laptop in front of the participant and **give them the practice laptop activities sheet**.

Then say:

"We are going to start with some practice activities on the laptop. This is just so that you can familiarise yourself with the laptops and some of the programs that we will be using today. The aim of this short, practice exercise is to check you are familiar with the Windows user interface. It is only a practice run and will not be recorded. Please have a go at the tasks below in your own time and feel free to ask any questions as you go along."

Help the participant as much as they need at this stage to enable them to complete the practice activities. Record any observations during this activity on the observation form.

Main computer activities

Set logger running (see experiment set up sheet)

Give participant the key info sheet (check filled out).

Then say:

"Now we are going to do the main activities. We want you to work through the instructions on this sheet **(hand participant the participant instruction sheet)** in your own time. We want you to try to do the activities on your own. If you are unsure about anything try and work it out on your own and go with what you think is right. I will be here the whole time."

Sit back from the participant and use the participant observation sheet to make notes. Note down anything that the participant struggles with and answer questions they ask. Record your responses using the prompts guidance below.

Prompts explanation

Record all prompt level and specific wording of support on the participant observation sheet.



Level 1 prompts

This level is general encouragement – try to stick to the following comments:

Keep going

You're doing fine

Go with what you think

Check the instruction sheet

Level 2 prompts

At this level you may need to provide non-specific guidance – again try to stick to the following comments where relevant:

It is on the screen

You did it in the last task

You're in the right place

You're not quite in the right place, try looking somewhere else

Level 3 prompts

At this level the prompts will be very specific, use the following example as a guideline. If possible write down what you had to say.

It's in the bottom right hand corner

I'll point to it on the screen

You need to double click

You only need to click once

You need to right click rather left

Practice Laptop Activities

The aim of this short, practice exercise is to check you are familiar with the Windows 7 user interface. It is only a practice run and will not be recorded. Please have a go at the tasks below in your own time and feel free to ask any questions as you go along.

Desktop/Word

- Click on the time/date display on the 'Taskbar' (located along bottom of screen, on the right hand side) and scroll to the next month.
- Open the Word document on the desktop titled 'Thank you letter to speaker'.
- 3. Scroll to the top of that document.
- 4. Highlight all the text and make it bold.
- 5. Minimise the Word document window, maximise it.
- 6. Close Word (clicking on 'Don't Save').

<u>Email</u>

- 1. Open Microsoft Outlook.
- 2. Click on 'New Email'.

- 3. Type "Hi" in the message box.
- Close email without sending (select "No" when asked if you want to save the changes).
- 5. Close Microsoft Outlook

Internet Explorer

- 1. Open Internet Explorer.
- 2. In the Google search box type in "Frogs".
- 3. Click on the first result in the list.
- 4. Close Internet Explorer.

	Participant ID		
For	Windows edition (please circle)	Windows 7	Windows 8
Facilitator	Date		
Use Only	Start time		
	End time		

Participant instruction sheet – Computer activities

Task one – General computer operations

In this task, you will do various activities relating to the Windows desktop. For example logging in; opening, viewing and closing documents; or moving and deleting folders.

1	<u>Open</u> the <u>Word document</u> called ' <u>Participant instruction sheet'</u> , which is located on the desktop.	
2	<u>Scroll</u> to the bottom of the document.	
3	<u>Minimise</u> the document window.	
4	Maximise the document window.	
5	<u>Close</u> the Word document. (If prompted to save, click ' <u>Don't Save'</u> .)	
6	<u>Delete</u> the folder on the desktop, called '1st draft', by dragging it to the recycle bin.	
7	<u>Move</u> the document on the desktop, called '2nd draft', into the folder called 'Tests'.	
8	<u>Click</u> on the <u>time / date</u> display on the ' <i>Taskbar</i> ' (located along bottom of screen, on the right hand side).	
9	<u>Click</u> on January 16 th 2015.	

<u> Task two – Email</u>

In this task you will be asked to perform various activities relating to receiving and sending e-mails, using the Outlook application. A pretend e-mail account has been set up, and you will be asked to view and reply to various pretend e-mails.

r		
1	<u>Start</u> email program (' <i>Microsoft Outlook'</i>).	
2	<u>Find</u> the email somebody has sent you, with the subject ' <i>Important-study</i> '.	
3	<u>Open</u> the email in a <u>new window</u> .	
4	<u>Close</u> the email.	
5	<u>Delete</u> all emails, with the word 'SPAM' in the title, from the <i>inbox</i> .	
6	<u>Open</u> the email, in the inbox, which has the subject ' <i>Important-your</i> participation'.	
7	<u>Reply</u> to this email, saying: "I am willing to take part in the study", followed by typing your <u>participant ID</u> . <u>Send</u> the email.	
8	Move the email located in the inbox, with the subject 'Study schedule', to the Outlook folder called 'SAMS'.	
9	<u>Close</u> the email program (' <i>Microsoft Outlook'</i>).	

Task three - Word Processing

In this task you will be asked to perform a set of steps involving editing a document and the creation of a diary entry, using MS Word.

1	Open the document, on the desktop, called ' <i>Editme</i> '.	
2	<u>Cut</u> the title ' <i>Eat well over 60</i> ' and <u>paste</u> it below the title ' <i>Nutrition</i> '.	
3	Edit the text in line 1 (of the second paragraph) from 'Whatever your age and health' to 'Whatever your age'.	
4	<u>Delete</u> all the text in the document.	
5	<u>Type</u> the title ' <i>Diary Entry</i> '.	
6	 For the next <u>3 minutes</u>, <u>type</u> a diary entry for today. Write as much as you can. <u>The experimenter will tell you when 3 minutes have passed</u>. Below are some examples of what you could write about: What have you done today? Where did you go today and what did you like about this place? Who did you spend time with? What did you do? What was the weather like today? How do you feel about your experiences today? What are you looking forward to in the next week? 	
7	<u>Save</u> the document to the <u>desktop</u> , as ' <u>Diary Entry</u> ' adding your <u>participant ID</u> to this title.	
8	<u>Close</u> Word.	

<u>Task four – Web Search</u>

1	<u>Open</u> 'Internet Explorer'	
2	In the 'Google' search engine, <u>type</u> and <u>search</u> for ' <u>John Wayne</u> '.	
3	From the results list, <u>click</u> on the ' <i>John Wayne – Wikipedia</i> ' link.	
4	Scroll down the Wikipedia page until you get to the ' <u>Awards and</u> <u>Nominations</u> ' section	
5	In the <i>1969 nominations</i> table, <u>click</u> on the link for ' <u><i>True Grit</i></u> ' (<i>highlighted in yellow</i>).	
6	Return to the Wikipedia web page for <u>John Wayne</u> . (You can do this by <u>clicking</u> the <u>back arrow button</u> (←) at the top of the page.)	
7	<u>Scroll</u> up to the top of the page.	
8	<u>Close</u> Internet Explorer	

Thank-you for participating in this study.

 \odot

Appendix L – Participant information (study D)

Two separate information sheets are included for people with SCI or MCI and informants used in Study D:

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Heuvelman, H., Bull, C., Gledson, A., A., Keane, Rayson, P., Sawyer, P., Sutcliffe, J., Zeng, X., Montaldi, D., Brown, L. J. E., & Leroi, I. (2020) 'Passive assessment of computer use behaviours in the home can indicate early cognitive impairment: An exploratory longitudinal study'.

fight against

dementia





National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Society

SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management): Longitudinal Study

Participant Information Leaflet

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study, called 'SAMS', investigating the impact of cognitive problems on computer use.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect problems with memory or thinking ('cognitive' difficulties). We are doing this because the numbers of older people using computers is increasing and this gives us an opportunity to find out whether changes in a person's computer use can reveal clues about their thinking and memory ability. Using computer information in this way has not been done before.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you may have noticed a change in your memory or thinking and because you are a computer user, who uses a computer at least once a week.

What will I be required to do?

We will ask you to continue your normal computer use (i.e. emails, internet etc.) for a 9 month period. The types of activity that we are interested in include: typing, mouse moves, using the desktop, internet searching, emails and written text. We will record aspects of this activity using SAMS software which will be installed onto your home computer but will not interfere with the normal functioning of your computer. Once the SAMS software is installed on your computer you will have complete control over it. You will not notice that SAMS has been installed other than the appearance of 'pop-up' reminders:





National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Society

and Social Care Trust Society

Leading the

fight against

dementia

- You will be reminded that that the SAMS software is running whenever it starts up and, if you keep your computer and the SAMS software running continuously, at daily intervals thereafter.
- You will be able to stop the SAMS software running whenever you want. If you stop the SAMS software and do not restart it, you will receive a pop-up reminder after 24 hours have passed and at daily intervals thereafter to remind you that you have disabled SAMS and to invite you to re-start the software. If after 5 reminders you have not re-started the SAMS software, we will telephone you to find out if there is something concerning you or if you would like us to disable the reminders.

At weekly intervals over the course of the year you will be asked to complete a diary that will help us to keep track of your progress. Completing the diary entries is an optional part of the study and it is up to you how often you decide to complete them. At three times during the 9 months we will ask you to complete a number of brief assessments to record your memory and thinking, your mood and your daily activities. This will be completed at the start of the investigation, midway through (month 4.5), and at the end (month 9). On two of these occasions we will ask you to complete an interview with our researcher in your own home or on the phone. In this interview we will ask you about your computer use and daily activities. We may also invite you to take part in a one-off focus group at the University of Manchester to discuss your computer activities and opinions on modern technology with other participants involved in this study. Finally, we will give you a brief phone call every month to check how you are doing.

We will ask if there is someone who knows you well who could take part in the study with you as an informant. This person could be your spouse, partner, a relative, a friend or a carer. In addition to the information you provide, we would ask them to provide information about your memory, thinking, health and well-being. This would take place three times during the 9 months and can happen at the same time as your scheduled assessments or at an alternative time within 2 weeks of your assessment. This person would only take part and provide information about you if you consent for them to do so. This is not a compulsory part of the research and if you prefer you can take part in the study without an informant.







National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

NHS

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Society

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form. If you decide not to take part, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected.

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. If you withdraw, your medical care and legal rights will not be affected. The data collected from you to the point of withdrawal will still be used.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

- A member of the research team will speak to you over the phone and ask you a few questions to check your eligibility for the study. We will ask your age, your experience of memory problems and some general computer questions including how often you use a computer, if you have the internet at your home address and some questions to check that the SAMS software will work on your computer.
- If you are eligible and happy to continue the research team will then visit you at your home address to complete the consent process and screening process which will take approximately 1 hour. The screening will include a brief assessment of your memory and thinking and questions about your daily activities. If you have agreed for an informant to take part with you, we will also ask them to complete the consent process at this time.
- After the screening we will install the SAMS software on your home computer and we will provide you with all of the information you need regarding the computer software and the technical helpline (which is there for you to call if you have any technical problems relating to the study). You will also be provided with a telephone number and email address to contact if you have any other questions during the study.
- After the screening visit, a second visit to your home will be arranged to conduct a short audio recorded interview asking you about your current computer use and daily activities, this will last approximately 30 minutes. We will then complete a more detailed assessment of your memory and how you think. This will take approximately 90 minutes. The SAMS software will then be turned on.

fight against

dementia





National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

NHS

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Society

If an informant is taking part with you, we will also ask them to complete some questionnaires.

- The assessments of your memory and cognition will be completed two more times over the 9 months that you will be enrolled in the study: 1) halfway through the study (4.5 months) and 2) at the end of the study (9 months). The interview will be conducted again at the end of the study. If an informant is taking part with you, we will also ask them to complete some questionnaires at these two time points.
- At weekly intervals over the course of the year you will be asked to complete a short diary entry that should take approximately 20 minutes. Completing the diary entries is an optional part of the study and it is up to you how often you decide to complete them. Information about the diary and a short demonstration of what it will look like on the screen will be provided when the SAMS software is installed.
- We will call you every month to check how you are doing and to ask if there has been any change in your circumstances that might impact on your computer use. We will also ask if you have had any technical difficulties that you have not reported to the technical team (via the helpline).
- You may also be invited to take part in a one-off focus group at the University of Manchester to discuss your computer use activities with other participants involved in this study. This will take place within the 9 month testing period at a time that is convenient to all participants. This is also an optional part of the study

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk in taking part in this study. The study may add an inconvenience to your day at the following times: screening assessment (1 hour); weekly diary entry (15-30 minutes); monthly phone calls (10 minutes) and the 1 month (2 hours), 4.5 month (90 minutes), 9 month (2 hours) assessments, and the focus group (2 hours).

Travel to and from the University for the focus group involves some risks. The researcher will discuss the best and safest travel options with you beforehand and reasonable travel expenses will be reimbursed.







National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

NHS

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Society

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and thinking problems. It will increase knowledge in the scientific community and improve our understanding of memory problems and how we might detect them earlier than we currently do.

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect about you will be kept confidential. The only exceptions to this are:

- If we feel that something you reveal suggests that you or others around you may be at risk of harm. If this happens, we have a duty to inform an appropriate professional.
- If we find evidence of criminal activity on your computer. If this happens, we have a legal duty to inform the police.

With your permission, we would like to inform your GP that you have agreed to take part. We will ask you if you would like us to inform your GP if we detect any clinically significant change in your memory or thinking following the assessments.

Only the research team at the University of Manchester including clinical and research staff will have access to your personal information. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

Your medical records will only be viewed by members of the clinical team within the NHS who are part of the larger research team.

Audio recorded interview and focus group data will be transcribed and, when used in publications, quotes will be anonymised.

The SAMS software is designed to record all input through the keyboard and mouse. All of the data that the SAMS software records will be protected with a high level of







National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

NHS

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Alzheimer's Society

Leading the fight against dementia

security. The SAMS software DOES NOT record information entered on certain websites such as banking websites; this is to protect your security information. The SAMS software WILL NOT record passwords entered into password fields. The types of websites where the SAMS software would record input include Google searches and email systems such as Yahoo mail and Hotmail.

Individuals from the University, regulatory authorities or NHS Trust may need to access the data collected to ensure that the study is being carried out properly. This is to protect you by ensuring that we are doing the research in a safe and ethical way. All individuals will be authorised representatives from each organisation and will have a **duty of confidentiality** to all research participants.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. **All your data will be anonymised** and **you will not be identified personally**. We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the study findings.

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way. If not, your data will be destroyed.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research you may have grounds for a legal action for compensation against the University of Manchester, University of Lancaster or NHS Trust but you may have to pay your legal costs. The normal National Health Service complaints mechanisms will still be available to you.





National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Society

S Leading the fight against dementia

If you want further advice and support, you can also contact the patient advice and liaison service (PALS – 0161 882 2084).

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster was awarded the grant that covers the running costs of the research project. The research is led by Dr Iracema Leroi, who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS research is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West – GM South.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)	OR
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,
Jean McFarlane Building,	University of Manchester,
Oxford Road,	Jean McFarlane Building,
Manchester, M13 9PL	Oxford Road,
	Manchester, M13 9PL
Tel: 0161 306 7493	
Email:	Tel: 0161 306 7944
gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	Email: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether take part in the study.





National Institute for Health Research

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Alzheimer's Society

Leading the

SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management): Longitudinal Study

Participant Information Leaflet – Informant

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study, called 'SAMS', investigating the impact of cognitive problems on computer use.

This information sheet explains what taking part would involve. Please read it carefully, discuss it with others if you wish, and ask us if anything is unclear or if you would like more details.

What is the study all about?

The study is trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect problems with memory or thinking ('cognitive' difficulties). We are doing this because the numbers of older people using computers is increasing and this gives us an opportunity to find out whether changes in a person's computer use can reveal clues about their thinking and memory ability. Using computer information in this way has not been done before.

Why have I been invited?

You have been invited because you know someone who has noticed a change in their memory and/or thinking and that person has also agreed to take part in this study. We need people who know the participants taking part in the study so they can help us to answer some questions relating to their memory and general well-being.

Can I choose whether or not to take part?

If you wish, a researcher can visit you at home to discuss the study with you. It is up to you to decide whether or not you want to take part. If you do, we will give you this information sheet to keep and we will ask you to sign a consent form.





National Institute for Health Research

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Society

Leading the fight against dementia

What happens if I change my mind after I have agreed to take part?

If you change your mind after agreeing to take part, you can withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. The data collected from you to the point of withdrawal will still be used.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

A SAMS' researcher will visit you at home to answers any questions you may have, if you choose to continue you will sign a consent form. After gaining your consent (and the consent of the person you know), we will ask you some questions on four occasions across a 9 month period, on each occasion the questions will take approximately 30 minutes. The questions will be about the person you know, regarding their health, well-being and ability to complete various activities.

What are the risks of taking part?

There is minimal risk of taking part in the study. The study may add an inconvenience to your day on the four days when we complete the data collection (approximately 30 minutes per visit).

How will the study benefit me?

Taking part in this study may not directly benefit you however your involvement will contribute significantly to our wider understanding of how to detect memory and cognitive problems. It will add to the scientific community and increase our understanding of memory problems.

Will my participation in the study be kept confidential?

Your participation and all the information we collect will be kept confidential. The only exception to this is if we feel that something you reveal suggests that you or others around you may be at risk of harm. If this happens, we have a duty to inform an appropriate professional.

Only the study team at the University of Manchester will have access to your personal information. Your personal data will be held securely at the University of Manchester and will be carefully destroyed as soon as it is not needed. The research data which has your name and any other personal data removed (anonymised) will be stored at both the





National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Macheter

Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust Alzheimer's Society

Leading the

University of Lancaster and the University of Manchester. The data will be analysed by researchers involved in this study.

What will happen to the results of the study?

When the study is complete, we will present the findings at conferences and publish them in scientific journals. All your data will be anonymised and you will not be identified **personally**. We will let you have a copy of the study results and we will send out a newsletter informing you of the outcome of the study.

With your permission, we would also like to use the anonymised data for future research carried out by the research team and other researchers. You will be able to indicate on the consent form if you agree for your data to be used in this way.

What if something goes wrong?

If there are any issues regarding this research that you would prefer not to discuss with members of the research team, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Team by either writing to 'The Research Governance and Integrity Manager, Research Office, Christie Building, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL', by emailing: Research.Complaints@manchester.ac.uk, or by telephoning 0161 275 7583 or 275 8093.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research you may have grounds for a legal action for compensation against the University of Manchester, University of Lancaster or NHS Trust but you may have to pay your legal costs. The normal National Health Service complaints mechanisms will still be available to you.

If you want further advice and support, you can also contact the patient advice and liaison service (PALS – 0161 882 2084).

Who is organising and funding the research?

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council). Professor Pete Sawyer at the University of Lancaster was awarded the grant that covers the running costs of the research project. The research is led by Dr Iracema Leroi,





National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester



who is a Consultant Psychiatrist at Manchester Mental Health and Social Care NHS Trust and a Clinical Senior Lecturer in Psychiatry at the University of Manchester.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS research is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee to protect your safety, rights, well-being and dignity. This study has been reviewed and been given a favourable opinion by the NRES Committee North West – GM South.

Who can I contact for further information?

For more information, please contact:

Gemma Stringer (Research Associate)	<u>OR</u>
University of Manchester,	Dr Iracema Leroi,
Jean McFarlane Building,	University of Manchester,
Oxford Road,	Jean McFarlane Building,
Manchester, M13 9PL	Oxford Road,
	Manchester, M13 9PL
Tel: 0161 306 7493	
Email:	Tel: 0161 306 7944
gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk	Email: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

Thank you for reading this information sheet and considering whether take part in the study.





NHS National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network

ŊĠ'S

Manchester Mental Health Society

ding the fight against dementia

SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management): Longitudinal Study

Verbal Participant Information Sheet (version 1)

Researcher name:

Date:

Time:

First, let the participant know who you are and why you are calling (if contacting JDR participants only): state that you are contacting them because they have expressed an interest in taking part in the SAMS study.

Ask them whether they would like to know a little more about the study. If yes, see below. If no, thank them for their time and end the call.

"This study is trying to find a way of using information about computer use to detect problems with memory or thinking. We are doing this because the numbers of older people using computers is increasing and this gives us an opportunity to find out whether changes in a person's computer use can reveal clues about their thinking and memory ability."

Ask them whether they are interested in taking part in this research. If yes, see below. If no, thank them for their time and end the call.

"Before we include you in this study, I would like you to complete a 10-15 minute questionnaire over the phone with me today."

Establish whether the participant is available now for them to complete the questionnaire, or if you should call back at a more convenient time/date. Proceed if/when it is convenient.

"First, I need to tell you what this questionnaire involves and why we are doing this. Please stop me at any point if anything is unclear or if you would like me to repeat anything:

- The questionnaire will involve you rating your ability to perform everyday tasks now, compared to . your ability to perform these tasks 10 years ago.
- *This will take approximately 10-15 minutes to complete.*
- Based on the answers you give, we will be able to assess whether you are suitable for taking part . in this study or not.
- I will be in contact within 3 working days of you completing this questionnaire to let you know . whether we can include you in this study and, if you are eligible, provide you with more details about taking part.
- All of the data you provide will be encrypted and stored on a secure database for up to 7 years.





Manchester Mental Health Marchester Mental Health Society

- All of the data that you provide is confidential and will only be accessible to the research team • involved in the SAMS project. Your data will be assigned a unique participant code which can only be identified by the research team.
- You're involvement in this questionnaire is completely voluntary and you are free to provide as ٠ much or as little information as you wish.
- You are free to withdraw at any time, without giving your reasons, and if you wish, your data will • be destroyed.
- Your medical and legal rights will not be affected if choose to withdraw." •

Once complete, ask the participant if they have any questions or if they would like you to repeat anything.

Continue to consent.

Appendix M – Recruitment materials (study D)

Two separate recruitment materials are included from study D: the advert and the letter of invite:

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Heuvelman, H., Bull, C., Gledson, A., A., Keane, Rayson, P., Sawyer, P., Sutcliffe, J., Zeng, X., Montaldi, D., Brown, L. J. E., & Leroi, I. (2020) 'Passive assessment of computer use behaviours in the home can indicate early cognitive impairment: An exploratory longitudinal study'.







National Institute for Health Research Clinical Research Network Greater Manchester

NHS





Are you over 65 and want to contribute to memory research?

Do you use a computer at least once a week?

Are you worried about your memory and/or thinking? Or have you been diagnosed with a mild memory problem in a clinic?

We are seeking volunteers to help in a study called 'SAMS' to find out if the way people use computers can provide information about memory and thinking.



If you are interested in finding out more about this research and the possibility of taking part please contact:

> **Gemma Stringer** The University of Manchester Tel: 0161 306 7493 Email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk SAMS website: http://ucrel.lancs.ac.uk/sams/

The University of Manchester Institute of Brain Behaviour and Mental Health Room 3.306, 3rd Floor Jean McFarlane Building, Oxford Road Manchester, M13 9PL Tel: 0161 306 7944 Email: Iracema.Leroi@manchester.ac.uk

[Name and address of participant]

[date]

MANCH

[Dear [insert participant name]]

SAMS (Software Architecture for Mental Health Self-Management): Longitudinal Study

[Delete as appropriate:

This letter is being sent by your clinical care team on behalf of the SAMS research team.

OR

Thank you for expressing an interest in hearing more about the SAMS study.]

We are seeking volunteers over 65 years old to help in a scientific study to find out whether the way you use a computer can reveal early signs of memory problems. We will do this by analysing recordings of your normal daily computer use.

The diagnosis of memory related problems normally requires a complex assessment in a memory clinic. Computer programs are being developed to recognise these problems earlier in a simpler way using information about how the person uses their home computer (i.e. email and internet use). This information will be analysed to detect cognitive functioning, for example, memory and language.

The aim of the study is to test whether the SAMS computer programs can reliably detect change over time.

A full information sheet explaining the study in more detail is enclosed. We would appreciate it if you could read the information sheet and let us know by phone or email if you are interested in taking part.

The research is funded by the EPSRC (Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council) and is being coordinated by the University of Manchester.

Please contact Gemma Stringer (Research Associate) Tel: 0161 306 7493 or email: gemma.stringer@manchester.ac.uk if you have any questions about the study.

Yours sincerely

Dr Iracema Leroi Principal Investigator SAMS Clinical Senior Lecturer / Honorary Consultant

Enc: Participant Information Sheet

Appendix N – SAMS software participant information (study D)

The SAMS software information provided to participants is included from study D:

Stringer, G., Couth, S., Heuvelman, H., Bull, C., Gledson, A., A., Keane, Rayson, P., Sawyer, P., Sutcliffe, J., Zeng, X., Montaldi, D., Brown, L. J. E., & Leroi, I. (2020) 'Passive assessment of computer use behaviours in the home can indicate early cognitive impairment: An exploratory longitudinal study'.







SAMS Participant Guide

INSTRUCTIONS AND HOW TO CONTACT US

Ann Gledson | SAMS | December 14, 2015 (Version 2.0)

Table of Contents

About SAMS2
How to use the SAMS monitoring software
User interface instructions
Pause and Resume monitoring4
5
Reminder pop-ups – "Who is currently using the computer?"5
Multiple users – pop-up messages
Advanced
Stop/Exit the SAMS application
Restarting the SAMS application after it has been exited
Diary Entries
Instructions 10
Going away, holidays and other long-term periods of inactivity
Contact details
Technical Support
General SAMS assistance (non-Technical)11
When to contact us 12

About SAMS

Thank you for agreeing to be a participant in the SAMS study.

SAMS is a three-year project that is investigating whether memory or thinking problems ('cognitive' difficulties) can be detected from the way people use their computer. Many older people now use a home computer for all sorts of purposes and this gives us an opportunity to use the computer as a tool that passively monitors their cognitive health as they use it.

The types of computer activity that we are interested in include: typing, mouse moves, using the desktop, internet searching, emails and written text. We will record aspects of this activity using the SAMS software which has been installed onto your computer. The software will not interfere with the normal functioning of your computer. You will have complete control over the SAMS software and can decide to halt recording whenever you wish. You will not notice that SAMS has been installed other than the appearance of 'pop-up' reminders. We would like for you to continue your normal computer use (i.e. emails, internet etc.) for a 9 month period.

This guide will lead you through how to control the SAMS software and provide contact information should you have any problems with the operation of the software.

Please also see our website: <u>http://ucrel.lancs.ac.uk/sams</u> for more information.

How to use the SAMS monitoring software

The SAMS application can be in 3 states: a) <u>Running AND Monitoring</u> user activities, b) <u>Running and Paused</u> and c) <u>Not running (it has exited)</u>. These are defined in the table below.

SAMS Application is	Definition
<u>Running</u> and <u>Monitoring</u>	The SAMS application is running AND is monitoring you. 'Monitoring you' means that the SAMS software is storing data that you generate when you use the computer. This data takes many forms, but includes things like which icons you click the mouse on, where you move the mouse cursor from and to, and what keys you press. All this data is encrypted so that no-one, except selected members of the SAMS study team, has access to it. From this, the SAMS software will generate statistics that are used to characterize your use of the computer over time.
<u>Running</u> and <u>Paused</u>	 The SAMS application is running but is NOT monitoring you. The reasons for this are either: You have clicked 'Pause' (see Pause and Resume Monitoring section below). Someone with a user account who is not you is logged in and using your computer (see section Reminder pop-ups – "Who is currently using the computer?" below). Someone other than you is using your computer but not from their personal account – perhaps you share your account with them – and they have clicked 'Pause' or have responded to a reminder pop-up by notifying SAMS that they are not you (see section Reminder pop-ups – "Who is currently using the computer?" below). (As the SAMS application will still be running, you can go to the SAMS window to resume monitoring, as explained in the section Pause and Resume Monitoring below)
<u>Not Running /</u> <u>Exited</u>	The SAMS application has stopped running, and is no longer monitoring you. The SAMS tray icon and the SAMS window (see section on User Interface Instructions below) will NOT be visible. To restart the SAMS application, double click the SAMS desktop icon (see Figure 7). If you cannot find this or you are unsure, please contact us for support (see Contact Details below).

While your computer is switched on, the SAMS application should be running continuously. If the SAMS application is running properly you will be able to view the tray icon and the SAMS window (as explained in the section on User Interface Instructions below).

USER INTERFACE INSTRUCTIONS

The following screenshots illustrate how the SAMS monitoring tool will look when the SAMS application is <u>running</u>. Whilst SAMS is running we would expect it to record your computer activities, (but it will not necessarily be recording activities at all times, for example if it is <u>paused</u>).

Figure 1 shows an example of a Windows desktop with the SAMS application running. In the bottom right-hand corner of the screen, the Windows notification tray is highlighted, as this is where the main link to the SAMS application is to be found. **Figure 2** shows an enlarged version of this notification tray, and the SAMS tray icon is highlighted. If you left click on this once, the SAMS window will appear, as shown in **Figure 3**.



Figure 1 An example of a Windows desktop with the SAMS application running



Figure 2 SAMS tray icons (left when <u>paused</u>, right when <u>monitoring</u>)

PAUSE AND RESUME MONITORING

Figure 4 shows two close-ups of the SAMS window, with either the blue Pause or Resume button showing. Simply click the blue button once to either Pause or Resume the

monitoring of the current user's activities. (Note that clicking Pause will not stop the SAMS application from running altogether, and the SAMS window will remain accessible, so that you can resume monitoring as required.)



Figure 4 Two close-ups of the SAMS window (monitoring and paused)
MULTIPLE USERS – POP-UP MESSAGES

Note: This section is only relevant if you share your Windows account with another user (that is you both share the same Windows log-in username.).

Figure 5 shows a SAMS pop-up window that will appear:

- a) every time you log on, or
- b) if you do not use your mouse or keyboard (or other input device) for 10 or more minutes.



Figure 5 Multi-user pop-up message

This is to confirm that it is the SAMS participant that is currently using the computer and to prevent the monitoring and recording of somebody who is not a SAMS participant. Please click on the relevant button: 'Yes, I am' or 'No, I am not'. By doing this, you will be telling the SAMS application whether to monitor you or not.

If you do not wish to see the pop up message every 10 minutes and you (or someone else who is using your computer) know that you will be using the computer for a longer period of time, you can extend the time until the next pop-up temporarily to 30 minutes, 1 hour, 2 hours or 4 hours. (An example might be if you are watching a long video on your computer and don't want the pop-up to keep interrupting it.)

To extend the time between pop-ups, click on the 'Do not ask again for a while?' down arrow as highlighted in **Figure 5**. Then in the drop down menu, as shown in **Figure 6**, select the amount of time you wish to delay the next pop-up by.

w	e would like to confirm	n that ye	SA ou are Ann:	MS	5
	Yes, I am		No, I ai	n not	
→ This parti exan If so, parti	Do not ask again for a while? window appears after 10 minutes cipant. However, you can set it to pple, you are watching a long vide please select for how long in the cipant or not with the usual buttor	of inactivity not ask aga to and do n box below, ns above.	y to determine if y in for a short peri ot want to be inte then choose whe pot ack again for	ou are a SAMS od of time if, fo rrupted. ther you are a S	or SAMS
			lot ask again for:	- 30 Minutes 1 Hour	
				4 Hours	

Figure 6 Changing the time interval before the next SAMS pop-up appears

Once you have selected the time interval, please choose whether you are a SAMS participant or not with the usual buttons: 'Yes, I am' or 'No, I am not'.

ADVANCED

We anticipate that this section will not be required by most SAMS participants. You should rarely need to stop/exit the application. Please call us if you need assistance with this, you think that the SAMS application might not be working, or you are unsure of what to do (see the section on Technical Support below).

Stop/Exit the SAMS application

To stop the application, RIGHT click on the SAMS tray icon (**Figure 2**) and on the context menu that appears (see **Figure 7**), click on 'Exit'. Once you have clicked on this a pop-up will appear (see **Figure 8**), click OK. The SAMS application will now be in the '<u>Not Running</u> / <u>Exited</u>' state (see table on page 3 above).



Figure 7 SAMS Context menu (after right-clicking on SAMS tray icon)

	Closing SAMS Software
Arey If yo it wi	you sure you wish to exit the SAMS software? au exit the SAMS software, you will stop being monitored; however, Il automatically start again next time you turn on your computer.
	OK Cancel

Figure 8 Warning message when exiting the SAMS software

Restarting the SAMS application after it has been exited

The SAMS tray icon (**Figure 2**) will not be visible if the SAMS application is not running. You will need to click on the SAMS desktop icon (see **Figure 9**) and this will start the SAMS application. It will start <u>running and monitoring</u> right away, but you can Pause the monitoring by going to the SAMS window and clicking Pause (see section **Pause and Resume monitoring** above).



Figure 9 The SAMS Desktop Icon – For re-starting the SAMS Application

Diary Entries

At weekly intervals over the course of the 9 months you will be asked to complete a diary entry that will help us to keep track of your progress. Completing the diary entries is an optional part of the study and it is up to you how often you decide to complete them.

Once a week, you will receive an email from us reminding you to complete your diary entry. <u>Please save each diary entry into a folder named 'SAMS Diaries' which will be added to your desktop automatically by the SAMS application</u>. Each diary entry can be saved to its own file, or all diary entries can be saved into the same file, please do whichever you find easiest. Full instructions will also be included in the email reminder.

INSTRUCTIONS

a) Open the application

Please open the application that you prefer to use for writing documents such as letters, memos, reports and invitations. This might be Microsoft Word, Open Office Writer, Notepad or WordPad, but as long as it is an application where you can write and edit text, it does not matter.

b) Write your diary

Write a diary of the things you have done over the last week, or longer if you wish. We will email you with a list of questions to answer. These questions are designed to act as a guide only, and you are free to write about anything that you wish (e.g. a new recipe, poem, short chapter etc.), and you can write as much or as little or as you want to.

c) Save your diary

Go to 'File' and then select 'Save As'. Using the browser window, find the 'SAMS Diaries' folder on the desktop and save it in there.

Once saved to that folder, the SAMS application will find your diary entry file, encrypt it and send it to the server.

If you have difficulties with completing your diary entry, please contact one of the NON-TECHNICAL support team (see General SAMS assistance (non-Technical) below).

Going away, holidays and other long-term periods of inactivity

For long-term periods where you are aware that you will not be using your computer, it would be helpful to let us know. Please contact us to let us know, if possible (see General SAMS assistance (non-Technical) below). Do not worry if you forget, it will not affect your participation in the SAMS study.

Contact details

TECHNICAL SUPPORT

Chris Bull:	01524 510501
Ann Gledson:	07825 696761

GENERAL SAMS ASSISTANCE (NON-TECHNICAL)

Gemma Stringer:	0161 306 7493
Sam Couth:	0161 275 5223

WHEN TO CONTACT US

Please contact us whenever you are unsure of anything relating to your participation in the SAMS project. In the Contact Details section above there are two numbers, for technical and non-technical queries.

For technical queries, please use the following flowchart as an initial guide, where possible. If in any doubt, please call the technical contact number (see the Technical Support section above).



Appendix O – Supplementary Table 1 (study D)

Supplementary table 1. Multi-level models for the comparison of MCI participants to SCD participants on computer-use behaviours and cognition (including daily computer use minus inaccessible days)

Variables		MCI (N=14)	SCD (18)			
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	β	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
Computer use	Daily computer use – every day in the study [§] (mins)	43.95 (66.46)	87.14 (112.01)	45.81	[5.41, 86.20]	.026
behaviours	Daily computer use minus inaccessible days [¶] (mins)	48.21 (68.11)	93.00 (113.33)	47.74	[6.98, 88.51]	.022
	Mouse click frequency per minute	7.47 (5.94)	8.08 (6.73)	.83	[-1.68, 3.35]	.516
	Keystroke speed (secs)	2.05 (.64)	2.92 (.71)	.89	[.55, 1.22]	.000
Cognitive	ACE III	88.36 (4.73)	96.28 (3.49)	7.92	[5.35 <i>,</i> 10.49]	.000
variables	ECog [†]	-1.93 (.75)	-1.46 (.42)	.47	[.07, .87]	.021
	TMT A [†]	-44.81 (23.49)	-33.33 (10.42)	11.48	[86, 23.81]	.068
	тмт в [†]	-108.93 (65.12)	-66.35 (29.73)	42.58	[8.33, 76.83]	.015
	DSB	6.62 (1.89)	8.85 (1.75)	2.23	[1.16, 3.31]	.000
	FCRST	27.33 (8.98)	36.50 (3.84)	9.17	[4.54, 13.80]	.000
	Reaction time [†]	-44.87 (7.52)	-40.09 (9.46)	4.66	[26. 9.58]	.063
	Doors and people (recall)	18.55 (6.16)	26.26 (3.81)	7.71	[4.57, 10.85]	.000
	Doors and people (recognition)	20.05 (4.79)	28.13 (5.11)	8.08	[5.14, 11.03]	.000
	Doors and people (forgetting)	19.67 (3.84)	21.07 (2.76)	1.41	[14, 2.95]	.074
	Stroop inhibition [†]	-65.45 (29.16)	-47.57 (16.90)	17.87	[1.06, 34.68]	.037
	Stroop switching [†]	-86.55 (31.17)	-53.20 (17.27)	33.35	[17.12, 49.57]	.000

Note: [§]Daily computer use was based on every day that the participant was included in the study, irrespective of accessibility and use. [¶] Daily computer use was based only on the days that participants reported that the computer was accessible (i.e. not on holiday), irrespective of whether the computer was used or not. [†]Scores were reverse coded for clinical interpretability. All *p* values held significance after false discovery rate (FDR) correction (Q = .20).

Appendix P – Supplementary Table 2 (study D)

Supplementary table 2. Multi-level models for the association between cognition and computer use behaviours (including daily computer use minus inaccessible days)

			Crude			Adjusted*		
Variables		Ν	β	95% CI	<i>p</i> value	β	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
Daily computer	ACE III	32	000	[039, .039]	.984	014	[066, .039]	.614
use – only days	ECog [†]	32	.016	[018, .050]	.353	.013	[024, .049]	.504
of use [§] (hours)	TMT A [†]	32	.018	[008, .044]	.175	.015	[006, .035]	.170
	TMT B [†]	32	.014	[011, .041]	.269	.010	[009, .030]	.308
	DSB	32	.021	[023, .066]	.350	.012	[032, .056]	.603
	FCRST	32	.016	[005, .037]	.133	.010	[012, .033]	.364
	Reaction time [†]	31	.034	[058, .126]	.469	.019	[073, .112]	.684
	Doors and people (recall)	32	.037	[004, .079]	.077	.032	[011, .075]	.145
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.027	[016, .070]	.212	.019	[025, .063]	.390
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	084	[181, .013]	.089	089	[173,005]	.039
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	.006	[014, .027]	.544	.001	[019, .022]	.901
	Stroop switching [†]	31	.040	[.005 <i>,</i> .074]	.027	.042	[.008, .076]	.016 [‡]
Daily computer	ACE III	32	002	[028, .025]	.908	012	[052, .028]	.551
use minus	ECog [†]	32	.010	[010, .031]	.326	.007	[014, .028]	.527
inaccessible	TMT A [†]	32	.012	[004, .027]	.139	.010	[004, .024]	.178
days [¶] (hours)	TMT B [†]	32	.008	[007, .022]	.312	.005	[008, .017]	.457
	DSB	32	.011	[014, .037]	.385	.004	[022, .031]	.719
	FCRST	32	.009	[003, .021]	.147	.005	[007, .017]	.398
	Reaction time [†]	31	.028	[046, .102]	.457	.017	[054, .088]	.640
	Doors and people (recall)	32	.023	[.002, .045]	.032	.019	[005, .042]	.116
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.018	[005, .041]	.127	.012	[012, .037]	.334
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	059	[133, .015]	.117	056	[120, .009]	.090
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	.001	[014, .015]	.924	003	[018, .012]	.700
	Stroop switching [†]	31	.023	[.003, .044]	.027	.026	[.003, .048]	.027

Mouse click	ACE III	32	.000	[008, .001]	.984	003	[012, .005]	.452
frequency	ECog [†]	32	.007	[000, .015]	.057	.007	[000, .016]	.063
	TMT A [†]	32	.007	[005, .019]	.233	.007	[004, .018]	.237
	TMT B [†]	32	.006	[004, .017]	.228	.005	[005, .014]	.311
	DSB	32	.002	[010, .015]	.699	001	[011, .009]	.850
	FCRST	32	.000	[008, .008]	.936	001	[007, .005]	.754
	Reaction time [†]	31	002	[025, .021]	.873	006	[027, .016]	.619
	Doors and people (recall)	32	.004	[009, .016]	.581	.001	[008, .010]	.838
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.004	[010, .018]	.541	.002	[009, .013]	.729
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	014	[036, .009]	.226	020	[038,002]	.026
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	.007	[001, .014]	.077	.005	[004, .013]	.256
	Stroop switching [†]	31	.010	[004, .023]	.157	.007	[006, .019]	.292
Keystroke speed	ACE III	32	.541	[.147, .934]	.007	.292	[084, .668]	.129
	ECog [†]	32	.243	[082 <i>,</i> .569]	.143	.275	[033, .583]	.080
	TMT A [†]	32	.475	[007, .957]	.053	.370	[.040, .701]	.028 [‡]
	TMT B [†]	32	.537	[096, .978]	.017	356	[069, .780]	.101
	DSB	32	.552	[.205, .899]	.002	.359	[121, .839]	.142
	FCRST	32	.414	[.089, .738]	.013	.264	[053, .581]	.103
	Reaction time [†]	31	.136	[233 <i>,</i> .505]	.470	191	[558, .177]	.310
	Doors and people (recall)	32	.667	[.407, .928]	.000	.543	[.298, .788]	.000 [‡]
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.671	[.434, .908]	.000	.537	[.282, .793]	.000 [‡]
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	.225	[016, .467]	.068	.219	[090, .528]	.165
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	.486	[.198, .774]	.001	.217	[.009, .425]	.041 [‡]
	Stroop switching [†]	31	.693	[.349, 1.04]	.000	.344	[.096, .592]	.006 [‡]

Note: [§]Daily computer use was based only on the days when the computer was accessible and used. [¶]Daily computer use was based only on the days that participants reported that the computer was accessible (i.e. not on holiday), irrespective of whether the computer was used or not. *Estimates adjusted for age, years of education and years of computer use experience; [†] scores were reverse coded for clinical interpretability. Values in bold represent a significant association between the computer use behaviour and cognitive scores (p < .05) for the adjusted estimates. [‡]Value held significance after false discovery rate (FDR) correction (Q = .20).

Appendix Q – Supplementary Table 3 (study D)

Supplementary table 3. Multi-level models to assess change in computer use behaviours and cognitive variables over time (including daily computer use minus inaccessible days)

Variables			Crude			Adjusted*		
		Ν	β	95% CI	p value	β	95% CI	p value
Computer use	Daily computer use – every day in the study [§] (mins)	32	032	[110, .046]	.417	032	[110, .046]	.417
behaviours	Daily computer use minus inaccessible days [¶] (mins)	32	028	[096, .041]	.424	028	[096, .040]	.423
	Mouse click frequency per day	32	002	[007, .003]	.440	002	[007, .003]	.437
	Keystroke speed per day (secs)	32	.000	[000, .000]	.104	.000	[000, .000]	.109
Cognitive	ACE III	32	.042	[.004, .081]	.033	.042	[.002, .081]	.041
variables	ECog [†]	32	001	[005, .004]	.829	001	[005, .004]	.829
	TMT A [†]	32	.044	[082, .169]	.496	.042	[086, .170]	.519
	TMT B [†]	32	.046	[255, .346]	.765	.041	[268, .349]	.796
	DSB	32	002	[020, .016]	.836	002	[020, .016]	.816
	FCRST	32	.047	[009, .102]	.098	.046	[011, .103]	.113
	Reaction time [†]	30	015	[107, .077]	.753	012	[107, .082]	.795
	Doors and people (recall)	32	068	[108,028]	.001 [‡]	069	[110,028]	.001 [‡]
	Doors and people (recognition)	32	.061	[.007, .115]	.026	.060	[.005, .115]	.032
	Doors and people (forgetting)	32	.003	[036, .043]	.867	.002	[039, .043]	.910
	Stroop inhibition [†]	31	057	[198, .084]	.430	055	[202, .091]	.457
	Stroop switching [†]	31	193	[419, .034]	.095	191	[424, .043]	.110

Note: [§]Daily computer use was based on every day that the participant was included in the study, irrespective of accessibility and use. [¶]Daily computer use was based only on the days that participants reported that the computer was accessible (i.e. not on holiday), irrespective of whether the computer was used or not. *Estimates adjusted for age, years of education and years of computer use experience; [†]scores were reverse coded for clinical interpretability. Adjusted values in bold represent a significant change over time (p < .05). [‡]Value held significance after false discovery rate (FDR) correction (Q = .20).